

Online Research @ Cardiff

This is an Open Access document downloaded from ORCA, Cardiff University's institutional repository: http://orca.cf.ac.uk/122304/

This is the author's version of a work that was submitted to / accepted for publication.

Citation for final published version:

 He, Chi, Cheng, Jie, Zhang, Xin, Douthwaite, Mark, Pattisson, Samuel and Hao, Zhengping 2019.
 Recent advances in the catalytic oxidation of volatile organic compounds: a review based on pollutant sorts and sources. Chemical Reviews 119 (7), pp. 4471-4568.
 10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00408 file

> Publishers page: http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00408 <http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00408>

> > Please note:

Changes made as a result of publishing processes such as copy-editing, formatting and page numbers may not be reflected in this version. For the definitive version of this publication, please refer to the published source. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite this paper.

This version is being made available in accordance with publisher policies. See http://orca.cf.ac.uk/policies.html for usage policies. Copyright and moral rights for publications made available in ORCA are retained by the copyright holders.



Recent Advances in Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds: A Feature Review Based on Pollutant Sorts and Sources

Chi He^{1,2,3,†}, Jie Cheng^{1,†}, Xin Zhang¹, Mark Douthwaite³, Samuel Pattisson³, Zhengping Hao^{1,*}

¹National Engineering Laboratory for VOCs Pollution Control Material & Technology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 101408, P.R. China ²Department of Environmental Science and Engineering, State Key Laboratory of Multiphase Flow in Power Engineering, School of Energy and Power Engineering, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an 710049, Shaanxi, P.R. China ³Cardiff Catalysis Institute, School of Chemistry, Cardiff University, Main Building, Park Place,

Cardiff, CF10 3AT, UK

[†]These authors are contributed equally to this work.

To whom correspondence should be addressed:

Tel./Fax: +86 10 6967 2982

E-mail: zphao@ucas.ac.cn (Z.P. Hao)

Abstract

It is known that urbanization and industrialization contribute to rapidly increasing emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), which are a major contributor to the formation of secondary pollutants (e.g., tropospheric ozone, PAN (peroxyacetyl nitrate) and secondary organic aerosols) and photochemical smog. The emission of these pollutants has led to a large decline in air quality in numerous regions across the world, which has ultimately led to concerns regarding their impact on human health and general wellbeing. Catalytic oxidation is regarded as one of the most promising strategies for the removal of VOCs from industrial waste streams. The review systematically documents the progress and developments made in the understanding and design of heterogeneous catalysts for VOC oxidation over the last two decades. This detailed review addresses how catalytic performance is often drastically affected by the pollutant sources and reaction conditions. It also highlights the primary routes for catalyst deactivation and discusses protocols for their subsequent reactivation. Kinetic models and proposed oxidation mechanisms for representative VOCs are also provided. Typical catalytic reactor and oxidizer for industrial VOC destruction were further reviewed. We believe that this review will act as a great foundation and reference point for future design and development in this field.

Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Major VOC emission sources and sorts
- 2.1. Petroleum refining
- 2.2. Organic chemical raw material production
- 2.3. Synthetic resin
- 2.4. Textile dyeing and printing
- 2.5. Leather manufacturing
- 2.6. Pharmaceutical industry
- 2.7. Pesticide manufacturing
- 2.8. Coating, printing ink, and adhesive manufacturing
- 2.9. Spraying
- 2.10. Printing
- 2.11. Electronic equipment manufacturing
- 3. Oxidation of different sorts of VOCs
- 3.1. Saturated alkanes
- 3.1.1. Ethane
- 3.1.2. Propane
- 3.1.3. *N*-hexane
- 3.1.4. Other saturated C₄-C₆ alkanes
- 3.2. Unsaturated alkenes and alkynes
- 3.2.1. Ethylene
- 3.2.2. Propene
- 3.2.3. Butene and acetylene
- 3.3. Aromatic hydrocarbons
- 3.3.1. Benzene
- 3.3.2. Toluene
- 3.3.3. Xylene
- 3.3.4. Naphthalene
- 3.4. Oxygen-containing VOCs
- 3.4.1. Methanol
- 3.4.2. Ethanol
- 3.4.3. 2-propanol
- 3.4.4. Formaldehyde
- 3.4.5. Acetaldehyde
- 3.4.6. Acetone
- 3.4.7. Methyl ethyl ketone
- 3.4.8. Ethyl acetate
- 3.5. Chlorinated VOCs
- 3.5.1. Dichloromethane
- 3.5.2. 1,2-dichloroethane
- 3.5.3. Vinyl chloride

- 3.5.4. Trichloroethylene
- 3.5.5. Chlorobenzene
- 3.5.6. 1,2-dichlorobenzene
- 3.6. Nitrogen-containing VOCs
- 3.7. Sulfur-containing VOCs
- 3.7.1. Methyl mercaptan
- 3.7.2. Dimethyl disulfide
- 4. Monolithic catalyst for VOC destruction
- 5. Influence of reaction conditions
- 5.1. Effect of water vapor
- 5.2. Promotion effect of ozone
- 5.3. Existence of NO_x
- 5.4. Mutual effect of miscellaneous VOCs
- 6. Catalyst deactivation and regeneration
- 6.1. Catalyst coking, poisoning and sintering
- 6.2. Catalyst regeneration
- 6.3. Anti-deactivation catalysts
- 7. Oxidation kinetics and mechanism
- 7.1. Kinetic models
- 7.2. VOC oxidation mechanism
- 7.2.1. Aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons
- 7.2.2. Heteroatom-containing VOCs
- 8. Typical catalytic reactor and oxidizer
- 9. Conclusions and perspectives
- Acknowledgements
- References

1. Introduction

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) typically refer to organic compounds which have boiling points below 250 °C under atmospheric pressure (101.325 kPa).¹ Most emitted VOCs can lead to the formation of secondary pollutants such as tropospheric ozone, peroxyacetyl nitrate, and secondary organic aerosols; and their toxicity and carcinogenic human health effects are well documented (Tables S1 and S2).²⁻⁴ Rapid urbanization and industrialization has been linked to the growing VOC emissions.^{5,6} For example, industrial non-methane VOC emissions in China increased by 11.6 times from 1.15 Tg in 1980 to 13.35 Tg in 2010, which was above the average annual rate of 8.5%.⁷ The emission of VOCs has been linked to a number of anthropogenic sources, which include petroleum refining, petrochemical processing, solvent use, and many other industrial activities.⁸⁻¹² The vast majority of emitted VOCs consist of alkanes, alkenes, alkynes, aromatics, alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, esters, halocarbons and sulfur/nitrogen containing compounds and their environmental impact is typically dependent on the functionality of the given VOC. Aromatics and alkenes are well recognized as highly polluting molecules, which is attributed to their involvement in the formation of photochemical ozone (Tables S1).^{12,13} Halogenated and chlorinated VOCs require additional attention due to their inherent toxicity and stability.¹⁴ Since 1999, VOC emissions have been heavily regulated by legislation provided by the European Union (EU). The Goteborg protocol provided in 2006 subsequently affirmed that by 2020, all EU countries should half their VOC emissions compared to that observed in the year 2000.¹⁵ Given the environmental impact and toxicity of VOCs and new legislations in place, it is of great importance to develop efficient and applicable methods to reduce global VOC emissions.

There are numerous research initiatives currently under development to meet the challenging environmental regulations. Manifold recovery technologies (e.g. adsorption, absorption, membrane separation and condensation) and oxidative approaches (catalytic oxidation, thermal incineration, biological degradation, photocatalytic decomposition and non-thermal plasma oxidation) have been developed. Each of these technologies however, have practical limitations, which are typically attributed to the large variety of different VOCs and the conditions associated with emission sources.¹⁶ Adsorption-based techniques are only really favorable for the treatment of highly dilute VOC emissions, as they typically rely on condensation approaches, which are

energy intensive and generally limited to the removal of volatile solvents.¹⁷ Absorption is a costly process where the pollutants are scavenged in a liquid for separation and recovery and the disposal of VOCs and spent solvent is the common problem faced by this processes.¹⁸ Membrane separation is another possible alternative for the removal of VOCs owing to the advantages of simple operation to conduct and compact design; however, the membrane separation process is costly and the operation/maintenance of this technology is quite expensive.¹⁹ Low-temperature condensation is energy intensive and limited to treatment of evaporative solvents.²⁰ Biological degradation is generally selective, concentration and temperature sensitive, and effective only for low weight and highly soluble hydrocarbons and usually requires relatively longer empty bed retention time.^{21,22} Photocatalytic decomposition has a broad-spectrum activity toward various VOCs at ambient temperature; however, the relatively low quantum efficiency and long residence time requirement result in the limited oxidation capability and load adaptability of this technology.⁷ A highly reactive environment (active species can react with VOC molecules and decomposed them) can be created in non-thermal plasma without spending high energy on heating the entire gas stream, while the formation of undesired by-products such as O₃, NO_x and intermediates is uncontrolled due to its non-selectivity and limited capability.²³ Thermal incineration is a convenient and efficient approach, but it typically requires high temperatures (\geq 800 °C) to achieve full oxidation of highly concentrated VOC streams. Due to its high energy demand, this technology is not very economical, although the heat released from incineration can be recovered. Furthermore, incomplete thermal oxidation of VOCs can also produce numerous undesirable by-products such as CO, dioxins and NO_x. The complete catalytic oxidation of VOCs into CO₂ and water is one of the most effective and economically feasible technologies currently being investigated for the removal of dilute VOC (< 0.5 vol.%) effluent streams. In this approach, the VOCs are oxidized over a suitable catalyst at much lower temperatures (typically; 200-500 °C) than with thermal incineration. In addition, in some cases the product selectivity in catalytic oxidation processes can be controlled, and can be even more energy efficient if the process is coupled with heat exchangers to redistribute the heat effectively.²⁴

Due to the obvious merits of this technology, a significant amount of investigations have considered the design and synthesis of catalysts for the oxidation of VOCs. Generally, there are two fundamental types of catalysts used in these processes: noble metal supported catalysts

(NMSCs) and transition metal oxides (TMOs).¹⁵ Despite being quite costly, noble metal supported catalysts are generally preferred for VOC catalytic oxidation because of their high specific activity and ease of regeneratation.²⁵ The noble metal phases are usually supported by simple and low-cost oxides such as SiO₂ and γ -Al₂O₃,²⁶⁻²⁹ but also by molecular sieves and TMOs including ZSM-5, Beta, SBA-15, MCM-41, TiO₂, and Co₃O₄ to increase the dispersion of the noble metals and aid adsorption of reactants. Both these can reduce the overall nobel metal loading required, which has economic advantages.³⁰⁻³⁷ Platinum (Pt) and palladium (Pd), have been found to be highly active for the total oxidation of C_2 - C_8 paraffins and are the most extensively studied elements of all the noble metals.³⁸ The catalytic performance of NMSCs is typically dependent on a number of factors, which include: the physicochemical properties of the active metal or support, the interaction between the metal and support, the nobel metal precursor used in the preparation, the preparation method used, and the size and morphology of noble metal particles and supports. TMO catalysts are a cheaper alternative to the NMSCs. These typically consist of elements from groups IIIB and IIB in the periodic table and possess high electron mobilities and positive oxidation states. The TMO materials are generally less active than the NMSCs, but they possess other advantages such as their low cost, excellent reducibility and thermal stability, and resistance to poisoning.³⁹⁻⁴¹ Efforts have been made to develop efficient TMO catalysts for VOC catalytic oxidation, with the primary aim of enhancing the low-temperature reaction activity, to bridge the activity gap between these systems and NMSCs. The development of different types of catalysts for catalytic oxidation of VOCs has been widely reported in the literature^{7,15,42-49} and a number of previous reviews have been published. In 1987, Spivey *et al.*⁴² presented an overview of the catalytic systems used for the oxidation of VOCs. Everaert and Baeyens⁴³ subsequently published a review in 2004, which linked the catalytic oxidation of VOCs with theoretical oxidation kinetics and highlighted how influential reactor design could be on the catalytic performance observed. Li et al.⁴⁴ followed on from this, by publishing a review which in 2009 which predominantly focused on the catalytic oxidation of VOCs over non-noble metal catalysts, whilst Liotta⁴⁵ reviewed the development of catalytic oxidation of VOCs over supported noble metals in 2010. Scirè and Liotta¹⁵ followed on from this with a review focusing on the use of Au supported catalysts for the oxidation of VOCs. In 2014, Aranzabal et al.⁴⁶ reported on the catalytic oxidation of chlorinated VOCs (CVOCs). Huang and

co-authors⁴⁷ reviewed catalysts which were focused on the low-temperature oxidation of VOCs in 2015 and in 2016, Zhang *et al.*⁷ provided an overview of catalytic VOC oxidation from a technological and applicative perspective. In the same year, Li *et al.*⁵⁰ reviewed the development of synthesis, fabrication, and processing of nanostructured noble metals and metal oxides and their peformance in catalytic oxidation of VOCs.

As discussed previously, catalytic oxidation is perhaps one of the most promising approaches for end-of-pipe dilute VOC emission control.^{24,51-54} Despite this, there are still some limitations with the use of this methodology. One fundamental challenge that remains is the development of a definitive criterion for selecting an appropriate catalyst for a given purpose. There are numerous examples of catalysts in the literature which are efficient for the catalytic oxidation of VOCs, which have been documented in the reviews presented previously. While this is a useful means of compiling data, many of the reviews do not account for catalytic performance under realistic practical operational conditions; it is known that industrial flue streams typically consist of undesirable substances such as water vapor, halogen or sulfur-containing organic compounds, sulfur oxides, and ammonia,⁵⁵ which can hinder catalytic performance. It is therefore, often very difficult to identify the best catalysts and catalytic reaction conditions to use for the oxidation of a specific VOC. In addition, the catalytic activity, reaction kinetics, regeneration behavior, and oxidation mechanism may have significant differences in performance for a VOC derived from diverse emission sources.

Previous reviews about catalytic oxidation of VOCs predominantly focused on progresses in catalyst design and only encompassed a small variety of common pollutants. In this review, we provide a systematical summary on the progresses and achievements in VOC catalytic oxidation since 1990 with the primary target of clarifying the fundamental principles which drive the catalytic oxidation of VOCs. We hope to provide reputable representation to the research which has been conducted in this field under practical emission conditions. Emphasis has been placed on reviewing the effect of the emission source and documenting the progresses made for the catalytic oxidation of a wide variety of VOCs, including saturated alkanes, unsaturated alkenes and alkynes, aromatics, and heteroatom-containing hydrocarbons. Following on from this, we clarify the effect of reaction conditions (water vapor, inorganic NO_x or ozone, and organic pollutant composition) on catalytic VOC oxidation and highlight the main causes for catalytic deactivation such as

coking, poisoning, and sintering. Subsequently, approaches for catalytic reactivation is also reviewed and discussed. Proposed kinetic models and oxidation mechanisms of representative VOCs are discussed and clarified. Finally, typical catalytic reactors and oxidizers for industrial VOC destruction were further reviewed. We believe that a comprehensive review on this subject will be both informative and instructive in expanding the understanding of the fundamental principles which drive catalytic VOC oxidation reactions. We hope that this review will provide a crucial reference point for future catalyst design of materials for the catalytic oxidation of VOCs under applicative reaction conditions.

2. Major VOC emission sources and sorts

VOCs can be emitted from a wide range of sources including petroleum refining, organic chemical raw material production, synthetic resin, textile dyeing and printing, leather manufacturing, pharmaceutical industry, pesticide manufacturing, coating, printing ink, and adhesive manufacturing, spraying, printing, and the manufacture of electronic equipment.²⁴ The nature of industry typically dictates the type of VOC emitted, which can include: alkanes, alkenes, alkynes, aromatics, oxygen-containing hydrocarbons (alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, ethers, and esters), halocarbons, and sulfur/nitrogen containing compounds.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸

2.1. Petroleum refining

Petroleum refining refers to a number of processes which are involved with the production of fuel, oil, lubricating grease, solvent oil, petroleum coke, paraffin wax, asphalt, refined oil, naphtha, and oil additives from crude oil refining, including the primary processing (crude distillation), secondary processing (cracking, catalytic reforming, coking and refining, etc.), and third processing (refinery gas processing).^{59,60} In these processes, VOCs are predominantly emitted from process waste streams but can also be emitted during the handling of reactants or products and from unexpected leaks. The primary pollutants emitted from these processes are ethane, propane, isobutane, cyclohexane, *n*-hexane, butene, propene, benzene, toluene, xylene, methyl ethyl ketone and 2-propanol.^{46,61,62}

2.2. Organic chemical raw material production

A large variety of VOCs are also emitted from industries which produce large quantities of organic chemicals such as the polymer, fine chemical, and solvents industries. These industries

typically emit a wide variety of VOCs which can include: ethane, cyclohexane, ethylene, propene, benzene, toluene, xylene, ethylbenzene, methanol, formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, chloroethane, dichloroethane, trichloroethylene, vinyl chloride, chlorobenzene and acrylonitrile.^{46,57,63,64}

2.3. Synthetic resin

The synthetic resin industry is also responsible for the emission of a number of VOC pollutants in the processes of producing synthetic resin (e.g., polyethylene, polypropylene, polyvinyl chloride, polystyrene, acrylonitrile-butadiene-styrene copolymer, polyamide, polycarbonate and polymethyl methacrylate) from basic chemical raw materials mainly include pentane, ethylene, propene, toluene, ethylbenzene, styrene, methanol, ethanol, vinyl chloride, dichloromethane, acrylonitrile and hexamethylenediamine.^{57,65}

2.4. Textile dyeing and printing

The textile and dyeing processing industry using cotton, wool, linen, silk, and chemical fiber as raw materials can emit a wide variety of alkanes, aromatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, aldehydes, ketones and esters to the environment, $^{66-68}$ such as *n*-hexane, benzene, toluene, xylene, styrene, methanol, ethylene glycol, formaldehyde, acetone, methyl ethyl ketone, ethyl acetate, methyl chloride, trichloroethane and vinyl chloride.

2.5. Leather manufacturing

The leather (or artificial/synthetic leather) manufacturing process requires a large amount of organic solvents, which discharge lots of VOC pollutants including benzene, toluene, xylene, ethylbenzene, 2-butanol, 2-propanol, formaldehyde, cyclohexanone, 2-butanone, acetone, butyl acetate, ethyl acetate, vinyl chloride and dimethylamine.²⁴

2.6. Pharmaceutical industry

Pharmaceutical industry includes pharmaceutical raw materials manufacturing, chemical drug manufacturing, and biological drug manufacturing, and all these processes release large numbers of VOCs into atmosphere,^{46,57,68,69} which primarily includes cyclohexane, benzene, toluene, xylene, methanol, ethanol, 2-propanol, acetone, ethyl acetate, dichloromethane, 1,2-dichloroethane and trichloromethane.

2.7. Pesticide manufacturing

Pesticides can be divided into three major categories of herbicides, insecticides, and sterilizers, which mainly refer to various chemical pesticides, microbial pesticides, and biochemical pesticides. The organic pollutants emitted from the pesticide production processes are epoxypropane, benzene, toluene, xylene, methanol, 2-propanol, butanol, formaldehyde, butanone, acetic acid, methyl chloride, chlorobenzene, pyridine, acrylonitrile and ethylenediamine.^{64,69}

2.8. Coating, printing ink, and adhesive manufacturing

Coating manufacturing refers to the production of covering materials made by adding pigments, solvents and auxiliary materials to natural resins or synthetic resins, and the primary VOCs emitted in these activities are toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene, butanol, ethylene glycol, acetone, butanone, cyclohexanone, butyl acetate, and styrene.^{62,70,71} Printing ink manufacturing refers to the activities for production of colored slurry (obtained by mixing, grinding and modulation of pigments, fillers, and coupling materials (e.g., vegetable oils, mineral oils, and resins)) used in printing and inks for printers and duplicators. *N*-hexane, cyclohexane, benzene, toluene, xylene, methanol, ethanol, 2-propanol, butanol, ethyl acetate, and butyl acetate are usually existed in the tail gas of ink production.^{61,72,73} Adhesive manufacturing refers to the production of various types of adhesives using synthetic or natural materials, and main organic pollutants in these processes are benzene, toluene, formaldehyde, methanol, styrene, trichloromethane, carbon tetrachloride, 1,2-dichloroethane and ethylenediamine.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶

2.9. Spraying

Production of various equipment and tools (automobile, motorcycle, bicycle, furniture, ship, container, household appliance, wire, cable, etc.) generally involves the surface coating process, which releases different types of VOCs into atmosphere, such as benzene, toluene, xylene, ethylbenzene, methanol, 2-propanol, *n*-butanol, ethyl acetate and butyl acetate.^{24,70}

2.10. Printing

The paper, plastic, and offset printing and packaging material manufacturing (e.g., soft packaging material coating) processes emit large amounts of alkanes, aromatic hydrocarbons, alcohols, and esters into the environment, 68,73 including *n*-butanol, *n*-butane, toluene, xylene, methanol, ethanol, *n*-propanol, 2-propanol, propanediol, *n*-butyl alcohol, methyl acetate, ethyl acetate and butyl acetate.

2.11. Electronic equipment manufacturing

VOCs are generally emitted from four discharge sections in the electronic equipment production processes,^{57,66,77-79} that is, (1) semiconductor and integrated circuit manufacturing with benzene, toluene, xylene, 2-propanol, acetone, methyl ethyl ketone and butyl acetate as the primary pollutants; (2) flat panel display manufacturing with 2-propanol, propanediol, acetone and dimethyl sulfoxide as the main pollutants; (3) printed circuit board with benzene, toluene, xylene, ethanol, *n*-propanol, 2-propanol, butanol, formaldehyde, butanone, ethyl acetate and butyl acetate as the major emissions; and (4) electronic terminal product manufacturing with benzene, toluene, xylene, ethanol, 2-propanol, cyclohexanone, acetone, butyl acetate, dichloromethane and trichloroethylene as the main pollutants.

3. Oxidation of different sorts of VOCs

3.1. Saturated alkanes

Alkanes are the simplest organic compounds containing hydrogen and carbon, but contribute to a large proportion of the VOC emitted each year. This is primarily because of their widespread application as feedstocks for the industrial synthesis of chemicals. There are numerous examples of alkanes which qualify as VOCs. Those which are commonly emitted including ethane, propane, *n*-hexane, *n*-butane, pentane, cyclopentane, cyclohexane, *n*-heptane, methyl cyclohexane and *n*-octane.^{2,80-82} Many of these compounds have different environmental and toxicological effects. The catalytic oxidation of alkanes has been widely investigated; most of which has predominantly focused toward the oxidation of ethane, propane and *n*-hexane. To date, the work in this area has used a wide variety of different catalysts and includes the use of noble metal (Pt, Pd, Ru, and Au) based catalysts,⁸³⁻⁸⁹ transitional metal (Co, Ni, V, Mo, Cu, Mn, and Fe) oxides,⁹⁰⁻⁹⁶ perovskite-and spinel-type materials⁹⁷⁻¹⁰² and hydrotalcite derivative oxides.¹⁰³

3.1.1. Ethane

Ethane is an important low weight VOC, which is formed as a major by-product from coal gasification, rock oil outgassing and numerous chemical processes such as petroleum refining and the production of organic chemicals.¹⁰⁴ There are numerous reports published on the total catalytic oxidation of ethane to CO_2 and water over Pd and Au supported on base metal oxides such as NiO, Cr_2O_3 and Co_3O_4 .^{86,89,105-107}

SnO₂ was previously shown to be active for the total oxidation of methane.¹⁰⁸ For this reason, Tahir and Koh⁹⁵ subsequently prepared a series of M/SnO₂ (M = Mn, Co, Cu, Ce, and Ni) catalysts using an impregnation technique and found that the catalytic activity for ethane oxidation varied quite significantly. The order of activity observed for this series of catalysts was as follows: Mn/SnO₂ = Co/SnO₂ > Cu/SnO₂ > Ce/SnO₂ = Ni/SnO₂. The Mn/SnO₂ was determined to exhibit a higher stability than that of Co/SnO₂, which was connected with the *in situ* production of a Co₃O₄ surface modification during the reaction. Cu/ZSM-5 has been extensively studied as a catalyst in the low-temperature decomposition of organic compounds.^{109,110} Kucherov *et al.*⁹⁴ reported that isolated Cu²⁺ species located in a square-planar coordination was responsible for the high activity observed over this catalyst. This was related to the interaction between the bivalent cations and oxygen atoms located in the zeolitic framework which are linked to Al³⁺ ions. In the same study, they also reported that the addition of fairly large quantities (5 wt.%) of La or Ce to this material could further enhance catalytic performance, which was attributed to the dopant metals involvement in the stabilization of the square-planar Cu²⁺cations at high temperatures.⁹⁴

It is well known that perovskite-type oxides with the general formula of ABO₃ have a high structural stability, where A sites may be occupied by rare-earth, alkaline-earth, alkali, or other large ions, and the B sites are usually filled with transition-metal cations. Moreover, the perovskite composition can be widely changed by the partial replacement of A and/or B cations with other metals, which can change the physicochemical properties of the material.¹⁰⁰ In general, changing the oxidation states of the A-site typically affects the oxygen adsorption capacity of the material, whereas B-site replacement influences the nature of adsorbed oxygen.^{111,112} Preparing and testing materials with different A and B site combinations can be a productive method to acquire and understand how the physicochemical properties of a catalyst effect its performance in a given reaction.¹¹³ Lee *et al.*⁹⁸ investigated how the partial substitution of La^{3+} with alkali metals in a LaMnO₃ perovskite effected catalytic performance in the oxidation of ethane. It was determined that the partial substitution of La with K resulted in a strong reduction in oxygen non-stoichiometry and oxygen desorption of the perovskites material. The incorporation of K however, was found to have a negative effect on the catalytic activity since K facilitating oxygen activation and reduction to O²⁻ lattice oxygen, promoting the oxydehydrogenation of ethane to ethylene (Fig. 1i).

Due to their inherent stability, it is exceptionally difficult to oxidize alkanes over TMOs and perovskites. NMSCs such as supported Pd materials however, are well known to be highly efficient catalysts for the oxidation of alkanes.¹¹⁴ Samorjai and co-workers¹¹⁵ recently investigated the catalytic oxidation of ethane over Pd foils in temperatures ranging from 573-698 K at 800 Torr (total pressure). Post-reaction characterization of the catalyst by auger electron spectroscopy (AES) showed that a significant proportion of PdO_x species were present, regardless of the reaction conditions used. They determined that a surface oxygen monolayer coverage of 0.3-0.5 was found to be optimum for ethane oxidation. Kolade *et al.*¹¹⁶ used monolith (made of Pd/active carbon) as an adsorptive catalytic reactor for ethane disposal (Fig. 1ii). This structure provided a high surface area, low pressure drop, and low resistance to the transport of particulate and can maintain high VOC conversion while preventing thermal loss.

Au has historically been considered as an element catalytically inert, in particular with respect to alkane oxidation. However, Au has been shown to be a metal capable of excellent catalyst activity when present as nanocrystals on a support. Solsona *et al.*¹¹⁴ conducted a study which compared the activity of Au supported on MnO_x and CoO_x for the oxidation of ethane. It was determined that the total oxidation of ethane could be achieved at temperatures as low as 250 °C (GHSV of 15,000 h⁻¹) over the Au/CoO_x catalyst synthesized by a co-precipitation method. The presence of Au in the catalyst was determined to enhance the reducibility of the support and a correlation between the redox properties of the catalysts and the catalytic activity was established.

3.1.2. Propane

Propane is an alkane present in both oil and natural gas. The quantity of propane emitted from stationary sources continues to increase and is believed to be directly linked with the continued development of chemical processes and products.¹¹⁷ Recent developments in catalytic oxidation of propane has primarily involved the use of single or multiple metal oxide systems containing Co, Mn, Fe, Ni and Cu.^{91,96,102,118-126} The most promising metal oxides systems developed to date typically consist of either Co and/or Mn oxides.^{127,128} Co₃O₄ has been consistently found to the more active than other stable Co phases, such as CoO, which has been attributed to the lower oxidation state of Co in Co₃O₄.¹²⁸ Similar observation have been made regarding manganese oxides; partially reduced phases such as Mn₂O₃ and Mn₃O₄ have been found to display a higher

catalytic destruction activity.⁴³

It is known that Co₃O₄ is one of the most efficient catalysts currently available for the total oxidation of propane.^{120,129-132} High surface area cobalt oxide is typically desirable as it is more easily reduced, which is attributed to a reduced Co-O bond strength and higher defect concentration. Ordered Co₃O₄ oxides with surface areas as high as 173 m²·g⁻¹ were successfully obtained through a nanocasting route using a mesostructured KIT-6 silica template.¹¹⁹ The mesoporous Co₃O₄ was found to display a higher activity for this reaction when compared to conventional Co₃O₄, which has been ascribed to the higher surface area of the material and greater proportion of oxygen vacancies. The ordered structure in this material however, did not appear to have an influence on the catalytic performance. A subsequent study by Salek et al.¹²⁰ provided a novel method for obtaining high surface area Co_3O_4 (up to 100 m²·g⁻¹), which was achieved by using CoO(OH) as the catalyst precursor. The CoO(OH) was calcined at 250 °C in air and was found to totally convert propane (0.4 vol.%) at just 230 °C (volumetric flow rate of 1.63 cm³·s⁻¹). The enhanced activity was attributed to the increased accessibility of reactants to catalyst surface. Alternative approaches have targeted the immobilization of Co₃O₄ on various support materials, which can have a dramatic influence on the physicochemical properties of the active Co₃O₄ phase.¹³³ Zhu *et al.*¹²⁶ determined that the propane oxidation activity of a Co₃O₄/ZSM-5 synthesized by a hydrothermal method, was higher than that of a bulk Co₃O₄ material. The excellent catalytic activity exhibited by the Co₃O₄/ZSM-5 catalyst was attributed to a number of factors, which included; enhanced reducibility of Co^{3+} species, a higher proportion of Co³⁺ species and surface lattice oxygen, and increased lattice oxygen mobility (Fig. 2i and ii). It is also important to note that in some cases, supporting Co₃O₄ can also have detrimental effects on the catalytic performance observed. Taylor and co-worker¹³¹ determined that highly dispersed Co₃O₄ exhibited strong interactions with the support material, which ultimately led to a reduction in the observed catalytic activity.

 MnO_x is an abundant, low cost alternative catalyst for the oxidation of VOCs.^{134,135} The catalytic oxidation of C₃ hydrocarbons over Mn_3O_4 was studied in detail by Busca and co-workers.¹³⁶ Only propene and trace quantities of ethylene were observed at incomplete propane conversions; CO₂ was only detected under a highly oxidizing atmosphere. To rationalize this, a propane oxidation mechanism over Mn_3O_4 was proposed, offering an explanation as to

how the propene was produced. Both Co and Mn oxide catalysts have been prepared by a wet oxidation procedure and utilized organic acids as a reducing agent. A previous study indicated that the organic acids could act as a template in the metal oxide precipitation.¹²¹ When the Co and Mn oxides were prepared in this way, both materials were found to be highly active for this reaction. The enhancement in performance was owing to an increased proportion of the reduced phase with the Mn oxide. The high activity observed with the Co oxide however was merely attributed to an increase in surface area.

As the catalytic performance in propane oxidation strongly depends on their surface structure and surface active sites, there is often a direct relationship between catalytic activity and the crystal plane figure/crystal facet Miller indices and/or geometric features of the catalyst surface. Xie *et al.*¹²² reported that the crystal phase of MnO₂ catalysts (α -, β -, γ -, and δ -MnO₂) significantly influenced their catalytic activity in this reaction. Of the materials tested, α -MnO₂ exhibited the best activity, with 90% of propane oxidized at 290 °C (GHSV of 30,000 h⁻¹). Unlike the other Mn oxide phases discussed previously, with MnO₂, the surface area and reducibility of MnO₂ do not appear to be influential factors which drive the catalytic activity. DFT calculations were subsequently conducted, which simulated the adsorption of propane on the different crystal phases of MnO₂. It was determined that the crystal phases had a dramatic effect on the adsorption energy of the propane on the MnO₂ (Fig. 2iii). The calculated binding energies were found to vary in the following order: $\alpha(310) > \gamma(120) > \beta(110) > \delta(001)$. This aligned with the activity observed for these materials and so, the activity was directly attributed to the adsorption energy of propane over MnO₂. Besides, the presence of translational motion in α -MnO₂ along with its stronger deformation and stretching modes may lead to its better catalytic activity for this reaction.¹²²

Although the Fe oxide is typically less active than both Co and Mn oxides for this reaction, it has a high thermal stability and is therefore less susceptible to sintering deactivation routes. In addition, Fe oxide is environmentally benign and readily available, which ultimately merits economic benefits. Fe oxide has been found to display some promise as a catalyst for the low temperature oxidation of propane and propene.¹³⁷ Mesoporous Fe oxides have been found to be much more active than bulk Fe oxide, which has been attributed to enhancements in the total surface area and reducibility of the material and a superior reactant mass transfer resistance.¹³⁸ Recently, Nieto and co-workers⁹⁶ prepared a series of mesoporous Fe oxide materials by a soft

chemistry method; utilizing oxalic acid as the precipitating agent and a hard template method; KIT-6 silica was used as the hard template. These materials were subsequently characterized and tested for this reaction. The mesoporous Fe oxide prepared using oxalic acid exhibited a higher activity for this reaction, which was partly attributed to the formation of nanocrystalline aggregates on the catalysts surface. A direct relationship between the catalysts reducibility and activity was observed.

Mixed metal oxides have significantly different properties (textural, morphological, redox and acid-base) compared to single metal oxides. There are numerous examples of mixed-metal oxide materials displaying better activity for the oxidation of VOCs than their mono-metallic oxide counterparts.¹³⁹⁻¹⁴³ The observed enhancement in catalytic performance is often owing to the multiple available energy levels of the metals and their associated oxygen anions in the mixed-metal systems, facilitating increased interactions between the VOC and surface-bound active oxygen anions. This property is also likely to result in a higher mobility of surface oxygen and/or substrate and increase electron transportation through the materials lattice. One such example of this, was provided by Morales *et al.*¹²⁵ who prepared a series of Cu-Mn mixed metal oxides by a co-precipitation method with varied ageing times. The Cu-Mn mixed oxide catalysts all displayed a higher propane oxidation activity than that observed over Mn₂O₃ and CuO. Increasing the ageing time during the preparation of the Cu-Mn oxide was also found to further increase the activity and CO₂ selectivity.

CeO₂ has displayed a lot of potential as a catalyst for the total oxidation of VOCs, which has been attributed to a host of unique properties such as its high oxygen storage capacity and ability to undergo redox shuttling between Ce³⁺ and Ce^{4+,144,145} Ce is often utilized as structural and electronic promoter, owing to its high oxygen storage capacity^{24,25} Mesoporous Ce_{1-x}Mn_xO₂ catalysts with Ce : Mn of 1.5 exhibited a very high activity for propane oxidation and could totally convert propane to CO₂ and water at 300 °C.¹²⁴ Lu and co-workers⁹¹ have also demonstrated that Mn-Ni oxide materials were highly active for the catalytic oxidation of propane. Of the catalysts tested in this study, a MnNi_{0.2}O_x catalyst exhibited the highest catalytic activity; a 90% propane conversion was observed at 240 °C (GHSV of 30,000 h⁻¹). The high activity observed was linked to the formation of a Mn-Ni-O material which was found to form when only small quantities of Ni were incorporated in the preparation. The synergistic interaction between Ni and Mn was related to a number of factors, which included an increased proportion of surface Mn⁴⁺ species and oxygen vacancies, a higher oxygen mobility and enhanced reducibility of the material (Fig. 3i).

A significant quantity of work has also investigated the use mixed metal oxide spinel structured materials, hydrotalcite-derived oxides and perovskites for the catalytic oxidation of VOCs. Spinel structured oxides typically contain cation sites of a specific structure (tetrahedral and octahedral) and have oxide anions arranged in a cubic close-packed lattice¹⁴⁶. A series of $Co_xMn_{3-x}O_4$ spinel oxides ($0 \le x \le 3$), exhibiting specific surface areas up to 250 m²·g⁻¹, were synthesized and tested for the catalytic oxidation of propane.¹⁰² The spinel oxide materials exhibited an exceptional low-temperature catalytic activity for this reaction (Fig. 3iii and iv). The most efficient catalyst ($Co_{2.3}Mn_{0.7}O_4$) tested, achieved a propane conversion of approximately 90% at only 220 °C (apparent activation energy (E_a) of 60 ± 10 kJ·mol⁻¹), which is notably better than other Co oxide catalysts reported in the literature.¹⁰²

Mixed transition metal oxides can be readily obtained through the calcination of LDH precursors. It is known that metal oxide materials prepared in this way typically exhibit a good dispersion of active components and have large surface areas and a high thermal stability. Jiang *et al.*¹⁰³ determined that $Cu_xMg_{3-x}AlO$ materials derived from $Cu_xMg_{3-x}Al$ ternary hydrotalcites were highly active for the catalytic oxidation of propane. The performance of these materials for this reaction was found to be highly dependent on the Cu content. A $Cu_{0.5}Mg_{2.5}AlO$ material exhibited the highest catalytic activity as the strong interactions between the component oxides (Fig. 3ii).

LaCoO₃ perovskite materials have also been found to be active for this reaction, which can be enhanced further by substituting with Sr or Ce ions.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵⁰ Merino *et al.*¹⁰⁰ were the first to investigate how the partial replacement of La with Ca effected the materials catalytic performance in this reaction. Experimental results revealed that the substitution of Ca²⁺ for La³⁺ generated oxygen vacancies and preserved charge neutrality throughout the material, which resulted in a "reductive stoichiometry". This resulted in a notable reduction in the E_a for propane activation and ultimately resulted in an increase in the observed catalytic activity.

Supported noble metal (Pd, Pt, Au, and Ru) catalysts have also been extensively investigated as catalysts for the oxidation of propane. Pd- and Pt-supported catalysts have displayed a lot of potential as catalysts for the total oxidation of short chain alkanes.^{126,151} Various support materials

such as Al_2O_3 , TiO_2 , zeolites and perovskites have been investigated in an attempt to improve the oxidative performance of the noble metal phases.^{27,112,152-157} The behavior of these supported Pd or Pt catalysts is strongly influenced by the nature of the support. TiO_2 for example, is known to be more resistant to sulphur poisoning than Al_2O_3 .¹⁵⁵

The total catalytic oxidation of hydrocarbons over Pd supported catalysts is dependent on the redox cycle of palladium; oxygen incorporation in the products proceeds through a PdO intermediate species.^{158,159} The performance of these catalysts is therefore likely to be influenced by the Pd dispersion, which is typically driven by the Pd-support interaction.¹⁶⁰ For this reason, the morphology and exposed crystal planes of support material can have a significant impact on the performance of these catalysts in total oxidation reactions. Hu *et al.*¹⁶¹ recently prepared a series of nanocrystallites CeO₂ materials with different morphologies and crystal planes by a hydrothermal method. It was determined that Pd species on CeO₂ rods and cubes predominantly formed Pd_xCe_{1-x}O_{2- σ} phases which contained -Pd²⁺-O²⁻-Ce⁴⁺- linkages. In contrary, when Pd was supported on CeO₂ octahedrons, large quantities of PdO_x nanoparticles were observed. Interestingly, the highest reaction rates and turnover frequencies (TOF) for propane oxidation were observed over the Pd/CeO₂-octahedron catalyst. This increase in activity was owing to an increased proportion of (111) facets in the CeO₂-octahedron support material (Fig. 4i), inducing strong Ce-O surface bonds which favors the production of PdO species.¹⁰²

Pt supported catalysts have also be found to be highly active for this reaction.^{162,163} Aryafar and Zaera¹⁶⁴ conducted a kinetic study on the oxidation of lower alkanes (methane, ethane, propane and *n*-butane) over Ni, Pd and Pt foils, and found that Pt was the most active foil for the oxidation of most of the compounds; methane being the only exception. Previously, we have shown that the acid-base properties of the support could significantly effect the activity of Pd-supported catalysts. Brønsted acid sites (BAS) assisted with the dispersion of Pd species and could dramatically effect the Pd oxidation state.

It is found that the BAS are responsible for the formation of the dispersed Pd species and the acid-base property of support has significant influence on the dispersion and oxidation state of Pd.^{31,165-168} Yazawa *et al.*¹⁶⁹ investigated how the acid strength of the support influenced the propane oxidation activity with varying concentrations of O_2 in the gas feed. It was determined that partially oxidized Pd species were desirable for this reaction. It was concluded that acidic

supports hinder the oxidation of Pd, while basic supports enhance Pd oxidation. As such, it was proposed that a highly acidic support favors oxidation activity under oxygen-rich conditions, whereas basic supports are expected to be more suitable under oxygen-lean conditions.¹⁶⁹ A similar correlation between catalytic activity and the acid-base properties of the support has been observed with supported Pt catalysts; the effect of support acidity on propane oxidation activity over Pt-based catalysts was investigated by Murakami and co-workers.¹⁷⁰ It was proposed that highly acidic supports were favorable as they inhibited the oxidation of the Pt. Further evidence for this was observed by Yazawa *et al.*,¹⁷¹ who synthesized a series of Pt catalysts on different supports (Pt/MgO, Pt/La₂O₃, Pt/ZrO₂, Pt/Al₂O₃, Pt/SiO₂, Pt/SiO₂-Al₂O₃ and Pt/SO₄²⁻-ZrO₂) and tested them for the low temperature oxidation of propane. Once again, it was determined that the more acidic supports displayed a higher catalytic activity (Fig.4ii).

The oxidation of saturated aliphatic hydrocarbons is typically conducted over Au catalysts at higher temperatures than those used with Pd and Pt supported catalysts.^{172,173} As with Pd and Pt, it is generally accepted that the catalytic activity of Au supported catalysts for VOC oxidation is dependent on the nature of the support material. Solsona et al.¹⁷⁴ investigated the use of a Au/Ni-Ce-O catalyst for this reaction, and proposed that the excellent activity observed was attributed to their high total surface area, low Ni-O bond strength and highly reducible Ni sites. One of the most commonly used mixed metal oxide catalysts used for total oxidation reactions is Hopcalite; a mixed copper and manganese oxide originally discovered approximately ninety years ago.^{175,176} More recently, Solsona et al.⁸⁹ utilized Hopcalite as a support materials for Au nanoparticles and determined that the performance of Au/Hopcalite catalysts in this reaction were dramatically affected by the calcination temperature. Calcination at 300 °C was found to produce the most active catalyst, which was linked to an improvement in the reducibility of the Hopcalite, induced from the incorporation of a Au phase. Au/Co₃O₄ has also been found to be highly active for the total oxidation of saturated hydrocarbons.^{15,177} A transient propane oxidation experiment was conducted over an Au/CoO_x catalyst and monitored using a temporal analysis of products (TAP) reactor. The enhanced performance observed from the introduction of Au onto the surface of CoO_x was attributed to an increase in oxygen mobility between lattice and surface oxygen.¹⁷⁸ More recently, Solsona et al.¹⁷⁹ investigated the performance of Au deposited on a series of mesoporous Co oxide materials for this reaction. Again, Au was found to increase the catalytic

activity when compared to a corresponding Au-free Co_3O_4 material, which was ascribed to an improved reducibility of the Co oxide in the presence of Au nanoparticles (Fig. 4iv).

The activity of NMSCs can be further modified through the addition of a second active component. Modifiers are generally added to promote activity and enhance catalytic resistance to deactivation. Fe, Mn, W, Re, Ce and La have all been investigated for their promotional effect on NMSCs in propane oxidation.^{27,153-155,180} The addition of tungsten to a Pd/TiO₂ catalyst was found to significantly enhance the catalytic activity in this reaction (Fig. 4iii). In the standard Pd/TiO₂ catalyst, both Pd⁰ and Pd²⁺ species were observed. Interestingly, after W was added, all the observed Pd presence existed as Pd²⁺. The increased activity observed was attributed to the formation of a WO_x-decorated interface between PdO_x and TiO₂.¹⁵⁵ Zheng *et al.*¹⁸⁰ subsequently investigated how the introduction of Ni to a Pt/Ce_{0.4}Zr_{0.6}O₂ catalyst effected its performance in this reaction. The modified material exhibited an enhancement in activity and resistance to sulfur. It has been proposed that rare earth metals such as Ce can act as both structural and chemical promoters; stabilizing noble metal nanoparticles against sintering and providing an additional source of active oxygen. In addition to this, Gluhoi and Nieuwenhuys¹⁵³ investigated how MO_x (M = alkali (earth), transition metal and cerium) promoted the performance of Au/Al₂O₃ catalysts in this reaction. The addition of MO_x to Au/Al_2O_3 was found to improve the propane oxidation activity. The observed enhancement was proposed to be ascribed to two factors: (i) stabilization of the supported Au nanoparticles and (ii) increased oxygen activation. As a promoter, La has been shown to improve the thermal stability of alumina.^{181,182} La has also been shown to have additional benefits as a promoter; when doped onto a Pd catalyst, strong interactions between Pd and La can influence the oxidation state of Pd.¹⁸³ Li et al.¹⁵⁴ determined that Pd supported onto a La-modified alumina material enhanced the catalytic performance for this reaction, compared to the original Pd/Al₂O₃ catalyst. As discussed previously, the oxidation state of supported Pd can be affected by the basicity of support material. La can have a similar effect and promote the oxidation of supported Pd, due to its electrophobic nature. For this reason, La can be a useful modifier for catalysts operating at low temperatures or oxygen deficient conditions.¹⁵⁴

3.1.3. *N*-hexane

N-hexane is a common VOC emitted from oil field gas, petroleum refining, and the textile

dyeing and printing industries. Many catalysts including transition metal (Cu, Co, W, Bi, Ti, and Mn) oxides, noble metal (Pt, Pd, and Au) supported materials, perovskite- and spinel-type oxides have been investigated for the catalytic oxidation of *n*-hexane.^{84,97,101,184-195} Manganese oxide based catalysts are perhaps the most interesting from a commercial perspective, attributable to their low synthesis costs and high activity.^{134,196} MnO₂ has been reported to be even more active than some NMSCs for this reaction.¹⁹⁷ As with some of the other VOCs discussed previously, the high activity of the manganese oxide catalysts for this reaction is attributed to the co-existence of mixed valence states of Mn²⁺/Mn³⁺ or Mn³⁺/Mn⁴⁺ and lattice oxygen.^{198,199} Mn-Co mixed metal oxides have also been found to be highly efficient systems for the oxidation of VOCs,²⁰⁰ and are in general, more efficient than their mono-metallic oxide counterparts. Tang *et al.*²⁰¹ demonstrated that this was also the case for this reaction.

Zeolites have also gained much attention as catalysts for the oxidation of hydrocarbons, which has been attributed to their pore structures, acidic properties, good thermal stability, and ion exchange properties.²⁰² More specifically, Díaz *et al.*¹⁸⁸ studied the oxidation of *n*-hexane over a series of NaX and CaA zeolites, which were modified by Fe exchange with Mn²⁺, Co²⁺, and Fe³⁺. Of the catalysts tested, the Mn-exchanged CaA catalyst exhibited the highest activity for this reaction. The performance of this material was attributed to the Mn instigating changes in the morphological structure, surface acidity, and oxygen affinity of the zeolite.

CeO₂ can act both as an oxygen source or oxygen sink in surface based reactions. In addition, it is known that CeO₂ can enhance the reducibility and dispersion of supported metal particles.⁴⁰ Ce-Zr oxide materials (Ce_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ and Ce_{0.15}Zr_{0.85}O₂) have been investigated as catalysts for this reaction.²⁰³ The insertion of ZrO₂ into cubic CeO₂ lattice distorts the structure of the oxide, which allows for greater lattice oxygen mobility and can improve catalyst activity.²⁰⁴ The introduction of small quantities of Cu into CeO₂ was also been reported to improve its activity in total oxidation reactions.¹⁸⁵

CeO₂ has also attracted attentions as support material for Au nanoparticles and has been applied as a catalyst for the oxidation of various VOCs. Centeno *et al.*¹⁹⁴ studied the catalytic oxidation of *n*-hexane over Au/Al₂O₃ catalysts and found that the addition of CeO₂ to the material, enhanced the metal support interaction and dispersion of Au particles. The enhancement in activity was connected with an increase in the mobility of lattice oxygen and an increased stability

21

of the desired Au oxidation state.

TiO₂ and MnO₂ are commonly used as supports for Au nanoparticles. TiO₂ carries a positive charge at low pH, which is less than the value of 6.0 of its isoelectric point,²⁰⁵ which facilitates strong interactions with anionic Au species (AuCl₄⁻), enhancing the Au dispersion. Lahousse *et al.*²⁰⁶ reported that γ -MnO₂ is more active than some of the conventional NMSCs used in VOC oxidation reactions. Grange and co-workers¹⁹³ investigated the effect of the Au particle size in Au/TiO₂ and Au/ γ -MnO₂ catalysts by comparing samples prepared by deposition-precipitation (DP) with samples prepared by ananion adsorption method. It was concluded that the differences in the Au particle size for the two methods originated from the mobility of Au surface species during the thermal treatment. The Au/ γ -MnO₂ catalyst prepared by DP displayed the highest Au dispersion but did not exhibit the highest propane oxidation activity, due to a loss in the specific surface area of the material.¹⁹³

In general, supported Pt catalysts are more active than Au supported catalysts for the oxidation of VOCs.^{207,208} Pt nanoparticles supported on high surface area γ -Al₂O₃, either as a powder or immobilized on a wash-coated monolith is the most commonly used catalyst for VOC abatement industrially.⁴⁵ The total oxidation of *n*-hexane has been studied over Pt/Al₂O₃ catalysts with small and large Pt crystallites.⁸⁴ To this catalyst, Mn was subsequently introduced by the DP method and the effect of the precipitating agent was compared. When ammonia was used, predominantly spherical Mn oxide particles were observed on the surface. In contrary, when dimethylamine was invoked as the precipitating agent, fibrous needle-like structures of MnO_x were observed, which were characteristic of a cryptomelane phase. Both the Mn doped Pt/Al₂O₃ catalysts were more active than the corresponding Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst. Of these, the material containing Mn precipitated by dimethylamine exhibited the highest activity, which was attributed to an increase in oxygen mobility and increased proportion of active oxygen species from Pt-O-Mn sites, associated with cryptomelane phase.

3.1.4. Other saturated C₄-C₆ alkanes

The catalytic oxidation of numerous other saturated alkanes such as *n*-butane, *iso*-butane, *n*-pentane, cyclopentane, *iso*-pentane, and cyclohexane has also been reported in the literature. A large proportion of the work specifically investigating the catalytic oxidation of *n*-butane and/or

iso-butane has involved the use of supported precious metal (Pt, Ru, and Au) catalysts. Haneda et al.²⁰⁹ studied the oxidation of *n*-butane over Pt supported on ZrO₂ and Y-stabilized ZrO₂ and established that the TOF increased as the Pt dispersion decreased. This relationship between the oxidative activity of Pt catalysts and dispersion has also been observed with reactions conducted over Pt/SiO₂ and Pt/TiO₂.²¹⁰ The addition of Y₂O₃ to supported Pt catalysts has been shown to improve the thermal stability of the catalyst, which is associated with an enhanced metal-support interaction but does not appear to effect the catalytic activity.²⁰⁹ The catalytic oxidation of *n*-butane and *iso*-butane has also been studied by Okal and Zawadzki⁸⁷ over Ru/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalysts. In this study, the catalysts pre-treatment conditions; calcination-reduction or direct reduction with H₂, were found to have a significant influence on ruthenium dispersion and catalytic activity. The presence of chlorine in the catalyst was found to notably reduce the Ru dispersion in the catalyst which was only exposed to reduction in H₂, which had a detrimental effect on the oxidation activity. The introduction of a calcination step prior to reduction in H₂, was found to reduce the quantity of chlorine on the catalysts' surface and ultimately led to increased Ru dispersion and oxidation activity. The activity of the Ru/y-Al₂O₃ catalysts was ultimately owing to the availability of oxygen from the surface Ru_xO_y species.

Supported Pt catalysts have also been reported as efficient catalysts for *n*-pentane oxidation.^{211,212} Once again, it is widely accepted that oxidative activity of these catalysts is typically related to Pt dispersion and the acid strength of the supporting material.⁸³ The reaction kinetics and *in situ* activation of cyclopentane was also investigated over Pt/Al₂O₃ catalysts. It was determined that the reaction was first order with respect to both oxygen and cyclopentane, but the reaction order and E_a did not appear to change when the Pt dispersion was varied. Cyclopentane oxidation is proposed to proceed *via* a surface redox mechanism, with the dissociative adsorption of oxygen considered to be the rate-determining step.²¹³ The catalytic activity and adsorption properties of copper-containing pentasils with Si : Al mole ratios of 20 and 40 have also been investigated for the oxidation of *iso*-pentane.²¹⁴ The catalysts were prepared *via* ion exchange, mechanical mixing, and impregnation methods and were all found to exhibit a high catalytic activity. The activity of these materials was attributed to reducible Cu²⁺ cations, located in square planar co-ordinations in zeolite.

The catalytic oxidation of cyclohexane has also been reported over a number of different

catalysts such as CeO₂, Co₃O₄, MnO_x, and Pd supported catalysts.²¹⁵⁻²¹⁸ With the Pd supported catalysts, the observed TOF was once again determined to be dependent on the dispersion of the supported Pd nanoparticles.²¹⁷

3.2. Unsaturated alkenes and alkynes

In addition to alkanes, alkenes make up a large proportion of the VOCs emitted industrially each year. Many of the commonly emitted alkenes have detrimental effects on both the environment and human health. Propene in particular, is recognized as highly polluting compound because of its high photochemical ozone creativity potential (POCP).^{12,219} Given that both ethylene and propene make up such a large proportion of the alkene VOCs emitted each year, the catalytic oxidation of these compounds has been extensively studied over the last decade.²²⁰⁻²⁴⁰

3.2.1.Ethylene

Ethylene is extensively used as a solvent in the production of varnishes, synthetic resins, adhesives, and printing ink due to its low toxicity, good solubility and volatility.²⁴¹ There are numerous examples of mixed metal oxide catalysts used for the total oxidation of ethylene in the literature. Chen *et al.*²⁴² pointed out that a mesoporous Cu-Mn oxide catalyst could catalyze the oxidation of ethylene at temperatures as low as 200 °C. Following on from this, Njagi *et al.*²²⁵ synthesized a mesoporous Cu-Mn oxide catalyst by a redox methodology, which was determined to be highly active for this reaction; complete ethylene oxidation (1.0 vol.%) was achieved at 200 °C (weight hourly space velocity (WHSV) of 35,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹). The incorporation of Cu into this oxide material was found to further enhance the catalytic activity, which was ascribed to increased reducibility of the material and enhanced lattice oxygen mobility. Additional work conducted by Piumetti *et al.*²⁴³ compared the performance of three mesoporous Mn oxide catalysts (Mn₂O₃, Mn₃O₄, and Mn_xO_y) for this reaction, which were prepared by a solution combustion method. Of the catalysts tested, the Mn₃O₄ catalyst displayed the highest catalytic activity; ethylene was completely oxidized to CO₂ and water at 260 °C (GHSV of 29,100 h⁻¹).

In recent times, mesoporous carbon materials have amassed a lot of interest in heterogenous catalysis due to their high surface area, large pore volume, controllable surface properties, and good chemical stability.^{244,245} In a recent report by Li *et al.*,²²² a series of Co catalysts supported on mesoporous carbon spheres, with varied Co weight loadings, were synthesized by an isometric

impregnation method and tested for this reaction. The most active catalyst contained a cobalt loading of 30 wt.% and fully converted 1000 ppm of C₂H₄ at temperatures as low as 185 °C with a total flow rate of 100 cm³·min⁻¹ ($E_a = 79.2 \text{ kJ·mol}^{-1}$).

There are also numerous reports on the use of NMSCs for this reaction. Isaifan and Baranova²²⁹ investigated how the nature of the support (Y_2O_3 -ZrO₂, Sm₂O₃-CeO₂, carbon, and γ -Al₂O₃) influenced the activity of supported Pt nanoparticles in this reaction (Fig. 5i). Of the catalysts tested in this study, the Pt/Carbon catalyst was determined to be the most active. A subsequent study was conducted by the same group, which investigated how the Pt particle size influenced the catalytic activity of the Pt/Carbon catalyst under fuel-lean conditions.²²⁶ It was determined that the performance of the Pt/Carbon catalyst is strongly dependent on the Pt nanoparticle size. Smaller Pt nanoparticles were determined to provide the most active catalysts and a Pt/C catalyst with a mean particle size distribution of 1.5 nm (+/- 0.5 nm) exhibited full ethylene conversion at approximately 100 °C (WHSV of 12,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹) (Fig 5ii and iii).

The emission of ethylene from fruit and vegetables can lead to a reduced shelf lifetimes as it enhances the rate of ripening.²⁴ This causes huge economic issues in the agricultural industry as the emission of ethylene in this way has been estimated to cause substantial postharvest food losses (as high as 10-80%) and as such, has provided addition motives for the development of processes to alleviate this impact.²⁴⁶⁻²⁴⁸ Given that these food products are typically stored at temperatures between 0-25 °C, it is important that processes are developed which can efficiently remove ethylene at these mild conditions. This is an exceptionally challenging venture, as the high energy C-C σ bond in ethylene is difficult to activate and break at low temperatures (\leq 25 °C). Previous works have indicated that well dispersed Au nanoparticles supported on metal oxides are highly active for a range of different total oxidation reactions.²⁴⁹⁻²⁵¹ The efficiency of supported Au nanoparticles for low-temperature oxidation reactions is reported to be dependent on a variety of factors including the Au particle size, the properties of support, and their preparation and heat treatment conditions.^{252,253}

Li *et al.*²³⁰ investigated the effect of different supports (Fe₂O₃, Co₃O₄, TiO₂, and ZnO) for Au nanoparticles on this reaction at low temperatures. Of the catalysts tested, the Au/Co₃O₄ catalyst exhibited the highest activity; an ethylene conversion of 7.4% was observed at 25 °C and full conversion was observed at 160 °C with a gas flow rate of 33.4 mL·min⁻¹ (Fig. 5iv). A subsequent

study investigated how the Co₃O₄ morphology effected the catalytic activity of Au/Co₃O₄ catalysts.²⁵⁴ Au supported on mesoporous Co₃O₄ was determined to highly active and ethylene conversions of up to 76 % were observed at 0 °C with a gas flow rate of 60 mL·min⁻¹. HRTEM indicated that the excellent low temperature activity of this catalyst was attributed to a high proportion of exposed {110} facets present in the mesoporous Co₃O₄ material (Fig. 5v). A subsequent study further probed the relationship between the activity and morphology of Au/Co₃O₄ catalysts. Co₃O₄ nanorods, polyhedral, and cubes were synthesized and immobilized with Au. The resulting catalysts exhibited ethylene conversions of 94%, 86%, and 27% respectively, at 0 °C (WHSV of 9000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹). HRTEM images indicated that the Co₃O₄ polyhedra and cubes predominantly consisted of exposed {110} facets.²²⁰

Supported Pt and Ag catalysts have also displayed potential for this reaction. Jiang et al.²⁵⁵ reported that Pt nanoparticles supported on mesoporous silica (MCM-41) can fully oxidize ethylene at 0 °C. A series of Ag catalysts supported on microporous zeolites (ZSM-5, Beta, Y, and Mordenite) were prepared by Yang et al.²⁵⁶ and tested for the oxidation of 100 ppm of ethylene at 25 °C. The nature of the zeolitic framework and water content of the gas feed were proposed to have a substantial influence on the stability of the catalysts. The catalysts tested displayed excellent activities and exhibited full oxidation to CO₂ and water under these conditions. The stability of the catalysts was proposed to be proportional to the quantity of available Brønsted acid sites. Some deactivation was observed with the Ag/zeolite catalysts, which was attributed to the disappearance of BAS during the reaction. A subsequent study compared a series of noble metal catalysts (Au, Ag, Pt, and Pd) supported on ZSM-5 for low temperature ethylene oxidation at 25 °C. Of the catalysts tested, the Pt/ZSM-5 catalyst was determined to be the most active.²⁵⁷ It was determined that fluorination of the ZSM-5 material prior to immobilization with Pt led to a further enhancement in the catalytic performance due to an increase in the Brønsted acidity of the support, which enhanced the adsorption and activation of the ethylene compounds. The fluorination step was also credited with enhancing the lifetime of the catalyst which was attributed to increasing the inhibition of the BAS to water.

3.2.2. Propene

The catalytic oxidation of propene has been investigated in detail in recent years. This is predominantly due to its abundant production or application in numerous industries. Propene has high POCP¹² and is a primary contributor to photochemical smog, and therefore has substantial environmental impacts. Some examples of catalytic systems reported in the literature are displayed in Table 1.

Catalyst	Reactant composition	Space velocity	T_{90}	Ref.
		/Flow rate	(°C)	
10%Co/ZrO ₂	0.6% C ₃ H ₆ , Air balance	100 mL·min ⁻¹	< 210	129
$30\%Co_{3}O_{4}-70\%CeO_{2}$	1000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , 9% O ₂ , He balance	$36,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	225	223
2%Pt/BaO/Al ₂ O ₃	800 ppm C_3H_6 , 2% O_2 , N_2 balance	1000 mL·min ⁻¹	225	228
1% Pt/Al ₂ O ₃ ^a	600 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , 1% O ₂ , He balance	50,000 h ⁻¹	< 180	227
1%Pt/Al-PILC ^b	0.5% C ₃ H ₆ , 10% O ₂ , He balance	2000 h ⁻¹	250	271
0.5%Pd/CsFAU	6000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , Air balance	100 mL·min ⁻¹	199	32
0.8%Pd/TiO ₂	1000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , 9% O ₂ , Air balance	35,000 h ⁻¹	162	266
$3.07\% Au/Ce_{0.3}Ti_{0.7}O_2^{c}$	6000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , Air balance	100 mL·min ⁻¹	260	231
1%Au/CeO ₂ ^d	1200 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , 9% O ₂ , He balance	150 mL·min⁻¹	< 200	232
$4\%Au/Ce_{0.3}Ti_{0.7}O_2{}^e$	6000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , Air balance	150 mL·min⁻¹	270	233
5% Au/CeO _x -Al ₂ O ₃	0.4% C ₃ H ₆ , 3.6% O ₂ , He balance	30 mL·min ⁻¹	220	235
1%Au/TiO ₂	1000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , 9% O ₂ , He balance	35,000 h ⁻¹	< 275	277
3.7% Au/CeO $_2^{\rm f}$	6000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , Air balance	100 mL·min ⁻¹	< 200	280
0.5%Pd-1%Au/TiO2	1000 ppm C ₃ H ₆ , Air balance	100 mL·min ⁻¹	< 225	239
$3\%Au\text{-}3\%Ir/TiO_2{}^f$	1200 ppm C_3H_6 , 9% O_2 , He balance	7800 h ⁻¹	< 200	240

 Table 1 List of some representative catalysts for propene oxidation.

^a Catalyst with Pt dispersion of 0.81; ^b Al-PILC: Al-pillared montmorillonite; $^{\circ}Ce_{0.3}Ti_{0.7}O_2$ support was calcined at 400 °C. ^d Catalyst was firstly activated in a H₂ stream; ^eUrea as the precipitant agent; ^f Prepared by the deposition-precipitation method.

As with many of the other VOC discussed previously, numerous studies have investigated the use of TMOs as a mean of catalytically oxidizing propylene. Among these, Co-based catalysts are widely acknowledged as being the more active. It is known that doping TMO with CeO₂ leads to

modifications of materials the redox properties, which can enhance the oxygen mobility and consequentially, improve the catalytic activity.²⁵⁸ For this reason, Liotta et al.²²³ prepared a series of Co₃O₄-CeO₂ catalysts via a co-precipitation method, with differing ratios of Co₃O₄ and CeO₂ and tested them for this reaction. Of the catalysts tested, a Co₃O₄ (30%)-CeO₂ (70%) catalyst displayed the highest activity, exhibiting a full propene conversion at 250 °C (WHSV of 36,000 mL \cdot g⁻¹·h⁻¹). The high performance of this catalyst was ascribed to the well-dispersed Co₃O₄ particles on the surface of CeO₂. Previous work has indicated that the dispersion of a metal phase over an oxide support can be controlled by the introduction of chelating ligand, such as ethylenediamine.²⁵⁹ Mixed metal oxides containing Co oxide and ZrO₂ or Al₂O₃ have also been prepared and tested for the oxidation of propene. Of these two catalytic systems, the Co-Al oxide catalyst exhibited the highest activity which was attributed to the enhanced reducibility of the Co species when combined with Al₂O₃.²⁶⁰ The poor activity of the Co-Zr oxide system was on account of weak interactions between the two composite materials, leading to poorer Co oxide dispersion on the surface of ZrO₂. Wyrwalski et al.¹²⁹ determined that the interaction between Co oxide and ZrO₂ could be enhanced by introducing ethylenediamine into the Co(NO₃)₂ solution during the catalyst synthesis. This was found to increase the dispersion of Co oxide and ultimately, increased the performance of the catalyst in the oxidation reaction. Despite this, Deloume and co-workers²⁶¹ believed that the partial substitution of Zr into the Mn sites of a La-Mn perovskite had a detrimental effect on the catalytic performance for this reaction since ZrO₂ increasing the quantity of chemisorbed oxygen species on perovskite surface. Single-phase cobalt-manganese spinel oxides (CMO) have also been investigated as catalysts for this reaction. Of the perovskite materials tested, a Co_{2.35}Mn_{0.65}O₄ perovskite displayed the highest activity, but only displayed similar activity to that observed with pure Co₃O₄ (Fig. 6i).²⁶²

Noble metal (Pd, Pt, and Au in particular) supported catalysts have also been extensively studied for this reaction. As discussed previously, it is well-known that the nanoparticle support plays an important role in the activity and stability of supported noble metal nanoparticles in these types of reactions. The performance of Pd supported catalysts in catalytic oxidation is strongly dependent on the acid-base property of the support and the metal-support interaction.²⁶³⁻²⁶⁵ The catalytic performance of Pd/Al₂O₃, Pd/CeO₂, and Pd/TiO₂ in this reaction were investigated by Giroir-Fendler and co-workers.²⁶⁶ Of the catalysts tested, Pd/TiO₂ exhibited the highest activity,

while Pd/CeO₂ displayed the poorest activity. The poor performance of the Pd/CeO₂ catalyst was related to the CeO₂ stabilizing PdO species. The promotional effect of CeO₂ on a series of Pd catalysts supported on Al₂O₃ was however demonstrated in a separate study.²⁶⁷

Zeolites are often been adopted as supports for Pd nanoparticles in the oxidation of VOCs.^{32,268} In one such study, a series of BEA and FAU zeolites were exchanged with different alkali metal cations (Na⁺ and Cs⁺), immobilized with Pd and tested for this reaction. The incorporation of different cations in the zeolitic framework led to a decrease in the surface area and micropore volume of Pd/BEA and Pd/FAU materials. The observed activity in this reaction was determined to be heavily dependent on the type of zeolite used and on the nature of the alkali metal cation exchanged. The activity of the Pd catalysts immobilized on FAU zeolite exhibited the following trend; Pd/CsFAU > Pd/ NaFAU > Pd/HFAU. Interestingly, the opposite trend was observed with the BEA supported catalysts. These trends in activity were linked to the influence of the electronegativity of the cation on the Pd dispersion, PdO reducibility, and adsorption energy of propene.³²

As discussed previously, in noble metal supported systems, the activity of catalysts are significantly affected by the dispersion of the active metal component. The effect of Pt dispersion on Al₂O₃-supported catalysts for this reaction has been reported.^{269,270} Haneda et al.²²⁷ reported that the TOF for this reaction over Pt/Al₂O₃ catalysts increased proportionally with Pt dispersion (Fig. 6ii). Similar results were also observed by Korili and co-workers,²⁷¹ who synthesized a series of Pt and Pd catalysts supported on pillared-clay materials. Interestingly, the activity of Pt supported catalysts in the total oxidation of hydrocarbons is reported to also be affected their surface acidity or basicity.²⁷²⁻²⁷⁴ The acidity/basicity of the catalyst was also determined to have an effect on this reaction, as Wan et al.²²⁸ determined that an enhancement in activity was observed upon the doping of BaO onto Pt/Al₂O₃. Interestingly however, sulfation of a Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst was determined to result in the deactivation of Pt/Al₂O₃, which is contradictory to the results obtained by Burch et al.²⁷⁵ and Skoglundh et al.²⁷⁶ in this reaction over sulfonated Pt/Al₂O₃. Wan et al.²²⁸ proposed that the enhanced activity exhibited by the Pt/BaO/Al₂O₃ catalyst in this reaction was ascribed to weakened propene adsorption, the formation of a reactive enolic intermediate species and a reduced barrier for the oxidation of intermediate CO species. This is evidenced by the fact that the strong adsorption of propene and CO poisoning are

established to be principle deactivation pathways for the deactivation of Pt/SO_4^2 -/ Al_2O_3 catalysts in total oxidation reactions.

Au supported catalysts have been widely investigated for application in propene oxidation reactions.²⁷⁷⁻²⁷⁹ Of these, Au/CeO₂ is considered to be one of the most active catalysts for this reaction and can provide a full conversion to CO₂ at temperatures below 200 °C (GHSV of 35,000 h⁻¹).²⁷⁹ This is however, heavily dependent on the Au loadings and pretreatment conditions used. The catalytic activity of Au/CeO₂, Au/TiO₂, Au/Al₂O₃ and Au/CeO₂-Al₂O₃ was investigated for this reaction by Giroir-Fendler and co-workers.²⁷⁹ It was proposed that the point of zero charge (PZC) of the support has a dramatic influence on the quantity Au deposited. For example, an oxide with a lower PZC would typically lead to higher Au loadings. As with the other VOC discussed previously, the activity of Au supported catalysts for this reaction is strongly dependent on the Au-support interaction, which ultimately effects the Au particle size and dispersion.

The influence of the supported noble metal (Au, Ag and Cu) and synthesis method (wet impregnation (IMP) and DP) on CeO₂-supported catalysts was recently investigated for this reaction.²⁸⁰ Of the catalysts tested, the highest activity was exhibited by a Au/CeO₂ catalyst prepared by DP (temperature for 90% conversion of propene (T_{90}) at around 180 °C (Fig. 6iii). The enhanced activity of this catalyst was related to the existence of a higher proportion of oxidized Au species. Independently, Lamallem et al.²³³ also determined that an Au/Ce-Ti-O catalyst prepared by DP was far more active than the corresponding catalyst prepared by IMP. The pre-treatment of Au supported catalysts and incorporation of alkali and transition metal additives can also have significant effect on the activity of Au supported catalysts in this reaction.^{231,232,234,235,238} Lakshmanan et al.²³² reported that calcined Au/CeO₂, Au/Al₂O₃ and Au/xCeO₂-Al₂O₃ samples were less active than corresponding materials which instead, underwent a reductive pre-treatment step. This was once again owing to a particle size effect; the reduced catalysts were found to consist of a larger proportion of small Au nanoparticles. Gluhoi et al.²³⁴ investigated the effect of doping different oxides onto a Au/Al₂O₃ catalyst on propene oxidation activity. A promotional effect was observed from doping the catalyst with different alkali metal oxides (MO_x , M = Li, Rb, Mg and Ba), which was in relation to a decrease in the size of active Au⁰ particles and an increase in their relative stability (Fig. 6iv). Despite this, an interfacial effect resulting from the doping of TMO is considered to be more influential than the Au particle size.

The doping of TMO (M = Ce, Mn, Co and Fe) can act as both structural and chemical promoters, stabilizing Au particles against sintering and providing an increase in available active oxygen.²³⁵ A significant enhancement in the catalytic activity of a Au/TiO₂ catalyst for this reaction was also observed by the addition of Ir.²⁴⁰ In this case, the increased activity was on account of a synergistic effect resulting from the formation of Ir-Au bimetallic alloy. The presence of Au was found to hinder the re-oxidation of iridium in the bimetallic nanoparticles upon exposure to air and under typical reaction conditions used for this reaction. This ultimately induced a preservation of the catalytic activity upon subsequent catalytic cycles.

3.2.3. Butene and acetylene

There are only a few reports focusing on the catalytic oxidation of butene and acetylene in the literature. Przekop and Kirszensztejn²⁸¹ investigated the use of Pt/B₂O₃/Al₂O₃ catalysts for the oxidation of 1-butene. Different ratios of the metal oxide components were assessed and a catalyst with B : Al of 0.3 exhibited the highest activity, which was considerably higher than the activity exhibited by the corresponding Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst. The enhanced activity was ascribed to the increased acidic character of the support, which was promoted by the presence of boron oxide.²⁸¹ The catalytic oxidation of acetylene was investigated over Co₃O₄-coated natural clay/commercial cordierite honeycomb monoliths. The complete oxidation of acetylene was achieved at temperatures below 360 °C (GHSV of 50,000 h⁻¹). The higher catalytic activity of Co₃O₄ supported on the clay monolith was highly dependent on the synergetic effects induced by the chemical composition of the clay surface.²⁸²

3.3. Aromatic hydrocarbons

Aromatic hydrocarbons represent another type of VOCs commonly emitted industrially. Aromatic solvents are used in vast quantities in various paints, thinners, gums, adhesives, lacquers and printing inks.²⁸³ Of the aromatic VOCs; benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene (BTEX) contribute to the majority of the total industrial emissions.²⁸⁴ Aromatic compounds are considered to pose considerable environmental hazards and are often toxic and/or carcinogenic.^{199,285} The catalytic oxidation of BTEX has extensively studied over the past two decades and a large quantity of noble metal (Pd, Pt, Au and Ag) supported catalysts,²⁸⁶⁻²⁹³ transitional metal (Co, Mn, Cu, Cr, Ni and Ti) oxides catalysts,²⁹⁴⁻³⁰⁴ rare earth oxide catalysts,³⁰⁵⁻³⁰⁷ perovskite- and spinel-

based oxides catalysts³⁰⁸⁻³¹³ and hydrotalcite derived catalysts have been developed and investigated (Tables 2 and 3).³¹⁴⁻³¹⁸

3.3.1. Benzene

As with many of the other VOCs discussed, Co_3O_4 is also a very attractive material for the oxidation of benzene, which is predominantly due to the high oxygen mobility it exhibits.^{319,320} Mu *et al.*³²¹ reported that the doping of CeO₂ onto a Co/SBA-15 catalyst by a hydrothermal method, could reduce the catalysts activity in this reaction. This reduction in activity was owing to pore blocking and a reduction in the reducibility of Co_3O_4 to Co^0 (Fig. 7i). In contrary, Zuo *et al.*³²² reported that the addition of CeO₂ facilitated the reduction of Co oxide at lower temperatures, which greatly enhanced the catalytic activity of CoCe/SBA-16 in this reaction (Fig. 7ii). Mesoporous Co_3O_4 -CeO₂ catalysts with different Co : Ce ratios have been prepared by Hao and co-workers³²³ *via* a nanocasting methodology, invoking the use of two-(2D) and three-dimensional (3D) hard templates; SBA-15 and KIT-6, respectively. It was determined that the 2D Co_3O_4 -CeO₂ catalyst exhibited a lower catalytic activity than the corresponding 3D catalyst. An optimum Co : Ce ratio of 16 was subsequently determined with the 3D Co_3O_4 -CeO₂ catalyst. In these materials, the activity of these materials for this reaction was linked to the proportion of hydroxyl and oxygenated species; higher surface oxygen species resulted in a better catalytic activity.³²³

A series of CoMnAlO_x oxide catalysts, obtained from the calcinations of LDH precursors were prepared and tested for this reaction. Of these, a CoMn₂AlO_x material exhibited the highest activity; a 90% conversion of benzene was observed at about 238 °C with a space velocity of 60,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹ ($E_a = 65.77 \text{ kJ} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$).³²⁴ The catalytic oxidation of benzene over CoAlO_x and CoCuAlO_x mixed oxides has also been reported in recent studies,^{312,325,326} but were found to be less active than the above-mentioned CoMnAlO_x catalysts. Ding *et al.*³²⁵ found that the preparation method (constant pH precipitation, decreasing pH precipitation and urea homogeneous precipitation) could have a significant on the activity exhibited by CoAlO_x mixed oxides. It was determined that the material prepared by the decreasing pH precipitation method exhibited the highest activity because the enhancement in the reducibility of Co³⁺ species in the Co(Co,Al)₂O₄ spinels. Li *et al.*³¹² found that the addition of Cu to CoAlO_x materials could further improve the reducibility of Co oxide component of the material, which resulted in an increase in the activity. A number of reports have also investigated the use Co-containing perovskites as catalysts for this reaction,^{308,327} but in general, far higher temperatures are required (> 400 °C) in order to achieve full benzene conversions.

The catalytic oxidation of benzene and toluene has been studied over a series of Mn oxide catalysts (Mn₃O₄, Mn₂O₃ and MnO₂). Of these catalysts tested, the Mn₃O₄ material exhibited the highest catalytic activity. The addition of either K, Ca or Mg to the Mn₃O₄ material further enhanced the catalytic activity. This improvement in performance was attributed to an increase quantity of surface defects and surface bound hydroxyl species.¹⁹⁹ Tang et al.³²⁸ reported that MnO_x derived from the calcination of a Mn oxalate precursor, was also highly active for the oxidation of a number of benzene, toluene, and xylene compounds. The performance of this material was dependent on a number of factors including, its large surface area, small pore sizes, excellent low-temperature reducibility, rich lattice oxygen stores and appropriate distribution of Mn oxidation states. The morphology of MnO_x materials should also be considered, as it can also influence catalytic performance in this reaction. Hou et al.³²⁹ synthesized and tested a series of birnessite-type Mn oxides and determined that nanoflower morphologies exhibited much higher activities than the corresponding nanowire and nanosheet oxides materials (Fig. 7iii). Three types of MnO_2 microspheres (i.e., hierarchical hollow β -MnO₂ microspheres, hierarchical double-walled hollow β/α -MnO₂ microspheres and hierarchical hollow α -MnO₂ microspheres) were prepared by Chen and co-workers³³⁰. The authors stated that hierarchical hollow α -MnO₂ microspheres exhibited the highest catalytic ability ($T_{90} = 320$ °C; WHSV of 60,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹). Following this, the researchers from the same group developed a more efficient hierarchical sea-urchin-shaped MnO₂ microsphere material, which could decompose 90% of benzene at about 218 °C (WHSV of 60,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹).³³¹

Numerous studies have investigated how the doping of additional elements (e.g., Ti, Cu, Co, Ni and Ce) onto MnO_x affects the catalytic performance in this reaction.³³²⁻³³⁹ Tang *et al.*³⁴⁰ investigated the effect of supporting Co₃O₄ nanoparticles on a series of 1D MnO₂ materials (α -MnO₂ nanowires, α -MnO₂ nanorods and α -MnO₂ microrods). Notable increases in performance were observed when Co₃O₄ was immobilized on each of the MnO₂ materials. The

highest performance was exhibited by Co₃O₄ supported on MnO₂ nanowires; a 90% conversion of benzene was observed at 247 °C (WHSV of 120,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹). Following this, a series of Co-Mn oxide catalysts with different nanostructures were synthesized by Wang et al. (Fig. 8),³³³ who determined that a Co doped nanocubic MnO₂ material exhibited the highest catalytic performance for this reaction. An alternative study, investigated the effect of doping Ti onto a δ -MnO₂ material and was also determined to be highly active for this reaction.³¹⁸ The promotional effect of copper on the catalytic activity of MnO_x-CeO₂ has also been investigated. The incorporation of copper was found to significantly improve the catalytic activity of the mixed metal oxide and complete conversion of benzene was achieved at 250 °C. The enhancement in performance was related to the presence of Cu significantly increased the generation of surface defect oxygen species, which increased the number of adsorption sites for benzene.³¹⁹ Chen and co-workers³⁴¹ pointed out that a 90% conversion of benzene at 232 °C with a WHSV of 12,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹ ($E_a = 45.2 \text{ kJ} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$) could be achieved over a hierarchically porous Mn₂Ni₁ mixed oxide. The low activation barrier was owing to a synergetic effect between Mn and Ni in the mixed oxide spinel, which increased the quantity of surface-adsorbed oxygen species and an enhanced low-temperature reducibility. MnCoO_x and MnCeO_x composites have also been investigated by Hou et al.³⁴², but higher reaction temperatures were required (> 260 °C) over these materials in order achieve the full oxidation of benzene.

CuO-CeO₂ materials have previously been reported to be highly active as catalysts for a range of different oxidation reactions. In some cases, these materials have even shown comparable activity to NMSCs in total oxidation reactions.³⁴³⁻³⁴⁶ Zhou *et al.*³⁴⁷ reported that the preparation method used for the synthesis of Cu-Ce mixed oxides had a significant influence on their catalytic performance in BTEX oxidation reactions. CuCeO_x catalysts prepared by a hard-templating approach was determined to possess a higher activity than corresponding catalysts prepared by co-precipitation and other complex methods. The higher activity of this material was relied on its higher porosity and surface area, both of which were important catalytic traits in total oxidation reactions.³⁴⁸ This was further evidenced by Wang and co-workers,³⁴⁹ who determined that the reducibility of CuO-CeO₂ catalysts was strongly influenced by the total surface area of the material; high surface area materials typically displayed better reducibility. Following this, high surface area mesoporous Cu-Mn oxide (*ca.* 221 m²·g⁻¹) were synthesized by a nanocasting ³⁴⁸ approach.³⁵⁰ The nanocasted catalyst displayed an excellent benzene oxidation activity; 90% conversion was obtained at 234 °C over a $Cu_{0.6}MnO_x$ sample (WHSV of 60,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹), which was 131 °C lower than that observed over the corresponding CuMnO_x catalyst prepared by a co-precipitation method. The catalyst pre-treatment conditions are an important factor to consider when using Cu based catalysts. This was clearly demonstrated by Yang *et al.*³⁵¹ who determined that the reduction of a Cu/SBA-15 in H₂ prior to its application, dramatically influenced its activity for this reaction.

It is widely acknowledged that Pd supported catalysts are the most efficient catalysts for aromatic hydrocarbon oxidation.^{24,85,352} Numerous reports have investigated the use of Al₂O₃, molecular sieves, and pillared clays as supports for Pd nanoparticles in the catalytic oxidation of benzene.^{168,353-355} The addition of Pd to a Co/Al₂O₃ catalyst was determined to increase the quantity of active oxygen species on the surface of the catalyst and enhance the dispersion of Co₃O₄ on the surface of Al₂O₃.³⁵⁶ A novel route for the preparation of porous catalysts was explored by Li *et al.*³⁵⁷ for application in total oxidation reactions. For this, a porous Co₃O₄-supported Pd catalysts was synthesized by the pyrolysis of a metal organic framework (MOF). While the catalytic system proposed in this study only exhibited a modest oxidative activity (temperature for 100 % conversion of benzene (T_{100}) = 350 °C; WHSV = 60,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹)), it provided a novel approach for obtaining high surface area porous materials, which would undoubtedly act as a foundation for future investigation.

The use of mesoporous siliceous materials such as SBA-15, MCM-48, MCM-41 and HMS as catalysts for the oxidation of benzene has also attracted a lot of attentions in recent times.^{168,289,358,359} These materials are considered to be desirable in the field because of their controllable pore size, high surface area and surface-rich silanol group content. The performance and oxidation mechanism of five Pd containing catalysts supported on a range of molecular sieves (Beta, ZSM-5, SBA-15, MCM-48 and MCM-41) was investigated by Hao and co-workers¹⁶⁸ for the oxidation of benzene, toluene and ethyl acetate. The activity of these catalysts followed the order; Pd/Beta > Pd/ZSM-5 > Pd/SBA-15 > Pd/MCM-48 > Pd/MCM-41 for all of the substrates examined. While the Pd/Beta catalyst exhibited the highest initial activity, it deactivated quickly due to the *in situ* formation of coke. In contrary, the Pd/ZSM-5 and Pd/SBA-15 catalyst exhibited a much higher a degree of stability; maintaining their initial activities for 72 h.¹⁶⁸ In addition to
this, Li *et al.*²⁸⁹ synthesized a series of Pd/SBA-15 catalysts by traditional aqueous impregnation and grafting methods. It was determined that the catalyst prepared *via* the grafting method was far more active for this reaction, exhibited complete conversion of benzene below 190 °C (GHSV of 100,000 h⁻¹). A subsequent study by Mu *et al.*³⁵⁸ determined that the doping of a lanthanide (e.g., La, Ce and Nd) to this material could further enhance the catalytic activity of the Pd/SBA-15 catalyst. More recently, another study also reported that doping Ni onto a Pd/SBA-15 could also increase its catalytic activity for this reaction.³⁵⁹ Pd nanoparticles have also exhibited a high catalytic activity when supported on a Al-HMS mesoporous sieve; exhibited a full benzene conversion at 200 °C (GHSV of 100,000 h⁻¹).³⁶⁰ZSM-5/MCM-48 micro/mesoporous composite materials, which combine the advantages of mesoporous molecular sieves (large surface area and pore diameter) and zeolites (strong intrinsic acidity and high hydrothermal stability) were used as supports for Pd nanoparticles by Xu and co-workers.¹⁶⁵ The Pd/ZSM-5/MCM-48 composite catalysts exhibited a much higher activity for this reaction than that observed over the corresponding Pd/ZSM-5 and Pd/MCM-48 catalysts.

Pillared interlayered clays (PILCs) are typically highly porous materials and have high total surface areas. For this reason, they are of great interest to be used as supports for noble metal nanoparticles in total oxidation reactions. A series of Zr-, Ce- and Al-pillared laponite clays (Al-Lap, Ce-Lap and Zr-Lap) were synthesized and used as supports for Pd nanoparticles. The catalysts were subsequently tested for the total oxidation of benzene. The results indicated that the Pd/PILC catalysts were far more active than a corresponding Pd/Al₂O₃ catalyst. It was determined that the most active of these catalysts; Pd/Zr-Lap, could completely oxidize benzene at 210 °C (GHSV of 20,000 h⁻¹).²⁹⁰ An additional study investigated the use of Al-PILC as a support for Ce and Pd in this reaction.³⁵³ It was postulated that the optimized structure of the supports strengthen the interaction between CeO₂ and Al-PILC, which in turn, improved the dispersion of Pd on material surface.

A number of studies have also investigated the use of Au nanoparticles for the oxidation of benzene.³⁶¹⁻³⁶⁸ CeO₂ has been investigated as a support for Au nanoparticles.³⁶² The activity of this material was predominantly associated with the high surface area of CeO₂ support and the ability of the surface Au species to dissociate O₂. Another study, investigated the performance of supported Au nanoparticles on three different metal oxides (ZnO, Al₂O₃ and MgO) and tested

each of the catalysts for their performance as catalysts in the oxidation of benzene, toluene and xylenes. The Au/ZnO catalyst exhibited the highest activity, which was due to a strong interaction between Au and ZnO, originating from the similar lattice parameters of the Au {111} and ZnO {101} planes.³⁶³ Andreeva *et al.*³⁶⁴ reported on this reaction over Au/V₂O₅ supported on either TiO₂ or ZrO₂ and a synergistic effect between Au and vanadia was observed. Both catalyst displayed promising activities, but the Au/V₂O₅/TiO₂ catalyst was determined to be the most active. It was proposed that oxygen activation occurred on the surface of the Au nanoparticles and benzene activation occurs on the V oxide surface. Subsequent studies by the same group further investigated the role of V and Mo on Au/CeO2 and Au/CeO2-Al2O3 catalysts and provided further evidence for the role of Au in these systems.^{309,365,366} Additional Au/V₂O₅ catalysts supported on mesoporous TiO₂ or ZrO₂ was also investigated by Su and co-workers.³⁶⁷ It was determined that the Au/V₂O₅/meso-ZrO₂ catalyst exhibited a higher activity than the corresponding catalyst supported on TiO₂, which was ascribed to stronger interactions between the Au nanoparticles and the oxide surface. Recently, mono-(Au, Pd) and bimetallic Au-Pd catalysts supported on Fe-modified CeO₂ for this reaction was investigated by Karakirova and co-workers.³⁶⁸ The bimetallic AuPd catalyst exhibited the highest activity due to its better reducibility (Fig. 7iv).

There are fewer examples of Pt- and Ag- supported systems in the literature.³⁶⁹⁻³⁷¹ Li *et al.*²⁹¹ reported that the complete oxidation of benzene over Pt-based catalysts could be achieved at 150 °C (WHSV of 60,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹), which was notably lower than the previous works utilizing Au and Pd systems. They suggested that the GO support had a significant impact on the high activity observed, proposing that this too had a role in the activation of oxygen. In addition to this, characterization by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) and Raman confirmed that electron transfer between the GO and Pt was also responsible for the high catalytic performance of this material. Pt nanoparticles supported on mesoporous CeO₂ (1 wt.% Pt/CeO₂-MM) and CeO₂ nanocubes (1 wt.% Pt/CeO₂-NC) were investigated by Zhao and co-workers.³⁷² The TOF of the 1 wt.% Pt/CeO₂-MC atalyst at 140 °C was approximately nine times higher than observed over the 1.0 wt.% Pt/CeO₂-NC. Theoretical and experimental investigation revealed that the partial confinement of Pt nanoparticles in the mesoporous of the mesoporous CeO₂ leaded to a significant enhancement in the activity of the surface lattice oxygen at the interface between Pt nanoparticles and CeO₂ (Fig. 7v).

In general, Ag supported nanoparticles are reported to be much less active than corresponding Pd-, Au- and Pt-based catalysts for this reaction. Heinrichs and co-workers³⁷³ investigated the catalytic oxidation of benzene over Ag/SiO₂ xerogel, Cu/SiO₂ xerogel and Pd/SiO₂ xerogel and determined that the temperature for 50% conversion of benzene (T_{50}) over the Pd/SiO₂ xerogel was 170 °C (Fig. 7vi). The corresponding T_{50} over the Ag/SiO₂ xerogel was much higher; 260 °C. A synergistic effect between Ag and Mn supported on mesoporous zirconia nanofibers was reported recently by Einaga and co-workers.²⁹³ Despite the enhancement observed from the addition of Ag, full conversion of benzene was only observed at 498 °C with a flow rate of 200 mL·min⁻¹, which is much higher than many other examples discussed.

Catalyst	Reactant composition	Space velocity	T_{90}	Ref.
		/Flow rate	(°C)	
MnO _x ^a	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	209	329
OL-1 ^b	2000 mg·m ⁻³ C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	48,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	232	332
Ti/δ-MnO ₂ ^c	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	250	333
$MnO_2@Co_3O_4$	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	120,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	247	324
Porous Mn _{0.5} Co _{0.5} O _x	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	120,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	237	337
$Mn_{0.66}Ni_{0.33}O_x$	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	120,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	249	314
2.54%Cu/MnO _x -CeO ₂	200 ppm C ₆ H ₆ , He balance	$30,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	< 240	335
Meso-CuO-CeO ₂	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	96,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	250	350
Meso-Cu _{0.6} MnO _x	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	234	351
Co _{4.75} Cu _{0.25} Al	516 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	$36,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	246	312
CoMn ₂ AlO ^d	100 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	208	325
Pd/ZSM-5/MCM-48e	1500 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	32,000 h ⁻¹	204	165
0.3%Pd/Beta	1500 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	26,000 h ⁻¹	225	168
9%Pd/SBA-15	1050 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	100,000 h ⁻¹	180	289
0.9%Pd/Nd-SBA-15	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	100,000 h ⁻¹	219	358
0.9%Pd/Al-HMS (Si/Al = 100)	1050 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	100,000 h ⁻¹	< 200	360
1.5%Pd/SiO ₂ xerogel	2550 ppm C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	$100 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$	180	373

 Table 2 Summary of reported active catalysts for benzene low-temperature oxidation.

0.3% Pd/Ti-SBA- $15^{\rm f}$	1500 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	26,000 h ⁻¹	205	287
0.3%Pd/Zr-pillared laponite	1050 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	195	290
0.2%Pd/6%Ce/Al-PILC ^g	130-160 ppm C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	240	353
0.2%Pd/10%Co-0.8%Ce/Al ₂ O ₃	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	190	356
0.53% Pd/Co ₃ O ₄ ^h	100 ppm C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	221	357
$1\% Pt\text{-}1\% rGO/Al_2O_3{}^i$	100 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	140	291
1% Pt/CeO ₂ -MM ^j	2000 mg·m ⁻³ C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	48,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	153	372
1%Au/CeO ₂ /Hydroxyapatite	120 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	30,000 h ⁻¹	< 230	292
3%Au4%MoCe	4200 mg·m ⁻³ C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	4000 h ⁻¹	< 160	309
6.5%Au/meso-Co ₃ O ₄	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	189	361
2.3%Au2%VCeAl(1:1)	3800 mg·m ⁻³ C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	4500 h ⁻¹	< 200	366
0.17%Pd-0.3%Pt/Ce/KL-NY ^k	1000 ppm C_6H_6 , Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	205	354
1%Pd-3%AuFeCe ¹	4200 mg·m ⁻³ C ₆ H ₆ , Air balance	4000 h ⁻¹	< 150	368

^a Synthesized via an oxalate route; ^b Octahedral layered birnessite-type manganese oxide with nanoflower morphology; ^c Heated in autoclave at 140 °C; ^d Catalyst alcined at 550 °C; ^e Catalyst with Si : Al molar ratio of 40; ^f Catalyst with Si : Ti molar ratio of 20; ^g Al-PILC: alumina pillared clays; ^h Co₃O₄ with porous polyhedron morphology and calcined at 350 °C; ⁱ rGO: reduced graphene oxide; ^j CeO₂-MM: microsized mesoporous CeO₂; ^k KL-NY: porous kaolin/NaY composite; ¹Prepared by the impregnation method.

3.3.2. Toluene

Toluene is a commonly used solvent in the chemical industry and is a significant contributor to the formation of photochemical smog.^{12,374} The catalytic oxidation of toluene has been investigated over a wide variety of different catalysts including Mn-, Co-, Cu-, Fe-, Pd-, Pt- and Au- containing materials,^{37,268,375-395} perovskite-type oxides,³⁹⁶⁻³⁹⁸ and pure CeO₂.³⁹⁹ Many examples of the catalysts used for the oxidation of toluene and their corresponding performance is documented in Table 3.

Table 3 Survey of literature data on catalytic oxidation of toluene at low temperature.

Catalyst	Reactant composition	Space velocity	T_{90}	Ref.
		/Flow rate	(°C)	

14.8%NiO/NCNTs ^a	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	240	463
LaNiO ₃	5000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 10% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	19,200 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	250	397
MnO _x ^b	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	230	376
Mn ₃ O ₄ ^c	10000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	30,000 h ⁻¹	250	400
Mn ₃ O ₄ nanorod	10000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	30,000 h ⁻¹	225	402
α -MnO ₂ nanowire	4000 mg·m ⁻³ C_7H_8 , Air balance	10,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	237	406
γ -MnO ₂ ^d	2000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 20% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	$120,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	252	407
$Mn_{0.85}Ce_{0.15}$	10000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	32,000 h ⁻¹	< 220	412
Meso-TiMnCeO _x ^e	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 6% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	180	420
15%LaMnO ₃ /Y ₂ O ₃ -ZrO ₂	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 20% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	$100 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$	247	311
sc-LaMnO ₃ ^f	500 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 10% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	19,200 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	225	468
LaMnO ₃ ^g	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , 20% O_2 , He balance	15,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	213	474
Hollow spherical LaCoO ₃	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	237	469
$La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO_{3\text{-}\delta}$	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	240	472
15%La/CeO2-nanopolyhedra	300 mg·m ⁻³ C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	12,000 h ⁻¹	240	482
8%CuO/Ce _{0.8} Zr _{0.2} O ₂	4400 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	55 mL·min⁻¹	225	447
20%CuMnCe/ZrO ₂	0.5% C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	24,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	< 220	453
15%Co ₃ O ₄ /CNTs ^h	850 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 20% O ₂ , He balance	60 mL·min⁻¹	< 240	432
5%CoO _x /meso-SiO ₂	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 20% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	230	435
8%CoO _x /3DOM-La _{0.6} Sr _{0.4} CoO ₃	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	227	436
Cake-like Cr ₂ O ₃	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	240	462
0.5%Pd/plateletlike SBA-15	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	32,000 h ⁻¹	192	484
0.5%Pd/ZSM-5/KIT-6	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	32,000 h ⁻¹	203	486
0.5%Pd/Bimodal mesosilica	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , Air balance	$350 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$	228	487
1%Pd/ZSM-5 (Si/Al = 25)	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	32,000 h ⁻¹	212	490
3.35%Pd-CoAlO	2000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	60,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	226	489
0.5%Pd/macro/meso-TiO ₂	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	13,200 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	< 200	494
1%Pd/Co ₃ AlO ⁱ	0.08% C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	30,000 h ⁻¹	230	495
3.26%Pd-CoAlO-Al ^j	2000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	60,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	207	496

0.5%Pt/Meso-NaZSM-5 ^k	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	60,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	185	499
0.97%Pt(1.9 nm)/ZSM-5	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	< 150	505
0.94%Pt/MCM-41	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , Air balance	100 mL·min ⁻¹	170	500
2%Pt/MCM-411	4340 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	125	394
1%Pt/Beta-H ^k	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	60,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	190	497
1.15%Pt/KBeta-SDS ^m	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	60,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	< 150	509
0.2%Pt/CeO2-nanorod	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	48,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	150	501
$0.27\% Pt/26.9\% CeO_2\text{-}Al_2O_3{}^n$	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , Air balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	198	502
9%Pt/16%CZB/Al ₂ O ₃ °	900 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	8000 h ⁻¹	< 100	504
0.2%Pt-0.1Pd%/MCM-41	5000 ppm C_7H_8 , 10% O_2 , N_2 balance	10,000 h ⁻¹	175	530
$0.25\% Pd{-}0.25\% Pt{/}SiO_2{}^p$	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	< 155	26
$6.4\% Au/3DOM\text{-}La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}MnO_3$	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , 20% O_2 , N_2 balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	170	518
0.13%Ag/MnO2 nanowires	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 20% O ₂ , Ar balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	215	513
$1.95\%Au_1Pd_2/meso-Cr_2O_3$	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , 20% O_2 , N_2 balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	165	525
$0.9\%Au_1Pd_2/Ce_{0.6}Zr_{0.3}Y_{0.1}O_2$	1000 ppm C_7H_8 , 20% O_2 , N_2 balance	20,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	218	523
3.8%AuPd _{1.92} /3DOM-Mn ₂ O ₃	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , Air balance	40,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	162	529
$3\% Pt_{75}1\% Au_{25}/ZnO/Al_2O_3$	1.8 mol% C_7H_8 , Air balance	40 mL·min ⁻¹	< 200	528
1%Ru/Co ₃ O ₄ -MOF (ZIF-67)	1000 ppm C ₇ H ₈ , 20% O ₂ , Ar balance	$60,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	238	510

^a NCNTs: Nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes; ^b Catalyst prepared by an alkali-promoted redox precipitation strategy; ^c Acetic acid (HAc) : Mn molar ratio of 3 in precursor solution; ^d Obtained by removing La cations from three-dimensional ordered macroporous LaMnO₃ perovskites; ^e Molar ratios of Mn : Ti and Ce : Ti were 0.4 and 0.05, respectively; ^f Prepared in a supercritical water (sc-H₂O) reaction environment; ^g Prepared by the citrate sol-gel method; ^h Precursor ultrasonic at 120 °C; ⁱ Synthesized by the co-precipitation method; ^j In situ growth of 2D CoAl-LDHs on the AlOOH microsphere; ^k Catalyst was reduced in a H₂ stream before use; ¹ MCM-41 synthesis in the presence of fluoride anions; ^m Directly synthesized by Beta zeolite seed; ⁿCeO₂-Al₂O₃ support with three-dimensionally ordered macro-/mesoporous (3DOM) structure; ^oCZB: Ce_{0.65}Zr_{0.15}Bi_{0.20}O_{1.9}; ^p Oleic acid (OA) was introduced into the aqueoussolution of metal salts.

Mn oxide based catalysts are some of the most widely investigated in this area and have displayed a lot of potential. The desirable performance of these materials is attributed to their high

oxygen storage capacity and redox properties.⁴⁰⁰ The size and morphology of these materials often have a dramatic effect on their catalytic performance in total oxidation reactions.⁴⁰¹ The relationship between activity and morphology of Mn oxide catalysts was demonstrated by Li et al.⁴⁰² who prepared Mn₃O₄ nanorods by a DP method. It was determined that the size of the Mn₃O₄ rods had a dramatic influence on their activity in the oxidation of toluene. Manganese oxide polyhedra with hollow and solid morphologies were synthesized by Ye and co-workers⁵¹ using a convenient hydrothermal route without any surfactants or templates; the hollow polyhedral manganese oxide showed much higher catalytic activity toward toluene oxidation compared with that of the solid one due to the cavity nature, large quantity of active oxygen, and high manganese oxidation state of hollow MnO_x. MnO₂ has also demonstrated a lot of potential as a catalyst for this reaction, owing to its multivalent nature and nonstoichiometric composition.^{299,403-405} Cheng et al.⁴⁰⁶ also determined that the morphology of this material had a substantial effect on the catalytic activity; 1D α-MnO₂ nanowires exhibited a notably higher activity for this reaction than a commercial MnO₂ material. Si et al.⁴⁰⁷ further evidenced this and reported that a γ -MnO₂ material with a 3D macroporous and mesoporous structure had a very high toluene oxidation activity ($T_{90} = 252$ °C; WHSV of 120,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹).

The activity of Mn oxides can be further enhanced by the doping of an additional component to form mixed oxides.⁴⁰⁸⁻⁴¹⁶ Ye and co-workers⁴¹² determined that Mn-Ce mixed oxide nanorods, consisting of a high Mn content, displayed an excellent catalytic activity and high stability for this reaction (Fig. 9i). This was associated with the formation of an intimately mixed Mn-Ce oxide phase giving rise to more Mn⁴⁺ species and oxygen vacancies. Delimaris and Ioannides⁴¹³ subsequently determined that MnO_x-CeO₂ catalysts prepared by a urea oxidation method also displayed promising potential as catalysts for this reaction; complete toluene conversion was achieved at 260 °C (GHSV of 50,000 h⁻¹). Li *et al.*⁴¹⁷ investigated this reaction over a series of Mn-containing mixed oxides, and determined that a Mn-Zr mixed oxide material, prepared by the reverse microemulsion method, exhibited a higher activity than a corresponding material prepared by co-precipitation.

There are some examples of TiO₂ and Al₂O₃ being adopted as a support to increase the dispersion of MnO_x .^{418,419} In addition to this, MnO_x was loaded onto a series of different supports (α -Al₂O₃ and γ -Al₂O₃ obtained from Boehmite, commercial γ -Al₂O₃, SiO₂, TiO₂ and ZrO₂) and

tested for the catalytic oxidation of toluene.⁴¹⁹ Of the catalysts tested, a 9.5 wt.% MnO_2/α -Al₂O₃ material exhibited the highest activity; toluene conversion up to 90% was achieved at 289 °C (GHSV of 15,000 h⁻¹).

Recently, Li and co-workers⁴²⁰ proposed that MnO₂ supported on a mesostructured LaMnO₃ perovskite was an active catalyst for toluene oxidation, over which toluene could be totally oxidized to CO₂ and water at 290 °C (WHSV of 120,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹) (Fig. 9ii). Catalytic oxidation of toluene over MnMgAl or MnCoMgAl mixed oxides obtained by calcination of the corresponding LDH precursors was also reported.^{421,422} Dula *et al.*⁴¹⁵ confirmed that a MgAlMn mixed oxide material derived from Mn(II) incorporating MgAl-LDH was more active than a corresponding material derived from MnO^{4–}-intercalated MgAl-LDH. The enhanced performance was related to an increase in the quantity of surface Mn⁴⁺/Mn³⁺ species, which have important redox properties in total oxidation reactions. It was subsequently determined that the substitution of Mg with Mn (or Co) could lead to an even greater catalytic activity.⁴²²

The catalytic oxidation of toluene over porous 1D Co₃O₄ nanowires and nanorods was studied by Au and co-workers.⁴²⁴ These materials exhibited a high catalytic performance for this reaction, which was attributed to their large surface area, high surface oxygen content, and excellent low-temperature reducibility. Ordered mesoporous Co₃O₄ oxides were also synthesized and investigated by the same group. The highly ordered nature of these materials was considered to be pivotal for the high oxidative activity they exhibited.^{425,426} More recently, 3D hierarchical Co₃O₄ nanocatalysts with different morphologies and various exposed crystal planes (Fig. 10), were synthesized by Ye and co-workers⁴²⁷ via a hydrothermal process. Of the catalysts tested, a hierarchical cube-stacked Co₃O₄ microspherical material exhibited the highest toluene oxidation activity ascribable to its high surface area, highly defective structure, abundance of surface adsorbed oxygen species, and large proportion of high valence Co ions. Co₃O₄ supported on montmorillonite consisting of an expanded mesoporous system was also determined to possess a high catalytic activity for this reaction.⁴²⁸ It has been reported that the doping of Ce or La onto cobalt oxides can enhance the activity of the parent Co₃O₄ catalyst.⁴²⁹ This enhancement was proposed to be a result of strong interactions between Ce (or La) and Co, leading to an increased dispersion of the active oxide phases.

There are numerous other examples of different support materials been investigated in an

attempt to enhance the activity of CoO_x phases in the oxidation of toluene. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are considered as one of the promising supports ascribed to their good electrical conductivity, mechanical strength, thermal stability and high quantity of surface defects.^{430,431} Jiang and Song⁴³² suggested that the surface defect structures in CNTs could not only enhance the ability of Co₃O₄ to develop reduction/oxidation cycles, but also increased the proportion of the adsorbed oxygen species to the surface lattice oxygen. Interestingly, the CO₂ selectivity was observed to increase proportionally with the quantity of COOH present on the surface of the CNTs. With the best catalyst, the complete conversion of toluene was achieved at 257 °C with a CO_2 selectivity of 100% (flow rate of 60 mL·min⁻¹), which is much better than with Co_3O_4 /Beta, Co₃O₄/ZSM-5 and Co₃O₄/SBA-15.⁴³² Mesoporous silicas are commonly used as supports in catalysis as their high surface area and regular pore structure typically facilitates a good dispersion of active metal or metal oxide particles.^{433,434} Lin and Bai⁴³⁵ synthesized a series of CoO_x/SiO₂ spheres with either a hollow or mesoporous structure (CoO_x/hSiO₂ and CoO_x/mSiO₂) and determined that of the two catalysts, the CoO_x/SiO₂ exhibited the highest activity for this reaction. This was related to a number of factors, including; an increased proportion of Co present in the active phase (Co_3O_4), a higher proportion of surface Co^{3+} content and increased reducibility of Co³⁺ at low temperatures. 3D ordered macroporous (3DOM) La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO₃ (LSCO)-supported Co₃O₄ was prepared using an *in situ* poly(methyl methacrylate)-templating strategy by Au and co-workers.⁴³⁶ It was determined that an 8 wt.% Co₃O₄/3DOM LSCO material exhibited the best catalytic performance for toluene oxidation; 90 % toluene was converted at 227 °C (WHSV of 20,000 mL \cdot g⁻¹ \cdot h⁻¹). The high activity of this material was associated with the high surface oxygen content of this catalyst, the high surface area of the LSCO, good low-temperature reducibility, and strong interactions between Co₃O₄ and LSCO.

MgAl-based hydrotalcite is an important precursor for obtaining various mixed oxides, which are active for the oxidation of toluene.^{315,316,437} Gennequin *et al.*⁴³⁷ demonstrated that the doping of Co on Mg-Co-Al hydrotalcite catalysts has a beneficial effect on the observed catalytic activity. The reconstruction of the layered structure enhances the interaction between the cobalt species and the support and improves the performance of the catalyst in this reaction.⁴³⁸ More recently, the effect of doping Ce into CoMgAlO_x mixed oxides was investigated by Moreno and co-workers.⁴³⁹ The Ce/CoMgAlO_x catalyst, which utilized [Ce-EDTA] as the Ce precursor, 44 provides a better toluene conversion activity than a corresponding catalyst prepared by wet impregnation. The enhancement was in relation to improvements in the catalysts redox properties.

Cu-based binary or ternary mixed oxides (e.g., CuMnO_x, CuCeO_x, CuAlO_x, CuMnCeO_x and $CuZnMnO_x$)^{313,440-444} and supported Cu catalysts (Al₂O₃, ZrO₂, CeZrO_x or molecular sieves as the support) have also been investigated as catalysts for the total oxidation of toluene.^{384,445-448} The potential of CuMnO_x oxide catalysts is well known industrially for total oxidation reactions. Behar et al.³¹³ reported that cubic spinel Cu_{1.5}Mn_{1.5}O₄ nanoparticles; approximately 10 nm in size, were highly active catalysts for this reaction; complete oxidation reported at 240 °C (flow rate of 100 mL·min⁻¹). Previously, we have reported on the synthesis of mesoporous CuCeO_x mixed oxides prepared by a self-precipitation approach.⁴⁴⁹ This method of preparation allowed for a large proportion of Cu^{2+} ions to be doped into the mesoporous CeO₂ lattice, which enhanced the proportion of oxygen vacancies at the CuO_x and CeO₂ interface. Of the catalysts tested, the highest activity was exhibited by a Cu_{0.3}Ce_{0.7}O_x material; 90 % toluene was converted 212 °C (GHSV of 36,000 h^{-1}). This was significantly lower than corresponding catalysts prepared by impregnation and thermal oxidation methods (Fig. 9iii). The enhanced performance of these materials was connected with a higher quantity of surface oxygen species and enhanced low-temperature reducibility.⁴⁴⁹ Bialas *et al.*⁴⁴³ subsequently reported that a CuAl₂O₄ catalyst was more active than its corresponding Co-Al monometallic oxide counterparts.

A series of different transition metal (Cu, Fe, Mn, Cr, Co, Mo and Ni) catalysts supported on Al₂O₃ were prepared and tested for the oxidation of toluene. Of the catalysts tested, Cu/Al₂O₃ catalyst exhibited the best activity. The activity of the other catalysts tested followed the order: $Fe/Al_2O_3 > Cr/Al_2O_3 > Mn/Al_2O_3 > Co/Al_2O_3 > Mo/Al_2O_3 > Ni/Al_2O_3.³⁸⁴ This was also evidenced by Nah and co-workers.⁴⁵⁰ CeO₂ doped with metal ions such as Cu, Mn and Co have exhibited promising activity as catalysts for this reaction. The high activity of these catalysts was owing to their large quantities of lattice defects and ion vacancies, which provided major transfer channels for surface oxygen (O²⁻, O⁻) and lattice oxygen (O²⁻).⁴⁵¹ Developing highly active CeO₂ catalysts which exhibit a high thermal stability is a challenge. Chen and co-workers^{445,452} developed a Cu-Mn-Ce/ZrO₂ catalyst which possessed both of these attributes. The high thermal stability of this catalyst was attributed to the interaction of ZrO₂ and Cu-Mn-Ce instigated through the heat treatment of the material. A series of Ce_xZr_{1-x}O₂/CuO catalysts have also been <math>45$

investigated for this reaction.⁴⁴⁶ The doping of Zr into CeO₂ was observed to promote the dispersion and reducibility of the active copper species. An 8%CuO/Ce_{0.8}Zr_{0.2}O₂ catalyst calcined at 400 °C exhibited the highest activity; full conversion of toluene was achieved at 275 °C (GHSV of 33,000 h⁻¹).

In addition to metal oxides, molecular sieves have demonstrated a lot of potential as catalyst supports for Cu-containing catalysts. Popova *et al.*⁴⁵³ determined that immobilizing Cr and Cu species on SBA-15 catalysts could provide active catalysts for the total oxidation of toluene. The study indicated that the optimal metal oxide content for these catalysts was 3 and 7 wt.% for Cr and Cu, respectively. The effect of immobilizing both Cu and Mn on a series of different mesoporous and microporous molecular sieves has also been investigated (Cu-Mn/MCM-41, Cu-Mn/ β -zeolite, Cu-Mn/ZSM-5 and Cu-Mn/porous silica) for this reaction. Of the catalysts tested, the Cu-Mn/MCM-41 catalyst exhibited the highest catalytic activity due to highly dispersed Cu-Mn mixed oxides phases in the mesoporous structure.⁴⁴⁸

Other transition metal (e.g., V, Ti, Ni, Cr and Fe) supported catalysts have also been investigated for toluene oxidation.^{454,459} It was reported that a Ti/MCM-41 catalyst, obtained by a direct synthesis route, which consisted of a substantial quantity of Ti exhibited a notably higher activity than that of a corresponding catalyst prepared by the wet impregnation technique on TiO₂-anatase.³⁰⁴ Mesoporous nickel oxides with two different morphologies; nanorods and nanocubes, were prepared using a microemulsion strategy and tested for this reaction. The NiO nanorods were determined to possess a better catalytic activity.⁴⁶⁰ Another study reported on the synthesis of a cylindrical Cr₂O₃ material with a rhombohedral structure and determined that this material displayed a promising activity for this reaction (Fig. 9iv).⁴⁶¹ Jiang *et al.*⁴⁶² reported that a NiO supported nitrogen-doped carbon nanotubes (NiO/NCNTs) catalyst exhibited an excellent toluene oxidation activity, which was proposed to a result of its good low-temperature reducibility and proportion surface oxygen. Popova *et al.*⁴⁶³ proposed that the doping of small quantities of iron into mesoporous silica (Fe : Si molar ratio of 0.01) enhanced the catalytic activity for this reaction. The silica matrix, promoting an Fe³⁺/Fe²⁺ redox cycle.

As discussed previously, perovskite-type oxides have displayed promising potential as catalysts in the total oxidation of various hydrocarbons.⁴⁶⁴⁻⁴⁶⁹ Both the external conditions (e.g. preparation

method) and intrinsic factors (e.g., crystal structure, surface area, type of A/B-site cation and number of surface oxygen defect) is known to affect the catalytic performances of perovskite-type oxides. Hosseini *et al.*⁴⁷⁰ determined that a LaMn_{0.5}Co_{0.5}O₃ catalyst was more active than a LaCr_{0.5}Co_{0.5}O₃ and LaCu_{0.5}Co_{0.5}O₃ catalyst for the oxidation of toluene. Deng *et al.*⁴⁷¹ suggested that the activity of a single-crystalline La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO₃₋₆ catalyst was much better than that observed over a corresponding poly-crystalline material as the distinct oxygen nonstoichiometry and single-crystalline structure of the oxide. Rousseau *et al.*⁴⁷² reported that partial substitution of La³⁺ by Sr²⁺ cations could significantly improve the catalytic activity of LaCoO₃. A similar study experiment was conducted where Fe was used to substitute in place of the Co. In this case, very little change in the catalytic activity was observed. Zhang *et al.*⁴⁷³ determined that the preparation method used could also have a significant influence on catalytic performance of LaMnO₃ catalysts in this reaction. A LaMnO₃ catalyst prepared by a citrate sol-gel method exhibited a better activity than corresponding materials prepared by glycine oxidation and co-precipitation methods. The material prepared by the citrate method was found to have a higher total surface area and enhanced low temperature reducibility.

In general, perovskite materials typically exhibit low surface areas, which is attributable to the harsh calcination conditions required during their preparation. Given that the activity of total oxidation catalysts is often highly dependent on the materials surface area, it somewhat limits their application in this field. These issues can be avoided to an extent, by targeting the synthesis of porous perovskite materials or by immobilization of these phases onto high surface area supports.^{308,474} Dai and co-workers^{310,475-478} prepared a series of perovskite oxides with meso- or macroporous structures and tested them for total oxidation of toluene. The porous perovskite materials exhibited significantly higher surface areas and better low temperature reducibilities. These physicochemical enhancements were reflected in the oxidative performance exhibited by the catalysts. A 3D ordered microporous LaMnO₃ catalyst achieved a 90% conversion of toluene at 243 °C (GHSV of 20,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹).⁴⁷⁶ Following this, an additional 3DOM Eu_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}FeO₂ perovskite material was synthesized and used as a support for Co oxide. The synthesized material exhibited a well-defined 3DOM structure, a surface area of 22-31 m²·g⁻¹ and fairly well dispersed cobalt oxide nanoparticles; with mean particles determined to be between 7 and 11 nm in size (Fig. 11). Of the catalysts synthesized and tested in this study, the highest toluene oxidation

activity was exhibited by the $CoO_x/3DOM$ -ESFO catalysts with 3 and 6 wt.% CoO_x present.⁴⁷⁸

There are numerous of other reports on the use of metal oxides to support perovskite-type materials.^{479,480} In one such study, LaMnO₃ was supported on a range of different oxide materials (Y₂O₃-ZrO₂ and TiO₂) and tested for the oxidation of toluene. The experiments indicated that there was a clear interaction between the LaMnO₃ perovskite phase and both the TiO₂ and Y2O3-ZrO2 materials, which affected their oxygen mobility and increased their catalytic performance.³¹¹ Ce-based oxides are also regularly used as supports for perovskite. A series of CeO₂ materials with different morphologies (rods, cubes and polyhedrons) were synthesized by Wang et al.⁴⁸¹ and utilized as supports for La_{0.8}Ce_{0.2}MnO₃. The morphology of the CeO₂ was determined to have a significant effect on the activity of the La_{0.8}Ce_{0.2}MnO₃ phase. Of the catalysts tested, the La_{0.8}Ce_{0.2}MnO₃/CeO₂-polyhedra exhibited the highest activity; 100 % toluene was converted at 240 °C (GHSV of 12,000 h⁻¹) and the exceptional activity was as a result of the high surface area, high oxygen vacancies and higher proportion of surface oxygen.

Previous reports have indicated that supported Pd catalysts are typically highly active for the catalytic oxidation of toluene. The high performance of these catalysts has been associated to a dual role of the Pd: metallic Pd sites are active for the decomposition of VOCs and PdO provides an additional source of surface oxygen. In addition to this, Liu et al.⁴⁸² demonstrated that supported Pd catalysts are often more stable than supported Pt catalysts for this reaction. Porous silica materials, metal oxides and hydrotalcite-derived oxides are typically utilized as the supports for Pd active phase.^{263,483-488} We have previously reported on the use of porous silicas, including microporous zeolites, mesoporous molecular sieves, and micro-/mesoporous composites as supports for Pd nanoparticles. In our investigations, we determined that the ZSM-5 is a stable and coke-resistant support for Pd supported catalysts in this reaction and that the acidity of the support can influence the Pd dispersion, redox potential and CO₂ desorption of the catalyst.^{168,485} Of the catalyst we tested, a Pd/ZSM-5 catalyst (Si : Al molar ratio of 25) exhibited the highest activity for this reaction; a 100 % toluene conversion was observed at 220 °C (GHSV of 32,000 h⁻¹).⁴⁸⁹ Compared to microporous zeolites, mesoporous materials (such as SBA-15, MCM-48 and KIT-6) possess a narrower pore size distribution, higher specific surface areas, and have considerably lower rates of Pd aggregation compared to other supported materials.^{490,491} We determined that the preparation of these material using a grafting method, leaded to the formation of exceptionally 48

well dispersed Pd nanoparticles on SBA-15. It was also determined that the solvent used in the preparation (ethanol, water, tetrahydrofuran, dimethyl sulphoxide and N,N-dimethylformamide) had a significant effect on the resultant Pd dispersion; the highest Pd dispersion was observed when N,N-dimethylformamide was used.⁴⁹² Other synthesis procedures have reported using a "two-solvent" approach, which combines the use of a hydrophobic solvent, such as hexane, with a hydrophilic solvent such as water.^{483,484} We prepared a Pd/SBA-15 catalyst using this approach and determined that acid sites on the catalyst further assisted with the Pd dispersion. Furthermore, the Pd/SBA-15 catalyst exhibited a high thermal stability and a high tolerance to moisture. The most active catalyst prepared in this way was observed to fully convert toluene at 210 °C (GHSV of 32,000 h⁻¹).³³ A silica material consisting of both micro- and mesoporous was also used as a support for Pd nanoparticles and was active for the catalytic oxidation of toluene oxidation; 100 % conversion of toluene was achieved at temperatures around 200 °C (flow rate of 350 mL·min⁻¹), which was notably lower than exhibited by catalysts consisting of a single porous system.^{167,486}

Metal oxides and hydrotalcite-derived mixed oxides have also been probed as supports for Pd nanoparticles in toluene oxidation.⁴⁹³⁻⁴⁹⁵ Okumura et al.²⁶³ investigated how the acid-base properties of a metal oxide support affected the catalytic performance of Pd nanoparticles. It was determined that the electronic interaction between the Pd nanoparticles and the supports had a significant impact on the activity of the catalyst; the highest activity reported in this study was exhibited by a 0.5 wt.% Pd/ZrO₂ catalyst (Fig. 12i), which was on account of an increased proportion of metallic Pd sites on the catalysts surface.²⁶³ A series of high surface area hierarchical macro-mesoporous ZrO₂, TiO₂, and ZrO₂-TiO₂ materials have also been synthesized and utilized as supports for Pd nanoparticles in this reaction. All of the catalysts tested exhibited a high oxidation activity due to the *in situ* aerobic oxidation of Pd⁰ species to form very active $[Pd^{2+}O^{2-}]$ species, which upon oxidation of the substrate, revert back to $Pd^{0,30,493}$ Previously, we have synthesized a series of Pd/Co₃AlO_x catalysts, which were derived from hydrotalcite-type precursors (HTlcs) and tested them for this reaction. The Pd nanoparticles were immobilized using a variety of different techniques, including; impregnation, wet ion exchange and co-precipitation. All of the synthesized catalysts were exhibited higher oxidation activities than the comparative benchmark material; a Pd/Co₃AlO_x catalyst prepared via a thermal oxidation 49

protocol (Fig. 12ii). The enhanced activity of these catalysts was predominantly associated with the materials high surface areas, small Co_3AlO_x crystallite size and the presence of highly dispersed PdO particles.⁴⁹⁴

In general, supported Pt catalysts can oxidize toluene at lower temperatures than corresponding Pd supported catalysts. As with Pt, there are lots of examples of different Pt-supported systems which have been developed and tested for the oxidation of toluene. These include; zeolites and molecular sieves (ZSM-5, Beta and MCM-41), CeO₂ and Al₂O₃.⁴⁹⁶⁻⁵⁰³ Once again, the dispersion of Pt on the surface of the supporting material significantly influences the activity of catalyst. One investigation reported on the preparation of a series of Pt/ZSM-5 catalysts, with different sized Pt nanoparticles ranging from 1.3 to 2.3 nm. Of the catalyst tested, a Pt/ZSM-5 catalyst with a mean particle size of 1.9 nm exhibited the highest activity for this reaction; 98 % conversion of toluene was achieved at 155 °C (GHSV of 60,000 mL \cdot g⁻¹ \cdot h⁻¹). The high activity exhibited was attributed to a trade off between the Pt dispersion and proportion of metallic Pt present on the surface (Fig. 12iii).⁵⁰⁴ More recently, a series of mesoporous zeolitic materials were synthesized, in an attempt to combine the advantageous properties of zeolites and mesoporous materials.⁵⁰⁵⁻⁵⁰⁷ Pt was subsequently immobilized onto the surface of these materials and tested for this reaction. Pt nanoparticles supported on a mesoporous Beta zeolite exhibited the highest activity, which was owing to a high Pt dispersion and desirable Pt⁰/Pt²⁺ ratio. When this catalyst was compared to a corresponding catalyst prepared on a conventional Beta zeolite, it was much more active and exhibited a much higher stability.⁴⁹⁶ Chen *et al.*⁴⁹⁸ reported that doping of alkali metal cations (e.g., Na^+ , K^+ and Cs^+) onto mesoporous ZSM-5 could enhance the proportion of Pt^0 on the surface of a mesoporous Pt supported ZSM-5 catalyst and improve the catalytic activity for this reaction. A subsequent report from the same group also confirmed that a similar effect could be observed from doping K onto a Beta zeolite supported Pt catalyst.⁵⁰⁸

The properties of support material such as the morphology, composition and acid-base site composition can also significantly affect the activity of NMSC.⁵⁰⁹⁻⁵¹² CeO₂ nanorods, nanoparticles and nanocubes, which predominantly consist of {110}, {111}, and {100} facets respectively, were utilized as supports for Pt nanoparticles and tested of the oxidation of toluene. The experiments indicated that catalytic activity was highly influenced by the morphology of the support. The highest activity was exhibited by Pt/CeO₂ nanorods, which was connected with this

material exhibiting the highest proportion of surface oxygen vacancies and could be reduced at the lowest temperature.⁵⁰⁰

A highly efficient catalyst with a formula of 7 wt.% Pt/16 wt.% Ce_{0.64}Zr_{0.15}Bi_{0.21}O_{1.895}/ γ -Al₂O₃ was developed by Imanaka and co-workers.⁵⁰³ Over this catalyst, 100 % toluene could be converted at temperatures as low as 120 °C (GHSV of 8000 h⁻¹). Experimental results indicated that the Ce_{0.64}Zr_{0.16}Bi_{0.20}O_{1.90}/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst could readily provide oxygen from the bulk of the material to the surface at temperatures below 100 °C. The mobility of oxygen from the bulk of the material was determined to increase further upon the addition of Pd.⁵⁰³ The use of hydrophobic supports can in some instances be desirable, as they can assist with the expulsion of water vapor from the catalyst surface during oxidation reactions. The presence of water vapor in waste streams is common and has been shown to dramatically hinder the catalytic performance and stability of supported metal catalysts. One example of such a system was reported by Wu and Chang,⁵¹³ who synthesized a Pt/styrene divinylbenzene copolymer (SDB) catalyst, which completely oxidized toluene at only 150 °C (GHSV of 21,000 h⁻¹).

Compared with Pt and Pd, Au is much less expensive. Many factors including; the nature of the support, Au particle size and electronic state, the method of immobilizing Au and pretreatment condition can affect the activity of Au supported catalysts in oxidation reactions.^{514,515} In one study, the effect of the support material on the activity of Au nanoparticles for the oxidation of toluene was investigated. For this, Au was immobilized onto a series of different oxides (La₂O₃, MgO, NiO and Fe₂O₃) and tested, which revealed that the Au particle size and reducibility are primary factors influencing the catalytic activity. Interestingly, the Au oxidation state was determined to have very little effect on the catalytic performance.⁵¹⁶ Au supported on materials with 3DOM structures have been extensively investigated by Dai and co-workers⁵¹⁷⁻⁵²⁰ for this reaction. They determined that 3DOM perovskite oxides materials such as LaSrMnOx and LaSrCoO_x are good supports for Au nanoparticles in this reaction due to their higher surface area and 3D porestructure.⁵¹⁸ A series of Au/3DOM-Mn₂O₃ catalysts with varied Au loadings of between 1.9 and 7.5 wt.% were also investigated by the same group. Of the catalysts tested, a 5.8 wt.% Au/3DOM-Mn₂O₃ catalyst exhibited the highest activity; a toluene conversion of 90 % was achieved at 244 °C (WHSV of 40,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹).⁵¹⁹ Previous studies have confirmed that the addition of TMO to NMSC can considerably improve the materials catalytic activity in the

oxidation of VOCs. This was also shown to be the case with the oxidation of toluene, as Yang *et al.*⁵²⁰ reported that a Au/MnO_x/3DOM-SiO₂ catalyst was significantly more active than corresponding Au/3DOM-SiO₂ and MnO_x/3DOM-SiO₂ catalysts.

The incorporation of a secondary metal to produce bimetallic NMSC has been shown to be particularly attractive, as it can significantly enhance the reaction activity, selectivity and stability.⁵²¹⁻⁵²⁶ This was shown to be the case in the oxidation of toluene by Hosseini *et al.*,⁵²⁵ who synthesized a series of bimetallic Pd/Au/TiO₂-ZrO₂ catalysts and tested them for this reaction. A Pd : Au molar ratio of 4 exhibited the highest toluene oxidation activity. In a separate study, a series of Pt-Au/ZnO/Al₂O₃ bimetallic catalysts were synthesized and tested for this reaction. Changing the molar ratio of Pt : Au in bimetallic catalysts supported on ZnO/Al₂O₃ was determined to have a significant effect on mean particle size. Increasing the Au content resulted in an increase in the mean particle size observed and as a result, the highest activity was observed with the bimetallic catalyst containing the least Au content.⁵²⁷

A series of 3DOM-Mn₂O₃ supported AuPd catalysts with varying Au : Pd ratios were prepared by Au and co-workers.⁵²⁸ Each of the catalysts were determined to have fairly uniformly dispersed AuPd nanoparticles, which exhibited mean particle sizes of 2-4 nm (Fig. 13). A 3.8 wt.% Au1.92 wt.%Pd/3DOM-Mn₂O₃ catalyst exhibited the highest activity for the oxidation of toluene. The excellent catalytic activity, thermal stability, and high resistance to water of this material was ascribed to its efficiency to associatively adsorb O₂ and the strong interaction between the nanoparticles and 3DOM-Mn₂O₃ support.⁵²⁸

Silica materials have also been investigated as a support for bimetallic nanoparticles in total oxidation of toluene.^{529,530} Wang *et al.*²⁶ recently reported that a Pd-Pt/SiO₂ catalyst was highly active for this reaction and reported that this catalyst exhibited very little coking during the reaction. It was determined that the activity of this catalyst could be markedly improved by adding oleic acid into the metal salt solution during the catalyst preparation, which was linked to an increase in the proportion of metallic Pd in the resultant catalyst (Fig. 12iv).

3.3.3. Xylene

Xylene is another VOC, commonly used in number of industrial fields despite the fact that the World Health Organization considers it to be chronically toxic and carcinogenic.^{530,531} For this

reason, the catalytic oxidation of xylene has been widely studied over a number of Mn-, Ce- and Pd-supported catalysts.⁵³²⁻⁵³⁵ Examples of Au and Pt supported catalysts for the oxidation of xylene are somewhat limited by comparison.⁵³⁶⁻⁵³⁸

CeO₂ catalysts with different morphologies (nanoparticles, nanocubes and nanorods) were synthesized and tested as catalysts for the oxidation of *o*-xylene. Of the catalysts tested, the CeO₂ nanorods exhibited both the highest activity and stability. The high performance of these materials was attributed to the increased proportion of (111) and (100) facets they exhibit. These facets were considered to increase the quantity of oxygen vacancies in the material, which are known to be pivotal in the activation of O_2 .⁵³⁵

As discussed previously, MnO_x materials have also been extensively investigated as catalysts for this reaction.⁵³⁹⁻⁵⁴² Wu *et al.*⁵³⁹ reported that an α -MnO₂ catalyst has much higher *o*-xylene oxidation activity (temperature for 100% conversion of o-xylene = 210 °C; flow rate of 50 mL·min⁻¹) than that of mixture of α -MnO₂ and δ -MnO₂. The higher activity was attributed the quasi-quadrangular conformation of the of α -MnO₂ material. For this reason, an additional study was conducted by the same group, who investigated how the preparation method of MnO_x catalysts effected there activity in this reaction. It was determined that utilization of a redox-precipitation method produced a porous hierarchically structured microcrystalline α -MnO₂ material, which consisted of almost 100% Mn⁴⁺ ion on its surface. In contrary, a more conventional precipitation method was determined to produce a mixture of MnO₂ and Mn₃O₄ phases, which exhibited a closely packed spherical morphology and contained only 31% Mn⁴⁺ ion on its surface. The α -MnO₂ prepared by the redox-precipitation method exhibited a good low-temperature reducibility and converted 100% o-xylene into CO2 at 220 °C (GHSV of 8000 h⁻¹).⁵⁴⁰ Zhou et al.⁵⁴³ also demonstrated that the chemical composition and structure of MnO_x catalysts are significantly influenced by the preparation method. A MnO_x catalyst prepared by a hard templating method was determined be more active than a corresponding catalyst prepared by a conventional precipitation method.

Pd supported catalyst have been shown to be highly active for the total oxidation of xylene.⁵⁴⁴⁻⁵⁴⁷ A series of γ -Al₂O₃ supported noble metal (Pd, Pt, Au, Ag and Rh) catalysts were prepared by He and co-workers⁵⁴⁵ *via* a wet impregnation method and tested for the oxidation of *o*-xylene. Of the catalysts tested, the Pd/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst exhibited the highest activity. Kim and

Shim⁸⁵ proposed that subjecting a Pd/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst to a H₂ pre-treatment could further increase its catalytic, which is unsurprising given that the activity of Pd supported catalysts in the oxidation of VOCs is typically dependent on the particle size and oxidation state of the Pd nanoparticles. This was further evidenced by Dégé *et al.*,⁵⁴⁷ who also reported that activity is dependent on the proportion of Pd⁰ present in the catalyst. The *T*₁₀₀ for xylene of a Pd/HFAU catalyst reduced from 280 to 240 °C (GHSV of 18,000 h⁻¹) after a reductive pre-treatment at 300 °C for 1 h. Following this, Wang *et al.*,⁵⁴⁸ reported that a series of Pd/Co₃O₄ materials were also exceptionally active for this reaction. It was determined that the activity of the catalysts was heavily influenced by the method of Pd deposition and was directly related to the dispersion of PdO. In a more recent study, Xie *et al.*,⁵⁴⁹ determined that the activity of mesoporous CoO-supported Pd (Pd/meso-CoO) was much more active than a corresponding catalyst supported on mesoporous Co₃O₄. The higher activity over the Pd/meso-CoO was relied on the Pd-CoO interface which was proposed to be pivotal in the activation of O₂ and assist with the stability of Pd⁰ species; considered to be the predominant site for the adsorption of *o*-xylene.

For practical applications, catalysts should be supported on structured supports, such as ceramic and metallic monoliths. Supporting catalysts on these extrudates reduces the pressure drop from the gas feed into the catalyst bed, reduces diffusion distances, and are generally more resistant to vibrational and thermal shock.^{550,551} A series of MO_x (M = Cu, Ni, and Co) doped MnCeO_x oxide catalysts were immobilized onto ceramic monoliths using a sol-gel method by Zhang and Wu.⁵⁵² The doping of this catalyst with CuO_x resulted in a significant enhancement in the catalytic activity. Of the catalysts tested, a MnCeCu_{0.4}/monolith catalyst exhibited the highest activity for the oxidation of *o*-xylene; 90 % *o*-xylene was converted at 277 °C (GHSV of 10,000 h⁻¹).

Carbon-coated monoliths have also been investigated as catalyst extrudates. Carbon materials are typically very versatile which is desirable from a catalyst design perspective.⁵⁵³⁻⁵⁵⁶ Moreno-Castilla and co-workers⁵⁵⁷ have reported on the use of carbon-coated monoliths as extrudates to support Pd and Pt nanoparticles and have tested these materials for the oxidation of m-xylene. The Pt supported materials were more active than the corresponding Pd materials. The activity of the Pd supported catalysts increased as the mean particle size decreased, but interestingly, the opposite trend was observed with Pt supported catalysts due to a structure

sensitivity effect.557

3.3.4.Naphthalene

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) represent a large class of VOCs, which are typically released during the oxidation of organic matter, such as diesels, gasoline, biomass, coal and wood.^{558,559} PAHs are considered to be highly carcinogenic and mutagenic.⁵⁶⁰ The emission of PAHs to the atmosphere is widespread and takes place on a large scale and as such, are considered to pose serious environmental and health risks.⁵⁶¹ Naphthalene is considered to be one of the least toxic and simplest PAHs which are commonly emitted and so, is an excellent model compound to study the total catalytic oxidation of PAHs.⁵⁶²⁻⁵⁶⁴

The catalytic activities of many different metal oxides (CoO_x, MnO_x, CuO, ZnO, Fe₂O₃, CeO₂, TiO₂, Al₂O₃ and CuZnO_x) have been studied previously for the oxidation of naphthalene.⁵⁶⁵ Of the catalysts tested, a CeO₂ catalyst was determined to be the most active which was ascribed to the high surface area of the catalyst and the strength of the bond between naphthalene and the catalyst surface. A series of nanocrystalline CeO₂ catalysts were subsequently prepared by a combustion method, which employed ethylene glycol (EG) as a fuel for the reaction.⁵⁶⁶ The EG : Ce ratio used in the preparation of these catalysts had a pronounced effect on the catalytic activity observed. The highest activity and CO₂ selectivity was exhibited by a catalyst prepared with an EG : Ce molar ratio of 0.75 which was related to a higher proportion of oxygen vacancies present in this material. A subsequent study was conducted by the same group over CuCeO_x catalysts and the same conclusions were drawn.⁵⁶⁷ Another study investigated the activity exhibited by a series of mesoporous CeO₂ catalysts, which were prepared by a nanocasting methodology and invoked the use of 2D SBA-15, 3D KIT-6 and 3D MCM-48 as the template. All the catalysts tested were highly active for this reaction, which was predominantly owing to the high surface areas of the materials and accessibility of the substrate to the active sites.^{307,568}

The doping of Zr into CeO₂ has been shown to be beneficial for the catalytic oxidation of naphthalene.⁵⁶⁹ Taylor and co-workers⁵⁷⁰ determined that the incorporation of small quantities of Zr into the CeO₂ lattice had a notable effect on the performance of the catalyst. Increasing the quantity of Zr in the CeO₂ lattice was determined to have a detrimental impact on the catalytic performance, which was on account of an increased proportion of hydrophilic OH species on the

catalysts surface.

Several Mn₂O₃ catalysts have been synthesized and tested for the total oxidation of naphthalene by Solsona and co-workers.⁵⁷¹ The activity of these materials was related to be highly dependent on their corresponding surface areas, reducibility and lattice oxygen mobility. In addition, it was concluded that a crystalline Mn₂O₃ phase has a higher intrinsic activity than MnO₂. Hopcalite have also been investigated for this reaction. The calcination temperatures of these catalysts were determined to have a significant effect on the resultant activity. A precursor calcined at 400 °C exhibited the highest activity and CO₂ ascribabled to a high surface composition of amorphous CuMn₂O₄. Increased calcination temperatures reduced the activity of the catalysts, which was owing to the formation of a more crystalline CuMn₂O₄ phase.⁵⁷²

Noble metal (Pd, Pt and Au) supported catalysts have also been investigated for the oxidation of naphthalene.⁵⁷³⁻⁵⁷⁵ Garcia et al.⁵⁷⁶ reported that a Pd/TiO₂ catalyst was more active than corresponding Pd/V/TiO₂ and V/TiO₂ catalysts. Another study also investigated the activity of Pd nanoparticles catalysts on various supports (i.e., BETA and ZSM-5 zeolites, a silicoaluminophosphate molecular sieve (SAPO-5) and γ -Al₂O₃) for this reaction. Of the catalysts tested, a Pd/BETA material exhibited the highest activity; a 100 % conversion of naphthalene was converted at 165 °C (flow rate of 50 mL·min⁻¹).⁵⁷⁷ Ndifor et al.⁵⁶¹ reported that doping a Pt/γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst with V (0.5 wt.%) could significantly improve the activity of the catalyst. The observed enhancement was attributed to the increased reducibility of surface, due to the presence of V. Further increases in the V content however, was determined to have a detrimental effect on the catalytic performance, which was connected with the formation of V₂O₅. Mochida and co-workers⁵⁷⁸ determined that a Pt/SBA-15 catalyst was more active than a corresponding catalyst supported on γ -Al₂O₃. Further investigation revealed that the Pt/SBA-15 catalyst was also more active than Ru/SBA-15 and Mo/SBA-15 catalysts, which was owing to differences in the chemisorption of naphthalene on these materials as weak chemisorption of naphthalene. The Al species in the SBA-15 material was proposed to operate as a structural promoter, assisting with the dispersion of Pt and inhibiting the agglomeration of the Pt nanoparticles.

3.4. Oxygen-containing VOCs

Oxygen-containing VOCs such as methanol, ethanol, 2-propanol, formaldehyde, acetaldehyde,

propanal, acetone, methyl ethyl ketone, ethyl acetate and butyl acetate are commonly emitted in industrial waste streams. The environmental and toxicological impact of these VOCs is typically dependent on their functionalization. For example, alcohols can participate in secondary reactions, leading to the formation of aldehydes which are considered to be eye and respiratory irritants which upon repeated exposure, can lead to serious respiratory conditions.^{579,580}

3.4.1. Methanol

Methanol is extensively used as a solvent in a number of industrial sectors and is also being trialed as a potential non-petroleum based fuel.^{581,582} The partial oxidation of methanol however, leads to the formation a more toxic pollutant; formaldehyde, which has somewhat limited its application as a fuel additive in the transport sector.^{9,583} The low temperature oxidation of methanol is typically a clean and efficient process,^{584,585} which has been investigated over a wide range of different catalysts.⁵⁸⁶⁻⁵⁹⁵

Numerous reports have indicated that Co_3O_4 is a highly active catalyst for the oxidation of methanol. Xia *et al.*⁵⁹⁶ reported that the cubic Co₃O₄ with a 3D ordered mesoporous structure could obtain methanol conversions up to 90 % at 139 °C (WHSV of 20,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹). The activity of this material was linked to its high specific surface area and good low-temperature reducibility. The reaction mechanism of methanol oxidation on Co₃O₄ surfaces was studied by density functional theory (DFT) with a GCA+U framework. The results from these experiments indicated that methanol more favorably adorbs onto Co³⁺ ((110)-B surface) sites as opposed to Co²⁺ ((111)-B surface) sites. Over the (110)-B surface, methanol could readily be oxidized to CO₂ and water. Over the (111)-B surface however, it was determined that methanol could only be oxidized to CH₂O.⁵⁹⁷ As such, it was concluded that the total oxidation of methanol occurred at Co³⁺ sites.

The acid/base properties of different supports have been reported to influence the dispersion and oxidation state of Pd nanoparticles. A study by Jabłońska *et al.*⁵⁹⁸ investigated the performance of a variety of Pd catalysts (Pd/HY, Pd/NaY and Pd/Al₂O₃) for the oxidation of methanol. Of the catalysts investigated, the Pd/HY catalyst exhibited the highest catalytic activity ($T_{90} = 120$ °C; flow rate of 20 cm³·min⁻¹), which was ascribed to the acidity of the material increasing the Pd dispersion. The presence of Pd⁰ and Pd²⁺ species were observed in the active catalyst and both were reported to be important for the catalysis taking place. It is known that CeO₂-ZrO₂ catalysts have good redox and oxygen storage properties and typically exhibit high thermal resistance in oxidation reactions.⁵⁹⁹ A series of mesoporous Pd/CeO₂-ZrO₂ catalysts were prepared by DP method and tested for this reaction.⁶⁰⁰ The mesoporous Pd/CeO₂-ZrO₂ catalyst exhibited a higher activity than that observed over corresponding mesoporous Pd/ZrO₂ and Pd/CeO₂ catalysts. Another study investigated how Ba doping effected the catalytic performance of a Pd/Al₂O₃-Ce_{0.3}Zr_{0.7}O₂ for this reaction.⁶⁰¹ An enhanced activity was observed upon doping of Ba to the catalyst, which was attributed to an enhancement in the formation of the methoxy intermediate species, considered to be the rate determining step in this reaction.

Zhao *et al.*⁵⁹⁰ investigated the catalytic oxidation of methanol over a series of Pt/TiO₂ and Pt/CeO₂-TiO₂ catalysts. The Pt/TiO₂ catalysts, which was calcined at 350 °C, exhibited a methanol conversion of 70 % at room temperature. The corresponding Pt/CeO₂-TiO₂ catalyst, which had approximately 1-2 mol% of the Ce doped into the TiO₂ exhibited a very similar activity to the monometallic Pt/TiO₂ catalyst, but was determined to be more stable. More recently, Cimino *et al.*⁶⁰² reported that cathodic electrodeposition of Pt onto Fecralloy foams had high activity in methanol oxidation.

The low temperature oxidation of methanol and its partial oxidation intermediates was investigated over a series of Au catalysts supported on various reducible oxides by Torres Sanchez and co-workers.⁶⁰³ Of the catalysts tested, a Au/ α -Fe₂O₃ catalyst exhibited the highest activity. This was also observed by Scirè *et al.*⁵⁹¹ who tested a series of Au, Ag and Cu catalysts supported on Fe₂O₃. The Au supported catalyst was determined to be the most active, which was associated with a weakening of the Fe-O bond enhancing the mobility of lattice oxygen. Au/CeO₂ catalysts have also been investigated as catalysts for the total oxidation some VOCs (2-propanol, methanol and toluene).⁶⁰⁴ The performance of these catalysts was attributed to the Au particle size. Smaller Au nanoparticles were proposed to be more active which was in relation to the weakening of Ce-O bonds at the interface of the Au nanoparticle. Petrov⁶⁰⁵ determined that a Au-Co mixed oxide supported on CeO₂/TiO₂ can totally oxidize methanol at a temperature of 50 °C, which exhibited a better activity than a corresponding Pt catalyst.

Another study investigated supporting Au- and CeO₂ on mesoporous SBA-15, which were subsequently doped with additional metals such as Cu and Zr and tested for the oxidation of methanol.⁶⁰⁶ The incorporation of Cu was determined to increase the Au dispersion due to electronic transfers from Cu⁺ species to metallic Au, instigating strong interaction between the metals on the surface. The addition of Zr and Cu to the catalysts was determined into favor the formation of dimethyl ether and methyl formate, respectively.

A series of γ -Al₂O₃-supported Cu, Mn, Ce, K, Ag, Cu-Mn, Cu-Ce, Cu-Ag and Cu-K catalysts have also been synthesized and tested for the oxidation of methanol. Of the catalysts tested in this study, the Ag containing catalysts were determined to be the most active, of which the Ag-Cu/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst was the most active. The high activities observed were owing to the presence of Ag⁺ species.⁶⁰⁷

3.4.2. Ethanol

Ethanol is also widely used as an industrial solvent and fuel/fuel additives.^{608,609} Like methanol, the partial oxidation of ethanol can lead to the formation aldehydic species which are notably more toxic.¹⁵ For this reason, there are numerous examples of catalysts which have been investigated for the low-temperature oxidation of ethanol. Mn-based oxides and Pt supported catalysts have displayed the most potential to date,⁶¹⁰⁻⁶¹³ but other transition metal (Cr, Co and Ce)-based catalysts and Au supported catalysts have also displayed some promise.⁶¹⁴⁻⁶¹⁸

There are many examples of highly active MnO_x based catalysts for the oxidation of ethanol documented in the literature. Bai *et al.*⁶¹⁹ determined that the morphology of a MnO_2 catalyst could have a dramatic influence on its catalytic performance in this reaction. A series of 1D, 2D and 3D structured MnO_2 catalysts were investigated for this reaction. Of the catalysts tested, the 3D MnO_2 catalysts exhibited the highest activity which was associated with the better low-temperature reducibility and higher proportion of Mn^{4+} species present in this material. Over the 3D- MnO_2 catalyst, complete oxidation of ethanol was achieved at 150 °C with a WHSV of 45,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹ (Fig. 14i). Another study, investigated how a series of octahedral molecular sieve (OMS-2) catalysts synthesized from different precursors could influence the catalytic activity for this reaction.⁶⁰⁹ It is found that the OMS-2 catalyst derived from a $MnSO_4$ precursor exhibited the highest activity, which was linked to weakened Mn-O bonds.

Another study by Cadús and co-workers,⁶²⁰ reported that the doping of small quantities of Cu (10 wt.%) into a MnO_x catalyst could improve the materials catalytic activity for the oxidation of

ethanol. The observed enhancement was attributed to Cu instigating a reduction in the crystallinity of the MnO_x material and increased the proportion of oxygen vacancies. It was however determined, that increasing the quantity of Cu in the catalyst favored the partial oxidation of ethanol. An additional study reported that the total oxidation of ethanol could be achieved at 200 °C (flow rate of 100 mL·min⁻¹) over a MnO_x-CeO₂ catalyst, which is a much lower temperature than that required over a 0.3 wt.% Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst.⁶²¹ Other studies also confirmed that high ethanol activities could be exhibited over Mn_{0.6}Ce_{0.4}O₂⁶²² and La-Mn based perovskite-type catalysts.⁶²³

Investigations into catalysts prepared by the thermal decomposition of LDH precursors have also been investigated for the low-temperature oxidation of ethanol.^{624,625} The performance of such catalysts in this reaction can be further improved by doping these materials with additional transitionmetal ions. A series of M^{II}-M^{III} LDH precursors materials with M^{II} : M^{III} molar ratio of 2 $(M^{II} = Cu, Co, Ni, Cu-Ni, Cu-Co and Co-Ni; M^{III} = Mn or Al)$ were prepared by the co-precipitation from solutions of the corresponding metal nitrates.⁶²⁶ Of the catalysts synthesized, a CuNiMnOx mixed oxide material was determined to be the most active and the ternary mixed oxide materials which contained Mn were determined to be the more active than the binary CuMnO_x, CoMnO_x, and NiMnO_x catalysts (Fig. 14ii). A separate study conducted by Aguilera et *al.*,⁴⁴⁴ reported that CoMnMgAlO_x oxide catalyst exhibited a 90 % ethanol conversion at 252 °C (flow rate of 200 mL·min⁻¹), which provide a higher yield of CO₂ than a corresponding catalyst containing Cu (CuMnMgAlOx oxide). Kovanda et al.⁶²⁷ also investigated the use of ternary CoMnAlO_x oxides materials for the oxidation of ethanol, over which ethanol conversion of 50 % were observed at approximately 180 °C (flow rate of 41.6 mL·min⁻¹). Further enhancements in the performance were subsequently observed when the same material was doped with KNO3. When 3 wt.% K was doped onto the material, an ethanol conversion of 50 % could be achieved at 140 °C, but did increase the selectivity to partial oxidation products such as acetaldehyde.⁶²⁸

The oxidation of ethanol over different noble metal (Pt, Pd, Ir, Rh, and Au) catalysts supported on TiO₂ was investigated by Figueiredo and co-workers.⁶²⁹ Of the catalysts tested, a Pt/TiO₂ catalyst was determined to be the most active and the activity of the catalysts decreased in order; Pt/TiO₂ > Pd/TiO₂ >> Rh/TiO₂ \approx Ir/TiO₂ >> Au/TiO₂. This order of activity was observed regardless of the preparation method used. Gaálová *et al.*⁶³⁰ compared the activity of Au and Pt nanoparticles supported on a Ce-Zr-O support. The Pt supported catalyst was determined to have a significantly higher activity than the corresponding Au catalyst and was determined to be more active than the corresponding commercial catalyst, Pt-Pd/Al₂O₃. The Pt/Ce-Z-O catalyst exhibited an ethanol conversion of 50 % at 99 °C (WHSV of 20 m³·g⁻¹·h⁻¹).

A series of Pt/Ce/activated carbon catalysts were also synthesized and tested for the oxidation of ethanol. The activity of these catalysts were notably higher than that observed over a corresponding Pt/CeO₂ catalyst. The most promising activity was exhibited by a Pt-10Ce/C which achieved a total conversion of ethanol to CO₂ at 160 °C (flow rate of 100 mL·min⁻¹) and was stable in a test run for 100 h.⁶³¹ However, under more humid conditions (RH of 40 and 80%), the activity of Pt-10Ce/C did drop slightly, which was attributed to the hydrophobic character of the activated carbon (AC) support (Fig. 14iii). A subsequent study by the same group investigated how the Pt precursor influenced the performance of the Pt-CeO₂/C catalyst in this reaction. A catalyst synthesized from H₂PtCl₆ exhibited a much higher ethanol conversion and CO₂ selectivity than a corresponding catalyst prepared from Pt(NH₃)₄(NO₃)₂, which was attributed to an increase Pt dispersion and a stronger metal-CeO₂ interaction.⁶³²

3.4.3. 2-propanol

2-propanol (isopropanol) is a typical gaseous VOC pollutant with a high level of toxicity and has therefore attracted vast interest from researchers worldwide.⁶³³⁻⁶³⁵ Its prominence comes as a result of its versatility as a solvent and reactant in several industrial processes such as printing, coatings, spraying, semiconductors, precision machinery industries and pharmaceutical applications.^{636,637} Cu-based oxides and Au supported catalysts are two of the most reported systems for the total oxidation of 2-propanol.^{638,639}

Supports such as TiO₂, Fe₂O₃, CeO₂ and Al₂O₃ were adopted for Au sites in the total oxidation of 2-propanol. Centeno *et al.*⁶⁴⁰ claimed that the presence of nitrogen in Au/TiO₂ (Au/TiO_xN_y) had a negative influence on the oxidation of 2-propanol to CO₂, while an enhancement was observed in partial oxidation to acetone. It was also suggested that the presence of Au^{$\delta+$} or Au⁰ species as well as Au particle amount and size determined the overall catalytic activity. Galvagno and co-workers^{641,642} confirmed that the Au oxidation state and/or the particle size played a key role in the catalytic oxidation of VOCs such as 2-propanol. The catalytic oxidation of 2-propanol

over various metal oxide-supported Au catalysts (Au/CeO₂, Au/Fe₂O₃, Au/TiO₂ and Au/Al₂O₃) was studied by Liu and Yang.⁶³⁶ Of the catalyst studied, Au/CeO₂ was found to be the most active in this range. The oxidition state of Au was an important factor for 2-propanol oxidation over Au/CeO₂ catalysts with Au⁺¹ species exhibiting higher activity than Au⁰. Scirè *et al.*⁶⁰⁴ reported that the presence of Au enhanced the activity of CeO₂ towards 2-propanol oxidation with the catalytic performance being related to the capacity of Au nanoparticles to weaken the adjacent surface Ce-O bonds, thus enhancing the reactivity of the CeO₂ surface. Centeno *et al.*¹⁹⁴ found that CeO₂ enhanced the fixation and dispersion of Au particles in Au/CeO₂/Al₂O₃ catalysts, which improved the activity of Au particles in VOC oxidation.

Fierro and co-workers⁶⁴³ reported that the Cu-Co₂ spinel catalyst exhibited the highest activity in 2-propanol oxidation out of a range of Cu-(Cr, Mn and Co)₂ mixed oxides. The researchers ascribed this high reactivity to the higher reducibility under the reaction conditions and a synergistic effect between Cu-Co₂ mixed oxide and CuO particles. Various other materials such as Ni-Mn or Zn-Cr spinels were also reported in 2-propanol oxidation.^{644,645} Nanocrystalline AMn₂O₄ (A = Co, Ni and Cu) manganite spinels were prepared by Nabavi and co-workers⁶⁴⁴ using a sol-gel auto oxidation method. It was found that NiMn₂O₄ exhibited the best activity due to the synergetic effect between Mn³⁺ and Ni²⁺ phases in nickel manganite oxide, achieving complete conversion of 2-propanol at 250 °C. Following this work, the correlation between structure and activity of MCr₂O₄ nanospinels (M = Co, Cu, and Zn) in the oxidation of 2-propanol was also studied by the same group,⁶⁴⁵ and revealed that the ZnCr₂O₄ exhibited the highest activity and stability. The authors believed that the higher activity of ZnCr₂O₄ was due to the existence of excess surface oxygen on the catalyst, active Cr³⁺-Cr⁶⁺ pair sites and a synergistic effect between ZnO and ZnCr₂O₄. The high stability of ZnCr₂O₄ was explained by the existence of stable Cr⁶⁺ species on the surface of catalyst.

3.4.4. Formaldehyde

Formaldehyde is an important precursor for the synthesis of many other materials and chemical compounds. As such, millions of tons of formaldehyde are used each year, with contamination and waste streams leading to tremendous harm to humans and the environment.⁶⁴⁶⁻⁶⁴⁸ It is well known that long-term exposure to air containing formaldehyde, even at very low ppm level, may

cause serious health problems including nasal tumors, irritation of the mucous membranes of the eyes and respiratory tract, skin irritation, decreased concentration and weakened immunity.^{649,650} Catalytic oxidation of formaldehyde is an efficient and environmentally friendly approach for its abatement.⁶⁵¹ The majority of works focus on the synthesis and development of Mn-, Co-, Pt-, Au- and Ag-based catalysts for the deep oxidation of formaldehyde at low temperature.⁶⁵²⁻⁶⁶⁰

Mn based catalysts have been widely studied for formaldehyde oxidation and appeared to be the most active catalysts among the transition metal oxides. *α*-, *β*-, *γ*- and δ-MnO₂ oxides were prepared by the hydrothermal method, and it was found that the δ-MnO₂ exhibited the best performance in the series δ-MnO₂ > *α*-MnO₂ > *γ*-MnO₂ > *β*-MnO₂, achieving nearly complete formaldehyde conversion at 80 °C (WHSV of 600,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹).⁶⁶¹ The tunnel structure and active lattice oxygen species were described as the main factors which contribute to the excellent performance of δ-MnO₂. Rong *et al.*⁶⁶² reported that single-crystalline *α*-MnO₂ nanowires with exposed {310} facets exhibited much better activity and stability for formaldehyde oxidation than those with exposed {100} and {110} facets. It was suggested that the {310} facets with high surface energy could not only facilitate adsorption/activation of O₂ and water but also be beneficial to the generation of oxygen vacancies. Wang *et al.*⁶⁶³ also indicated that the abundance of manganese vacancies had a positive effect on the performance of birnessite catalysts in the deep oxidation of formaldehyde. 3DOM MnO₂ with disordered polycrystalline walls and a large number of exposed (110) crystal planes (enriched Mn⁴⁺ ions) displayed better formaldehyde oxidation activity than common MnO₂.⁶⁶⁴

In order to enhance the catalytic activity and extend the operating temperature window for formaldehyde oxidation, the combination of two or more transition metal oxides is often employed.^{125,665} MnCoO_x, MnCeO_x and MnFeO_x mixed oxides were generally used in formaldehyde oxidation. Shi *et al.*⁶⁶⁶ proposed that the Mn_xCo_{3-x}O₄ solid solution synthesized by a co-precipitation method could completely oxidize formaldehyde at 75 °C (GHSV of 60,000 h⁻¹; relative humidity of 50%) ascribed to the large amount of surface oxygen available on MnxCo_{3-x}O₄. In addition, they suggested that the oxidation and decomposition of formate and hydrocarbonate species was the rate-limiting step for the catalytic oxidation of HCHO. Following this, the authors from the same group demonstrated that the 3D ordered cubic mesoporous Co-Mn oxide (fabricated by a KIT-6-templating strategy) had a high activity for this reaction as a result

of its large surface area and 3D ordered mesoporous structure.⁶⁶⁷ The preparation method and post-treatment process can influence the oxidation performance of MnCeO_x mixed catalysts.^{668,669} Tang *et al.*⁶⁶⁸ reported that MnO_x-CeO₂ prepared by a modified co-precipitation method (adopting Mn(NO₃)₂· 6H₂O and KMnO₄ as Mn precursor) had a much higher catalytic activity for total formaldehyde oxidation than analogous samples obtained by the sol-gel and co-precipitation methods (with Mn(NO₃)₂· 6H₂O as Mn precursors). This was explained by the modified co-precipitation method leaded to a higher proportion of Mn⁴⁺ species and richer lattice oxygen on the surface of catalyst. Quiroz *et al.*⁶⁶⁹ revealed that treating the MnO_x-CeO₂ catalysts with an aqueous H₂SO₄ solution could promote their catalytic activities when the solubility limit of Mn in CeO₂ was exceeded (*i.e.*, Mn content > 50 wt.%). This was due to the acid treatment oxidizing the Mn species to a higher valence state *via* a Mn dismutation reaction (Fig. 15i). The presence of Mn cations and its ability to improve the activity of spinel ferrites for formaldehyde oxidation was also reported.^{670,671} This Mn substitution increased the lattice oxygen content, which facilitated the reduction of ferrite and enhanced the overall oxidative ability of Fe³⁺ and Mn cations on catalyst surface.

It has been reported that the catalytic performance of various cobalt oxides is influenced by their morphology, cobalt source and preparation conditions.^{655,672-674} Nano-Co₃O₄, 2D-Co₃O₄ and 3D-Co₃O₄ catalysts were prepared by Li and co-workers⁶⁷² and tested in the oxidation of formaldehyde. They revealed that the Co₃O₄ catalyst with a 3D mesostructure possessed the highest activity with 100% of formaldehyde oxidized at 130 °C (WHSV of 30,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹), which was associated with its three-dimensional porous channel structure, larger specific surface area, abundant active surface oxygen species and active Co³⁺ species on the exposed (220) crystal facet. Bai *et al.*⁶⁷³ also found that the use of β-cyclodextrin had a strong impact on the final properties of Co₃O₄/ZrO₂ catalysts produced with different cobalt sources (cobalt nitrate, acetate and acetyl acetonate), both in terms of reducibility and dispersion of active species. The best combination was obtained using cobalt nitrate with a β-cyclodextrin : cobalt ratio of 1 : 10. Fan *et al.*⁶⁷⁴ found that the KHCO₃-precipitated Co₃O₄ was the most active catalyst which was linked to the presence of K⁺ and CO₃²⁻, regenerated hydroxyl groups on the catalyst and favorable Co³⁺/Co²⁺ ratio (Fig. 15ii). Recently, Huang *et al.*⁶⁷⁵ revealed that addition of aqueous alkali (NaOH/KOH) could greatly promote the catalytic acitivity of 3D-NiCo₂O₄ nanosheets (Fig. 16) in

this reaction. This was in related to the abundance of surface OH^- which could directly react with formate species to produce CO_2 and water. Similar results regarding the promotional effect of alkali on Pd- and Pt-based catalysts in this reaction were also proposed in relating studies.⁶⁷⁶⁻⁶⁷⁸

Pt-, Au-, Ag- and Rh-based catalysts were reported for formaldehyde incineration.⁶⁷⁹⁻⁶⁸¹ Pt-based catalysts exhibit extraordinarily high activity in this reaction even at room temperature.^{682,683} However, Ag-based catalysts are less active than that of Pt- or Au-based catalysts, with operating temperatures generally higher than 100 °C.⁶⁸⁴⁻⁶⁸⁷ It was reported that the type and morphology of support, constitution and active phase and dispersion of Pt sites have large effects on the catalytic performance of Pt supported catalysts in this reaction.⁶⁸⁸⁻⁶⁹² The higher catalytic activity of Pt/K-OMS in formaldehyde oxidation than that of Ag/K-OMS was presented by Wang and co-workers.⁶⁹³ Following this, TiO₂ supported noble metal (Au, Rh, Pd and Pt) catalysts were prepared and used for this reaction by Zhang and He,⁶⁵⁸ and they revealed that Pt/TiO₂ had the best activity with 100% formaldehyde coverted at room temperature (GHSV of 50,000 h⁻¹). Various silica supports such as fumed SiO₂, porous granular SiO₂ and SBA-15 were adopted to prepare Pt catalysts. It was found that the fumed SiO₂ supported Pt catalyst (Pt/f-SiO₂) showed the best formaldehyde oxidation activity, due to the presence of a higher ratio of metallic Pt species.⁶⁸⁸

Yu *et al.*⁶⁸⁹ found that the Pt/nest-like MnO₂ had a higher catalytic activity for formaldehyde incineration than that of Pt/cocoon-like MnO₂ and Pt/urchin-like MnO₂. The incorporation of transitional metals (e.g., Mn, Ni and Fe) into Pt-based catalysts has been found to promote their oxidation activities. Shen and co-workers⁶⁸³ suggested that the Pt/MnO_x-CeO₂ catalyst with a Mn : (Mn+Ce) molar ratio of 0.5 exhibited the highest catalytic activity. Chen *et al.*⁶⁹⁰ revealed that MnO₂ had a clear promotional effect on catalytic performance of Pt/TiNT catalysts (TiNT: TiO₂ nanotube arrays), with 95% of formaldehyde conversion over 0.2 wt.% Pt/MnO₂/TiNT being achieved at 30 °C with a WHSV of 30,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹ (Fig. 15iii). Recently, the promotional effect of nickel hydroxide on Pt/ γ -Al₂O₃ in this reaction has also been proposed by researchers from the same group.⁶⁹¹ The promotional effect of Fe on Pt/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalysts was studied by Jia and co-workers.⁶⁹⁴ They found that the sample with an Fe : Pt ratio of 1 : 1 possessed the highest activity in the oxidation of formaldehyde ascribable to more accessible Pt-O-Fe active sites.

Various reducible oxides (CeO₂ and FeO_x) and irreducible oxides (γ-Al₂O₃, SiO₂ and HZSM-5)

were prepared and adopted as the support for Au-based catalysts. The results revealed that the Au/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst had the highest formaldehyde oxidation activity and stability.⁶⁹⁵ CeO₂ and MnO₂ are two types of active supports for noble metal nanoparticles. 3DOM Au/CeO₂ catalysts were synthesized by Zhang *et al.*,⁶⁹⁶ with 100% conversion of formaldehyde being observed at 75 °C (WHSV of 66,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹), much lower than the traditional powdered Au/CeO₂. Following on from this work, the 3DOM Au/CeO₂-Co₃O₄ catalysts were prepared and used for this reaction. The results revealed that the synergistic effect between CeO₂ and Co₃O₄ could greatly accelerate the surface oxygen migration and activate the Au species which enabled a 100% conversion of formaldehyde at 39 °C (WHSV of 15,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹).⁶⁹⁷ The catalytic oxidation of formaldehyde over mesoporous Au/Co₃O₄ and Au/Co₃O₄-CeO₂ was also investigated by Hao and co-workers,⁶⁹⁸ in which they revealed that the 2D Au/Co₃O₄ exhibited the best activity with 52.1% of CO₂ yield for formaldehyde oxidation at 25 °C with a GHSV of 55,000 h⁻¹ (Fig. 15iv).

Bimetallic (Au-Pt and Au-Pd) catalysts have also been reported for formaldehyde low-temperature oxidation.^{699,700} Au-Pt bimetallic supported on nest-like MnO₂ catalysts were synthesized by Yu *et al.*,⁶⁹⁹ and they proposed that the Au_{0.5}Pt_{0.5}/MnO₂ catalyst exhibited the highest catalytic activity for this reaction due to the synergistic effect between Au-Pt nanoparticles.

3.4.5. Acetaldehyde

Acetaldehyde is common place in paints, adhesives and exhaust gases. The prominence of acetaldehyde as a pollutant has been linked with an increase in the incidence of oral cavities, esophagus and pharyngeal cancers as well as the sick building syndrome.^{701,702} Mn oxides have demonstrated good catalytic activities with high sintering resistance which makes them cheap alternatives to noble metal catalysts for the catalytic oxidation of acetaldehyde.⁷⁰³ The structure of Mn oxide (OMS-2) comprises a peculiar sharing of 2×2 [MnO₆] octahedral chains that form one-dimensional tunnel structures with pore size of 0.46 nm × 0.46 nm. This material possesses excellent hydrophobicity and strong affinity for VOCs.⁷⁰⁴ Wang and Li⁶⁰⁹ synthesised OMS-2 catalysts with different precursors and sulfate-acidification. It was found that the acidification resulted in a decrease in activity. An OMS-2 catalyst prepared using MnSO₄ as a precursor

exhibited the best catalytic performance with the Mn-O bond being described as the main determinant of the catalytic activity toward acetaldehyde oxidation.

The adsorption and dissociation of acetaldehyde on oxidized and reduced $CeO_x(100)$ thin films was investigated by Mullins and Albrecht,⁷⁰⁵ who found that acetaldehyde decomposed on oxidized $CeO_2(111)$. The primary products were found to be CO, CO₂ and water as well as trace amounts of crotonaldehyde and acetylene. The reaction pathway on reduced $CeO_{2-x}(100)$ was similar with that of the oxidized $CeO_2(111)$; however, the inability to react with surface O on the reduced surface resulted in H₂ rather than water desorption, and carbon being deposited on the surface rather than evolution of CO and CO₂.

An efficient Pt/CeO₂/ZSM-5 catalyst for acetaldehyde oxidation (T_{100} of 200 °C; GHSV of 1200 h⁻¹) was proposed by Yamashita and co-workers.⁷⁰⁶ Both the synergistic effect of atomization of Pt nanoparticles by addition of a small amount of CeO₂ and the enriched adsorption of organic molecules in ZSM-5 were described as being responsible for its superior activity. Yasuda *et al.*⁷⁰¹ reported that the addition of polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) could enhance the specific surface area and surface Pt²⁺ ratio of Pt/CeO₂-ZrO₂-Bi₂O₃ catalysts synthesized by the wet impregnation method, and that the presence of PVP during synthesis procedure significantly promoted the activity in this reaction.

Nikawa *et al.*⁷⁰⁷ revealed that small Au nanoparticles (< 3 nm) modified TiO₂ caused the rapid and strong adsorption of gaseous acetaldehyde under humid conditions, while the adsorption of acetaldehyde on unmodified TiO₂ was low and weak. The catalytic performances of Pd, Pd-Cu and Pd-Au supported Nb₂O₅ catalysts were investigated by Bozon-Verduraz and co-workers.⁷⁰⁸ The results suggested that the addition of Au or Cu inhibited the catalyst deactivation with the best performance in total oxidation being obtained with Pd-Au/Nb₂O₅. This was ascribed to Au \rightarrow Pd electron donation, which prevented the surface oxidation of Pd particles.

Various metal oxide-supported Ru catalysts (Ru/CeO₂, Ru/SnO₂, Ru/ZrO₂ and Ru/ γ -Al₂O₃) were studied in the total oxidation of acetaldehyde. Ru/CeO₂ showed the highest activity (acetaldehyde completely oxidized at around 210 °C; flow rate of 100 mL·min⁻¹) among these catalysts due to the high dispersion of Ru sites. The catalytic activities of Ru/ZrO₂ and Ru/ γ -Al₂O₃ were enhanced by a reduction treatment due to the formation of ruthenium in the metallic state; however, the formation of intermetallic core-shell species resulted in the

deterioration of catalytic activity of Ru/SnO2.709

3.4.6. Acetone

Acetone is a common organic solvent which has been widely used in many industries such as plastics, drugs, semiconductors, printed circuit boards, electronic teminal products, varnishes and adhesives.^{579,710-712} Acetone can cause environmental hazards and is harmful to human health. For example, inhalation of acetone vapor can irritate the respiratory tract and cause coughing, dizziness, dullness, and headaches. Higher concentrations can lead to depression of the central nervous system operation, narcosis, and unconsciousness.^{713,714} The catalytic oxidation of acetone is therefore an important subject of research, with work generally focussing on transitional metal oxides (e.g., Cu, Mn, V and Ce)-based catalysts.

Martínez-Arias *et al.*³⁴⁶ reported that the performance of Ce-based oxides in oxidation reactions was greatly enhanced by incorporation of CuO into the CeO₂ lattice, and that the activity of CeO₂ supported CuO catalysts in oxidation reactions was even comparable to that of the NMSCs. Synergistic effects between Ce and Cu were also found in our previous work.^{40,449,715} Cu_xCe_{1-x}O_y mixed metal oxides with different Cu contents were prepared and tested for this reaction. The Cu_{0.13}Ce_{0.87}O_v catalyst was found to be the most active; however, the long-term stability of $Cu_{0.13}Ce_{0.87}O_v$ still required improvements due to the formation of bulk CuO.⁷¹⁴ The subsequent work revealed that the calcination temperature had a significant influence on the activity and stability of Cu_{0.13}Ce_{0.87}O_v catalysts. The sample calcined at 700 °C exhibited the best catalytic activity, over which 100% acetone conversion could be reached at around 200 °C (flow rate of 200 mL·min⁻¹). In addition, the catalysts calcined from 400 to 700 °C possessed good stability for this reaction.⁷¹⁶ Following this, CuCeO_x nanofiber catalysts were synthesized by Qin *et al.*⁷¹⁷ using an electrospinning method. The results demonstrated that nanofiber catalysts possessed better acetone oxidation performance than catalysts prepared by the urea-nitrate oxidation and sol-gel methods. A $Cu_{0.50}Ce_{0.50}O_x$ nanofiber catalyst possessed the highest activity primarily due to Ce ions with unusual oxidized states (Ce^{3+}) as well as large specific surface areas and abundant oxygen vacancies in the catalyst. Zheng and co-workers⁷¹⁸ reported that CuO supported on Ce-modified and Zr-pillared montmorillonite catalyst had good activity for acetone incineration, with 100% acetone converted at 230 °C.

The low-temperature catalytic oxidation of acetone over different metal (Cu, Co, Ni, Mn and Fe)-modifed CeO₂ and supported on Al-containing mesoporous silica particles (Al-MSPs) was studied by Lin and Bai.⁷¹⁹ The team found that Ce was the main active species for all catalysts in the complete oxidation of acetone, and Mn acted as an appropriate promoter for improving the activity of Ce/Al-MSPs catalysts. Of the catalysts studied, Mn-Ce/Al-MSPs with a Mn : Ce molar ratio of 2 : 1 was found to be the most active catalyst for achieving maximum acetone conversion at temperatures of 100-200 °C (Fig. 17i). This was linked with the synergistic effect in MnCeO_x mixed oxides, resulting in higher amount of Ce³⁺ and Mn⁴⁺ species, enhanced reducibility of catalyst and improved acetone adsorption ability.⁷¹⁹ Mn-modified hydrophobic TiO₂-SiO₂ mixed oxides were also adopted for this reaction. The catalytic activity of these materials was dependant on the surface area, surface oxygen and hydrophobic property of sample.⁷²⁰ Gil *et al.*⁷²¹ reported that the SmMnO_x mixed oxide had a higher acetone oxidation activity than that of single Mn oxide. Furthermore, the SmMnO_x catalyst calcined at 800 °C possessed the best catalytic activity.

A series of Mn oxides supported on unpillared and Al- and Zr-pillared forms of two natural clays (montmorillonite and saponite) were prepared and applied in this reaction. It was found that the Mn/pillared montmorillonite had better activity than the Mn/pillared saponite. The stability of the catalysts supported on the unpillared clays was higher than that of those supported on the Al- and Zr-pillared clays.⁷²² Fe and Mn mixed oxides pillared clays with varying Mn to Fe ratios were successfully synthesized, and revealed that catalyst with high Mn content (Mn(III) : Fe(III) = 16 : 4) acted as a better catalyst for acetone decomposition.⁷²³

It is well known that transition metal perovskites such as LaMO₃ (M = Mn and Co) are highly efficient oxidation catalysts. Porta and co-workers⁷²⁴ suggested that the LaMnO₃ form had a higher catalytic activity in deep oxidation of acetone than that of LaCoO₃. The LaMnO₃ surface also demonstrated a higher adsorption of VOCs. It was also noted that an increase in oxygen partial pressure was beneficial for this reaction. The higher acetone oxidation activity of perovskite-type oxides (SrMnO₃, FeMnO₃, and La_{0.6}Pb_{0.2}Ca_{0.2}MnO₃) compared to spinel-type materials (CuFe₂O₄, MgFe₂O₄, and Ni_{0.5}Co_{0.5}O₄) was confirmed by Ignat and co-workers (Fig. 17ii).⁷²⁵ Recently, Rezlescu *et al.*⁷¹³ further proved that the partial substitution (20%) of Mn by Ce ions could significantly improve the catalytic activity of SrMnO₃ in this reaction. This effect was ascribed to smaller crystallite sizes, larger specific surface area and the presence of Ce and Mn

cations with variable valences in the perovskite structure.

V₂O₅/TiO₂ catalysts with excellent catalytic performance have been widely studied in oxidative processes such as VOC oxidation and photocatalysis.^{726,727} The redox properties of V₂O₅/TiO₂ catalysts can be tuned by modification of the electronic interaction between TiO₂ and VO_x species.^{728,729} TiO₂ nanofiber supported V₂O₅ catalysts with hierarchical structures were fabricated by combining electrospinning and hydrothermal growth methods.⁷³⁰ The results demonstrated that a 5 wt.% V₂O₅/TiO₂ nanofiber catalyst illustrated the highest acetone oxidation activity ($T_{90} = 300$ °C; GHSV of 360,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹) (Fig. 17iii).

The catalytic performance of mesoporous silica supported metal oxide catalysts was studied by Wang and Bai⁷³¹ in total decomposition of acetone. The studies revealed that a supported Ce catalyst had a higher activity than that of Mn, Cu, Fe, or Al supported ones. Spherical mesoporous silica particles (MSPs) possess various advantages over mesoporous materials manufactured *via* batch processes such as a higher rate of production, higher packing density and a lower pressure drop during operation.⁷³¹ A series of bimetallic Ce/Al catalysts supported on mesoporous silica were investigated by Lin and Bai.⁷³² The authors proposed that the catalytic oxidation of acetone was mainly governed by the surface redox properties and acidity of the catalyst. A spherical Ce/Al-SiO₂ sample prepared with an aerosol-spraying temperature of 300 °C had a high surface acidity and strong reducibility and also appeared to be one of the best catalyst for this reaction.

3.4.7. Methyl ethyl ketone

Methyl ethyl ketone (MEK) is a widely used chemical due to its outstanding solvent properties and low cost. It is used as a solvent in synthetic resins, adhesive manufacturing, textile dyeing and printing, and electronic equipment manufacturing. Furthermore, MEK is a dewaxing agent in the refining of lubricant oils and a denaturing agent for alcohols.⁷³³ The emission of MEK to atmosphere can lead to human health concerns and wider environmental problems.

The complete oxidation of MEK over various transition metal (Mn, Co, Cr, Fe and Ni)-doped ZrO_2 (cubic) catalysts were reported by Pataskar and co-workers.⁷³⁴ The results demonstrated that the Cr/ZrO₂ catalyst had the highest activity for MEK oxidation, whereas the Ni/ZrO₂ exhibited the lowest activity. A series of LaBO₃ (B = Cr, Co, Ni and Mn) and La_{0.9}K_{0.1}MnO_{3+δ} perovskites were prepared and tested in this reaction. The catalytic activity is sequenced as: LaMnO₃>

LaCoO₃ \approx LaNiO₃> LaCrO₃ for 100% MEK conversion. Doping with K promoted the catalytic activity of LnMnO₃ perovskite due to the increase in surface area and proportion of Mn⁴⁺ on the surface as well as the formation of non-stoichiometric oxygen. MEK, when oxidized to CO₂, goes through acetaldehyde and small amounts of methyl vinyl ketone and diacetylas intermediate products.⁷³⁵ The performance of Mn₂O₃ and Mn₃O₄ in this reaction (alkali and acid ions were added to the solids) has been investigated by Gil and co-workers.⁷³⁶ The addition of Na and Cs resulted in a considerable improvement of the performance, while sulfate had a negative effect.

Picasso *et al.*⁷³⁷ proposed that flow-through catalytic membranes based on Fe₂O₃, prepared by the precipitation method, showed a higher efficiency in this reaction than their bulk catalyst counterparts, with total oxidation of MEK at around 255 °C. Similar results were also reported in their previous work regarding the catalytic oxidation of MEK over Pt/Al₂O₃ membrane catalysts.⁷³⁸ Recently, Jian *et al.*⁷³⁹ proposed that the MnO_x nanowires with highly exposed {101} facets of Mn₃O₄ had a higher MEK destruction activity than that of MnO_x nanocubes, nanorods and nanospheres respectively exposing {321} facets of Mn₂O₃, {110} facets of MnO₂, and {101} and {112} facets of Mn₃O₄. The authors argued that high affinity of MEK molecule on MnO_x {101} facets greatly promoted the oxidation process (Fig. 18).

Hierarchically micro-mesostructured Pt/K-Al-SiO₂ catalysts with regular nanorod (Pt/KA-NRS) and spherical nanoflower-like (Pt/KA-SNFS) morphologies were prepared and adopted in MEK oxidation in our previous work.⁷⁴⁰ We found that Pt/KA-NRS catalysts exhibited exceptional low temperature activity, CO₂ selectivity and stability for MEK oxidation. This was related to their regular morphology, high Pt⁰ content and dispersion, excellent MEK adsorption capacity and superior O₂/CO₂ desorption capability at flow temperatures. Our subsequent work proved that the incorporation of Mn cations could remarkably promote the activity of Pt/SiO₂ catalysts.⁷⁴¹ The presence of a Pt-O-Mn moiety weakened the Mn-O bonding interactions, which ultimately promoted the mobility of lattice oxygen in Mn₂O₃. Whilst, the Mn⁴⁺/Mn³⁺ redox cycle in Mn₂O₃ allowed for the donation of electrons to the Pt nanoparticles, enhancing the proportion of Pt⁰/Pt²⁺ and in turn increasing the activity and stability of catalysts.

3.4.8. Ethyl acetate

Ethyl acetate (EA) is one of the most widely used, ascendant, and stable fatty acid esters used
as an organic raw material and solvent for coatings and plastics. EA can cause severe environmental pollution and harm to the health of human beings. Catalytic oxidation can eliminate EA from the air in high efficiency and low energy consumption.^{742,743} Many catalyst systems such as Mn-, Cu-, Cr-, Co-, Pt-, Ru- and Au-based catalysts have been developed to target a more efficient elimination of EA (Table 4).

Catalyst	Reactant composition	C	T_{90}	Ref.
Catalyst		Space velocity/Flow rate	(°C)	
ACMn1.0 ^a	1000 ppm EA, Air balance	280 mL·min ⁻¹	218	134
$Mn_{0.5}Ce_{0.5}O_x$	1800 ppm EA, Air balance	50 mL·min ⁻¹	< 230	413
Mn/SBA-15 ^b	315 ppm EA, Air balance	500 mL·min ⁻¹	< 250	744
8.3%Mn/SBA-15°	560 ppm EA, Air balance	500 mL·min ⁻¹	265	745
Hollandite manganese	200 ppm EA, Air balance	200 mL·min ⁻¹	< 210	746
$Cu_{10}\!/Al_2O_3\text{-}M^d$	1802 mg·m ⁻³ EA, Air balance	5,000 h ⁻¹	250	748
CuCe _{0.75} Zr _{0.25} /ZSM-5	1000 ppm EA, Air balance	24,000 h ⁻¹	248	751
Cu/Co-charcoal	600 ppm EA, Air balance	18,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	< 210	753
meso-Cr-240 ^e	1000 ppm EA, Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	190	754
20%Co/activated carbon	0.88% EA, Air balance	66,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	210	757
15%Co-La/CeO ₂	1000 ppm EA, Air balance	500 mL·min ⁻¹	244	758
$La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO_{2.78}$	1000 ppm EA, Air balance	20,000 h ⁻¹	170	743
Ce ₁ Cu ₂ -EM ^f	466.7 ppm EA, Air balance	53,050 h ⁻¹	194	759
Ce _{0.5} Co _{0.5}	1000 ppm EA, 25% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	60,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	195	760
1%Ru/CeO ₂	0.1% EA, Air balance	10,000 mL·g ⁻¹ ·h ⁻¹	< 200	764

Table 4 Summary of some active catalysts for ethyl acetate (EA) oxidation.

^a Catalyst synthesized by the auto-combution (AC) method and with Mn^{2+} : Mg^{2+} ratio of 1.0; ^b Catalyst with KMnO₄ as the Mn precursor (Mn : Si = 0.21); ^c SBA-15 was impregnated by KMnO₄ for three times; ^d With glass fiber corrugated honeycomb monolith (M) as the support; ^e Precursor heated at 240 °C; ^f Prepared by the evaporation method (EM).

The effect of Mn precursors in the synthesis MnO_x -SBA-15 catalysts for the deep oxidation of EA was reported by Montes and co-workers.⁷⁴⁴ They found that the Mn oxide phase obtained

heavily depended on the precursor used. Nitrate precursors mainly produced pyrolusite whereas acetate produced non-crystalline oxide phase with low oxidation state; permanganate produced a mixture of cryptomelane and birnessite. The activity of the catalysts depended on the crystalline phase, with the most active catalysts being those with Mn^{4+}/Mn^{3+} pairs (Fig. 19i). Following this work, the SBA-15-supported Mn catalysts with various metal loadings were prepared by the same group *via* a multi-step impregnation method. The results revealed that the remaining P123 and the presence of K⁺ in Mn precursors were responsible for the reduction of permanganate to a mixture of Mn⁴⁺ and Mn³⁺ and formed cryptomelane-like phases. EA oxidation activity was again found to be directly proportional to the Mn average oxidation state and basic nature of K was shown to promote the catalytic activity.⁷⁴⁵

Mixed metal oxides have also developed for total oxidation of EA.^{134,341,413} MnO_x-CeO₂ catalysts prepared by a urea oxidation method were reported by Delimaris and Loannides.⁴¹³ It was stated that the larger surface area of MnO_x-CeO₂ catalysts offset their lower specific activity allowing complete conversion of the VOC at lower temperatures compared to the single oxides. Recently, Chen *et al.*⁷⁴⁶ proposed that a hollandite Mn oxide (HMO) catalyst could efficiently control both typical particulate matter (PM) and VOC (EA and ethanol) emissions from biomass combustion. They revealed that typical alkali-rich PMs such as KCl particles were disintegrated and the K⁺ ions were trapped in the HMO "single-walled" tunnels. The K⁺-trapping HMO increased the electron density of the lattice oxygen (Fig. 19ii) and the redox ability, thus promoting the oxidation of soot, PMs and typical VOCs.

Supported Cu materials are some of the highest activity catalysts for EA oxidation. Silica supported Cu catalysts were extensively reported in the literature.⁷⁴⁷⁻⁷⁵² Tsoncheva *et al.*⁷⁴⁷ proposed that Cu and Ce bi-component supported on 3D-structured KIT-6 provided better catalytic activity than that of SBA-15-supported ones as finely dispersed CuO nanoparticles were prone to form over KIT-6 support. The effects of a mesoporous silica support on this reaction over Cu-Cr/Silica catalysts were also studied in the same group. It was suggested that the CuCrO₄ species were predominantly formed over SBA-15, leading to a high selectivity to the partial oxidation of EA. Alternatively, the formation of CuCr₂O₄ species is typical for SiO₂ (Cab-o-sil M5) based materials, which contributes to a higher selectivity to CO₂ in EA oxidation.⁷⁵⁰ CuCe_xZr_{1-x}O_y/ZSM-5 (x = 0, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and 1.0) catalysts were recently prepared by Dou and

co-workers.⁷⁵¹ The results suggested that the CuCe_{0.75}Zr_{0.25}O_y/ZSM-5 catalyst had the best performance due to its excellent reducibility, offering complete conversion of EA into CO₂ at a temperature of 270 °C with a GHSV of 24,000 h⁻¹ (Fig. 20i). More recently, Liao *et al.*⁷⁵³ indicated that the Cu-Co/charcoal catalysts possessed very high acivity with EA being completely oxidized at just 212 °C (flow rate of 30 mL·min⁻¹).

Xia *et al.*⁷⁵⁴ synthesized mesoporous Cr₂O₃ with ordered 3D hexagonal polycrystalline structures at different temperatures with KIT-6 as the hard template. The reslts revealed that the catalyst obtained at 240 °C had the best activity, with EA being totally oxidized at around 260 °C at a GHSV of 20,000 h⁻¹. Rotter *et al.*⁷⁵⁵ found that the chromia aerogel (α -CrOOH) with a high specific surface area (630 m²·g⁻¹) was a powerful catalyst for EA oxidation.

Various supported Co catalysts were developed and studied in the deep oxidation of EA. Cobalt oxide modified SBA-15, KIT-5 and KIT-6 mesoporous silicas were synthesized by Linden and co-workers.⁷⁵⁶ It was found that supports with larger mesopores facilitated the formation of spinel-type Co₃O₄, which was highly active in this reaction. AC has been used as a support to provide favorable conditions for the formation of well-dispersed active species. Xie *et al.*⁷⁵⁷ found that preparation of a Co/AC catalyst in an air atmosphere promoted the formation of reactive oxygen species, leading to a high EA oxidation ability compared with the sample synthesized in nitrogen atmosphere. Gómez *et al.*⁷⁵⁸ and Hernández-Garrido *et al.*⁵⁵¹ reported that Co/La-CeO₂ was very active in the oxidation of EA, even more than the Pt/La-CeO₂ catalyst.

CuCeO_x, NiCeO_x and CoCeO_x mixed oxides were studied for this reaction by Figueiredo and co-workers.⁷⁵⁹ Ir was found that the CoCeO_x oxide catalyst had the highest oxidation activity with EA being totally oxidized at 225 °C with a GHSV of 53,050 h⁻¹. It was suggested that the catalytic activity was related to the surface area, amount of Ce contained in the samples, calcination temperature and reducibility of the catalysts (Fig. 20ii). Recently, a series of CeO₂-CoO_x catalysts with various Ce to Co ratios have been investigated for this reaction, in which Ce_{0.5}Co_{0.5}O_x catalysts could achieve 100% conversion of EA at 200 °C. This was associated with the enriched lattice oxygen.⁷⁶⁰

Catalytic oxidation of EA over noble metal (Pt, Ru and Au) supported catalysts were also reported in several works.^{516,709,761-764} In general, supported Ru catalysts show higher acitivity in this reaction compared with Pt- and Au-based catalysts. Catalytic oxidation of EA over Ru/CeO₂,

Pt/CeO₂, and Pd/CeO₂ was studied by Eguchi and co-workers,⁷⁶⁴ and revealed that the Ru/CeO₂ showed the best catalytic activity with 90% of EA converted at 180 °C (flow rate of 100 cm³·min⁻¹), followed by Pt/CeO₂ and Pd/CeO₂ (Fig. 20iii). The low temperature reducibility of precious metal speciesis most likely the reason for the high activity observed. A series of 1.0 wt.% Au supported catalysts (Au/CuO, Au/Fe₂O₃, Au/La₂O₃, Au/MgO, Au/NiO, and Au/Y₂O₃) were prepared and investigated in EA incineration.⁵¹⁶ The Au/CuO catalyst was found to have the highest activity ($T_{90} = 272$ °C; flow rate of 500 cm³·min⁻¹) and the authors profposed that this activity was related to the reducibility of support and the Au nanoparticle size.

3.5. Chlorinated VOCs

Chlorinated VOCs (CVOCs, such as dichloromethane, 1,2-dichloroethane, trichloromethane, tetrachloroethane, tetrachloroethane, vinyl chloride, dichloroethylene, trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene, chlorobenzene and dichlorobenzene) are hazardous compounds due to their strong bioaccumulation potential, acute toxicity and resistance to degradation.^{765,766} These highly volatile compounds often have long atmospheric lifetimes and have widespread applications in formulations and processing of paints, adhesives, drugs manufacturing and as solvents in chemical reactions.³³ Halogenated VOCs have a significant impact in the depletion of the ozone layer and as a source of radicals in the atmosphere which in turn contribute to the greenhouse gas effects. The 100-year global warming potential (GWP) of halogenated VOCs range from 10 to 1800, which is far higher than that of CO₂ with a GWP of only one.⁷⁶⁷

3.5.1. Dichloromethane

Dichloromethane (DCM) is one representative of CVOCs used widely as a solvent which is a vesicant and harmful to the respiratory and central nervous systems of humans.^{768,769} DCM is also the most stable chlorinated-alkane and very difficult to be decomposed naturally in the environment. The environmentally friendly decomposition of DCM at low temperatures is a hot topic and studied by many researcher groups.⁷⁷⁰⁻⁷⁷⁶ V-, Cr-, Ce- and Pt-based catalysts as well as various zeolites such as HFAU, HY, HMOR and HZSM-5 were investigated in the deep decomposition of DCM.

V-containing catalysts have commonly been shown to possess good stability in Cl_2 -HCl atmosphere. V_x-SBA-15 materials have been prepared by a direct synthesis approach, and this

method is favored for the incorporation of V into the silica walls with formation of isolated sites.⁷⁷⁷ It was found that V was present mainly as isolated sites with tetrahedral coordination, and these isolated V sites were catalytically active towards DCM conversion.⁷⁷⁸ V-Ni mixed oxides supported on anatase TiO₂ were synthesized by Huang and co-workers.⁷⁷⁹ It was revealed that the activity of V-Ni/TiO₂ was superior to that of V/TiO₂ and Ni/TiO₂ in DCM oxidation (Fig. 21i). DCM could be completely converted into CO₂, HCl, and a small amount of CO over the V-Ni/TiO₂ catalyst at 350 °C (WHSV of 15,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹) without the formation of other toxic by-products. The high catalytic activity, selectivity and stability of the V-Ni/TiO₂ catalyst could be owing to the oxidative dehydrogenation (ODH) ability, enhanced reducibility of active oxygen species and suitable strength of Lewis acidic sites (LAS) upon introduction of nickel oxide.

Cr-containing oxides are very effective for CVOC oxidation. Kang and Lee⁷⁸⁰ found that CrO_x supported on AC was effective in the deep oxidation of DCM due to the presence of highly dispersed Cr⁶⁺ species on catalyst surface. CrO_x/Al₂O₃ catalysts were also testied in DCM oxidation. The best catalyst (18 wt.% Cr) could completely oxidize DCM at 350 °C (GHSV of 20,000 h^{-1}) due to the presence of a large amount of Cr in a high oxidation state.⁷⁸¹ Wu and co-workers⁷⁸² reported that the Cr/HZSM-5 catalyst possessed a higher stability than that of Cu/HZSM-5 and Fe/HZSM-5 in this reaction (Fig. 21ii). The mechanism of deactivation for Fe/HZSM-5 was found to be coking due to its lower ability to oxidise intermediate products, while the formation of stable Cu(OH)Cl species was the primary reason for the deactivation of Cu/HZSM-5. Structured metal oxides with active species confined in a robust matrix can overcome the disadvantages of the supported metal catalysts in the oxidation of CVOCs.^{783,784} A series of spinel type CoCr₂O₄ catalysts calcined at different temperatures were prepared and tested in this reaction. The results demonstrated that the catalyst calcined at 400 °C had the best performance with 90% of DCM oxidized at 257 °C with a GHSV of 15,000 h⁻¹ (Fig. 21iii). It was proposed that the high activity of this catalyst was mainly linked with the large surface area which provided more surface acidic sites and active oxygen species.⁷⁸⁵

Ce/TiO₂ catalysts were prepared and used for DCM incineration by Wu and co-workers.⁷⁸⁶ The authors revealed that pure TiO₂ oxide tended to deactivate due to the strong adsorption and accumulation of Cl species over the surface. However, surface Cl could be rapidly removed by

CeO₂, which leaded to a reduced poisoning effect of Cl on Ce/TiO₂ and an enhanced activity and stability in this reaction. Subsequent work found that the preparation method also had a significant influence on the catalytic performance of Ce/TiO₂, resulting in differences in exposure of TiO₂ and CeO₂ at the catalyst surface and varying interaction between TiO₂ and CeO₂. They proposed that the solid mixing method exhibited the best catalytic activity ($T_{97} = 335$ °C; GHSV of 30,000 h⁻¹) and anti-chlorine capability compared with the samples synthesized by impregnation and hydrothermal methods.⁷⁸⁷ Recently, a two-stage Ce/TiO₂-Cu/CeO₂ catalyst with separated catalytic functions was designed by Wu and co-workers.⁷⁸⁸ The results demonstrated that 97% of DCM could be converted at 330 °C (GHSV of 30,000 h⁻¹) with fewer undesired CO, Cl₂, and C_xH_yCl_z by-products. Furthermore, the conversion and CO₂ yield were well maintained even in the presence of water.

Results obtained in Lu's group⁷⁸⁹ indicated that catalytic behavior in the oxidation of DCM could be influenced by surface acidity and redox properties of catalysts. The addition of Pt enhanced the activity of CeO₂-Al₂O₃ due to the promotion of surface acidity (by introduction of chlorine species using H₂PtCl₆ as the precursor) and reducibility of the catalyst most likely via the formation of Ce-Pt-O solid solution (Fig. 21iv). Similar results were also suggested by Keiski and co-workers.⁷⁹⁰ Further work in Lu's group⁷⁹¹ found that the addition of K greatly promoted the activity of Pt/Al_2O_3 in this reaction (Fig. 21v) which was attributed to the presence of $Pt-O-K_x$ species. These species could significantly accelerate the decomposition of formate intermediates formed on the Al₂O₃ surface and thus promote the overall reaction. Pitkäaho et al.⁷⁹² reported that Pt-catalysts showed the best performance in this reaction, followed by PtPd- and Pd-catalysts. Moreover, the incorporation of V_2O_5 can improve the catalytic performance of Pt/Al-catalysts, which has a positive effect on DCM oxidation selectivity to HCl. Magnoux and co-workers⁷⁹³ suggested that the Pt dispersion over Pt/Al₂O₃ had no apparent effects on DCM oxidation rates. Al_2O_3 was found to be highly active and play an important role in catalytic oxidation by enabling the transformation of DCM into CO, CH₃Cl, and HCl. Catalytic oxidation of DCM over Pt/HFAU catalysts was also studied in the same group,⁷⁹⁴ and they revealed that DCM transformation was independent of Pt particle size and Pt content. DCM was firstly hydrolysed into HCl and formaldehyde on the BAS over HFAU, after which formaldehyde was oxidized into CO₂ and water on the Pt sites.

Zeolite molecular sieves were widely used as catalysts and catalyst supports in the catalytic oxidation of CVOCs due to their well defined pore structure, superior thermal stability and ion exchange characteristics.^{795,796} López-Fonseca et al.⁷⁹⁷ reported that the dealumination process created strong acid sites over zeolites, leading to a higher catalytic activity for DCM oxidation. Further work revealed that the H-MOR, H-ZSM-5 and H-Y protonic zeolites exhibited excellent activity for this reaction (H-MOR > H-ZSM-5 > H-Y) and promising selectivity towards the formation of HCl. As mentioned earlier, the BAS are believed to be effective for DCM adsorption.⁷⁹⁸ Pinard et al.⁷⁹⁹ reported that the catalytic oxidation of DCM over Na zeolite involves four successive steps: (1) the reaction of DCM with the ONa groups leading to the formation of chloromethoxy species and liberation of NaCl; (2) the hydrolysis of chloromethoxy species into hydroxymethoxy species with liberation of HCl; (3) the desorption of formaldehyde leading to the formation of hydroxyl groups, and the oxidation of formaldehyde to CO, CO₂, and water; (4) the recovery of the ONa groups by reaction of NaCl, produced in dechlorination step, with the hydroxyl groups. Catalytic oxidation of DCM over NaFAU and HFAU was further studied by Zhang et al.⁸⁰⁰ in their recent work where NaFAU was found to be more active than HFAU as it facilitated the adsorption and dechlorination steps. The dechlorination of DCM was predicted to be the rate-determining step.

3.5.2. 1,2-dichloroethane

1,2-dichloroethane (1,2-DCE) is one of the most important chlorinated VOCs emitted in industrial flue gases,⁸⁰¹⁻⁸⁰³ since it is used as an intermediate in the production of polyvinyl chloride. Additional uses are as a solvent in metal degreasing and paint removers, a starting material for paint, and a dispersant for plastics and elastomers.^{804,805} NMSC materials were seldom used in the deep oxidation of 1,2-DCE, and most of reported works were focused on Co-and Ce-based catalysts as well as zeolites (Table 5).

Table 5 List of some reported catalysts for 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE) low-temperature oxidation.

Catalyst	Reactant composition	Space velocity/Flow rate	<i>T</i> ₉₀ (°C)	Ref.
Co ₃ O ₄ nanocube	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	30,000 h ⁻¹	340	809
CeO ₂ nanorod	1500 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	< 230	821
10%CeZ/IM-E ^a	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	245	805

$5\% VO_x/CeO_2$	450 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	$15,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	225	823
4.4%Fe-CeO ₂ -ST ^b	500 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	$15,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	237	820
45%CeO2/HZSM-5	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	$30,000 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$	< 275	824
CeO ₂ /USY ^c	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	10,000 h ⁻¹	< 260	825
CeO ₂ -USY-IM ^d	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	245	826
CeO ₂ -USY ^c	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	75 mL·min ⁻¹	245	827
(Ce,Co) _x O ₂ /HZSM-5	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	9,000 h ⁻¹	230	837
CeO ₂ -TiO ₂ ^e	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	275	829
(Ce,Co) _x O ₂ /Nb ₂ O ₅	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	9,000 h ⁻¹	270	830
$Ce_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O_x$	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	30,000 h ⁻¹	< 260	833
CeO ₂ -ZrO ₂ -CrO _x	1000 ppm 1,2-DCE, Air balance	15,000 h ⁻¹	262	836
0.5%Pt/CrOOH	0.5% 1,2-DCE, Air balance	46,000 h ⁻¹	317	802

^a ZSM-5 support impregnated with excess of precursor-ethnol solvent (Z/IM-E); ^b Synthesized by solvothermal method; ^c Mass ratio of CeO₂ : USY was 1 : 8; ^d Prepared by the impregnation method; ^e Ce : Ti molar ratio of 14.

 Co_3O_4 with a spinel structure has been shown to be one of the most efficient catalysts in total oxidation of VOCs.⁸⁰⁶⁻⁸⁰⁸ Co oxides with different nanostructures (nanocube, nanosheets and nanorods) were prepared and adopted in the oxidation of 1,2-DCE. It was found that the nanocube-shaped Co_3O_4 had the best activity, achieving total oxidation of 1,2-DCE towards CO_2 , HCl, and Cl₂ at 400 °C (GHSV of 30,000 h⁻¹) without any other by-product formation.⁸⁰⁹

For the supported Co₃O₄ catalysts, the activity depends mainly on the nature of the support and the metal oxide-support interactions.⁸¹⁰ De Rivas *et al.*⁸¹¹ synthesized a series of Co₃O₄ catalysts using varuous routes, and found that catalyst prepared by the precipitation method, with a particle size of 10 nm, gave the highest activity. This was found to be higher than that of the supported noble-metal catalysts for 1,2-DCE oxidation.⁸¹¹ Co/SBA-15 catalysts prepared by the wet impregnation method were recently reported by de Rivas and co-workers.⁸¹² The results revealed that the incorporation of cobalt leaded to the formation of BAS and LAS, and the pores of SBA-15 prevented the excessive growth of cobalt oxide crystals at high temperatures, thus improving their redox property. The simultaneous participation of the acid and redox sites

markedly accelerated the 1,2-DCE oxidation process.

Hydroxyapatite (Ca₁₀(PO₄)₆(OH)₂, HAP) has been intensively investigated as a porous support as the presence of phosphate groups can stabilise the structure of active sites and allow the tuning of acid-base properties by varying the calcium : phosphorus ratio.⁸¹³⁻⁸¹⁵ Moreover, the ability of hydroxyapatite to undergo cation and anion exchanges, due to the presence of two types of zeolite-like channels, allows modifications in its chemical properties without damaging its typical hexagonal structure.⁸¹⁶ These characteristics offer hydroxyapatite catalysts as a new generation of materials with synergistic metal-support interactions which can improve their catalytic activity.^{817,818} Co supported calcium-deficient hydroxyapatite (Ca : P = 1.5) catalysts were studied in the deep oxidation of 1,2-DCE.⁸¹⁹ It was indicated that the Co-rich catalysts contained easily reducible Co³⁺ and Co²⁺ and had a high stability and excellent CO₂ selectivity, while activity of pure HAP support suffered a significant decay with time due to chlorination (Fig. 22i).

Fe doped CeO₂ nanosheets with 2D nano-structure were synthesized by Wang *et al.*⁸²⁰ with three different methods (hydrothermal (HT), cold co-precipitation (CP) and solvothermal (ST)) and used in the deep oxidation of 1,2-DCE. The results demonstrated that the 5 wt.% Fe-CeO₂-ST exhibited a better catalytic activity and lower selectivity to polychlorohydrocarbon by-products due to its large concentration of oxygen vacancies and active surface oxygen. The authors proposed that the stability and selectivity of Fe-CeO₂-ST could be further improved *via* the loading of VO_x or RuO₂.⁸²⁰

Supported CeO₂ catalysts and CeO₂-based oxides were extensively studied and showed promising results in the oxidation of CVOCs due to their remarkable redox properties, thermal stability, and resistance to Cl-poisoning.⁸²¹⁻⁸²³ Microporous zeolites such as ZSM-5 and USY were usually adopted as the supports for CeO₂ in the oxidation of 1,2-DCE. Gutiérrez-Ortiz and co-workers⁸⁰⁵ found that the activity of CeO₂/H-ZSM-5 catalysts in this reaction was greatly influenced by the synthesis route, and they proposed that catalytic behaviour of CeO₂/H-ZSM-5 could be explained on the basis of the synergistic effects of oxygen mobility and acid sites. The catalyst synthesized *via* impregnation in ethanol possessed the highest activity due to this procedure leading to a highly dispersed CeO₂ with a larger amount of oxygen vacancies. Recently, Dai *et al.*⁸²⁴ synthesized a sandwich-structured CeO₂@HZSM-5 core-shell hybrid catalyst, which inhibited the formation of poly-chlorinated hydrocarbon by-products during 1,2-DCE oxidation.

This ability arose due to the presence of CeO₂ with a high activity for the Deacon reaction which was not directly exposed to 1,2-DCE or HCl molecules. Various Y zeolite (USY, HY and SSY) supported CeO₂ catalysts were studied in this reaction in which the CeO₂/USY catalyst exhibited the best activity with 98% conversion at 270 °C (GHSV of 10,000 h^{-1}).⁸²⁵ The high stability of CeO₂/USY catalyst was confirmed by Zhou and co-workers.⁸²⁶ It was also demonstrated that the supported catalyst with a CeO₂ : USY ratio of 1 : 8 possessed the best catalytic activity which was ascribed to a high dispersion of CeO₂ species and a more favourable combination of acidity and redox properties.⁸²⁷

The application of CeO₂-based mixed oxides in the catalytic oxidation of 1,2-DCE was also reported in the literature.⁸²⁸⁻⁸³⁰ Ce-Zr mixed oxides appearas attractive candidates in the oxidation of CVOCs due to the favourable combination of acid and redox properties.⁸³¹ Furthermore, Ce-Zr mixed oxides are also highly resistant to thermal aging and induced chlorine poisoning.^{822,832} Rivas *et al.*⁸³³ examined this reaction over Ce-Zr mixed oxides after treating them with H₂SO₄ or HNO₃ (1M). A significant increase in the activity was observed with sulphated oxides ascribed to the increase in total acidity and concentration of active sites with a moderate/strong acid strength. In contrast, no activity variation could be observed for the samples modified with nitric acid. Ce-Cr mixed oxides and CeCr supported catalysts were also reported in the literature in this reaction.^{834,835} Yang *et al.*⁸³⁶ proposed that the addition of ZrO₂ improved the catalytic activity and stability of CeO₂-CrO_x. It was revealed that the catalytic performance of Ce-Cr mixed oxides could be further improved by loading CeO₂ and CrO_x over suitable supports such as HZSM-5 and Nb₂O₅.^{830,837} For example, researchers synthesized different Ce-Cr/zeolite (HZSM-5, H-BETA, USY and H-MOR) catalysts and found that the Ce-Cr/HZSM-5 had the highest activity which converted 90% of 1,2-DCE at 230 °C with a flow rate of 75 mL·min⁻¹ (Fig. 22ii).⁸³⁷

3.5.3. Vinyl chloride

Large amounts of vinyl chloride (VC) is released in industrial processes such as raw material production, synthetic resin, textile dyeing and printing, leather manufacturing and reprocessing of polyvinyl chloride.⁸³⁸ For instance, high concentrations of VC (up to 1-2%) are released from the production process of polyvinyl chloride, which leads to environmental damage and detrimental effects on human health.⁸³⁹

Supported Ru catalysts were considered for the total oxidation of VC because of their high resistance to chlorine species (adsorbed Cl can be removed *via* the Deacon reaction on RuO₂) and excellent activity in oxidation and reduction reactions. An example of this is the industrial oxidation of hydrogen chloride to chlorine.^{840,841} Wang *et al.*⁸⁴² reported that Ru-modified Co₃O₄ had improved catalytic activity and HCl selectivity in VC oxidation compared with bulk Co₃O₄ and Ru/SiO₂. The Ru supported Co₃O₄ catalyst demonstrated higher activity than that of Ru doped Co₃O₄ material due to the high reducibility of Co oxides, along with interaction between Ru species on the surface and Co₃O₄ phase.

The effect of B-site substitution by Co, Ni and Fe on catalytic performances of LaMnO₃ oxides was studied by Giroir-Fendler and co-workers.⁸⁴³ They revealed that all the substituted samples showed a higher catalytic activity than the pure LaMnO₃, with the Ni-substituted sample displaying the best catalytic performance with 90% of VC converted at 210 °C (GHSV of 15,000 h⁻¹). The effect of A-site substitution (by Sr, Mg and Ce) on the catalytic performance of LaMnO₃ in VC oxidation was further investigated by the same authors,⁸⁴⁴ who found that the partial substitution of La by cerium and magnesium had positive effects on their catalytic performances, whereas strontium substitution negatively impacted the performance. The Ce-doped perovskite catalyst demonstrated the highest catalytic performance due to the higher specific surface area and its low-temperature reducibility.

3.5.4. Trichloroethylene

Trichloroethylene (TCE) is a common chlorinated VOC which is present in adhesives, paints, and coatings.^{845,846} TCE is a pollutant that has been classified likely carcinogenic to humans by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC).⁸⁴⁷ TCE is also one of the responsible components for the depletion of stratosphere as well as being one of the components of the photochemical smog.^{848,849} In addition, TCE is one of the major contaminants of aquifers, largely due to its high density (> 1.0 g·m⁻³) that causes the stratification at the bottom of groundwater.⁸⁵⁰ The catalytic deep oxidation of TCE has been comprehensively studied over a plethora of materials, such as transition metal (Mn, Fe, Cr, Ce and Cu) supported catalysts,^{451,771,851-856} perovskite-type oxides,^{857,858} hydrotalcite derivedoxides,⁸⁵⁹ Pt-, Pd, and Ru-based catalysts^{860,861} and zeolites.^{202,795,862,863}

Divakar *et al.*⁸⁵¹ stated that the incorporation of Fe could improve TCE oxidation activity of zeolites (HZSM-5 and H-Beta), with the synthesis procedure influencing the activity of the resultant Fe-zeolite catalyst. In their recent work, the influence of preparation method on Fe species and catalytic activity of Fe-ZSM-5 in TCE oxidation were investigated.⁸⁶⁴ It was found that extra framework Fe nanoparticles present in ZSM-5 were primarily responsible for oxidation rather than the acidic sites. The sample prepared by an ion exchange method had higher catalytic activity than samples prepared *via* an impregnation or solid state ion exchange method. The deactivation of Fe-ZSM-5 catalysts was found to be due to the formation of FeCl₃ rather than coke deposition.

Cr oxide and Cr supported catalysts were studied in the deep oxidation of TCE.⁸⁵³ Miranda *et al.*⁸⁶⁵ stated that the activity of bulk Cr oxide was higher than that of Mn/ γ -Al₂O₃. Moreover, the presence of water increased the stability of Cr oxide due to the Deacon equilibrium, whereas the Mn catalyst showed the opposite behavior. Meyer *et al.*⁷⁹⁶ reported that the Cr exchanged USY zeolite (Cr-Y) had higher activity than samples of Co-Y, Mn-Y and Fe-Y in TCE oxidation which was attributed to the higher acidity of Cr-Y. A strong synergistic effect of Cr₂O₃-CeO₂ and USY was also explored by Zhou and co-workers.⁸⁶⁶ They discovered that the interaction between Cr₂O₃ and CeO₂ species led to an optimum ratio of strong to weak acid sites, and also improved the mobility of oxygen species over Cr₂O₃-CeO₂-USY catalysts. This was found to be beneficial to the dehydrochlorination and deeper oxidation of CVOCs. Lee and Yoon⁸⁶⁷ revealed that the presence of a small amount of Ru could enhance the overall catalytic performance (acitivity, CO₂ selectivity and stability) of CrO_x/Al₂O₃ catalyst as highly dispersed Ru oxides rendered less active Cr³⁺ to more active Cr⁶⁺.

Dai *et al.*⁸⁵⁴ found that bulk CeO₂ had high activity for TCE oxidation which could be ascribed to its surface basicity, high mobility of oxygen and oxygen-supplying ability. However, the activity of CeO₂ quickly diminished due to the strong adsorption of HCl or Cl₂ produced from the decomposition of TCE and the blockage of active sites (e.g., basic sites and active oxygen sites). Gutiérrez-Ortiz and co-workers⁸²² confirmed that the addition of Zr into the CeO₂ lattice improved the catalytic activity and stability of CeO₂ in TCE oxidation due to the enhanced Ce⁴⁺ reducibility, lattice oxygen mobility and acidic property.

Hydrotalcites are two-dimensional layered synthetic materials with alternating positively

charged mixed metal hydroxide sheets and negatively charged interlayer anions.⁸⁶⁸ The calcination of hydrotalcites leads to the formation of mixed oxides with interesting properties for catalytic removal of CVOCs, such as small particle sizes, large specific areas and homogeneous dispersion of the metals.^{869,870} Blanch-Raga *et al.*⁸⁵⁹ synthesized different Mg(Fe/Al), Ni(Fe/Al) and Co(Fe/Al) mixed oxides derived from hydrotalcite-like compounds and tested them in TCE total oxidation. They found that the Co catalysts had the highest activity, followed by Ni and Mg catalysts. The activity of all catalysts improved when iron was substituted by Al as the presence of Al enhanced the acid property of catalysts and generated reactive O_2^- species that are able to oxidize the TCE.

Mayenite ($Ca_{12}Al_{14}O_{33}$) is a mesoporous calcium Al_2O_3 with a characteristic crystalline structure. In contrast to aluminosilicate zeolites, the framework of mayenite is composed of interconnected cages with a positive electric charge per unit cell and two constituent molecules, $[Ca_{24}Al_{28}O_{64}]^{4+}$ and the remaining two oxide ions O^{2-} , which is often labelled "free oxygen", are trapped in the cages defined by the framework.⁸⁷¹ The ability of storing O^{2-} ions in the cages is a valuable property of mayenite which is exploited in catalysis. These oxygen ions can migrate between the surface and the bulk at temperatures higher than 400 °C, which results in a unique ionic conductivity.⁸⁷² Very recently, the catalytic oxidation of TCE over mayenite was reported by Rossi and co-workers.⁸⁷³ The results demonstrated that mayenite had a high catalytic activity and excellent recyclability and thermal stability for this reaction. TCE was totally converted to CO_2 and the released chlorine was incorporated in the mayenite structure. The high performances of the catalyst was connected with its oxidative properties due to the presence of O^{2-} and O_2^{2-} anions sites that favoured the total oxidation of TCE and avoided the coke formation.

Solid acid supported Pt and/or Pd catalysts were also used for CVOC oxidation.⁸⁶⁰ Pt/Al₂O₃ and Pd/Al₂O₃ catalysts are highly active in this reaction.^{874,875} A synergistic effect was found between noble metal and acid sites of Pd/H-BETA.⁸⁷⁶ However, these catalysts presented a remarkable selectivity to C₂Cl₄, especially in those containing LAS. Wang and co-workers⁸⁷⁷ proposed that the phosphoric phases interacted with Pt sites in Pt/P-MCM-41 catalysts, resulting in the change of Pt oxidation state and Brønsted acid strength. The catalytic oxidation of TCE over these catalysts showed that modification with phosphoric acid enhanced the catalytic performance without the formation of tetrachloroethylene by-product.

3.5.5. Chlorobenzene

Chlorobenzene (CB) is another typical chlorinated contaminant resulting from industrial processes.⁸⁷⁸ As such it is frequently used as the model pollutant for CVOCs because it is a precursor or intermediate product of polychlorinated wastes. For example, CB is used as the model compound for highly toxic polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins/furans (PCDD/Fs) due to the structural similarity to these pollutants.^{768,879} Most of work regarding the deep catalytic oxidation of CB focused on Mn- and V-based materials⁸⁸⁰⁻⁸⁸⁴ and Pt,⁸⁸⁵ Pd^{813,886} and Ru^{887,888} supported catalysts (Table 6). Various other works studied catalysts such as perovskite-type oxides, Cu-, U- and Fe-based mixed oxides.^{530,889-897}

Catalwat	Des dant som sider	Crace velocity (1-1)	<i>T</i> ₉₀	Ref.
Catalyst	Reactant composition	Space velocity (n ⁻¹)	(°C)	
1% V9% Mo/TiO ₂	200 ppm CB, 20% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	6000	240	916
Mn/KIT-6 ^a	5000 ppm CB, Air balance	20,000	211	898
MnO_x/TiO_2^b	100 ppm CB, Air balance	36,000	< 120	899
MnO _x /TiO ₂ -carbon nanotube ^c	3000 ppm CB, Air balance	36,000	150	900
Sn-MnCeLaO _x ^d	2500 ppm CB, 20% O_2 , N_2 balance	20,000	210	902
MnCeLaO _x ^e	1000 ppm CB, 10% O_2 , N_2 balance	15,000	< 250	904
11%MnOx/CeO2 nanoparticles	2500 ppm CB, 20% O_2 , N_2 balance	20,000	275	906
CeO _x -MnO _x /TiO ₂ ^f	2500 ppm CB, Air balance	10,000	198	908
$Cu_{0.15}Mn_{0.15}Ce_{0.7}O_{x}{}^{g}$	600 ppm CB, Air balance	30,000	255	892
$La_{0.8}Sr_{0.2}MnO_3$	1000 ppm CB, 10% O ₂ , N ₂ balance	15,000	291	889
1% Ru/Ti-CeO ₂ ^h	550 ppm CB, Air balance	15,000	< 225	887
1%Ru-CeO ₂	550 ppm CB, Air balance	15,000	250	923

Table 6 Summary of some typical catalysts for chlorobenzene (CB) oxidation.

^a Mn : Si molar ratio of 1 : 3; ^b Mn : Ti molar ratio of 1 : 4; ^c Prepared by the sol-gel method; ^d Sn : (Sn+Mn+Ce+La) = 0.08; ^eMn : (Mn+Ce+La) = 0.86; ^fCatalyst calcined at 400 °C (Ce : Mn : Ti molar ratio of 1 : 1 : 8); ^gSynthesized by the homogeneous coprecipitation method; ^hTi-CeO₂ support was synthesized by the co-precipitation method with tetrabutyl titanate as the precursor.

A series of metal (Mn, Cu, Fe, Cr, and Sn) loaded mesoporous silica (KIT-6) catalysts were

studied and found that the Mn/KIT-6 (Mn : Si = 1 : 3) possessed the highest activity in this reaction ($T_{90} = 210.7$ °C; GHSV of 36,000 h⁻¹) (Fig. 23i).⁸⁹⁸ Mn catalysts on various supports (TiO₂, Al₂O₃ and SiO₂) were also investigated with the MnO_x/TiO₂ demonstrating the best activity. It was found that the highly dispersed MnOx could be converted into active oxychlorinated manganese species.⁸³³ Tian et al.⁸⁹⁹ further reported that the MnO_x/TiO₂ catalyst prepared by the sol-gel route with Mn : Ti of 1 : 4 had the best CB oxidation activity compared with samples prepared by solvothermal and co-precipitation methods. The promotion effect of CNTs on MnO_x/Al₂O₃ and MnO_x/TiO₂ catalysts for CB oxidation was suggested to be due to the superior aromatic adsorption performance of CNTs (π - π interaction between benzene ring and CNTs).^{900,901} Liu and co-workers⁴¹⁸ stated that the addition of Sn into MnTiO_x mixed oxides markedly enhanced its stability in this reaction (Fig. 23ii). This was linked to a lower average energy being required to desorb Cl species and the absence of MnO_xCl_y on the active sites during the reaction. The above results were also studied and confirmed with SnMnCeLaO_x composites for CB oxidation.⁹⁰²

MnO_x-CeO₂ mixed oxides and supported MnO_x-CeO₂ catalysts have been widely studied in the total oxidation of CB. Wang et al.⁹⁰³ prepared MnO_x-CeO₂ mixed oxides with different Mn : (Mn+Ce) ratios, and found that the $MnO_x(0.86)$ -CeO₂ sample exbibited the best catalytic acitivity and completely oxidized CB at 254 °C with a GHSV of 15,000 h⁻¹ (Fig. 23iii). Subsequent work indicated that the addition of La promoted the dispersion of MnCeO_x and MnO_x as well as enhanced the stability of MnCeOx in CB oxidation.^{904,905} The effect of CeO2 morphology (nanoparticle and nanorod) on the performance of MnO_x/CeO₂ in CB oxidation was reported by Liu and co-workers, 906 who found that the MnO_x/CeO₂ nanoparticles possessed a higher catalytic activity.

Many types of oxides have been used as the support for Mn-Ce mixed oxides such as γ -Al₂O₃, TiO₂, ZSM-5 and cordierite.^{882,907-909} Li and co-workers⁹⁰⁷ suggested that the Mn₈Ce₂/γ-Al₂O₃ was the most active catalyst in all Mn_xCe_y/γ -Al₂O₃ samples which was attributed to its higher reducibility. Subsequent work by the group revealed that the addition of Mg decreased the interaction of Mn and Ce species supported on γ -Al₂O₃. Mg addition also promoted the dispersion of Mn and Ce phases and formation of a Ce-Mn-O solid solution, leading to high activity, good selectivity and promising stability of the Mn-Ce-Mg/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst.⁹¹⁰ He *et al.*⁹⁰⁸ stated that Ce 86

and Mn species form a solution of MnCeO_x with perturbed oxygen environments at calcination temperatures of 400 °C which contributed to the high catalytic activity of CeO_x-MnO_x/TiO₂. Chen and co-workers⁸⁸² revealed that the Mn₈Co₁Ce₁/cordierite exhibited high activity ($T_{90} = 325$ °C; GHSV of 15,000 h⁻¹) and stability for CB oxidation due to the synergistic effect of Ce, Mn and Co and the formation of more lattice defects, more oxygen vacancies and smaller crystallite sizes.

Supported V oxide constitutes a very important class of catalytic materials which are resistant against CVOCs.^{884,911-913} Huang *et al.*⁸⁸³ proposed that a VO_x/CeO₂ catalyst with monomeric VO_x had the highest catalytic activity in the deep oxidation of CB. Here, the VO_x greatly improved the stability of VO_x/CeO₂ catalysts through retarding the exchange of Cl for basic surface lattice oxygen of the CeO₂ (Fig. 23iv). TiO₂ has good mechanical, thermal and anticorrosive properties, and it promotes the formation of a well-dispersed monolayer of the VO_x active phase.⁹¹⁴ It was demonstrated that the addition of SO₄^{2–}species to TiO₂ enhanced the acidity and leaded to a higher activity in this reaction. The beneficial effect of the sulfated TiO₂ was due to an increase in the amount of BAS which promotes the adsorption of aromatics on the support. An increase in the LAS also improves the spreading of the VO_x phase on the surface of the catalyst.^{728,915} Huang *et al.*⁹¹⁶ revealed that the addition of MoO₃ to V₂O₅/TiO₂ improved the catalyst redox properties and enhanced the CB oxidation activity at low temperatures. However, the formation of low amounts of polychlorinated compounds over V₂O₅-WO₃/TiO₂ and V₂O₅-MoO₃/TiO₂ was reported by Busca and co-workers.⁹¹⁷

Topka *et al.*⁹¹⁸ prepared monometallic noble metal (Pt or Au) catalysts supported on Ce-Zr mixed oxide by an impregnation method, and found that Pt catalysts were more efficient than Au analogues due to their superior redox property. The lower acidity of Pt catalysts was not found to be detrimental to their performance in CB oxidation. The catalytic oxidation of CB over Pt catalysts supported on H-ZSM-5 and H-Beta was studied by Crisafulli and co-workers.⁸⁸⁵ The results demonstrated that the activity of Pt/zeolite catalysts was higher for samples with lower SiO₂ : Al₂O₃ ratios (30 and 50). Different amounts of polychlorinated benzenes (PhCl_x) were produced on the catalysts in the order of Pt/H-ZSM5 < Pt/H-beta < Pt/ γ -Al₂O₃. The smaller size of the zeolite channels hinders the chlorination of PhCl to PhCl_x. The formation of significant amounts of PhCl_x over Pd-based catalysts (especially at high temperatures) was also reported in the literature.^{766,886,919}

Ru-based catalysts were industrially implemented for the large-scale chlorine production *via* HCl oxidation (Deacon process) due to its higher reactivity, extraordinary stability (limited chlorination and resistance against HCl and Cl₂ exposure) and easier Cl₂ evolution.^{881,882} The catalytic oxidation of CB over Ru doped CeO₂ catalysts was investigated by Lu and co-workers.^{922,923} They revealed that the Ru/CeO₂ exhibited outstanding activity and stability. Subsequent work proposed that doping of Ti enhanced the activity and stability of Ru/CeO₂ catalysts in CB oxidation which was ascribed to a higher proportion of exposed oxygen vacancies and the high energy lattice plane of CeO₂.⁸⁸⁷

3.5.6. 1,2-dichlorobenzene

1,2-dichlorobenzene (*o*-DCB) is a common industrial solvent for a range of applications such as wax, resin and rubber, as well as being used as a degreasant and cleaning agent. *o*-DCB has frequently been used in the literature as a model pollutant molecule because its structural similarity to 2,3,7,8-tetrachloro-dibenzodioxin (TCDD) which is the most toxic among a range PCDDs.⁹²⁴⁻⁹²⁶ The catalytic incineration of *o*-DCB is largely centred on V-, Fe-, Ti- and Mn-based oxides.⁹²⁷⁻⁹³¹

The catalytic oxidation of *o*-DCB was systematically investigated over a series of transition metal oxides (Cr₂O₃, V₂O₅, MoO₃, Fe₂O₃ and Co₃O₄) supported on TiO₂ and Al₂O₃. The results suggested that the TiO₂-supported catalysts are more active than the corresponding Al₂O₃-supported ones (except Co oxide catalysts), indicating that the metal oxide-support interactions are significant in this reaction. Among all catalysts, Cr₂O₃- and V₂O₅-based materials are the most active ones.⁹³² Choi *et al.*⁹³³ reported that a vanadia-titania aerogel catalyst with a high surface area and chemical homogeneity possessed superior activity and thermal stability in *o*-DCB oxidation. Moon and co-workers⁹²⁷ reported that V₂O₅/TiO₂ catalysts synthesized by a thermal decomposition method showed a good performance in *o*-DCB decomposition at low temperature, with 95% of *o*-DCB converted at 200 °C (WHSV of 18,000 mL·g⁻¹·h⁻¹). Albonetti *et al.*⁹³⁴ proposed that the LAS and BAS over V₂O₅/TiO₂ and V₂O₅-WO₃/TiO₂ had strong influences on their catalytic performance in this reaction (Fig. 24i). It was found that the BAS significantly increased the conversion of *o*-DCB but leaded to the formation of partial oxidation products such as dichloromaleic anhydride. The LAS were suggested to act as absorbing sites, promoting the

further oxidation of intermediates to CO and CO_2 . The presence of water decreases *o*-DCB conversion but plays a positive role in CO_x selectivity due to the reduction of BAS and the hydrolysis of the an hydride during wet oxidation tests.⁹³⁴

It was repored that the Ca-doped Fe oxide catalysts exhibit higher catalytic activity in the decomposition of CVOCs compared with analogous single Fe oxide materials. This was attributed to the strong interaction between Fe₂O₃ and CaO which facilitates Cl⁻ exchange between CaCO₃ and FeCl₃ (formed from the reaction of α-Fe₂O₃ with o-DCB).⁹³⁵⁻⁹³⁷ CaCO₃/α-Fe₂O₃ nanocomposites were synthesized by Ma et al.938 adopting a one-pot method. The sample with 9.5 mol% Ca had the highest activity in o-DCB oxidation due to the easier formation of formate species on the surface which are then oxidised through to CO. However, the particle-like $CaCO_3/\alpha$ -Fe₂O₃ nanocomposite did not perform well under high water vapor content and at lower temperatures (< 350 °C). Based on these results, CaCO₃/Fe₂O₃ nanorods with excellent catalytic activity ($T_{100} = 350$ °C for the sample with 2.8 mol.% Ca; GHSV of 88,000 h⁻¹), water-resistance and thermal stability were further obtained by Chen and co-workers.⁹³⁵ The authors attributed the excellent catalytic performance to the unique surface morphology and interfacial microstructure composed of CaCO₃ and α -Fe₂O₃ nanorods. The morphology and microstructure of the catalysts plays an important role in the catalytic performance. Hollow microspheres with low density, high surface area, stability and excellent surface permeability have received increasing interest for application in heterogeneous reactions.⁹³⁹ Zheng and co-workers⁹²⁹ revealed that the optimal Ca-doped FeO_x hollow microsphere (9.7 mol% Ca) exhibited not only excellent catalytic activity, water-resistant performance and stability, but low E_a (21.6 kJ·mol⁻¹) in deep oxidation of *o*-DCB.

Mn-modified Co₃O₄ catalysts with spinel structure were prepared by Cai *et al.*⁸⁰⁷ using the co-precipitation method. The results revealed that the catalyst with a Co : Mn ratio of 9 : 1 presents the highest activity ($T_{90} = 347 \, ^{\circ}$ C; GHSV of 15,000 h⁻¹) and good stability which was ascribed to the synergetic effect between the activation of *o*-DCB on Co²⁺ sites and subsequent oxidation by surface active oxygen in Co₃O₄ nanoparticles. Recently, Zhang and co-workers⁹³¹ reported that addition of Ce or Ce+Fe into MnO_x oxides promoted the formation of an amorphous powder rather than a crystalline material which enhanced their specific surface area and redox property, leading to an overall higher activity for *o*-DCB incineration.

Choi et al.⁹⁴⁰ reported that nano-sized Fe₃O₄@TiO₂ composites exhibited a higher o-DCB

oxidation activity than that of pure Fe₃O₄ and TiO₂. It was suggested that oxygen vacancies on Fe₃O_{4+ δ} played an important role in the adsorption and reaction of CO, and TiO₂ provided oxygen to the Fe₃O_{4+ δ} sites. Recently, Ce_{1-x}Ti_xO₂ mixed oxides with various Ti : (Ce+Ti) ratios were prepared by a sol-gel method and used in the catalytic oxidation of *o*-DCB. The results demonstrated that the incorporation of Ti distorted the crystal structure and thus greatly increased the acidity and oxygen mobility at high temperatures. The catalyst with a Ti : (Ce+Ti) ratio of 0.5 was shown to achieve the best performance in this reaction (Fig. 24ii). Ti improves the stability of Ce_{1-x}Ti_xO₂ catalysts by retarding the exchange of Cl with basic lattice oxygen and hydroxyl groups.⁹³⁰

3.6. Nitrogen-containing VOCs

Nitrogen-containing VOCs (NVOCs) (e.g., acetonitrile, ethylenediamine, *n*-butylamine, pyridine and acrylonitrile) are widely used in industrial processes. For instance, acrylonitrile is used to make acrylic fibers, resins, and nitrile elastomers, and is employed as an intermediate in the production of adiponitrile and acrylamide.⁹⁴¹ The crucial point for NVOCs catalytic oxidation lies in the control of NO_x generation and prevention of secondary pollutants.⁹⁴²⁻⁹⁴⁴

Guerrero-Pérez *et al.*⁹⁴⁵ indicated that the Sb-V-O/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst synthesized *via* a tartrate method was a good candidate to eliminate NVOCs. This synthesis method provided dispersed Sb oxide and optimized the VSbO₄-Sb interphase, resulting in superior selectivity to N₂. PILC supported CrO_x-CeO₂ mixed oxides were studied in the oxidation of NVOCs.⁹⁴⁶⁻⁹⁴⁸ Na-montmorillonite and different pillared interlayered clay (Al-PILC, Zr-PILC, Ti-PILC and Al₂O₃/Ti-PILC) supported CrCe catalysts were reported by Zhou and co-workers⁹⁴⁶ in deep oxidation of *n*-butylamine and ethylenediamine. The results demonstrated that the mesoporous structure and the acid sites improved the catalytic activity of supported CrCe catalysts. CrCe/Ti-PILC and CrCe/Al₂O₃/Ti-PILC had higher catalytic activity than other catalysts. The strong adsorption of ethylenediamine on the acid sites leaded to a lower activity compared with *n*-butylamine. Subsequent work suggested that addition of an appropriate amount of CeO₂ enhanced the interaction between Cr and Ce, increasing the acid strength and mobility of active oxygen species on the catalyst. 8CrCe(6:1)/Ti-PILC exhibited the best catalytic performance and control of NO_x in *n*-butylamine oxidation.⁹⁴⁸

Nitrile gases such as acetonitrile and acrylonitrile are commonly classified as very toxic nitrogen-containing VOCs and can lead to serious environmental problems due to their hazardous properties.⁹⁴⁹ Noble metal (e.g., Pt and Pd) catalysts were found to be undesirable for nitrile oxidation due to the formation of NOx.^{950,951} Among transition metal-based catalysts, porous silica- or titania-supported copper catalysts have been reported to show the excellent performance in nitrile oxidation.^{952,953} A series of M/SBA-15 (M = Cu, Co, Fe, V and Mn) and noble metals (Pd, Ag and Pt) catalysts were prepared via the impregnation method and further used in acetonitrile oxidation by Chen and co-workers.949 Cu/SBA-15 was found to exhibit a near complete CH₃CN conversion with a N₂ selectivity of 80% at temperatures higher than 350 °C. Nanba et al.⁹⁴¹ revealed that Cu/ZSM-5 with a Cu loading of > 2.3 wt.% show a high N_2 selecivity (exceeding 90% above 350 °C) in acrylonitrile oxidation. The authors proposed that N₂ formation from NH₃ proceeds on Cu²⁺, resulting in the formation of Cu⁺ ions, which were then oxidized to Cu²⁺ at around 300 °C. Thus, a high N₂ selectivity over Cu-ZSM-5 was attained over a wide range of temperatures by the reaction over the square-planar Cu^{2+} . Subsequent work indicated that over Cu/ZSM-5 catalyst, acrylonitrileis mostly converted to isocyanate (-NCO), which was likely converted to adsorbed NH₃ by hydrolysis. N₂ was formed by the reaction of adsorbed NH₃ and adsorbed nitrate or by oxidation of adsorbed NH₃. It was reported that the presence of water suppressed the desorption of acrylonitrile and reduced the temperature of N₂ evolution.954

The high acrylonitrile decomposition activity of supported Ag catalysts was also reported by Obuchi and co-workers.⁹⁵⁵ Here, it was found that the activity was greatly influenced by the type of material used to support Ag, with TiO₂ being described as an effective support. This Ag/TiO₂ catalyst was composed of both metallic and oxidized Ag species. The metallic Ag exhibited a high acrylonitrile oxidation activity, whereas the oxidized Ag exhibited high acrylonitrile hydrolysis activity.⁹⁵⁶ The influence of the TiO₂ crystal structure on acrylonitrile oxidation was also studied. The results indicated that the anatase phase of TiO₂ favours the formation of ionic Ag, whereas the rutile phase favours that of metallic Ag. The Ag/anatase-TiO₂ catalyst exhibited a high NH₃ and N₂ selectivity at low and high temperatures, respectively.⁹⁵⁷

3.7. Sulfur-containing VOCs

3.7.1. Methyl mercaptan

Methyl mercaptan (CH₃SH) is a highly odorous sulfur-containing volatile organic compound (SVOCs) and is widely distributed in petroleum products and industry off-gases.⁹⁵⁸⁻⁹⁶⁰ Even a small amount of CH₃SH in the atmosphere is harmful and can have adverse effects on humans.⁹⁶¹ The presence of CH₃SH is also a source of catalyst deactivation during many catalytic reactions such as synthesis of methanol and ammonia.⁹⁶² Catalytic abatement is regarded as an effective method for the complete removal of CH₃SH as it is both environmentally friendly and economically feasible. It produces low waste products and does not require the addition of any reagents during the desulfurization processes.⁹⁶³⁻⁹⁶⁵

CeO₂ is well known as a major catalyst for CH₃SH catalytic decomposition.⁹⁶⁶ CeO₂ nanoparticles were prepared by He *et al.*^{967,968} using a convenient microwave-assisted sol-gel method. The results suggested that CeO₂-based catalysts are effective sulfur absorbents at high temperature. Various Ce-S compounds including cerium sulfide (Ce₂S₃) and cerium sulfate (Ce(SO₄)₂) are formed. The formation of Ce₂S₃ in the latter period of reaction causes a severe decline in the catalytic activity. Doping the surface with appropriate metal ions, especially some trivalent rare earth cations with different ionic radii, can enhance the stability of pure CeO₂. A series of rare earth (Y, Sm, and La) doped CeO₂ composite oxides were synthesized by He *et al.*⁹⁶⁹ and evaluated in CH₃SH catalytic decomposition. A higher population of oxygen vacancies and increased basic sites were observed in the rare earth doped CeO₂ catalysts. A Y doped CeO₂ sample (Ce_{0.75}Y_{0.25}O_{2-δ}) with a moderate increase in basic sites demonstrated a higher stability than CeO₂, while the La doped CeO₂ catalyst with highest alkalinity possessed the lowest stability. The superior stability of Ce_{0.75}Gd_{0.25}O_{2-δ} for CH₃SH oxidation was proposed in their recent work.⁹⁷⁰

HZSM-5 zeolite was considered as a good candidate for catalytic decomposition of CH₃SH, over which complete decomposition to H₂S and some hydrocarbons (CH₄, C₂H₆ and C₂H₄) was achieved above 550 °C.^{971,972} However, the stability of a pure HZSM-5 zeolite catalyst is not satisfactory, and serious deactivation of the catalyst can be observed. This is due to the presence of strong acid sites which usually promotes the formation of coke deposits.^{24,973} Recently, HZSM-5 zeolite catalysts modified with various rare earth metals (Nd, Er, and Y) were prepared and used for CH₃SH catalytic decomposition.⁹⁶⁰ The addition of rare earth metals significantly

improved the activity and stability of HZSM-5. A 13 wt.% Nd/ZSM-5 catalyst was found to exhibit the best performance. Characterization results revealed that the concentration of strong acid sites in the HZSM-5 catalysts decreased after rare earth metals addition, while the concentration of basic sites increased (displayed better adsorption ability to CH₃SH).^{960,974}

3.7.2. Dimethyl disulfide

Dimethyl disulfide (DMDS) is difficult to oxidize when compared with other SVOCs present in the waste gas streams. Moreover, DMDS is among the most odorous compounds due to its low human detection threshold $(2.5 \,\mu \text{g} \cdot \text{m}^{-3})$,⁹⁷⁵ which makes its complete removal an important issue.

Wang *et al.*⁹⁷⁶⁻⁹⁷⁸ reported that the addition of molybdenum promoted the catalytic activity of CuO/ γ -Al₂O₃ in deep oxidation of dimethyl disulfide. The catalyst with a formula of 5 wt.% Cu-10 wt.% Mo/sulfated- γ -Al₂O₃ (γ -Al₂O₃ treated with sulfuric acid) was shown to have the best activity. The performance of a CuO-MoO₃/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst was further promoted in subsequent work by the addition of Cr.⁹⁷⁹ A 5 wt.% Cu-6 wt.% Mo-4 wt.% Cr/sulfated- γ -Al₂O₃ sample was found to possess the highest DMDS oxidation activity and sulfur resistance.

Among transition and noble metals, Au shows the lowest reactivity towards sulfur which is ascribed to its high electronegativity. This result in Au is not readily reacting with other electronegative elements such as sulfur.⁹⁸⁰ Recently, Au, Cu and Pt catalysts supported on Al₂O₃, CeO₂ and CeO₂-Al₂O₃ were investigated in the oxidation of DMDS. The results demonstrated that the Au/CeO₂-Al₂O₃ catalyst had good stability during over a 40 h test. The presence of Cu resulted in the significant generation of formaldehyde instead of CO₂, and Pt catalysts exhibited over-oxidation or potential for deactivation when supported on Al₂O₃ and CeO₂-Al₂O₃.⁹⁶³ The stable and efficient DMDS incineration capability of a Au/TiO₂ catalyst was proposed by Keiski and co-workers.⁹⁸¹

It was reported that an amorphous SiO₂-Al₂O₃ support increases the material's resistance against sulfur poisoning.⁹⁸² Furthermore, the isoelectric point of SiO₂ can be enhanced by addition of Al₂O₃ as this improves the interaction between support and active metals.⁹⁸³ Darif *et al.*⁹⁸⁴ found that the doping of SiO₂ leaded to a more selective and stable catalyst (Pt-Cu/(Al₂O₃)_{0.8}(SiO₂)_{0.2}), however the DMDS conversion over Pt-Cu/(Al₂O₃)_{0.8}(SiO₂)_{0.2} was close to that of Pt-Cu/Al₂O₃. Recently, the sulfur deactivation process of Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst was

further studied by Keiski and co-workers.⁹⁷⁵ They proposed that the decrease in the activity of industrially aged Pt/Al catalyst originated from a number of factors. The decrease in the active surface area due to support sintering, chemical poisoning from sulfate formation, increase in Pt particle size and formation of highly oxidized Pt(IV) species that were less tolerant against sulfur were all described as major issues. The addition of SiO₂ (20 mol%) into the Al₂O₃ support enhanced the stability and sulfur resistence of Pt catalyst (Fig. 25).

4. Monolithic catalyst for VOC destruction

For practical applications, the use of structured materials which exhibit good structural and thermal stabilities, induce only a minimal pressure drop, and possess a good tolerance to plugging are desirable properties for a catalytic reactor.^{985,986} For this reason, extruded materials such as monoliths are ideal structures for supporting catalysts as they are typically exhibit high surface areas and possess numerous parallel channels, which reduces pressure drops across the catalyst bed. They are also highly tunable; monoliths can be produced in many different sizes and shapes, and can be synthesized from lots of different materials, including; metal wires, meshes or foams,⁹⁸⁷⁻⁹⁹⁰ metallic or ceramic membrances,^{109,991} and cordierite honeycomb materials,^{992,993} which have attracted increasing attention due to their high mechanical strength and heat transfer capacity.

In general, wire-mesh structured monoliths possessa high thermal conductivity and mechanical strength, making them applicable to several industrial and environmental processes.⁹⁹⁴ A great variety of wire-mesh monoliths currently exist and their applicability is typically determined by the diameter of their internal channels and the diameter and material of the wire used.⁹⁹⁴⁻⁹⁹⁶ The catalytic oxidation of *n*-hexane, acetyl acetate and toluene was investigated over Pt-CeO₂ deposited on monolithic stainless steel wire meshes (Fig. 26i). The results from these experiments confirmed that all of these VOCs could be completely oxidized at temperatures ranging from 200 to 350 °C. The excellent mechanical stability of these materials was confirmed by an ultrasound method.⁹⁹⁷ Li *et al.*⁹⁸⁷ demonstrated that a series of Pd-based FeCrAl wire-mesh monoliths could be prepared by an electroless plating methodology. The Pd/FeCrAl catalysts had no alumina

interlayers in their structure and consisted of between 0.3 and 0.4 wt.% Pd. These catalysts were calcined at 800 °C and determined to be highly active and stable for the total oxidation of toluene. The high activity and stability was suggested to be attributed to the *in situ* formation of a molten PdO phase (0.1-1 μ m in diameter). Kuśtrowski and co-workers⁹⁹⁸ also confirmed that plasma-deposited cobalt oxide suported knitted wire gauzes were highly effective as for the oxidation of *n*-hexane (Fig. 26ii). The reaction was demonstrated to be first-order with an activation energy of 143.5 kJ/mol. A plug-flow reactor model was proved to reflect the real reactor performance with satisfactory accuracy.

Porous structured foams and membranes can increase turbulence and radial mixing in gas streams, which can reduce laminar flow and mass transfer issues in monoliths or honeycombs catalysts.⁹⁹⁹⁻¹⁰⁰² Zhao et al.⁵⁹² synthesized a white graphene foam (consisting of a low-dimensional boron nitride nanosheet; 3D BN) with multi-level pores, atomically thin walls and a specific surface area of 681 $m^2 \cdot g^{-1}$ (Fig. 26iii). Ag was subsequently supported onto this material and tested for the oxidation of methanol. Over this catalyst, a 95 % methanol conversion was achieved at temperatures as low as 110 °C (GHSV of 40,000 h⁻¹); substantially lower than the T_{90} observed over a Ag/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst, which was also notably less stable. Ribeiro *et al.*⁹⁸⁹ explored how the method of preparing Pt zeolite coated cordierite foams affected catalytic performance in the oxidation of toluene. The authors revealed that the open structure of the foams, the formation of a homogeneous thin zeolite layer and the size of the deposited Pt particles were greatly affected by the dipping procedure used. Recently, a facile strategy for the *in situ* growth of hierarchical Co₃O₄ nanostructures on the surface of a 3D nickel foam was reported by Ye and co-workers (Fig. 26iv).¹⁰⁰³ The authors determined that materials with columnar Co_3O_4 nanoclusters on nickel foam exhibited excellent catalytic activities for the oxidation of toluene; with the best catalyst, full toluene oxidation was achieved at 270 °C with a GHSV of 20,000 h⁻¹ (50 °C lower than that of Co₂AlO₄ catalysts) (Fig. 26v and vi). Wang et al.¹⁰⁰⁴ revealed that a Mn/ZSM-5 membrane catalyst with a paper-like stainless steel fiber (PSSF) morphology could achieve 2-propanol conversion greater than 90% at 222 °C (GHSV of 7643 h⁻¹), which is a far lower temperature than that observed over a granular Mn/ZSM-5 catalyst ($T_{90} = 297$ °C). Porous Cu/Mn binary oxide modified ZSM-5 catalyst were also prepared by the same group;⁶¹⁴ the most efficient of these catalysts was a Cu-Mn(1:6)/ZSM-5/PSSF, which achieved a 2-propanol 95

conversion greater than 90% at 210 °C under the GHSV of 3822 h⁻¹. In a subsequent study, Yan et al.⁶³³ reported that over a Co/ZSM-5/PSSF catalyst, isopropanol conversions greater than 90% could be achieved at ca. 220 °C (GHSV of 7643 h⁻¹); similar to that observed over the Mn/ZSM-5/PSSF. This was achieved in a zeolite membrane reactor, which is much more efficient than a traditional particle fixed bed reactor. In addition, porous Co-Cu-Mn mixed oxide modified ZSM-5/PSSF catalysts were also confirmed to be efficient for the total oxidation of 2-propanol by the same researchers.¹⁰⁹ Huang et al.¹⁰⁰⁶ reported that 3D Co_{0.65}Mn_{2.35}O₄ (grown on carbon textile substrates) nanosheets exhibited remarkably long-term durability and high catalytic activity for the oxidation of formaldehyde; a full conversion was achieved at 100 °C with a GHSV of 120,000 mL·h⁻¹·g⁻¹. Recently, Chen and co-workers⁹⁹¹ prepared a series of monolithic Mn/Ce-based ceramic membrane (CM) catalysts (Fig. 27i). The catalysts were prepared using an impregnation method and characterization of these materials revealed that the fibrous CMs possessed a unique interconnected, uniform pore structure, and the MnO_x-CeO₂ active phase was homogenously dispersed into the porous CMs support. A catalyst with a MnO_x : CeO₂ ratio of 3 : 1 exhibited the highest activity for the total oxidation of benzene ($T_{90} = 244$ °C; GHSV = 5000 h⁻¹) and was determined to be stable with up to 90 vol.% of water in the stream (20 °C). The high activity of this catalyst was associated with its good low temperature reducibility, abundance of active oxygen and a synergetic effect between MnO_x and CeO₂.

Metallic monoliths are also considered to be promising catalysts for the oxidation of VOCs. This is typically attributed to their excellent heat transfer, good ductility and mechanical stability.¹⁰⁰⁷ However, the industrial application of these materials is often limited, due to their high cost, low chemical stability and difficulties associated with immobilizing catalysts on to them.^{999,1008} Cordierite monoliths (2MgO·2Al₂O₃·5SiO₂) are highly porous, often have good thermal and chemical stabilities and exhibit excellent refractoriness and coating adherence. These materials typically have a high resistance to elevated temperatures and temperature shocks because of their low thermal expansion coefficient, making them suitable for application as a monolithic catalyst support.^{992,1009,1010} It is often necessary to use an inorganic oxide pre-coat (washcoat), which can increase the surface area of the material and act as a secondary support for the active phase. The most common washcoat material is γ -Al₂O₃, but numerous other materials such as La₂O₃, CeO₂, ZrO₂, carbons and zeolites have also been investigated.^{557,573,758,993,1011-1013}

The method used for the deposition of the secondary support can also influence the resultant catalytic performance. Various strategies have been implemented for the initial coating of the monolith, which is generally followed by the subsequent deposition or immobilization of the active phase.¹⁰¹⁴

Huang *et al.*¹⁰¹¹ investigated the catalytic combustion of toluene over cordierite-supported Ni-Mn composite catalysts, which were prepared by a wet impregnation method. The authors reported that the catalytic activity of the synthesized materials was strongly dependent on a number of factors, which included; the molar ratio of Ni/Mn, the loading of the Ni-Mn oxide and the calcination temperature. A catalyst with a Ni/Mn ratio of 0.5 displayed the highest activity for the oxidation of toluene; a 92.1% conversion of toluene was observed at 300 °C. This catalyst had a 10 wt.% Ni/Mn loading and was calcined at 400 °C. Azalim *et al.*¹⁰¹² proposed that the high activity of Mn-Ce-Zr/cordierite catalysts for the oxidation of *n*-butanol was heavily dependent on the method used to immobilize the active phase. In this study, corresponding Mn-Ce-Zr/cordierite catalysts were synthesized by one-pot precipitation (Ce, Mn and Zr nitrates mixed together) and impregnation (Mn loaded over the Ce-Zr washcoated phase). The catalysts prepared in the one pot precipitation were determined to be significantly more active than the corresponding impregnated catalysts. The notable differences in performance were attributed to the former method producing a highly active thin layer of Mn-Ce-Zr, which exhibited a high specific surface area and was easily reducible.

Jin and co-workers⁹⁹³ prepared a series of Pd/Ce_xY_{1-x}O_{δ}/cordierite honeycomb catalysts and determined that the Ce_xY_{1-x}O_{δ} washcoat exhibited a better adhesion and had a higher vibrationand heat-resistance when compared to other conventional washcoats. The formation of CeO₂-Y₂O₃ and PdO phases at high calcination temperatures resulted in increased thermal stability. The highest catalytic activity for the oxidation of toluene was exhibited by a Pd/Ce_{0.8}Y_{0.2}O_{δ}/cordierite honeycomb catalyst; full oxidation of toluene was observed at 210 °C. Carbon-coated monoliths have also been considered as catalyst supports for industrial applications due to their mechanical resistance, and desireable chemical and textural properties.^{557,1015} Carbon nanofiber (CNF)-coated monoliths with a very thin, homogeneous, well-adhered CNF layer were investigated as supports by Morales-Torres*et al.*¹⁰¹³ for the decomposition of ethylene over Ni particles. These catalysts were determined to be more active for the oxidation of benzene than toluene or m-xylene, which was ascribed to a better aromatic-support dispersive interaction. The study indicated that the CNF-coated monoliths were also more affective supports than alumina for Pt or Pd catalysts in the gas phase catalytic combustion of BTX at low temperatures; the CNF surface is more hydrophobic than that of γ -Al₂O₃.¹⁰¹³

The structure of the support on the monolith can also influence the resultant activity in VOC oxidation reactions. Pérez-Cadenas et al.¹⁰¹⁶ investigated how the pore structure of carbon-based monoliths effected the performance of Pd supported catalysts. For this, a number of different monoliths were used; a classical square channel cordierite modified with α-Al₂O₃ to block any macroporosity in the cordierite and round the channel cross-sections (HPM); a composite carbon/ceramic monolith with micropores (WA); and a monolith consisting of mesopores (WB) (Fig. 27ii). The activity of these catalysts was determined to decreases in the order of Pd/WB > Pd/WA > Pd/HPM. The notable difference in the activity of these catalysts evidenced the influential effect of the surface area. In another study, monolithic cordierite catalysts with Au nanoparticles supported on Ce_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ were prepared by washcoating with powdered gold/ceria-zirconia (AuCeZr) and by deposition of gold on the monolith washcoated with ceria-zirconia (Au/CeZr). Characterization of these materials indicated that the Au/CeZr catalyst exhibited a smaller mean Au particle size (ca. 6.7 nm) and was more active for the oxidation of ethanol ($T_{50} = 80$ °C) than the AuCeZr catalyst, which had a mean Au particle size of *ca*. 13.2 nm $(T_{50} = 120 \text{ °C})$.¹⁰¹⁷ Recently, Lu and co-workers¹⁰¹⁸ reported an efficient, economic and simple strategy for the synthesis of Pt/TiO₂ monolith catalysts, which involved spraying a dispersed Pt/TiO₂ liquid on different substrates (Fig. 28). This study revealed that a Pt/TiO₂ cordierite monolithic catalyst, which had a Pt loading of 0.1 wt‰, exhibited excellent catalytic activity (T₉₀ = 212°C; GHSV of 3000 h⁻¹) and stability (without deactivation during a 120 h test) for the oxidation of toluene. This catalyst also displayed good vibration resistance; a mass loss of only 0.11% was reported after 1 h of ultrasonic vibration under experimental conditions.

When designing catalytic systems for total oxidation reactions, detailed data concerning the effects of mass and heat transfer on the catalytic reaction rates should be considered carefully.¹⁰¹⁹ In the case of fixed beds with small catalyst particles, both interparticle and intraparticle

diffusional limitations are minimized when a highly turbulent flow is employed, but comes at the cost of a high pressure drop. With honeycomb monoliths, the flow inside the channels is deeply laminar, but the pressure drop is negligible, which is a prerequisite for many environmental processes.⁵⁵¹ When the monolith is operated at low temperatures, catalytic reaction rates are typically slow, which ultimately limits the overall conversion of the reactant. At higher temperatures, mass transfer typically has a much weaker dependence on temperature than reaction rates and is therefore, more likely to become rate-limiting.¹⁰²⁰ The correct interpretation of the mass transfer phenomena occurring in the oxidation process is essential to define operating conditions for the affective removal of VOCs.¹⁰²¹

Hayes et al.¹⁰²⁰ studied the influence of the washcoat and channel shape on mass transfer and concluded that for non-uniform washcoats, the Sherwood numbers and hence the mass transfer coefficient, varies along the gas solid interface. The authors determined that the washcoat thickness, channel radius and angular diffusion in the washcoat; caused by variable thickness in non-symmetrical geometries, were the three predominant factors that determined mass transfer in this system. Haves et al.¹⁰²² subsequently used a 2D finite element monolith reactor model to study external and internal heat transfer in ceramic monoliths for the catalytic oxidation of propane. The authors determined that heat radiation and conduction effected the outlet temperature, with axial conduction resulting in the most significant effects. A separate study invoked the use of a 2D heterogeneous model to also investigate behavior in monolithic reactors.¹⁰²³ The authors reported that both inter- and intra-phasic diffusion limitations had to be considered when modeling complex reactor configurations like monolith reactors, especially given that monoliths with thicker catalytic layers are typically operated at higher temperatures. The authors concluded that the 2D model was suitable to describe the overall behavior of the monolith reactor and in particularly, assisted with identifying the effect of every single process; the interphasic mass transfer, the chemical reaction and the intraphasic mass transfer. Similar results were also put forth by Rodríguez and Cadús,¹⁰²⁴ who explored the catalytic oxidation of oxygenated VOCs (ethanol and acetaldehyde) over manganese-copper mixed oxide catalysts in a monolithic reactor using an isothermal 1D heterogeneous model. This study revealed that the overall rate of the process was, under some reaction conditions limited by internal diffusion (e.g., thick washcoats and high conversions of VOCs); however, the overall process rate was limited by

external mass transfer resistance to the catalyst at high temperatures and/or monoliths with poor interfacial areas.

The washcoat often has a non-uniform thickness, as coatings often tend to accumulate on corners which has a detrimental effect on catalyst performance. It is therefore vitally important that such factors are incorporated into models for mass transfer resistances to ensure that the performance of monolithic reactors are accurately assessed.¹⁰²⁵ The effect of catalyst accumulation at the corners of a square section channel was investigated by Borio and co-workers.¹⁰²⁶ Non-uniform coatings resulted in a considerable deterioration in the averaged effectiveness factors of two reactions; the catalytic oxidation of ethanol and acetaldehyde. The decrease in the reactor performance, resulting from the catalyst accumulation, was magnified as the feed concentration increased. Due to the reduction in performance, higher feed temperatures and/or lower space velocities were necessary to ensure the complete destruction of the VOC was achieved.

Klenov *et al.*¹⁰²⁷ studied the influence of flow rate on heterogeneous reactions over porous honeycomb monoliths with triangular channels. It was determined that there was no stabilization of the reacting flow over the whole of the channel length under the reaction conditions used in this study (Fig. 29i). The most radical changes of the gas streams appeared near the channel inlet, which caused the highest localized rates of interphase exchange processes; the resultant difference in rates observed was upto two orders of magnitude different (Fig. 29ii). A higher reaction rate existed in the initial section due to penetration of the feed components into the catalyst channels through the frontal surface, leading to an increase in the effectiveness factor (Fig. 29iii). The reaction rate limitation by the transport of reagents inside porous wall was observed along the monolith length.

5. Influence of reaction conditions

Based on the results reported in the literature, it can be cocluded that the reactivity of VOCs over catalysts generally follows the order of alkanes < arenes < esters < ketones < alcohols < aldehydes,^{15,194,382,579,1028-1030}, and heteroatom (S/Cl)-containing hydrocarbons are usually more stable than those of aliphatic hydrocarbons and arenes.^{408,1031} However, the oxidation behavior of VOCs is also greatly influenced by reactant composition and reaction conditions.

5.1. Effect of water vapor

Water is often present in flue gases emitted from various industries and is also one of the products of VOC catalytic oxidation. The effects of water vapor on catalytic activity were explored and reported, and the role of water in VOC catalytic oxidation is very complex, depending on many factors such as catalyst component, VOC type and reaction conditions. In most cases, water vapor is found to act as an inhibitor for VOC oxidation. Marécot et al.¹⁰³² reported that the presence of water inhibited the oxidation of propane and propene over Pd and Pt supported Al₂O₃ catalysts due to decreasing of active surface for the reactions. The inbibition effects of catalytic deep oxidation of ethylacetate to CO2 over Pt/y-Al2O3 and Pt/TiO2-WO3 catalysts were also found by Verykios and co-workers.¹⁰³³ It is interesting to note that the water promotes the decomposition of ethylacetate, which hydrolyzes to ethanol and acetic acid. However, the obvious inhibition effect of water on conversion of ethylacetate over cryptomelane-type Mn oxide was also reported recently.¹⁰³⁴

The inhibition effects of water on the catalytic oxidation of aromatic hydrocarbons (e.g., benzene, toluene, o-xylene and styrene) were also investigated. Park and co-workers⁵³⁷ proposed that the presence of water vapor in the feed had a negative impact on the activity of 1.0 wt.% Pt/HRM(400) catalyst (HRM(400): acid-treated red mud calcined at 400 °C) in the oxidation of benzene, toluene, o-xylene and hexane. Similar results were also found over a Ru-5Co/TiO2 catalyst in benzene oxidation at low temperature (210 °C), whereas the catalytic efficiency was barely influenced at higher temperature (230 °C).¹⁰³⁵ Pan et al.¹⁰³⁶ revealed that presence of water vapor had a significant and negative effect on the catalytic activity of CuO/γ -Al₂O₃, CuO/SiO₂ and CuO/TiO₂ catalysts in styrene oxidation due to the competitive adsorption of water molecules. Among them, CuO/TiO₂ exhibited the best durability to water vapor, while CuO/ γ -Al₂O₃ had the poorest. Further studies revealed that the presence of water vapor had a negative effect on toluene oxidation activity over CuMn-based catalysts due to the competition of water and toluene molecules for adsorption on surface active sites.¹⁰³⁷ Similar results were also reported by Verykios and co-workers.¹⁰³⁸ Recent work reported by Li *et al.*³⁸¹ suggested that the water vapor had a significant negative influence on the activity of mesoporous Co₃O₄ catalysts in toluene oxidation (toluene conversion dropped from 90% to 61% in the presence of 5 vol.% of water vapor at 225 °C), while this effect could be fully eliminated after removing the water. The 101

inhibition effect of water vapor on toluene oxidaiton over CeO₂ hierarchical microspheres was also reported by Li and co-workers.¹⁰³⁹

The inbibition effects of water vapor on CVOCs were reported by different researchers. Bertinchamps *et al.*¹⁰⁴⁰ indicated that water had two negative effects on VO_x/TiO₂, VO_x-WO_x/TiO₂ and VO_x-MoO_x/TiO₂ catalysts in CB oxidation, that is, the reduction of the V phase and decrease in the number of strong BAS which were involved in the adsorption of CB. Dai *et al.*¹⁰⁴¹ reported that the presence of water not only obviously inhibited the oxidation of 1,2-DCE over VO_x/CeO₂ materials mainly due to the blockage or competitive adsorption of active sites, but had retarding effect on strong Brönsted acid sites from VO_x species. Their following work indicated that the presence of water also dramatically inhibited the activity of CeO₂@HZSM-5 for 1,2-DCE oxidation; however, water also completely suppressed the formation of PCHs by-products.⁸²⁴ A high Si : Al ratio can also improve the water-resistance due to the increase in hydrophobicity. Analogous results were obtained in 1,2-DCE and TCE incineration over Ce-Cr supported catalysts and Ce-Zr mixed oxides.^{830,837,1031}

Although water is commonly regarded as a poison in the catalytic oxidation of VOCs, in some cases, the presence of water vapor may be beneficial. Kullavanijaya et al.¹⁰⁴² reported that water enhanced the catalytic oxidation of cyclohexene over Pt and Rh catalysts on CeO₂-Al₂O₃ supports, possibly due to high activity of Rh and Pt for steam reforming. Dai and co-workers⁵⁰¹ proposed that the enhancement in catalytic activity for toluene oxidation over 0.27 wt.% Pt/3DOM 26.9CeO₂-Al₂O₃ in the presence of moisture could be ascribed to an enhanced reoxidation of reduced CeO₂ by water. Subsequent work from the same group also suggested that the presence of water vapor had a positive effect (beneficial to oxygen activation) and a negative effect (competitive adsorption of water and reactant molecules) on toluene oxidation over the Au-based catalysts.⁵²⁸ The positive effects of water vapor on the catalytic oxidation formaldehyde were reported. Wang et al.¹⁰⁴³ indicated that both surface bound water and atmospheric water compensated the consumed hydroxyl groups to sustain the oxidation of formaldehyde over birnessite. Additionally, atmospheric water stimulated the desorption of carbonate via a water competitive adsorption, leading to a recovery in the birnessite activity. Leung and co-workers¹⁰⁴⁴ reported that hydroxyl radicals (·OH) from water vapor dissociation favored the adsorption and transfer of oxygen on the Pd/TiO₂ catalysts, which enhanced formaldehyde oxidation.

For catalytic incineration of CVOCs, many researchers have demonstrated the positive role water can play in removing Cl⁻ from the active sites which prevents the deactivation of catalysts.^{932,1040} Zhang *et al.*¹⁰⁴⁵ revealed that a Pt-structured anodic Al₂O₃ catalyst also demonstrated a high chlorine-resistance under moisture atmospheres, as water promoted the reaction of DCM transformation to clean chloride by-products from active sites. H-zeolites were strongly hydrated restoring hydroxyl groups to maintain their activities under wet conditions.¹⁰⁴⁶

Water vapor can act as hydrolysing agent and a source of hydrogen to help decrease by-product formation. Abdullah *et al.*¹⁰⁴⁷ proposed that the presence of water increased the CO₂ yield in TCE oxidation over a H-ZSM-5 catalyst by supply of hydrogen and suppressing chlorine-transfer reactions. López-Fonseca *et al.*¹⁰⁴⁸ stated that the presence of water in the gaseous stream exhibited substantial beneficial effects on the performance of noble metal supported zeolite materials since water acted as an efficient cleaning agent for chlorine species from the surface of the catalysts. Furthermore, the addition of water was also important for producing the desired HCl rather than Cl₂, and the formation of tetrachloroethylene also considerably decrease. Analogous results were also reported by González-Marcos and co-workers,⁸⁷⁴ who found that the presence of water could promote complete oxidation of TCE to CO₂ and greatly improved HCl selectivity over Pt/Al₂O₃ and Pd/Al₂O₃ catalysts, while the selectivities to C₂Cl₄ and Cl₂ were greatly reduced.

In order to avoid the inhibition effect of water, hydrophobic supports have been utilized to expel water from catalyst surface. Wu and Chang⁵¹³ reported that the use of a Pt/SDB (SDB: porous styrene divinylbenzene copolymer) catalyst produced better result for toluene oxidation in presence of water, over which 100% conversion of toluene could be achieved at 150 °C (GHSV of 21,000 h⁻¹), much lower than other catalysts (Pt/AC01 and Pt/AC03) with less hydrophobic supports. Xia *et al.*³⁹⁴ revealed that the hydrophobicity and hydrothermal stability of Pt/MCM-41 catalysts could be increased when the MCM-41 was prepared in a fluoride medium, and found that this catalyst shows remarkable hydrothermal stability for toluene oxidation in the presence of 21,000 ppm of water. Chen *et al.*⁴⁹⁸ suggested that the Pt-R/Meso-KZSM-5 catalyst was extraordinarily stable and exhibited negligible inhibition by water during toluene oxidation which was assigned to the good hydrophobicity of zeolite with a high Si : Al ratio. Similar results for toluene oxidation over hydrophilic SiO₂-supported NiO or NiO-TiO₂ were reported by Kim and 103

co-workers.³⁰³ AC has also been reported to be a suitable support for catalysts in the complete oxidation of VOCs due to its hydrophobic character. For example, the activity of Pt-10Ce/C catalyst in ethanol and toluene oxidation is only slightly influenced by water vapor due to the hydrophobic character of AC support, which prevents the adsorption of water.⁶³¹

The role of water vapor in the catalytic oxidation of VOC is rather complex, particularly at low temperatures. As a consequence, the effect of water vapor on specific VOC-containing catalytic oxidation should be considered in the design of industrial pilot plants and practical applications.

5.2. Promotion effect of ozone

The use of ozone in catalytic oxidation is a promising new technology for VOC elimination as higher conversions can be achieved at lower reaction temperatures when compared with those conducted with molecular oxygen.¹⁰⁴⁹⁻¹⁰⁵¹ Ozone-induced active oxygen species on the surface of catalysts plays a significant role in VOC oxidation.¹⁰⁵² Previous work has indicated that using ozone can reduce the temperature required for oxidizing VOCs by approximately 200 K, and thus leading to increased energy efficiency.¹⁰⁵³ There are many examples which focus on the low-temperature oxidation of typical VOC pollutants (e.g., benzene,¹⁰⁵⁴⁻¹⁰⁵⁶ toluene,¹⁰⁵⁷⁻¹⁰⁵⁹ chlorobenzene,^{1060,1061} 1,2-dichloroethane,¹⁰⁶² dimethyl sulfide^{1063,1064} and naphthalene¹⁰⁶⁵) in ozone catalytic oxidation system.

SiO₂-supported catalysts are effective for ozone utilization because the catalysts exhibit a low ozone/VOC decomposition ratio compared with other supported catalysts. 5 wt.% Mn oxide supported on SiO₂, Al₂O₃, TiO₂ and ZrO₂, with 1000 ppm of ozone has been used to completely decompose 100 ppm of benzene at temperatures lower than 100 °C. Herein, SiO₂ was found to be the most efficient support.¹⁰⁵⁶ An excellent activity in the catalytic oxidation of benzene with ozone and a superior efficiency for ozone utilization was recently reported over a Mn/SiO₂ catalyst.¹⁰⁶⁶ Similar results were also revealed by Huang et al.^{1067,1068} in the catalytic ozonation of benzene. Catalyst surface area was found to be an important factor in obtaining high catalytic activity.^{1056,1069} Einaga *et al.*¹⁰⁷⁰ reported that manganese oxides dispersed on USY zeolite can completely oxidize benzene to CO and CO₂ in the presence of water vapor at room temperature. The high activity of Mn in the oxidation of VOCs can be attributed to the better capability for decomposition of ozone among transition metal oxides.¹⁰⁷¹ As a result of the decomposition of

ozone on Mn oxides, highly active oxygen species (peroxide and atomic oxygen) are formed which can contribute to oxidation of VOCs at low temperatures.¹⁰⁷² Teraoka and co-workers¹⁰⁷³ further proposed that the addition of Cu, Ni and Fe (especially Cu) to Mn oxides enhanced the activity and stability of the Mn/SiO₂ catalyst in benzene oxidation with ozone.

The effect of Mn loading (1, 5, 10 or 20 wt.%) on the total oxidation of toluene by ozone using Al₂O₃ supported manganese oxide catalysts was studied by Chen and co-workers.¹⁰⁵⁷ It was suggested that lower Mn loadings possess higher activity in the oxidation of toluene. Ozone decomposition was more facile over these materials resulting in higher rate of toluene oxidation. It is reported that the combination of transition metal oxides and noble metals can lead to an enhancement in overall catalytic activity in the oxidation of VOCs by oxygen.^{364,576} Rezaei's additional work¹⁰⁵⁸ found that the addition of Pt improves activity of Mn oxides, leading to complete conversion of toluene at 70 °C (WHSV of 300 L·g⁻¹·h⁻¹). However, Pd is found to be ineffective in enhancing activity of Mn oxides, mainly due to a lack of atomic interaction between Pd and Mn. They proposed that the interaction between Pt and Mn occurred via the surface oxygen of Mn oxide clusters. The increasing dispersion of Pt atoms in the presence of Mn, and interaction with Mn increased the electron occupancy of Mn 3d orbital, which was more favorable for the decomposition of ozone and consequently oxidation of toluene. Teramoto et al.¹⁰⁵⁹ combined the advantageous of a ZrCeO_x solid solution (superior oxygen storage capacity) and SiO₂ (large suface), and found that Zr_{0.77}Ce_{0.23}O₂-SiO₂ provides the best resulted in terms of toluene conversion and CO₂ selectivity. The authors indicated that the catalyst performance in toluene decomposition significantly depended on the capability of catalyst to retain the active oxygen species formed by ozone.

CNTs have been reported to be an excellent VOC adsorbent and the addition of CNTs into metal oxide catalysts can promote VOC oxidation.^{1074,1075} MnO_x/CNTs materials were prepared by an impregnation method and their catalytic oxidation performances of CB with the assistance of ozone were investigated. The results suggested that ozone efficiently promoted CB catalytic oxidation over MnO_x/CNTs, and CO₂ selectivity above 95% could be achieved at 80 °C (GHSV of $36,000 \text{ h}^{-1}$). Moreover, MnO_x/CNTs catalysts showed good stability and resistance to chlorine poisoning in presence of ozone.¹⁰⁶¹ The promotion effect of ozone on CB oxidation over CuO_x/CNTs was also reported.¹⁰⁷⁶

5.3. Existence of NO_x

Berinchamps *et al.*^{1077,1078} reported that the presence of NO induced an increase in CB conversion over VO_x/TiO₂, VO_x-WO_x/TiO₂ and VO_x-MoO_x/TiO₂ catalysts. CB conversion continued to increase dramatically when a higher NO concentration was implemented. They proposed that the vanadia phase firstly gave its lattice oxygen to oxidize CB following the Mars van Krevelen mechanism. In parallel, the NO was oxidized into NO₂ principally on the doped phase of WO_x or MoO_x. The *in situ* produced NO₂ was then able to replace or assist O₂ in the reoxidation of the reduced vanadia sites, leading to the regeneration of active vanadia sites. These could once again relinquish their lattice oxygen atoms leading to the liberation of NO in the same amount as it had been introduced in the stream. This higher oxidation capacity of NO₂ than O₂ in the first step, which corresponds to the increase in CB conversion.¹⁰⁷⁸ Zhang and co-workers¹⁰⁷⁹ proposed that the existence of NO_x could dramatically promote the oxidation of methanol as demonsrated by the reduced reaction temperature and significantly enhanced CO₂ selectivity.

Mrad *et al.*¹⁰²⁹ found that the existence of NO can compete with propene for the active metal sites causing a reduction in propene conversion over CuMgAlFeO_x hydrotalcite-like catalysts. Similar results were also obtained by Samojeden and co-workers¹⁰⁸⁰ who revealed that the conversion of ethanol on the modified layered aluminosilicates decreases slightly in the presence of NO_x. However, the presence of NO_x in the reaction mixture does not affect the stability of the used catalysts.

5.4. Mutual effect of miscellaneous VOCs

Generally, industrial flue gas streams contain a mixture of VOCs with different physical and chemical properties (Table S3) rather than a single compound. Special attention has been paid to the relatively few scientific studies involving mixtures of VOCs since the catalytic reaction of a component in a mixture cannot be predicted solely from the behavior of the individual components. To understand the mutual effects of representative VOCs contained in industrial exhausts is extremely important especially when one component of a gas stream is significantly more toxic than other components, and research on its behavior in mixtures is not available.

The presence of other molecules usually inhibits the oxidation of VOCs attributed to the

competition among different VOC pollutants and reaction intermediates for adsorption sites.^{203,1081} In the vast majority of cases, aromatic hydrocarbons demonstrate significant inhibition effects on aliphatic hydrocarbons. Burgos et al.¹⁰⁸² found that catalytic oxidation rate of 2-propanol over a Pt-Al₂O₃/Al monolith significantly decreased in the presence of toluene and MEK due to the competitive adsorption over Pt sites. Similarly, the inhibition effect of o-xylene on the catalytic oxidation of isopropanol over NaX zeolite was reported by Magnoux and co-workers.¹⁰³⁰ The authors demonstrated that the concentration of *o*-xylene influenced the formation of secondary products (e.g., propene and coke) resulting from the isopropanol transformation. More recently, a significant inhibition effect of o-xylene in the oxidation of cyclooctane was proposed by Bozga and co-workers.¹⁰⁸³ Santos et al.⁵⁷⁹ reported that toluene inhibited both EA and ethanol oxidation (especially for EA) over a cryptomelane catalyst. On the contrary, toluene oxidation is only slightly inhibited by the presence of EA, while the presence of ethanol has a promoting effect. Co-existence of EA and ethanol has a mutual inhibitory effect on each other, which is more evident in the case of EA.⁵⁷⁹ Reciprocal inhibition effects of EA and ethanol as well as the suppressive effect of toluene on EA and ethanol over MnO_x/γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst were also revealed by Cadús and co-workers.¹⁰⁸⁴ Our previous work demonstrated that propanal oxidation over CuCeO_x mixed oxides could be remarkably suppressed by introduction of toluene, while the presence of propanal had a negligible effect on toluene oxidation (Fig. 30).449 Dangi et al.¹⁰⁸⁵ found that methyl tert-butyl ether conversion was distinctly inhibited by benzene over a monolith Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst, while no inhibition effects were seen for methyl *tert*-butyl ether on benzene.

The co-existence of aromatic hydrocarbons can lead to the inhibition of each other when they reacted together. Ordóñez *et al.*¹⁰⁸⁶ reported that the presence of both benzene and toluene inhibited the conversion of each other over Pt/γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst. In addition, *n*-hexane did not affect the conversion of benzene and toluene, while the presence of benzene or toluene inhibited the oxidation of *n*-hexane. Similar results regarding the mutual suppressive effects of benzene and toluene were also reported in our previous work.¹⁰⁸⁷ It was found that EA demonstrated a clear inhibitory effect on benzene oxidation, while EA had a promoting effect on toluene conversion.

The existence of hydrogen-containing aliphatic/aromatic hydrocarbons has different effects on the oxidation of CVOCs. Gutiérrez-Ortiz *et al.*²⁰³ proposed that 1,2-DCE, TCE, and *n*-hexane
inhibited each other over $Ce_xZr_{1-x}O_2$ mixed oxides due to competitive adsorption. Additionally, selectivity to HCl during the oxidation of 1,2-DCE or TCE was noticeably enhanced when *n*-hexane was co-fed into the reaction. Similar results were also found using other H-rich additives such as toluene and water in 1,2-DCE or TCE oxidation.^{953,955} Wang *et al.*⁷⁷⁴ found that the addition of toluene had no effect on the decomposition of CH₂Cl₂, although it suppressed CH₃Cl formation.

The catalytic oxidation of CB on a Pt/y-Al₂O₃ catalyst in binary mixtures with various hydrocarbons (e.g., toluene, benzene, cyclohexane, cyclohexene, 1,4-cyclohexadiene, 2-butene and ethene) was explored. Herein, it was found that the addition of hydrocarbons increases the rate of conversion of CB. The co-feeding of hydrocarbons invariably reduces the output of polychlorinated benzenes, especially for toluene, ethene, and 2-butene.¹⁰⁸⁸ Similarly, the promotion effects of other VOCs (e.g., toluene, ethanol and acetone) on the catalytic oxidation of reported.¹⁰⁸⁹ TCE and Pt-Pd-based catalysts have trichloromethane over been Musialik-Piotrowska and Mendyka¹⁰⁹⁰ stated that both hydrocarbons and ethanol enhanced CB oxidation over Pt-based catalyst, while 1,2-DCE conversion was inhibited in the presence of these additives. The promotional effects seen with the presence of heptanes in CB oxidation over Pt/γ-Al₂O₃ catalysts were also reported by Brink et al.¹⁰⁹¹ and Jong et al.¹⁰⁹² Magnoux and co-workers¹⁰⁹³ revealed that the presence of benzofuran in a benzofuran/o-DCB mixture clearly improved the conversion of chlorinated compounds, decreased the production of chlorinated by-products and enhanced the selectivity to CO₂.

The mutual effect of VOC mixtures is also dependant on catalyst type and component. Activity of two noble metal catalysts (Pt and Pd) supported on a metallic monolith and perovskite (La_{0.5}Ag_{0.5}MnO₃) on a cordierite monolith was comprehensively tested in the oxidation of toluene, *n*-heptane, ethanol, ethyl acetate, acetone, MEK and TCE.¹⁰⁸¹ The results indicated that each compound in the reaction mixtures strongly enhances TCE oxidation only over Pt catalyst. Alternatively, the promoting effect on TCE oxidation over Pd catalystis only observed for toluene and ethanol. Over La_{0.5}Ag_{0.5}MnO₃ supported catalyst, all non-chlorinated compounds are found to inhibit TCE oxidation. The presence of TCE is found to inhibit the oxidation of all compounds added over both noble metal catalysts; however, it has no influence on ethanol, ethyl acetate, acetone, and MEK oxidation over the perovskite supported catalyst.¹⁰⁸¹

The above results demonstrate that it is necessary to carefully select not only the catalyst to be used but also the reaction conditions when treating industrial flue gases containing different mixtures of organic compounds and chlorinated hydrocarbons.

6. Catalyst deactivation and regeneration

6.1. Catalyst coking, poisoning and sintering

A promising catalyst for industrial applications should present not only high catalytic activity, but also good stability and durability. However, most catalysts suffer from different kinds of deactivation such as coking, poisoning and thermal sintering under operating conditions of catalytic VOC oxidation.¹⁰⁹⁴ Carbonaceous deposits (coking) on the catalyst often occur with the oxidation of VOCs and can lead to a loss in oxidation activity of the catalysts. Active sites poisoned by chloride, sulfide, nitride, bromide or other reaction intermidiates have been widely reported and studied in VOC oxidation,^{228,909,975,1095-1097} especially for the heteroatom-containing VOCs. Coking and poisoning can disable active sites and/or obstruct the pores of catalyst. The selectivity in oxidation reactions may also be altered as the former may decrease the effective diffusivity of reactants and products while the latter may reduce the intrinsic rate of formation of reaction products. A catalyst can also be deactivated by the loss of active sites or a change in relative distribution of active sites due to the structural changes of the catalyst caused by thermal sintering.¹⁰⁹⁴

Intermediates produced during VOC oxidation are one of the major sources of catalyst deactivation (coking).^{1098,1099} Ihm *et al.*¹¹⁰⁰ found that the deactivation during oxidation of *n*-hexane over Pd/Al₂O₃ was mainly due to the formation of carbonaceous intermediates. Antunes *et al.*¹¹⁰¹ reported that the carbonaceous deposits, mainly composed of aromatic hydrocarbons and oxygenated aromatic compounds (the latter being predominant at low temperature), were usually found inside the pores of Cu/NaHY catalysts during the deep oxidation of toluene. The increase of Cu content promoted the oxidation of toluene and facilitates the removal of coke. Dégé *et al.*⁵⁴⁷ proposed that the formation of coke over Pd/HFAU catalysts in xylene oxidation was attributed to the acidic properties of catalyst (the lower the number of acid sites and the slower the coke formation). Our previous work also found that the zeolites with higher acidity facilitated the formation of coke in deep oxidation of benzene, toluene and EA.¹⁶⁸ Two types of coke, that is,

"light coke" (monoaromatic polysubstituted compounds) and "hard coke" (polyaromatic compounds), were revealed by Ribeiro and co-workers¹¹⁰² in the deep oxidation of methyl cyclohexane with HUSY zeolites. Similar results were also reported by Hosseini *et al.*²³⁹ for propene and toluene oxidation over Au-Pd loaded TiO₂ catalysts.

The influence of chlorine on catalysts is a major problem leading to deactivation in the oxidation of CVOCs. The majority of catalysts used for the oxidation of CVOCs were deactivated to different extents by chlorine attack.^{46,830,854} Zeolites with high specific surface areas, variable pore structures and remarkable acidic properties present excellent catalytic performance for CVOC oxidation.²²⁷ However, zeolite catalysts are usually subjected to coking and/or chlorine poisoning during the oxidation processes. The effect of coking on the stability of H-zeolites depends strongly on their pore channel structure. The detrimental effect chlorine, specifically over the BAS, is most severe when oxidizing molecules with a H : Cl ratio < 1, since the hydrogen atoms present are not sufficient to restore the consumed hydroxyl groups.^{854,1046,1103} Wu and co-workers⁷⁸² found that coking was the primary reason for Fe-O/HZSM-5 catalyst in the oxidation of DCM which was attributed to its lower oxidation capacity toward the intermediate products. Cu-O/HZSM-5 catalyst was found to be severely poisoned by chlorine species owing to the formation of stable Cu(OH)Cl species. Aranzabal et al.¹⁰⁴⁶ revealed that both coke formation and chlorine poisoning were the causes of H-zeolites (H-ZSM-5, H-MOR and H-BEA) rapid deactivation during TCE oxidation. Chlorine atoms cause the irreversible deactivation of zeolites by attacking the BAS, leading to structural changes. Subsequent work confirmed that the deactivation of H-zeolites in TCE oxidation leads to a decrease in the selectivity to HCl and CO₂, and an increase in the selectivity to tetrachloroethylene and tetrachloromethane.⁸⁶²

Sulfur-containing VOCs may deactivate the catalyst and reduce the efficacy of catalytic incineration. It is reported that the poisoning effects of sulfur is more apparent for Al₂O₃-supported catalysts than those of silica-supported catalysts.¹⁵⁹ Yu *et al.*¹¹⁰⁴ attributed the poisoning effect of sulfur on Pd/Al₂O₃ to the formation of aluminum sulfate above 473 K. Chu *et al.*^{1105,1106} also concluded that (CH₃)₂S and C₂H₅SH had poisoning effects on Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst, especially at low temperatures. Darif *et al.*⁹⁸⁴ revealed that doping of SiO₂ over Al₂O₃ leaded to a more selective and stable catalyst for dimethyl disulfide oxidation. Recently, their additional work has confirmed that sulfate formation during dimethyl disulfide oxidation was one of the most

important contributing factors in the deactivation of industrially aged Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst.⁹⁷⁵

Catalysts can also be deactivated by thermal sintering, which re-disperses active sites and alters the physicochemical properties of catalysts.^{87,753} Catalytic oxidation of benzofuran and a benzofuran/*o*-DCB binary mixture over zeolite catalysts was investigated by Magnoux and co-workers.¹⁰⁹³ It was found that 1.2 wt.% Pt/HY catalyst initially deactivated during the first 24 h reaction due to Pt sintering, leading to a collapse of the cristallinity of the zeolite. Zhang *et al.*⁸³⁹ proposed that the coking and chlorine attack were not the main reasons for LaMnO₃ catalyst deactivation in VC oxidation, but rather parameters such as lower specific surface area, weakened low-temperature reducibility, lower Mn⁴⁺/Mn³⁺ molar ratio and inhibited surface oxygen mobility of the used catalyst caused by sintering.

Catalyst deactivation can also be attributed to the presence of water in exhaust gases or water formed *in situ* during VOC oxidation reactions. However, water can also play a positive role in the case of CVOC oxidation, namely, removing deposited chlorine on catalyst surface as well as reacting with chlorine to produce HCl by the Deacon reaction.^{874,932} Dai *et al.*⁸⁵⁴ reported that trichloroethlyene oxidation was inhibited at lower water concentrations (3%), but enhanced to a certain extent at higher water concentrations (12%). Additionally, HCl selectivity was much improved with the addition of water to the feed by combination of hydrogen species with surface bound chlorine. Wu and co-workers⁹⁰⁹ found that the presence of water could not only protect the active sites of $Mn_{0.8}Ce_{0.2}O_2$ from accumulated chlorine poisoning, but acted as H·and OH·radical source to deeply oxidize CB over $Mn_xCe_{1-x}O_2/H$ -ZSM5. Guillemot *et al.*¹¹⁰³ proposed that water vapor played an important role in tetrachloroethylene oxidation and limited catalysts (Pt/HY, Pt/NaY, and Pt/NaX) deactivation by acting as metallic site cleanser.

6.2. Catalyst regeneration

The economical feasibility of any industrial catalytic process is based on the catalyst activity, selectivity, and durability, but also on the possibility of regeneration (or reactivation) and reuse. The ability to regenerate a catalyst depends upon the reversibility of the deactivation process. Several approaches, such as heat treatment, ozone oxidation, chemical regeneration and oxygen plasma treatment, are available for the regeneration of catalysts.

Carbonaceous deposits are relatively easily removed through gasification with H₂, O₂, water or

O₃. The temperature required to gasify these deposits varies with the type of gas, the structure and reactivity of the deposits, and the activity of catalyst. In general, carbonaceous deposits can be rapidly removed with oxygen at moderate temperatures (400-600 °C).^{1107,1108} Kim and Shim¹¹⁰⁹ found that the air pretreatment significantly enhanced the catalytic activity of the spent Fe-based catalysts in toluene oxidation at 400 °C. However, their results indicated that the hydrogen pretreatment had a negative effect on catalytic activity due to the formation of metallic Fe. Han et al.¹¹¹⁰ proposed that the NiO/SiO₂ catalyst in toluene oxidation could be regularly regenerated under reaction conditions at 450 °C. Duprez and co-workers¹¹¹¹ also indicated that the carbonaceous deposits over a PtCe catalyst could be totally removed by diluted oxygen at moderate temperature. Deactivated industrial catalysts (by carbon or coking) were usually regenerated in air. However, because of the exothermic nature of the combustion reaction, particular attention must be given to regeneration conditions, that is, oxygen should be diluted with an inert gas and the regeneration temperature should be carefully controlled to prevent overheating and subsequent thermal degradation of the catalyst.¹¹⁰⁷ Alternatively, regeneration by ozone is an attractive low temperature process for coke removal due to the high oxidizing activity of this compound.¹¹¹²⁻¹¹¹⁵ For instance, Copperthwaite et al.¹¹¹³ showed that an ozone-enriched oxygen treatment could restore activity of deactivated ZSM-5 zeolite under mild conditions (150 °C), while a temperature of about 450 °C was necessary with oxygen only.

Catalyst sintering is generally irreversible. However, metal redispersion is possible under certain conditions in selected noble metal systems. The reactivation of thermally sintered Pt/Al₂O₃ catalysts used in the simultaneous oxidation of CO and propene has been achieved by an oxychlorination treatment.¹¹¹⁶ The redispersion mechanism of Pt clusters is broadly accepted on an atomic scale by the formation of chloride-containing surface complex [Pt^{IV}O_xCl_y]s.¹¹¹⁷

Some poisons such as chlorine can be selectively removed by chemical washing or heat treatments. Vu *et al.*⁷⁶⁸ reported that the activity of a partially deactivated MnCuO_x/TiO₂ catalyst (due to the formation of oxychlorinated Cu and Mn species) during CB oxidation could be recovered by treatment in air at 350 °C. Gallastegi-Villa *et al.*^{1118,1119} proposed that wet air was more effective (especially at higher temperature) than dry air to regenerate catalytic activity of H-Beta in 1,2-DCE and TCE oxidation as it aided both coke and chlorine removal.

6.3. Anti-deactivation catalysts

The stability of the catalyst is clearly a determining factor in industrial applications. Chen et al.¹¹²⁰ reported a porous Co-Cu-Mn/ZSM-5 membrane/PSSF catalyst. It was found that the catalyst possessed an excellent reaction stability, demonstrated by a high catalytic activity (90%) during the 550 h long-term catalytic oxidation of 2-propanol. The superior catalytic stability of 1.6Au/CeO₂ catalyst for 2-propanol oxidation at different reaction temperatures (120 and 150 °C) was reported by Liu and Yang.⁶³⁶ Abdelouahab-Reddam et al.⁶³¹ revealed that the Pt-10Ce/Carbon catalysts showed no deactivation during a test for 100 h in ethanol and toluene oxidation. Furthermore, humid conditions had an insignificant influence on this catalyst. Recently, Ye and co-workers⁵⁰² presented a highly stable Pt/CeO₂-1.8 catalyst, which could work properly for 120 h with different toluene inlet concentrations and be completely negligible for 5 vol% water vapour at 155 °C. Other catalysts such as Au/3DOM LaCoO3 and Co3O4/3DOM La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO₃ with satified reaction stability in the oxidation of toluene were also reported.^{395,436} Rei and co-workers¹¹²¹ proposed that the Pt/h-BN (hexagonal boron nitride) was a very active and stable catalyst for VOC oxidation even under a high temperature environment (500 °C) owing to the high thermal conductivity and water resistant ability of h-BN.

Chlorine attack is a primary reason for catalyst deactivation during CVOC oxidation. In recent years, several kinds of catalysts with high resistence to chlorine poisoning and coking were reported. Liu and co-workers⁴¹⁸ indicated that the SnO_x-MnO_x-TiO₂ catalysts had excellent anti-deactivation ability during CB oxidation due to the lower average energy required to desorb Cl species and to the absence of MnO_xCl_v on the active sites during the reaction. Wu et al.⁹¹⁰ developed a Mn-Ce-Mg/Al₂O₃ catalyst which presented high CB oxidation stability at 400 °C (no deactivation could be found during 1000 h reaction). Besides, the superior catalytic stability of MnO_x/TiO_2^{881} , $MnCeLaO_x^{905}$ and $Ru/Ti-CeO_2^{887}$ for CB destruction were reported. Recently, Dai et al.⁸²⁴ developed a sandwich-structured CeO₂@HZSM-5 core-shell composite, and found that this catalyst had good activity and resistance to coking and chlorine poisoning in catalytic oxidation of 1,2-DCE (Fig. 31i and ii). This was due to the formed non-activated coke species and polyaromatic species being more easily removed via an in situ oxidation by the active oxygen species from CeO₂. The exposed HZSM-5 is also tolerant to the chlorination of acid sites and prevents the direct adsorption of HCl on CeO₂. Zhou and co-workers¹¹²² revealed that the addition 113

of CeO₂ or/and CuO obviously improved the durability of USY material in 1,2-DCE long-term oxidation because of the slight coke deposition and preserved high density of acid sites (Fig. 31iii). In their following work, the authors proposed that the strong interaction between Cr₂O₃ and CeO₂, along with the synergy between Cr₂O₃-CeO₂ and USY zeolite resulted in less coke deposit and slight HCl attack on the Cr₂O₃-CeO₂/USY catalysts and improved resistance to chlorination of active components.⁸⁶⁶ Similar synergistic effects among CeO₂, Cr₂O₃, and HZSM-5 zeolite in the oxidaiton of CVOCs (1,2-dichloroethane, dichloromethane, and trichloroethylene) were also proved by the same group.⁸⁵⁵

7. Oxidation kinetics and mechanism

7.1. Kinetic models

In general, three models are adopted to explain the mechanism of deep catalytic oxidation of VOCs, that is, the Langmuir-Hinshelwood (L-H) model, Eley-Rideal (E-R) model, and Mars-van Krevelen (MVK) model. The validity of each model strongly depends on the characteristics of catalysts as well as the nature of the VOCs being studied. Amongst, the MVK model has been widely used for kinetics modeling of hydrocarbon oxidation reactions, especially over metal oxide catalysts.

The L-H model assumes that the reaction occurs between the adsorbed oxygen species and adsorbed VOC molecules, and the controlling step of this model is the surface reaction between these two adsorbed molecules. The L-H model can be respectively subdivided into the single site L-H model and duel site L-H model according to VOC molecules and oxygen species adsorb on analogous active sites or different active sites. Hosseini *et al.*¹¹²³ reported that the oxidation reaction of toluene and propene over Pd-Au/TiO₂ catalysts followed the L-H model where the molecules of oxygen and VOC were in competition for adsorption on the surface of catalyst. Tseng and Chu¹¹²⁴ proposed that the catalytic oxidation of styrene over MnO/Fe₂O₃ could be described by the L-H model. Garetto and Apesteguía³⁶⁹ found that benzene oxidation on Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst proceeded *via* an L-H mechanism, and similar results were also obtained by Danciu and co-workers¹¹²⁵ for methyl isobutyl ketone oxidation. Tseng *et al.*¹¹²⁷ compared that the kinetic behavior of methyl isobutyl ketone oxidation could be accounted for by the MVK model and L-H model (molecular oxygen adsorption). Heynderickx *et al.*¹¹²⁷ compared the L-H, E-R, and MVK

models for predicting the oxidation kinetics of propane over CuO-CeO₂/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalysts, and found that the L-H rate equation provided the best description of the experimental data. Oxidation of propane was also studied by Kaichev *et al.*^{123,1128} over a nickel foil. The team proposed that the oxidation over metallic Ni surface occurred *via* the L-H mechanism, whereas the MVK mechanism prevailed when the reaction proceeded over NiO. Todorova *et al.*¹¹²⁹ reported that the oxidation of *n*-hexane over single component manganese and bi-component Co-Mn catalysts proceeded through the MVK mechanism, while the L-H mechanism was more probable for the Co sample.

Based on the E-R model, the oxidation reaction occurs between adsorbed oxygen species and gas phase reactant molecules (or between adsorbed reactant and gas phase oxygen). The controlling step of the E-R model is the reaction between an adsorbed molecule and a molecule from the gas phase. The E-R rate expression was found to be appropriate to describe the kinetics of cyclohexane oxidation over Co/AC catalysts.²¹⁸ Aranzabal *et al*.^{1130,1131} proposed that a five-step reaction network scheme, based on the E-R model, provided an accurate correlation of the experimental data for TCE oxidation over Pd/Al₂O₃ catalyst. Recently, Bozga and co-workers¹⁰⁸³ revealed that cyclooctane oxidized over Pt/γ-Al₂O₃ followed the E-R type mechanism, whereas the *o*-xylene combustion was explained by the L-H scheme.

The MVK model (two-step redox model) assumes that the reaction occurs between the oxygen-enriched sites of catalyst and adsorbed VOC molecules. The adsorbed VOC molecules react with oxygen species in the catalyst, resulting in the reduction of the metal oxide. And then, the reduced sites are reoxidized immediately by the gas phase oxygen present in the feed. The reduction and oxidation rates must be equal in a steady state, and the VOC oxidation rate can be expressed by the following equation according to the MVK model:

$$-r_{\rm V} = \frac{K_{\rm O}K_{\rm V}P_{\rm O}P_{\rm V}}{P_{\rm O}P_{\rm V} + \delta K_{\rm O}K_{\rm V}}$$

where, $-r_V$: reaction rate (mol·m⁻³·s⁻¹); K_O , K_V : rate constant of catalyst reoxidation and VOC oxidation, respectively; P_O , P_V : reaction partial pressure of O₂ and VOC reactant, respectively; δ : stoichiometry coefficient of O₂ in VOC oxidation.

Kinetic behaviors of VOC oxidation over metal oxide-based catalysts are usually described by the MVK model. Genuino *et al.*⁵⁴¹ indicated that catalytic oxidation of benzene, toluene,

ethylbenzene and xylenes over Mn oxide and Cu-Mn mixed oxide proceeded via the MVK mechanism. Similar results were obtained by Kim and Shim¹¹³² for catalytic oxidation of benzene, toluene, and o-xylene over Ce-Cu/y-Al₂O₃ catalysts. Catalytic oxidation of EA and toluene over Cu-Ce-Zr-ZSM-5/TiO₂,³⁸² Au/MO_x (M = Cu, Fe, La, Mg, Ni, and Y)⁵¹⁶ or Pd/ZSM-5¹⁰⁸⁷ obeyed the MVK scheme. In additon, the catalytic oxidation behaviours of toluene over Ce-Co/La-Co mixed oxides,⁴²⁹ Co₃O₄/La-CeO₂¹¹³³ and Cu-Mn spinels¹¹³⁴ can be interpreted by the MVK model. Li et al.¹¹³⁵ revealed that the catalytic combustion of benzene over the NiMnO₃/CeO₂/Cordierite catalyst obeyed the MVK mechanism. Arzamendi et al.¹¹³⁶ found that the catalytic oxidation of MEK over Pd-Mn/Al₂O₃ catalysts could be explained by the MVK model. The applicability of MVK model in complete combustion of propane and MEK over Cr/ZrO₂ was proved by Choudhary and Deshmukh.¹¹³⁷ Catalytic oxidation of propene over Au-MO_x/Al₂O₃ (M = Ce, Mn, Co, and Fe),²³⁵ Cr/saponite¹¹³⁸ or α-Fe₂O₃ films¹¹³⁹ followed the MVK mechanism, and the destruction behaviours of other oxygen-containing hydrocarbons (dimethyl ether over transition metals (Fe, Co, Ni, Cu and Cr) cryptomelane-type manganese,¹¹⁴⁰ methanol over Pd/Y⁵⁹⁸ and 2-propanol over Cu-Co mixed oxides⁶⁴³) and alkanes (isobutene over Au-MO_x/CeO₂ (M = Mn, Fe, Co, and Ni)⁸⁸ and *n*-hexane over γ -MnO₂¹¹⁴¹) are also proved to be reasonably fitted by the MVK model.

7.2. VOC oxidation mechanism

Confirmation of the surface oxidation mechanisms of VOCs over heterogeneous catalysts is of great importance to supplement catalyst design. However, many factors such as the catalyst elemental composition, the catalyst physicochemical properties, the pollutant composition and reaction condition can all drastically influence the surface mechanisms taking place. Below are some pertinent examples of reaction mechanism determined over various catalysts for a range of different VOCs.

7.2.1. Aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons

7.2.1.1. Propane

Garetto *et al.*¹⁵⁷ reported on the catalytic oxidation mechanism of propane over Pt/zeolite (HY, ZSM-5, Beta and KL) catalysts (Fig. 32i). It was proposed that the rate-determining step was the dissociative chemisorption of propane on Pt, which involved the cleavage of the weakest C-H

bond followed by its subsequent interaction with oxygen atoms adsorbed on adjacent sites. In a parallel oxidation pathway, propane was adsorbed and activated on surface sites in the metal-oxide interfacial region and reacted with oxygen spilled-over from Pt.

7.2.1.2. Ethylene and propene

A generalized mechanism for the catalytic oxidation of ethylene over Ag/zeolite (ZSM-5, Beta, Y and Mordenite) catalysts was proposed by Yang *et al.*²⁵⁶ (Fig 32ii). In this mechanism, its proposed that the overall reaction occurs in four steps: (1) the adsorption and activation of ethylene on a Brønsted acid site in the Ag/zeolite catalyst, leading to the formation of an adsorbed ethylene species; (2) the attack of an active oxygen species on this adsorbed ethylene species; (3) C-C cleavage in the adsorbed ethylene species to produce formaldehyde; (4) oxidation of these surface-bound formaldehyde species into carbonic acid, which undergoes sequential oxidation to CO_2 and H_2O .

The mechanisms of propene oxidation over various catalysts (Pt/Al₂O₃, Pt/BaO/Al₂O₃ and Pt/SO₄²⁻/Al₂O₃) were proposed by Weng and co-workers.²²⁸ In this study, it was porposed that propene adsorbed on Pt/Al₂O₃, proceeds from acrylates tocarboxylates and formates, before finally undergoing oxidation into CO₂ and H₂O. Over Pt/BaO/Al₂O₃ however, BaO modification leads to the formation of a more reactive enolic species, making sequential oxidation more favourable. The formation of active oxygen species was also observed at the Pt-Ba interface, leading to an increase in the oxidation rate of CO. For the Pt/SO₄²⁻/Al₂O₃ sample, di- σ bonded propene was strongly adsorbed on the catalytic surface, leading to a suppression in the oxygen activation on Pt. Therefore, initial oxidation occured through the consumption of S=O bond to provide necessary O atoms. The intermediate CO resulted in Pt poisoning, blocking the Pt sites for further propene oxidation, until operating at high reaction temperature (Fig. 32iii).

7.2.1.3. Benzene and toluene

The reaction mechanism for benzene oxidation over a MnO_x/TiO₂ catalyst was studied by Zhu and co-workers,²⁹⁶ the observations of which were acquired from *in situ* FTIR experiments. As shown in Fig. 33, benzene first reacts with the active Mn center, giving a phenolate species with two conjugated structures. The oxygen-containing group was considered to act as an electron-donatorand ortho-para positioned director; the phenolate species could be easily oxidized

into *o*-benzoquinone and *p*-benzoquinone. Following this, the ring opening occurred with the catalyst promoting and the attack of the active oxygen species, affording the small molecule intermediates such as maleate and acetate species before undergoing sequential oxidation (CO, CO_2 , and H_2O).

Liao *et al.*⁵¹ reported that toluene adsorbs on the surface of polyhedra MnO_x catalysts and is partially oxidized to benzyl alcohol, which can transform into benzaldehyde and benzoic acid. By increasing the reaction temperature, the benzene ring opens to form maleic anhydride, which can then undergo sequential oxidation to CO_2 and H_2O .

7.2.3. Heteroatom-containing VOCs

7.2.3.1. Ethanol and 2-propanol

Zhou *et al.*⁶¹⁸ suggested that ethanol could be oxidized to produce acetaldehyde and acetic acid over nano-CeO₂ catalysts because of the existence of surface active oxygen species (O*). In addition to various condensation products such as ethyl acetate, acetal and ethyl ether were also detected, the formation of which was attributed to the presence of acid/base sites (A/Bc) on the surface catalyst. It was confirmed that ethanol, the oxidation intermediates and condensation products could all be oxidized to produce CO_2 in air; a high CO_2 selectivity was therefore observed (Fig. 34i).

A reaction mechanism for the oxidation of 2-propanol over Au/CeO₂ catalysts was proposed by Liu and Yang (Fig. 34ii).⁶³⁶ The authors indicated that the mechanism begins with the dissociative adsorption of gaseous 2-propanol to produce 2-propoxide surface species. From this intermediate, it was postulated that 2-propoxide either undergoes dehydration to propene over strong acid sites or dehydrogenation over moderate/weak acid sites or strong basic sites. In this example, the former reaction is dominant.

7.2.3.2. Formaldehyde and acetaldehyde

The mechanism for the catalytic oxidation of formaldehyde over TiO_2 supported with Pt, Rh, Pd and Au catalysts was proposed by Zhang and He.⁶⁵⁸ It was determined that that formaldehyde is first oxidized into surface dioxymethylene species and subsequently, formate species, which decompose to form surface-bound CO species (rate-determining step in the formaldehyde oxidation mechanism) before finally being oxidized to CO_2 (Fig. 35i). In our previous work, we

determined that $Co_3O_4\{110\}$ facets composed mainly of Co^{3+} cations over Au/Co₃O₄ and Au/Co₃O₄-CeO₂ catalysts were the active site in formaldehyde oxidation,⁶⁹⁸ over which formaldehyde could be oxidized to formate, further oxidized to carbonate is finally dissociated to CO₂ (Fig. 35ii). Liu *et al.*¹¹⁴³ demonstrated that formic acid and formate are the primary intermediates for formaldehyde oxidation. The formate can then undergo transformation into the corresponding carbonate and hydrocarbonate, which can also lead to incomplete oxidation and the deposition of carbon on the surface of CeO₂ support (Fig. 35ii).

Tada and co-workers⁷⁰⁷ proposed a reaction mechanism for the total oxidation of acetaldehyde over Au/TiO₂ materials (Fig. 36). They demonstrated that acetaldehyde and O₂ were firstly adsorbed at the dual perimeter sites of Au/TiO₂ catalyst, over which acetaldehyde was thermocatalyzed by adsorbed O₂, yielding acetic acid. The formed acetic acid moved to the TiO₂ surface where surface Ti⁴⁺ ions and bridged oxygen can act as a Lewis acid or base sites. The acetate ion and proton derived from the dissociation of acetic acid is strongly adsorbed on surface Lewis acid and base sites. Upon heating to 548 K, the adsorbed acetic acid undergoes decomposed to CO₂ and H₂O *via* a gold ketenylidene intermediate species by thermocatalysis over Au/TiO₂.

7.2.3.3. Methyl ethyl ketone

We have previously reported on the reaction mechanism for the oxidation of methyl ethyl ketone (MEK) over Pd/ZSM-5 and Pd-Ce/ZSM-5 (PC_xZ) catalysts.³¹ We determined that the introduction of CeO₂ increased the number of by-products formed in the reaction. Ce-containing catalysts promoted the dehydration of a reaction intermediate (3-hydroxybutan-2-one) to form acetaldehyde, which lead to the formation of numerous secondary products such as acetone, 1-penten-3-one and 3-buten-2-one, 3-methyl.

In more recent work, we have investigated the catalytic oxidation of MEK over Pt/K-Al-SiO₂ nanorods (Fig. 37). The MEK molecules firstly adsorb onto Brønsted acid sites on the catalyst surface, before the monodispersed metallic Pt located in close proximity to surface K, interacts with the MEK leading to its oxidation. MEK was converted into 2,3-butandiol and diacetyl *via* 2-butanol and acetoin intermediates. The 2,3-butandiol intermediate was oxidatively cleaved to form acetaldehyde and the diacetyl was cleaved to form acetaldehyde and acetic acid.

Acetaldehyde and aceticacid were considered the primary C_2 scission product of MEK oxidation, which further converted into formaldehyde and formic acid over the Brønsted acid sites and finally were seuqneitally oxidized to CO_2 and H_2O .⁷⁴⁰ We have also investigated the catalytic oxidation of MEK over Mn₃O₄ metallic oxide catalysts; the results of which suggested that MEK oxidation to CO_2 predominantly proceeds *via* a diacetyl intermediate species.¹¹⁴²

7.2.3.4. Dichloromethane and tetrachloromethane

Oxidation mechanisms of CVOCs have also been extensively studied and discussed in the literature. It is generally agreed that dissociation of the C-Cl bond occurs first and is the rate-determining step. Hindermann and co-workers¹¹⁴⁷ indicated that adsorbed dichloromethane (DCM) molecules could react with surface hydroxyl groups in a γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst to yield chloromethoxy species. The sequential reaction of this species leads to the formation of a chemisorbed formaldehyde analogue and formed methoxy or formate groups. The Cl from DCM is released as HCl and/or reacted with γ -Al₂O₃ to form aluminum chloride. Recently, a two-stage Ce/TiO₂-Cu/CeO₂ catalyst with separated catalytic functions was designed and adopted as a catalyst for the removal of DCM by Wu and co-workers.⁷⁸⁸ The cleavage of the C-Cl and the total oxidation of CO were physically isolated in the two-stage system, which avoided not only the decrease of acid sites on Ce-Cu/TiO₂ catalyst, but also avoided the chlorine poisoning of TiO₂ due to the strong adsorption of Cl on CuO. A three-step degradation mechanism was proposed, which consisted of the adsorption and cleavage of the C-Cl bonds, the deep oxidation of C-H bonds in the intermediate species and finally, the oxidation of CO to CO₂ (Fig. 38).

In another study, the catalytic activity and selectivity of four zeolite-Y catalysts (H-Y, Co-Y, Na-Y, and Co-Y/CA) were investigated for the total oxidation of dichloromethane (DCM) and tetrachloromethane (TCM).¹¹⁴⁶ With DCM, it was proposed that the proton from the hydroxyl group in the BAS is dissociated to form the corresponding carbonium ion ($CH_2Cl_2H^+$). This is then undergoes a sequential reaction to form the corresponding carbonium ion by abstraction of a molecule of HCl. The carbonium ion interacts with the O⁻ at the cationic site to form a COHCl intermediate species, which subsequently dissociates into CO_x and HCl and results in the restoration of the proton on the BAS.¹⁰⁵⁹ The researchers confirmed that there are major differences between TCM and DCM oxidation mechanisms under dry conditions, which was

attributed to the absence of a hydrogen source in the former. Following the abstraction of a molecule of HCl from the carbonium ion, it is proposed that the C^+Cl_3 species interacts with another BAS. This leads to the dissociatively adsorbed oxygen on the cationic site to form phosgene, releasing another molecule of HCl. The phosgene molecule adsorbed on an adjacent BAS forms an unstable positively charged haloacylium ion, which chlorinates the zeolitic structure to form AlOCl and releases a molecule of CO. Further adsorption of phosgene on the AlOCl site results the formation of CO and AlCl₃ (Fig. 39).

7.2.3.5. 1,2-dichloroethane and trichloroethylene

The catalytic oxidation of 1,2-dichloroethane (1,2-DCE) over $Ce_xZr_{1-x}O_2$ mixed oxides in dry air was studied by Gutiérrez-Oritiz and co-workers.⁸²⁸ They postulated that the oxidation of 1,2-DCE proceeds *via* dehydrochlorination into vinyl chloride (VC) in the presence of acid sites. In the presence of OH surface species, these sites are protonated leading to the formation of carbonium ions, which can be readily attacked by nucleophilic oxygen species from the catalyst to form chlorinated alkoxide species. These intermediates readily decompose to generate acetaldehyde, which could be further oxidized to acetates and finally degraded to CO_x (Fig. 40i). Similar processes were proposed by Feijen-Jeurissen *et al.*¹¹⁴⁸ for 1,2-DCE oxidation over Al₂O₃; in this case, 1,2-DCE is activated *via* HCl elimination to VC, which is followed by an attack from a hydrogen and a surface oxygen on the double bond resulting in the formation of acetyl chloride. Acetyl chloride can then be transformed to acetaldehyde by dechloridation, which can subsequently undergo a series of oxidative reaction to produce acetate before decomposes to CO_x and H₂O.

The complete catalytic oxidation of trichloroethylene (TCE) over Pd/Al₂O₃ was investigated by González-Velasco and co-workers.¹¹³¹ In this reaction, its proposed that gas phase oxygen molecules are dissociatively adsorbed onto active sites and gaseous TCE reacts directly with adsorbed oxygen, leading to CO and CO₂ according to the E-R mechanism. The oxidative decomposition of TCE involved C-Cl bond dissociation by chemical interaction of the halogen with the precious metal and the support. This resulted in precious metal (oxide)-chloride species, $[M(O_x)Cl_y]$, on Al₂O₃ and aluminum chloride. The $[M(O_x)Cl_y]$ species then directly decomposes to molecular chlorine (Cl₂) and also reacts with additional TCE in the feed by transferring

chlorine (Cl_2) to the double bond. The pentachloroethane intermediate species was spontaneously dehydrochlorinated by HCl elimination, resulting in the formation of the more stable tetrachloroethylene. CO and C_2Cl_4 were also assumed to react in the gaseous phase with adsorbed atomic oxygen (Fig. 40ii).

Miranda *et al.*¹¹⁴⁹ proposed that the oxidation of trichloroethylene over a Ru/Al₂O₃ catalyst proceeds *via* at least three reaction pathways: (1) trichloroethylene reacts with oxygen, yielding deep oxidation products (CO₂, Cl₂ and HCl) directly; (2) the chlorine formed in the first step reacts with the double bond yielding pentachloroethane or leads to an elimination reaction yielding tetrachloroethene and hydrogen chloride; (3) the pentachloroethane or tetrachloroethene reacts with additional chlorine, yielding tetrachloromethane and trichloromethane (Fig. 40iii). Finally, all the chlorinated by-products formed can react with oxygen to yield the deep oxidation products.

7.2.3.6. Chlorobenzene and 1,2-dichlorobenzene

Chlorobenzene (CB) oxidation mechanisms over CeO₂ and Ru/CeO₂ were proposed by Lu and co-workers.⁹²³ The authors suggested that the C-Cl bond in CB was dissociated with relative ease over Ce³⁺/Ce⁴⁺ active sites. Its suggested that this is then followed by its oxidation to CO₂ and H₂O by reactive surface oxygen or lattice oxygen. The adsorption of chlorine species on the active sites results in the rapid deactivation of the catalyst due to the blocking of the active sites. It was proposed that such deactivation can be prevented by the addition of Ru, which catalyzed the removal of adsorbed chlorine species *via* the Deacon reaction (Fig. 41i).

The catalytic oxidation of 1,2-dichlorobenzene (o-DCB) in wet air was investigated over protonic zeolites (HFAU, HBEA,HMFI, HMCM22 and ITQ2).⁹²⁴ The results from this study indicated that the oxidation pathways proceeds through a concerted six centered mechanism, where two o-DCB molecules react over the BAS. The first molecule reacts directly with protonic center to give HCl, and second one reacts with the first o-DCB molecule to give CB and other adsorbed surface species on the framework oxygen of zeolite. It proposed that these adsorbed species can then be oxidized by oxygen with the participation of H₂O to produce CO₂, CO, HCl; regenerating the protonic sites of the zeolite. Albonetti *et al.*⁸⁹⁵ concluded that both LAS and BAS acted as adsorption sites and that chloroaromatics adsorbed *via* chlorine abstraction on the LAS

and hydrogen abstraction on BAS (Fig. 41ii). However, the presence of numerous BAS ultimately led to the incomplete decomposition of chlorobenzene.

7.2.3.7. Acrylonitrile

Obuchi and co-workers⁹⁵⁴ demonstrated that acrylonitrile decomposition over Cu-ZSM-5 catalysts is initiated by the oxidation of the vinyl group to form gaseous HCN, NO_x, surface -NCO, and nitrate species. The isocyanate species is hydrolyzed to NH₃ and N₂ was formed by the reaction between adsorbed NH₃ with nitrate and by the oxidation of adsorbed NH₃ (Fig. 42i). Poignant *et al.*¹¹⁵⁰ suggested that AN decomposition over Cu-ZSM-5 proceeded *via* AN adsorption \rightarrow Cu⁺-CN \rightarrow Cu⁺-NC \rightarrow Cu⁺-NH₃ and that the adsorbed NH₃ subsequently reacts with NO to form N₂.

The oxidation pathway of AN over Ag-based catalysts was reported by Obuchi and co-workers.⁹⁵⁶ They indicated that AN oxidation proceeds on Ag₂O species and NH₃ and acrylic acid intermediates were respectively oxidized to N₂ and CO_x over metallic Ag. The direct oxidation of AN over large metallic Ag particles in Ag/ZrO₂ and Ag/MgO formed large amounts of NO_x and N₂O. For Ag-ZSM-5, AN was decomposed into nitrogen-containing products and some hydrocarbons over Ag⁺, Ag_n^{δ +} and Ag_n clusters (Fig. 42ii).

8. Typical catalytic reactor and oxidizer

Many different types of reactors (e.g., fixed-bed reactors and fluidized-bed reactors) have been reported in the literature for the catalytic oxidation of VOCs. Fixed-bed reactors can be subdivided into continuous flow fixed-bed reactors and membrane reactors. A series of structured catalysts such as monolithic honeycomb catalysts and foam catalysts (detailed research progresses can be found in section 4), have been designed to replace conventional granular catalysts with high diffusion resistance in the continuous flow fixed-bed reactor, which can improve gas-solid contact, enhance the attrition resistance of a given catalyst and reduce pressure drops across the system. Recently, Nigar *et al.*¹¹⁵¹ developed a microwave-heated adsorbent-reactor system containing an adsorptive DAY zeolite and PtY zeolite (Fig. 43). The reactor was used to investigate the continuous oxidation of *n*-hexane (500 ppm). The zeolites were selectively heated by short periodic microwave pulses, which resulted in the desorption of *n*-hexane and its catalytic combustion. The authors found that the reactor was highly efficient, even under realistic humid

gas conditions, as these conditions favored more intense microwave absorption, producing a faster heating of the adsorptive and catalytic beds. Under these conditions, the continuous removal of gaseous VOCs could be achieved with short (3 min, 30 W) microwave heating pulses (5 min).

Catalysts and porous membranes can be combined in different ways (extractor, distributor and contactor) depending on the required applications in a given membrane reactor (Fig. 44i).^{1152,1153} Membrane reactors operating in the Knudsen regime under a flow-through configuration, is typically adopted for VOC removal as this type of gas-solid contactor provides an intimate contact between the molecules and the wall of the pores, thus minimizing any diffusive resistance.^{737,1154} The configuration of the reactor can also have a significant influence on the performance of catalysts for the oxidation of VOCs. Fiaty and co-workers¹¹⁵⁵ compared the behavior of a Pt/Al₂O₃ catalyst in a conventional monolithic reactor and a flow-through membrane reactor (contactor type) for the oxidation of propene. It was determined that flow-through membrane reactor performs better due to the high contact efficiency between the propene, O₂ molecules and catalytic active sites (Fig. 44ii). This was subsequently evidenced further by Kajama *et al.*,¹¹⁵⁶ who also observed that the contactor flow-through membrane reactors were highly effective for this reaction.

Most of the published work investigating the catalytic oxidation of VOCs employs the use of continuous flow fixed-bed reactors. As such, it is important to consider that when supported metal catalysts are investigated, much of the reactor volume is occupied by the catalyst support, rather than the active catalytic species itself. Syed-Hassan and Li¹¹⁵⁷ recently proposed an alternative approach for the aerobic catalytic oxidation of ethane, which utilized a nanoparticle fluidized-bed reactor (Fig. 45). This novel approach benefits from many different merits which include; a low pressure drop, good dispersion of the active species, a uniform temperature distribution inside the catalyst bed and an absence of intra-particle mass transfer barriers. The preliminary results were exceptionally positive and indicated that the fluidized NiO nanoparticles exhibited very different that the lack of a rigid porous structure in the fluidized NiO nanoparticles facilitated the desorption of ethyl radicals from the surface of the NiO nanoparticles into the gas phase, which was suggested

to initiate further gas-phase radical reactions. This ultimately led to an enhancement in the reaction rate over the NiO nanoparticles.

Catalysis has been widely used for industrial pollution control, which is likely to be attributed to the high activities and selectivites which can be achieved at relatively low reaction temperatures. Regenerative catalytic oxidizers (RCOs) and recuperative catalytic oxidizers (COs) are of two main catalytic technologies in industrial VOC control. The RCO technique developed by Boreskov and Matros¹¹⁵⁸ in the mid-1970s combines the advantages of catalytic oxidation with a thermal recovery system, obtaining high treatment efficiency, low operational temperature, low fuel cost and low selectivity to harmful by-products. The combination of these two technologies is very much considered to be an energy-efficient method for eliminating VOCs.¹¹⁵⁹⁻¹¹⁶¹

In an RCO system, chambers of inert regenerative materials with high specific heat capacities (800-1000 J·kg⁻¹·K⁻¹) are utilized to heat the VOC stream bycooling burnt gases, through reverse flow operation, which can dramatically cut fuel costs. In such systems, catalysts are used to reduce the required reaction temperatures and increase the overall efficiency of the VOCs oxidation.^{1162,1163} As shown in Fig. 46, a two bed RCO is predominantly composed of ceramic layers, catalyst layers, a natural gasburner/electrical heater (for heat storage), reaction media and heat supply. The entry direction of the VOC flow turns over with four combined valves switching every 1-2.5 min. The VOC flow is preheated by the ceramic layer when passing through ceramic chamber A. Most of the heat can be reserved in the ceramic heat storage media (thermal recovery efficiency \geq 95%) when the reacted flow proceeds down through to ceramic chamber B, and is ready to preheat the inlet VOCs for the next cycle.^{7,1163}

It is also important to note that there are some other distinct advantages of using RCO besides the merits mentioned above: (1) long characteristic cooling times and short characteristic heating times for RCOs ensure a stable autothermal operation, despite inlet parameters fluctuating greatly; (2) fast start-ups are possible with RCOs as the catalyst temperature does not need to exceed 250-350°C and this procedure typically only requires between 1 to 3 h operation time, even when the catalyst bed is cold; (3) the RCOs purification unit can be used as a source of secondary high-potential energy such as steam, hot water and hot gas when the VOC content in the gas mixture is higher than 2.5-3.0 g·m⁻³. For these conditions, the released heat can be removed from the hottest area of the packed bed. In some cases, this actually makes the process of gas purification profitable.^{1164,1165}

Compared to RCOs, COs have space advantages as only a tubular/plate heat exchangeris used to replace regenerative thermal ceramic heat storage layers. However, the thermal recovery efficiency of a normal CO is generally below 70%, which is attributable to the simpler heat exchanger configuration. As such, COs are not suitable to use in large volume industrial streams with low VOC concentrations.¹¹⁶⁶ Taking into account the low initial investment and high flexibility, COs are suitable for treating VOC streams with low flowrate (< 5000 m³·h⁻¹). However, its important to note that the use of RCO and CO systems may not always be beneficial: (1) the presence of organometallic or inhibiting compounds may reduce catalytic performance; (2) certain compounds such as C_2 to C_5 paraffins, cannot be easily oxidized effectively at temperatures lower than 430 °C; (3) emissions should be considered when operating with low VOC concentrations and large flowrates.¹¹⁵⁹ Some new or coupled treating technologies have also been developed in an attempt to side-step the disadvantages of single RCOs or CO systems. These systems include; photocatalytic oxidation, adsorptive concentration-catalytic oxidation, regenerative thermal catalytic combustion and non-thermal plasma assisted catalytic oxidation.

9. Conclusions and perspectives

Catalytic oxidation is one of the most promising technologies for VOC removal; it is more effective and economical than the conventional thermal incineration techniques, especially for application in low concentration pollutant streams (< 0.5 vol.%). This article summarizes the progress made on the catalytic oxidation of VOCs over the past two decades from a visual approach; focusing on the differing pollutant types and sources. The effects of reaction conditions on oxidation efficiency and the causes for catalysts deactivation and protocols for their subsequent reactivation were discussed. Kinetic models and oxidation mechanisms for representative VOCs were considered and typical catalytic reactors and oxidizers for industrial VOC destruction were reviewed.

Noble metal supported catalysts generally exhibit a superior activity to metal oxide catalysts; a trend which is perhaps most pertinent in the total catalytic oxidation of alkanes, alkenes and oxygen-containing VOCs. Amongst these, Pt and/or Pd supported catalysts are the most

extensively studied, which is likely to be attributable to their high efficiency for the removal of VOCs at relatively low temperature. The activity of supported noble metal catalysts is mainly governed by the intrinsic properties of the active phase and support, active metal precursor, total metal loading, preparation method and status of metal active sites (dispersion, size, morphology, and valence). Although noble metal based catalysts often have a higher activity than metal oxide catalysts, in general they suffer from several disadvantages, such as; the expense of the metal precursors and its poor natural abundance, high volatility and low resistance to heteroatom poisoning such as Cl and S; Ru is somewhat an exception to this does, as it has a relatively higher tolerance to Cl than other noble metal catalysts. By comparison, the efficiency of single metal oxide catalysts for the removal of VOCs is usually considerably lower than that of noble metal supported catalysts, but they are typically more tolerant to poisoning. In general, the most active single metal oxide catalysts for the complete oxidation of VOC are oxides consisting of Mn, Co, Cr, Fe, Ni, and Cu, as these are reducible and can strongly adsorb organic compounds at anionic oxygen sites in oxide lattices, leading to the activation of VOC molecules, formation of intermediate species and promoting the subsequent complete oxidation. In the field of CVOC treatment, especially under humid atmosphere, catalytic hydrolytic oxidation has been happened. The metal oxide catalysts (e.g., CrO_x and VO_x) with high Cl resistance have distinctive advantages over noble metal supported catalysts. Similar results are reflected from the decompositon of NVOCs (selective catalytic oxidation in general) as the amount of NO_x by-product over noble metal based materials, is typically much higher than that over transition metal catalysts such as Cu-ZSM-5. Great efforts have been made to develop more efficient catalysts based on transition metal oxides for the catalytic oxidation of VOCs, the primary aim of which is to improve the low-temperature efficiency and ultimate exhibit activity which is competitive with that observed over noble metal supported catalysts. Mixed metal oxides have significantly different properties (morphology, texture, redox and acid-base) than the single metal oxides, which makes mixed metal oxides such as NiMnOx, CuMnOx, and CoMnOx in general, possess higher catalytic activities than their analogous single metal oxide forms. Monolithic catalysts are highly suited for large scale applications such as the industrial abatement of VOCs. Their desirability in such applications is attributed to the low-pressure drop they provide and their excellent mass and heat transfer performance. Moving forwards, we consider it to be crucial that

data concerning mass and heat transfer effects on catalytic reaction rates is carefully considered when designing monolithic systems for the catalytic oxidation of VOCs.

Water vapor is commonly present in industrial flue gase streams. These streams can often also consists of various mixtures of VOCs rather than just a singular pure component. Co-occurrence of water vapor in VOCs mixture should have the activity effect on a given catalyst. In most cases, water vapor acts as an inhibitor in VOC oxidation due to competitive adsorption and reaction of water molecules and reactants on catalytic active sites. The use of hydrophobic supports seems be an effective protocol to alleviate such inhibition. The presence of water vapor is however in some cases, is beneficial for the oxidation of some VOCs. Water can assist with oxygen activation and replenish consumed hydroxyl groups on a given surface. For the catalytic destruction of CVOCs, water vapor can also play a positive role in removing Cl⁻ from active sites and can prevent catalytic deactivation. Moreover, water can also act as a hydrolysis agent and source of hydrogen, which in some cases, can decrease by-product (e.g., poly-chlorinated hydrocarbons, PCHs) formation.

The rates of reaction for a given compound in a stream containing mixtures of VOCs cannot be predicted solely from the behavior of the individual components, as mutual effect and reactivity of VOC mixtures is related to many parameters such as the catalyst type, pollutant component and reaction conditions. In the vast majority of cases, aromatic hydrocarbons have significant inhibition effects on aliphatic hydrocarbons, while the inhibition effects of aliphatic hydrocarbons on aromatic hydrocarbons are relatively weak. The co-existence of aromatic hydrocarbons can also inhibit each other. The existence of aliphatic/aromatic hydrocarbons has different effects on the oxidation of CVOCs as the hydrocarbon additive can compete with CVOC molecules for adsorption sites. In addition to this, they can act as a source of H, which can reduce the generating of hydrocarbon by-products and enhance the selectivity to HCl and CO₂. Therefore, special attention should be paid to understand how different VOCs can affect the reactivity of one another over different catalysts.

Despite the progress made in this field, many issues remain and must be resolved to meet the stringent emission standards in an economical and effective manner. Moving forward, we consider that future efforts should focus on the following aspects: (1) developing efficient catalysts with highly dispersed active phase or highly exposed reactive facets, abundant defect

128

sites and strong interfacial interactions, for instance, hierarchical porous materials, skeleton/channel-confined materials, core-shell structured materials and single-atom catalytic materials; (2) designing highly active, universally applicable and stable catalysts, with a strong resistance to poisons (particularly for halogenated or sulfur-containing organic pollutants) as the practical reaction environments are usually very complicated and trace pollutants including water vapor, ammonia and sulfur containing compounds may co-exist in these streams; (3) exploit the developments made in the field of molecular modelling; use of theoretical calculations and models to simulate mass and heat transfer effects and predict the reaction behavior of given systems/reactors, especially for mixed VOCs catalytic destruction; (4) demonstrate how bond cleavage and oxidation mechanisms of VOCs are influenced by reaction conditions or time at the molecular level. This can be achieved through application of in situ/operando characterization techniques such as FTIR, synchrotron radiation, isotopic tracer techniques and highly sensitive real-time monitoring techniques such as proton transfer reaction-mass spectrometry; (5) establish how different catalytic active sites (i.e., redox center, noble metal active sites and acidic/basic center) activate the VOC and intermediate species in order to develop a deeper understanding of desirable properties to aid future catalyst design; (6) derive a greater understanding of the deactivation or poisoning mechanisms of different catalysts. This can be achieved by establishing correlations between the material surface chemistry and its catalytic performance, and through exploration of effective regeneration methods (in particular, in situ regeneration) for deactivated catalysts, to reduce the operating cost and ultimately, increase industrial viability; (7) development of coupling technologies such as adsorptive concentration-catalytic oxidation, regenerative thermal catalytic combustion, non-thermal plasma assisted catalytic oxidation, ozone-catalytic oxidation and photo induced catalytic oxidation to enhance VOC removal in a more efficient and cost-effective way.

Acknowledgements

This work was financially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (21477095, 21677114, 21876139, 21337003), and the National Key Research and Development Program (2016YFC0204200). The valuable comments from the editor and anonymous reviewers are much appreciated.

References

- Union, E. Occurrence of 13 Volatile Organic Compounds in Foods from the Canadian Total Diet Study. Off. J. Eur. Union 2004, L143, 87-96.
- (2) Dumanoglu, Y.; Kara, M.; Altiok, H.; Odabasi, M.; Elbir, T.; Bayram, A. Spatial and Seasonal Variation and Source Apportionment of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) in a Heavily Industrialized Region. *Atmos. Environ.* 2014, 98, 168-178.
- (3) Guo, H.; Lee, S. C.; Louie, P. K. K.; Ho, K. F. Characterization of Hydrocarbons, Halocarbons and Carbonyls in the Atmosphere of Hong Kong. *Chemosphere* **2004**, *57*, 1363-1372.
- (4) Srivastava, A.; Joseph, A. E.; Patil, S.; More, A.; Dixit, R. C.; Prakash, M. Air Toxics in Ambient Air of Delhi. *Atmos. Environ.* **2005**, *39*, 59-71.
- (5) Zhang, J. N.; Xiao, J. F.; Chen, X. F.; Liang, X. M.; Fan, L. Y.; Ye, D. Q. Allowance and Allocation of Industrial Volatile Organic Compounds Emission in China for Year 2020 and 2030. J. Environ. Sci. 2018, 69, 155-165.
- (6) Cetin, E.; Odabasi, M.; Seyfioglu, R. Ambient Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Concentrations Around a Petrochemical Complex and a Petroleum Refinery. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2003**, *312*, 103-112.
- (7) Zhang, Z. X.; Jiang, Z.; Shangguan, W. F. Low-Temperature Catalysis for VOCs Removal in Technology and Application: A State-of-the-Art Review. *Catal. Today* **2016**, *264*, 270-278.
- (8) Bo, Y.; Cai, H.; Xie, S. D. Spatial and Temporal Variation of Historical Anthropogenic NMVOCs Emission Inventories in China. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.* **2008**, *8*, 11519-11566.
- (9) Baltrenas, P.; Baltrenaite, E.; Sereviciene, V.; Pereira, P. Atmospheric BTEX Concentrations in the Vicinity of the Crude Oil Refinery of the Baltic Region. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 2011, 182, 115-127.
- (10)Liao, H. T.; Chou, C. C. -K.; Chow, J. C.; Watson, J. G.; Hopke, P. K.; Wu, C. F. Source and Risk Apportionment of Selected VOCs and PM2.5 Species Using Partially Constrained Receptor Models with Multiple Time Resolution Data. *Environ. Pollut.* 2015, 205, 121-130.
- (11)Qiu, K. Q.; Yang, L. X.; Lin, J. M.; Peitao Wang,; Yang, Y.; Ye, D. Q.; Wang, L. M. Historical Industrial Emissions of Non-Methane Volatile Organic Compounds in China for the Period of 1980-2010. *Atmos. Environ.* **2014**, *86*, 102-112.
- (12) Rivière, E. CITEPA Report, Paris, 1998.
- (13)Liang, X. M.; Chen, X. F.; Zhang, J. N.; Shi, T. L.; Sun, X. B.; Fan, L. N.; Wang, L. M.; Ye, D. Q. Reactivity-Based Industrial Volatile Organic Compounds Emission Inventory and Its Implications for Ozone Control Strategies in China. *Atmos. Environ.* 2017, *162*, 115-126.
- (14)Feron, V. J.; Arts, J. E. H.; van Bladeren, P. J. Volatile Organic Compounds in Indoor Air: Toxicology and Strategy for Further Research. *Pollut. Atmos.* **1992**, *134*, 18-25.
- (15)Scirè, S.; Liotta, L. F. Supported Gold Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *125*, 222-246.
- (16) Moretti, E. C. Reduce VOC and HAP Emissions. Chem. Eng. Prog. 2002, 98, 30-40.
- (17)Kołodziej, A.; Łojewska, J. Optimization of Structured Catalyst Carriers for VOC Combustion. *Catal. Today* **2005**, *105*, 378-384.
- (18) Tokumura, M.; Nakajima, R.; Znad, H. T.; Kawase, Y. Chemical Absorption Process for

Degradation of VOC Gas Using Heterogeneous Gas-Liquid Photocatalytic Oxidation: Toluene Degradation by Photo-Fenton Reaction. *Chemosphere*, **2008**, *73*, 768-775.

- (19)Ruddy, E. N.; Carroll, L. A. Select the Best VOC Control Strategy. *Chem. Eng. Prog.* **1993**, 88, 28-35.
- (20)Shah, R. K.; Thonon, B.; Benforado, D. M. Opportunities for Heat Exchanger Applications in Environmental Systems. *Appl. Thermal Eng.* **2000**, *20*, 631-650.
- (21)Santos, S.; Jones, K.; Abdul R.; Boswell, J.; Paca, J. Treatment of Wet Process Hardboard Plant VOC Emissions by a Pilot Scale Biological System. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2007**, *37*, 261-270.
- (22)Iranpour, R.; Cox, H. H. J.; Deshusses, M. A.; Schroeder, E. D. Literature Review of Air Pollution Control Biofilters and Biotrickling Filters for Odor and Volatile Organic Compound Removal. *Environ. Prog.* 2005, 24, 254-267.
- (23)Feng, X. X.; Liu, H. X.; He, C.; Shen, Z. X.; Wang, T. B. Synergistic Effects and Mechanism of a Nonthermal Plasma Catalysis System in Volatile Organic Compound Removal: A Review. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *8*, 936-954.
- (24) Kamal, M. S.; Razzak, S. A.; Hossain, M. M. Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)-A Review. *Atoms. Environ.* **2016**, *140*, 117-134.
- (25)Hu, Z.; Qiu, S.; You, Y.; Guo, Y.; Guo, Y. L.; Wang, L.; Zhan, W. C.; Lu, G. Z. Hydrothermal Synthesis of NiCeO_x Nanosheets and Its Application to the Total Oxidation of Propane. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2018**, *225*, 110-120.
- (26) Wang, H.; Yang, W.; Tian, P. H.; Zhou, J.; Tang, R.; Wu, S. J. A Highly Active and Anti-Coking Pd-Pt/SiO₂ Catalyst for Catalytic Combustion of Toluene at Low Temperature. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2017**, *529*, 60-67.
- (27)Baranowska, K.; Okal, J. Performance and Stability of the Ru-Re/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalyst in the Total Oxidation of Propane: Influence of the Order of Impregnation. *Catal. Lett.* 2016, 146, 72-81.
- (28)Chen, B. B.; Zhu, X. B.; Wang, Y. D.; Yu, L. M.; Lu, J. Q.; Shi, C. Nano-Sized Gold Particles Dispersed on HZSM-5 and SiO₂ Substrates for Catalytic Oxidation of HCHO. *Catal. Today* 2017, 281, 512-519.
- (29) Huang, S. Y.; Zhang, C. B.; He, H. Effect of Pretreatment on Pd/Al₂O₃ Catalyst for Catalytic Oxidation of *o*-Xylene at Low Temperature. *J. Environ. Sci.* **2013**, *25*, 1206-1212.
- (30)Tidahy, H. L.; Hosseni, M.; Siffert, S.; Cousin, R.; Lamonier, J. F.; Aboukais, A.; Su, B. L.; Giraudon, J. M.; Leclercq, G. Nanostructured Macro-Mesoporous Zirconia Impregnated by Noble Metal for Catalytic Total Oxidation of Toluene. *Catal. Today* **2008**, *137*, 335-339.
- (31) Yue, L.; He, C.; Zhang, X. Y.; Li, P.; Wang, Z.; Wang, H. L.; Hao, Z. P. Catalytic Behavior and Reaction Routes of MEK Oxidation over Pd/ZSM-5 and Pd-Ce/ZSM-5 Catalysts. J. *Hazard. Mater.* 2013, 244-245, 613-620.
- (32) Tidahy, H. L.; Siffert, S.; Lamonier, J. F.; Cousin, R.; Zhilinskaya, E. A.; Aboukais, A.; Su, B. L.; Canet, X.; De Weireld, G.; Frere, A.; *et al.* Influence of the Exchanged Cation in Pd/BEA and Pd/FAU Zeolites for Catalytic Oxidation of VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2007, *70*, 377-383.
- (33)He, C.; Zhang, F. W.; Yue, L.; Shang, X. S.; Chen, J. S.; Hao, Z. P. Nanometric Palladium Confined in Mesoporous Silica as Efficient Catalysts for Toluene Oxidation at Low Temperature. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *111-112*, 46-57.

- (34)Rintramee, K.; Fottinger, K.; Rupprechter, G.; Wittayakun, J. Ethanol Adsorption and Oxidation on Bimetallic Catalysts Containing Platinum and Base Metal Oxide Supported on MCM-41. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *115*, 225-235.
- (35) Wahid, S.; Cahela, D. R.; Tatarchuk, B. J. Comparison of Wash-Coated Monoliths *vs.* Microfibrous Entrapped Catalyst Structures for Catalytic VOC Removal. *AIChE J.* **2014**, *60*, 3814-3823.
- (36)Barakat, T.; Rooke, J. C.; Cousin, R.; Lamonier, J. F.; Giraudon., J. M.; Su, B. L.; Siffert, S. Investigation of the Elimination of VOC Mixtures over a Pd-Loaded V-Doped TiO₂ Support. *New J. Chem.* 2014, 38, 2066-2074.
- (37)Saqer, S. M.; Kondarides, D. I.; Verykios, X. E. Catalytic Activity of Supported Platinum and Metal Oxide Catalysts for Toluene Oxidation. *Top. Catal.* **2009**, *52*, 517-527.
- (38)Golodets, G. I. Heterogeneous Catalytic Reactions Involving Molecular Oxygen Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis. *Heterogeneous Catalytic Reactions Involving Molecular Oxygen*, Elsevier: New York, 1983; p 455.
- (39) Wang, X. Y.; Ran, L.; Dai, Y.; Lu,Y. J.; Dai, Q. G. Removal of Cl Adsorbed on Mn-Ce-La Solid Solution Catalysts during CVOC Combustion. J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 2014, 426, 324-332.
- (40)He, C.; Yu, Y. K.; Chen, C. W.; Yue, L.; Qiao, N. L.; Shen, Q.; Chen, J. S.; Hao, Z. P. Facile Preparation of 3D Ordered Mesoporous CuO_x-CeO₂ with Notably Enhanced Efficiency for the Low Temperature Oxidation of Heteroatom-Containing Volatile Organic Compounds. *RSC Adv.* **2013**, *3*, 19639-19656.
- (41) Fierro, J. L. G.; de la Banda, J. F. G. An Investigation of Gauze Supported Platinum Alumina and Cobalt Supported Oxide Oxidation Catalysts. *Catal. Rev.* **1986**, *28*, 301-304.
- (42) Spivey, J. J. Complete Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organics. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **1987**, 26, 2165-2180.
- (43) Everaert, K.; Baeyens, J. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds. J. Hazard. Mater. 2004, 1-3, 113-139.
- (44)Li, W. B.; Wang, J. X.; Gong, H. Catalytic Combustion of VOCs on Non-Noble Metal Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **2009**, *148*, 81-87.
- (45)Liotta, L. F. Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds on Supported Noble Metals. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2010**, *100*, 403-412.
- (46) Aranzabal, A.; Pereda-Ayo, B.; González-Marcos, M. P.; González-Marcos, J. A.; López-Fonseca, R.; González-Velasco, J. R. State of the Art in Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds. *Chem. Pap.* **2014**, *68*, 1169-1186.
- (47) Huang, H. B.; Xu, Y.; Feng, Q. Y.; Leung, D. Y. C. Low Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds: A Review. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *5*, 2649-2669.
- (48)Tomatis, M.; Xu, H. H.; He, J.; Zhang, X. D. Recent Development of Catalysts for Removal of Volatile Organic Compounds in Flue Gas by Combustion: A Review. J. Chem. 2016, 8324826.
- (49)Zhang, L.; Peng, Y. X.; Zhang, J.; Chen, L.; Meng, X. J.; Xiao, F. S. Adsorptive and Catalytic Properties in the Removal of Volatile Organic Compounds over Zeolite-Based Materials. *Chin. J. Catal.* **2016**, *37*, 800-809.
- (50) Li, J. Q.; Liu, H.; Deng, Y. Z.; Liu, G.; Chen, Y. F.; Yang, J. Emerging Nanostructured Materials for the Catalytic Removal of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Nanotechnol. Rev.* **2016**,

5, 147-181.

- (51) Liao, Y. N.; Zhang, X.; Peng, R. S.; Zhao, M. Q.; Ye, D. Q. Catalytic Properties of Manganese Oxide Polyhedra with Hollow and Solid Morphologies in Toluene Removal. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2017, 405, 20-28.
- (52) Liu, L. Z.; Zhang, H. B.; Jia, J. P; Sun, T. H.; Sun, M. M. Direct Molten Polymerization Synthesis of Highly Active Samarium Manganese Perovskites with Different Morphologies for VOC Removal. *Inorg. Chem.* **2018**, *57*, 8451-8457.
- (53) Morales, M. R.; Yeste, M. P.; Vidal, H.; Gatica, J. M.; Cadus, L. E. Insights on the Combustion Mechanism of Ethanol and *n*-Hexane in Honeycomb Monolithic Type Catalysts: Influence of the Amount and Nature of Mn-Cu Mixed Oxide. *Fuel* **2017**, *208*, 637-646.
- (54) Liu, H.; Li, C. Y.; Ren, X. Y.; Liu, K. Q.; Yang, J. Fine Platinum Nanoparticles Supported on a Porous Ceramic Membrane as Efficient Catalysts for the Removal of Benzene. *Sci. Rep.* 2017, 7, 16589.
- (55)Torres, J. Q.; Royer, S.; Bellat, J.; Giraudon, J.; Lamonier, J. Formaldehyde: Catalytic Oxidation as a Promising Soft Way of Elimination. *ChemSusChem* **2013**, *6*, 578-592.
- (56)Zhang, Z. J.; Yan, X. Y.; Feilong Gao; Thai, P.; Wang, H.; Chen, D.; Zhou, L.; Gong, D. C.; Li, Q. Q.; Morawska, L.; Wang, B. G. Emission and Health Risk Assessment of Volatile Organic Compounds in Various Processes of a Petroleum Refinery in the Pearl River Delta, China. *Environ. Pollut.* **2018**, *238*, 452-461.
- (57)Huang, B. B.; Lei, C.; Wei, C. H.; Zeng, G. M. Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds (Cl-VOCs) in Environment—Sources, Potential Human Health Impacts, and Current Remediation Technologies. *Environ. Int.* **2014**, *71*, 118-138.
- (58)Kansal, A. Sources and Reactivity of NMHCs and VOCs in the Atmosphere: A Review. J. *Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *166*, 17-26.
- (59) Sexton, K.; Westberg, H. H. Ambient Air Measurements of Petroleum Refinery Emissions. J. Air Pollut. Control Assoc. **1979**, 29, 1149-1152.
- (60)Sexton, K.; Westberg, H. H. Photochemical Ozone Formation from Petroleum Refinery Emissions. *Atmos. Environ.* **1983**, *17*, 467-475.
- (61)Özçelik, Z.; Soylu, G. S. P.; Boz, İ. Catalytic Combustion of Toluene over Mn, Fe and Co-Exchanged Clinoptilolite Support. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2009**, *155*, 94-100.
- (62) Makshina, E.; Nesterenko, N.; Siffert, S.; Zhilinskaya, E.; Aboukais, A.; Romanovsky, B. Methanol Oxidation on LaCo Mixed Oxide Supported onto MCM-41 Molecular Sieve. *Catal. Today* 2008, 131, 427-430.
- (63)Li, J. W.; Pan, K. L.; Yu, S. J.; Yan, S. Y.; Chang, M. B. Removal of Formaldehyde over Mn_xCe_xO₂ Catalysts: Thermal Catalytic Oxidation Versus Ozone Catalytic Oxidation. J. Environ. Sci. 2014, 26, 2546-2553.
- (64)Cappelletti, M.; Frascari, D.; Zannoni, D.; Fedi, S. Microbial Degradation of Chloroform. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2012**, *96*, 1395-1409.
- (65) Atkinson, R. Gas-phase Tropospheric Chemistry of Volatile Organic Compounds: 1. Alkanes and Alkenes. J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **1997**, 26, 215-290.
- (66)Beamer, P. I.; Luik, C. E.; Abrell, L.; Campos, S.; Martínez, M. E.; Sáez, A. E. Concentration of Trichloroethylene in Breast Milk and Household Water from Nogales, Arizona. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 9055-9061.
- (67)Baran, R.; II Kaminska; Srebowata, A.; Dzwigaj, S. Selective Hydrodechlorination of

1,2-Dichloroethane on NiSiBEA Zeolite Catalyst: Influence of the Preparation Procedure on a High Dispersion of Ni Centers. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2013**, *169*, 120-127.

- (68) Yuan, H. -K.; Ren, J.; Ma, X. -H.; Xu, Z. -L. Dehydration of Ethyl Acetate Aqueous Solution by Pervaporation Using PVA/PAN Hollow Fiber Composite Membrane. *Desalination* 2011, 280, 252-258.
- (69)Gwinn, M. R.; Johns, D. O.; Bateson, T. F.; Guyton, K. Z. A Review of the Genotoxicity of 1,2-Dichloroethane (EDC). *Mutat. Res.* **2011**, 727, 42-53.
- (70)Guo, Z.; Sparks, L. E.; Tichenor, B. A.; Chang, J. C. S. Predicting the Emissions of Individual VOCs from Petroleum-Based Indoor Coatings. *Atmos. Environ.* 1998, 32, 231-238.
- (71)Guo, Z.; Chang, J. C. S.; Sparks, L. E.; Fortmann, R. C. Estimation of the Rate of VOC Emissions from Solvent-Based Indoor Coating Materials Based on Product Formulation. *Atmos. Environ.* **1999**, *33*, 1205-1216.
- (72) Wadden, R. A.; Scheff, P. A.; Franke, J. E.; Conroy, L. M.; Keil, C. B. Determination of VOC Emission Rates and Compositions for Offset Printing. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 1995, 45, 547-555.
- (73)Zhang, X. H.; Liu, Q. L.; Xiong, Y.; Zhu, A. M.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, Q. G. Pervaporation Dehydration of Ethyl Acetate/Ethanol/Water Azeotrope Using Chitosan/Poly (Vinyl Pyrrolidone) Blend Membranes. J. Membr. Sci. 2009, 327, 274-280.
- (74) Doberty, R. E. A History of the Production and Use of Carbon Tetrachloride, Tetrachloroethylene, Trichloroethylene and 1,1,1-Trichloroethane in the United States: Part 1—Historical Background; Carbon Tetrachloride and Tetrachloroethylene. J. Environ. Forensics 2000, 1, 83-93.
- (75) Doberty, R. E. A History of the Production and Use of Carbon Tetrachloride, Tetrachloroethylene, Trichloroethylene and 1,1,1-Trichloroethane in the United States: Part 1—Historical Background; Carbon Tetrachloride and Tetrachloroethylene. J. Environ. Forensics 2000, 1, 69-81.
- (76) Martin-Martinez, M.; Gomez-Sainero, L. M.; Alvarez-Montero, M. A.; Bedia, J.; Rodriguez, J. J. Comparison of Different Precious Metals in Activated Carbon-Supported Catalysts for the Gas-Phase Hydrodechlorination of Chloromethanes. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 132-133, 256-265.
- (77)Blair, S. L.; Epstein, S. A.; Nizkorodov, S. A.; Staimer, N. A Real-Time Fast-Flow Tube Study of VOC and Particulate Emissions from Electronic, Potentially Reduced-Harm, Conventional, and Reference Cigarettes. *Arosol Sci. Technol.* 2015, 49, 816-827.
- (78)Grostern, A.; Edwards, E. A. A 1,1,1-Trichloroethane-degrading Anaerobic Mixed Microbial Culture Enhances Biotransformation of Mixtures of Chlorinated Ethenes and Ethanes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2006, 72, 7849-7856.
- (79) Wu, C.; Schaum, J. Exposure Assessment of Trichloroethylene. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2000**, *108*, 359-363.
- (80)Liu, Y.; Shao, M.; Fu, L. L.; Lu, S. H.; Zeng, L. M.; Tang, D. G. Source Profiles of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) Measured in China: Part I. Atmos. Environ. 2008, 42, 6247-6260.
- (81) Yuan, B.; Shao, M.; Lu, S. H.; Wang, B. Source Profiles of Volatile Organic Compounds Associated with Solvent Use in Beijing, China. *Atmos. Environ.* **2010**, *44*, 1919-1926.

- (82)Cai, C. J.; Geng, F. H.; Tie, X. X.; Yu, Q.; An, J. L. Characteristics and Source Apportionment of VOCs Measured in Shanghai, China. *Atmos. Environ.* **2010**, *44*, 5005-5014.
- (83) Hua, W. M.; Gao, Z. Catalytic Combustion of *n*-Pentane on Pt Supported on Solid Superacids. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1998**, *17*, 37-42.
- (84) Anić, M.; Radić, N.; Grbić, B.; Dondur, V.; Damjanović, L.; Stoychev, D.; Stefanov, P. Catalytic Activity of Pt Catalysts Promoted by MnO_x for *n*-Hexane Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2011**, *107*, 327-332.
- (85)Kim, S. C.; Shim, W. G. Properties and Performance of Pd Based Catalysts for Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, *92*, 429-436.
- (86)Bychkov, V. Y.; Tyulenin, Y. P.; Gorenberg, A. Y.; Sokolov, S.; Korchak, V. N. Evolution of Pd Catalyst Structure and Activity during Catalytic Oxidation of Methane and Ethane. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2014**, 485, 1-9.
- (87)Okal, J.; Zawadzki, M. Catalytic Combustion of Butane on Ru/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, 89, 22-32.
- (88) Almukhlifi, H. A.; Burns, R. C. The Complete Oxidation of *iso*-Butane over CeO₂ and Au/CeO₂, and the Composite Catalysts MO_x/CeO₂ and Au/MO_x/CeO₂ (Mⁿ⁺ = Mn, Fe, Co and Ni): the Effects of Gold Nanoparticles Obtained from *n*-Hexanethiolate-Stabilized Gold Nanoparticles. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2016**, *415*, 131-143.
- (89)Solsona, B.; Garcia, T.; Agouram, S.; Hutchings, G. J.; Taylor, S. H. The Effect of Gold Addition on the Catalytic Performance of Copper Manganese Oxide Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of Propane. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2011**, *101*, 388-396.
- (90)Narayanappa, M.; Dasireddy, V. D. B. C.; Friedrich, H. B. Catalytic Oxidation of *n*-Octane over Cobalt Substituted Ceria (Ce_{0.90}Co_{0.10}O_{2-δ}) Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2012**, 447-448, 135-143.
- (91)Xie, Y. J.; Guo, Y.; Guo, Y. L.; Wang, L.; Zhan, W. C.; Wang, Y. S.; Gong, X. Q.; Lu, G. Z. A Highly Effective Ni-modified MnO_x Catalyst for Total Oxidation of Propane: the Promotional Role of Nickel Oxide. *RSC Adv.* **2016**, *6*, 50228-50237.
- (92)Concepción, P.; Botella, P.; Nieto, J. M. L. Catalytic and FT-IR Study on the Reaction Pathway for Oxidation of Propane and Propylene on V- or Mo-V-based Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2012,278, 45-56.
- (93)Ueda, W.; Yoon, Y. -S.; Lee, K. H.; Moro-oka, Y. Catalytic Oxidation of Propane over Molybdenum-Based Mixed Oxides. *Korean J. Chem. Eng.* **1997**, *14*, 474-478.
- (94) Kucherov, A. V.; Hubbard, C. P.; Kucherova, T. N.; Shelef, M. Stabilization of the Ethane Oxidation Catalytic Activity of Cu-ZSM-5. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1996**, *7*, 285-298.
- (95) Tahir, S. F.; Koh, C. A. Catalytic Oxidation of Ethane over Supported Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Chemosphere* **1997**, *34*, 1787-1793.
- (96)Solsona, B.; García, T.; Sanchis, R.; Soriano, M. D.; Moreno, M.; Rodríguez-Castellón, E.; Agouram, S.; Dejoz, A.; Nieto, J. M. L. Total Oxidation of VOCs on Mesoporous Iron Oxide Catalysts: Soft Chemistry Route Versus Hard Template Method. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 290, 273-281.
- (97)Spinicci, R.; Tofanaari, A.; Faticanti, M.; Pettiti, I.; Porta, P. Hexane Total Oxidation on LaMO₃ (M = Mn, Co, Fe) Perovskite-type Oxides. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2001, 176, 247-252.

- (98)Lee, Y. N.; Lago, R. M.; Fierro, J. L. G.; Cortés, V.; Sapiña, F.; Martínez, E. Surface Properties and Catalytic Performance for Ethane Combustion of La_{1-x}K_xMnO_{3+δ} Perovskites. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2001**, 207, 17-24.
- (99)Guiotto, M.; Pacella, M.; Perin, G.; Iovino, A.; Michelon, N.; Natile, M. M.; Glisenti, A.; Ganu, P. Washcoating vs. Direct Synthesis of LaCoO₃ on Monoliths for Environmental Applications. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2015**, *499*, 146-157.
- (100) Merino, N. A.; Barbero, B. P.; Grange, P.; Cadús, L. E. La_{1-x}Ca_xCoO₃ Perovskite-Type Oxides: Preparation, Characterisation, Stability, and Catalytic Potentiality for the Total Oxidation of Propane. *J. Catal.* **2005**, *231*, 232-244.
- (101) Zavyalova, U.; Nigrovski, B.; Pollok, K.; Langenhorst, F.; Müller, B.; Scholz, P.; Ondruschka, B. Gel-Combustion Synthesis of Nanocrystalline Spinel Catalysts for VOCs Elimination. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2008, *83*, 221-228.
- (102) Faure, B.; Alphonse, P. Co-Mn-Oxide Spinel Catalysts for CO and Propane Oxidation at Mild Temperature. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *180*, 715-725.
- (103) Jiang, Z.; Kong, L.; Chu, Z. Y.; France, L. J.; Xiao, T. C.; Edwards, P. P. Catalytic Combustion of Propane over Mixed Oxides Derived from Cu_xMg_{3-x}Al Hydrotalcites. *Fuel* 2012, 96, 257-263.
- (104) Speronello, B. K.; Chen, J. M.; Heck, R. M. Family of Versatile Catalyst Technologies for NO, and CO Removal in Co-Generation", Presented at 85th Annual Meeting and Exhibition, 92-109.06, Kansas City, Missouri (June 1992).
- (105) Tahir, S. F.; Koh, C. A. Catalytic Oxidation for Air Pollution Control. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* **1996**, *3*, 20-23.
- (106) Yao, Y.-F. Y.; Kummer, T. The Oxidation of Hydrocarbons and CO over Metal Oxides: I. NiO Crystals. *J. Catal.* **1973**, *28*, 124-138.
- (107) Yao, Y.-F. Y. The Oxidation of Hydrocarbons and CO over Metal Oxides: III. Co₃O₄. J. *Catal.* **1974**, *33*, 108-122.
- (108) Cullis, C. F.; Willatt, B. M. Oxidation of Methane over Supported Precious Metal Catalysts. *J. Catal.* **1983**, *83*, 267-285.
- (109) Chen, H. H.; Zhang, H. P.; Yan, Y. Gradient Porous Co-Cu-Mn Mixed Oxides Modified ZSM-5 Membranes as High Efficiency Catalyst for the Catalytic Oxidation of Isopropanol. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 2014, 111, 313-323.
- (110) Yamanaka, H.; Hamada, R.; Nibuta, H.; Nishiyama, S.; Tsuraya, S. Gas-Phase Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene over Cu-Supported ZSM-5 Catalysts: An Attempt of One-Step Production of Phenol. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2002, 178, 89-95.
- (111) Zhang, H. M.; Shimizu, Y.; Teraoka, Y.; Miura, N.; Yamazoe, N. Oxygen Sorption and Catalytic Properties of La_{1-x}Sr_xCo_{1-y}Fe_yO₃ Perovskite-Type Oxides. J. Catal. **1990**, 121, 432-440.
- (112) Enterkin, J. A.; Setthapun, W.; Elam, J. W.; Christensen, S. T.; Rabuffetti, F. A.; Marks, L. D.; Stair, P. C.; Poeppelmeier, K. R.; Marshall, C. L. Propane Oxidation over Pt/SrTiO₃ Nanocuboids. *ACS Catal.* 2011, *1*, 629-635.
- (113) Zhu, J. J.; Li, H. L.; Zhong, L. Y.; Xiao, P.; Xu, X. L.; Yang, X. G.; Zhao, Z.; Li, J. L. Perovskite Oxides: Preparation, Characterizations, and Applications in Heterogeneous Catalysis. ACS Catal. 2014, 4, 2917-2940.
- (114) Solsona, B. E.; Garci, T.; Jones, C.; Taylor, S. H.; Carley, A. F.; Hutchings, G. J. Supported

Gold Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of Alkanes and Carbon Monoxide. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2006**, *312*, 67-76.

- (115) Descorme, C.; Jacobs, P. W.; Samorjai, G. A. Catalytic Combustion of Ethane over Palladium Foil in the 300-450 °C Range: Kinetics and Surface Composition Studies. *J. Catal.* **1998**, *178*, 668-678.
- (116) Kolade, M. A.; Kogelbauer, A.; Alpay, E. Adsorptive Reactor Technology for VOC Abatement. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 2009, *64*, 1167-1177.
- (117) Choudhary, V. R.; Deshmukh, G. M.; Pataskar, S. G. Low-Temperature Complete Combustion of a Dilute Mixture of Methane and Propane over Transition-Metal-Doped ZrO₂ Catalysts: Effect of the Presence of Propane on Methane Combustion. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2005, *39*, 2364-2368.
- (118) Tang, W. X.; Xiao, W.; Wang, S. B.; Ren, Z.; Ding, J.; Gao, P.-X. Boosting Catalytic Propane Oxidation over PGM-free Co₃O₄ Nanocrystal Aggregates through Chemical Leaching: A Comparative Study with Pt and Pd Based Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2018, 226, 585-595.
- (119) Garcia, T.; Agouram, S.; Sánchez-Royo, J. F.; Ramón Murillo; Mastral, A. M.; Aranda, A.; Vázquez, I.; Dejoz, A.; Solsona, B. Deep Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds Using Ordered Cobalt Oxides Prepared by a Nanocasting Route. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2010, *386*, 16-27.
- (120) Salek, G.; Alphonse, P.; Dufour, P.; Guillemet-Fritsch, S.; Tenailleau, C. Low-Temperature Carbon Monoxide and Propane Total Oxidation by Nanocrystalline Cobalt Oxides. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *147*, 1-7.
- (121) Puértolas, B.; Smith, A.; Vázquez, I.; Dejoz, A.; Moragues, A.; Garcia, T.; Solsona, B. The Different Catalytic Behaviour in the Propane Total Oxidation of Cobalt and Manganese Oxides Prepared by a Wet Combustion Procedure. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2013**, 229, 547-558.
- (122) Xie, Y. J.; Yu, Y. Y.; Gong, X. Q.; Guo, Y.; Guo, Y. L.; Wang, Y. Q.; Lu, G. Z. Effect of the Crystal Plane Figure on the Catalytic Performance of MnO₂ for the Total Oxidation of Propane. *CrystEngComm* **2015**, *17*, 3005-3014.
- (123) Kaichev, V. V.; Gladky, A. Yu.; Prosvirin, I. P.; Saraev, A. A.; Hävecker, M.; Knop-Gericke, A.; Schlögl, R.; Bukhtiyarov, V. I. *In situ* XPS Study of Self-Sustained Oscillations in Catalytic Oxidation of Propane over Nickel. *Surf. Sci.* 2013, 609, 113-118.
- (124) Ren, T. Z.; Xu, P. B.; Deng, Q. F.; Yuan, Z. Y. Mesoporous Ce_{1-x}Mn_xO₂ Mixed Oxides with CuO Loading for the Catalytic Total Oxidation of Propane. *Reac. Kinet. Mech. Cat.* 2013, *110*, 405-420.
- (125) Morales, M. R.; Barbero, B. P.; Cadús, L. E. Total Oxidation of Ethanol and Propane over Mn-Cu Mixed Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2006**, *67*, 229-236.
- (126) Zhu, Z. Z.; Lu, G. Z.; Zhang, Z. G.; Guo, Y.; Guo, Y. L.; Wang, Y. Q. Highly Active and Stable Co₃O₄/ZSM-5 Catalyst for Propane Oxidation: Effect of the Preparation Method. ACS Catal. 2013, 3, 1154-1164.
- (127) García, T.; Solsona, B.; Taylor, S. H. Naphthalene Total Oxidation over Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2006**, *66*, 92-96.
- (128) Liotta, L. F.; Di Carlo, G.; Pantaleo, G.; Venezia, A. M.; Deganello, G. Co₃O₄/CeO₂ Composite Oxides for Methane Emissions Abatement: Relationship between Co₃O₄-CeO₂ Interaction and Catalytic Activity. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2006, 66, 217-227.

- (129) Wyrwalski, F.; Lamonier, J. -F.; Perez-Zurita, M.; Siffert, S.; Aboukaïs, A. Influence of the Ethylenediamine Addition on the Activity, Dispersion and Reducibility of Cobalt Oxide Catalysts Supported over ZrO₂ for Complete VOC Oxidation. *Catal. Lett.* **2006**, *108*, 87-95.
- (130) Davies, T. E.; García, T.; Solsona, B.; Taylor, S. H. Nanocrystalline Cobalt Oxide: A Catalyst for Selective Alkane Oxidation under Ambient Conditions. *Chem. Commun.* 2006, 3417-3419.
- (131) Solsona, B.; Davies, T. E.; García, T.; Vázquez, I.; Dejoz, A.; Taylor, S. H. Total Oxidation of Propane Using Nanocrystalline Cobalt Oxide and Supported Cobalt Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2008, 84, 176-184.
- (132) Solsona, B.; Vázquez, I.; García, T.; Davies, T. E.; Taylor, S. H. Complete Oxidation of Short Chain Alkanes Using a Nanocrystalline Cobalt Oxide Catalyst. *Catal. Lett.* 2007, 116, 116-121.
- (133) Khodakov, A. Y.; Chu, W.; Fongarland, P. Advances in the Development of Novel Cobalt Fischer-Tropsch Catalysts for Synthesis of Long-Chain Hydrocarbons and Clean Fuels. *Chem. Rev.* 2007, 107, 1692-1744.
- (134) Castaño, M. H.; Molina, R.; Moreno, S. Catalytic Oxidation of VOCs on MnMgAlO_x Mixed Oxides Obtained by Auto-Combustion. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2015**, *398*, 358-367.
- (135) Finocchio, E.; Busca, G. Characterization and Hydrocarbon Oxidation Activity of Coprecipitated Mixed Oxides Mn₃O₄/Al₂O₃. *Catal. Today* **2001**, *70*, 213-225.
- (136) Baldi, M.; Finocchio, E.; Milella, F.; Busca, G. Catalytic combustion of C3 hydrocarbons and Oxygenates over Mn₃O₄. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1998**, *16*, 43-51. 119
- (137) Baldi, M.; Sánchez-Escribano, V.; Gallardo Amores, J. M.; Milella, F.; Busca, G. Characterization of Manganese and Iron Oxides as Combustion Catalysts for Propane and Propene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1998**, *17*, L175-L182.
- (138) Xia, Y. S.; Dai, H. X.; Jiang, H. Y.; Zhang, L.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X. Three-Dimensionally Ordered and Wormhole-Like Mesoporous Iron Oxide Catalysts Highly Active for the Oxidation of Acetone and Methanol. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2011**, *186*, 84-91.
- (139) Heynderickx, P. M.; Thybaut, J. W.; Poelman, H.; Poelman, D.; Marin, G. B. The Total Oxidation of Propane over Supported Cu and Ce Oxides: A Comparison of Single and Binary Metal Oxides. J. Catal. 2010, 272, 109-120.
- (140) Luo, J. Y.; Meng, M.; Yao, J. S.; Li, X. G.; Zha, Y. Q.; Wang, X.; Zhang, T. Y. One-Step Synthesis of Nanostructured Pd-Doped Mixed Oxides MO_x-CeO₂ (M = Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu) for Efficient CO and C₃H₈ Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, *87*, 92-103.
- (141) Kim, M.; Cho, K.; Shin, C. H.; Kang, S. E.; Ham, S. W. Total Oxidation of Propane over Cu-Mn Mixed Oxide Catalysts Prepared by Co-Precipitation Method. *Korean J. Chem. Eng.* 2011, 28, 1139-1143.
- (142) Mehandjiev, D.; Naydenov, A.; Ivanov, G. Ozone Decomposition, Benzene and CO Oxidation over NiMnO₃-Ilmenite and NiMn₂O₄-Spinel Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2001, 206, 13-18.
- (143) Morales, M. R.; Barbero, B. P.; Cadús, L. E. Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds on Manganese Iron or Nickel Mixed Oxide Catalysts *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *74*, 1-10.
- (144) Gorte, R. J. Ceria in Catalysis: from Automotive Applications to the Water-Gas Shift Reaction. *AIChE J.* **2010**, *56*, 1126-1135.
- (145) Zimmer, P.; Tschöpe, A.; Birringer, R. Temperature-Programmed Reaction Spectroscopy of

Ceria-and Cu/Ceria-Supported Oxide Catalyst. J. Catal. 2002, 205, 339-345.

- (146) Todorova, S.; Kolev, H.; Holgado, J. P.; Kadinov, G.; Bonev, Ch.; Pereniguez, R.; Caballero, A. Complete *n*-Hexane Oxidation over Supported Mn-Co Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2010, *94*, 46-54.
- (147) Libby, W. F. Promising Catalyst for Auto Exhaust. Science 1971, 171, 499-500.
- (148) Kudo, T.; Gejo, T.; Yoshida, K. New Oxide Catalysts with Perovskite-Related Structure for Reduction of Nitric Oxide with Ammonia. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1978**, *12*, 185-189.
- (149) Nitadori, T.; Misono, M. Catalytic Properties of $La_{1-x}A'_{x}FeO_{3}$ (A' = Sr, Ce) and $La_{1-x}Ce_{x}CoO_{3}$. J. Catal. **1985**, 93, 459-466.
- (150) Forni, L.; Oliva, C.; Barzetti, T.; Selli, E.; Ezerets, A. M.; Vishniakov, A. V. FT-IR and EPR Spectroscopic Analysis of La_{1-x}Ce_xCoO₃ Perovskite-Like Catalysts for NO Reduction by CO. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1997**, *13*, 35-43.
- (151) Garcia, T.; Solsona, B.; Taylor, S. H. The Oxidative Destruction of Hydrocarbon Volatile Organic Compounds Using Palladium-Vanadia-Titania Catalysts. *Catal. Lett.* 2004, 97, 99-103.
- (152) Yazawa, Y.; Yoshida, H.; Takagi, N.; Komai, S.; Satsuma, A.; Hattori, T. Oxidation State of Palladium as a Factor Controlling Catalytic Activity of Pd/SiO₂-Al₂O₃ in Propane Combustion. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1998**, *19*, 261-266.
- (153) Gluhoi, A. C.; Nieuwenhuys, B. E. Catalytic Oxidation of Saturated Hydrocarbons on Multicomponent Au/Al₂O₃ Catalysts: Effect of Various Promoters *Catal. Today* 2007, *119*, 305-310.
- (154) Li, M.; Weng, D.; Wu, X. D.; Wan, J.; Wang, B. Importance of Re-Oxidation of Palladium by Interaction with Lanthana for Propane Combustion over Pd/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *Catal. Today* **2013**, 201, 19-24.
- (155) Taylor, M. N.; Zhou, W.; Garcia, T.; Solsona, B.; Carley, A. F.; Kiely, C. J.; Taylor, S. H. Synergy between Tungsten and Palladium Supported on Titania for the Catalytic Total Oxidation of Propane. J. Catal. 2012, 285, 103-114.
- (156) Debecker, D. P.; Farin, B.; Gaigneaux, E. M.; Sanchez, C.; Sassoye, C. Total Oxidation of Propane with a Nano-RuO₂/TiO₂ Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2014**, *481*, 11-18.
- (157) Garetto, T. F.; Rincón, E.; Apesteguía, C. R. Deep Oxidation of Propane on Pt-Supported Catalysts: Drastic Turnover Rate Enhancement Using Zeolite Supports. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2004, 48, 167-174.
- (158) Fujimoto, K. -I.; Riberio, F. H.; Avalos-Borja, M.; Iglesia, E. Structure and Reactivity of PdO_x/ZrO₂ Catalysts for Methane Oxidation at Low Temperatures. J. Catal. **1998**, 179, 431-442.
- (159) Choudhary, T. V.; Banerjee, S.; Choudhary, V. R. Catalysts for Combustion of Methane and Lower Alkanes. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2002**, *234*, 1-23.
- (160) Hoost, T. E.; Otto, K. Temperature-Programmed Study of the Oxidation of Palladium/Alumina Catalysts and Their Lanthanum Modification. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 1992, 92, 39-58.
- (161) Hu, Z.; Liu, X. F.; Meng, D. M.; Guo, Y.; Guo, Y. L.; Lu, G. Z. Effect of Ceria Crystal Plane on the Physicochemical and Catalytic Properties of Pd/Ceria for CO and Propane Oxidation. *ACS Catal.* **2016**, *6*, 2265-2279.
- (162) Machida, M.; Taniguchi, H.; Kijima, T.; Nakatani, J. Methane Combustion Activity of

Alumina Supported Pt, Pd, and Rh Catalysts Modified by High-Energy Ion Beam Irradiation. *J. Mater. Chem.* **1998**, *8*, 781-785.

- (163) Lee, J. H.; Trimm, D. L.; Cant., N. W. The Catalytic Combustion of Methane and Hydrogen Sulphide. *Catal. Today* **1999**, *47*, 353-357.
- (164) Aryafar, M.; Zaera, F. Kinetic Study of the Catalytic Oxidation of Alkanes over Nickel, Palladium, and Platinum Foils. *Catal. Lett.* **1997**, *48*, 173-183.
- (165) He, C.; Li, J. J.; Li, P.; Cheng, J.; Hao, Z. P.; Xu, Z.-P. Comprehensive Investigation of Pd/ZSM-5/MCM-48 Composite Catalysts with Enhanced Activity and Stability for Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2010**, *96*, 466-475.
- (166) He, C.; Li, P.; Cheng, J.; Wang, H. L.; Li, J. J.; Li, Q.; Hao, Z. P. Synthesis and Characterization of Pd/ZSM-5/MCM-48 Biporous Catalysts with Superior Activity for Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2010**, *382*, 167-175.
- (167) He, C.; Li, J. R.; Zhang, X. Y.; Yin, L. Q.; Chen, J. S.; Gao, S. K. Highly Active Pd-Based Catalysts with Hierarchical Pore Structure for Toluene Oxidation: Catalyst Property and Reaction Determining Factor. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2012**, *180*, 46-56.
- (168) He, C.; Li, J. J.; Cheng, J.; Li, L. D.; Li, P.; Hao, Z. P.; Xu, Z. P. Comparative Studies on Porous Material-Supported Pd Catalysts for Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene, Toluene, and Ethyl Acetate. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2009, 48, 6930-6936.
- (169) Yazawa, Y.; Yoshida, H.; Takagi, N.; Komai, S. -I.; Satsuma, A.; Hattori, T. Acid Strength of Support Materials as a Factor Controlling Oxidation State of Palladium Catalyst for Propane Combustion. J. Catal. 1999, 187, 15-23.
- (170) Ishikawa, A.; Komai, S.; Satsuma, A.; Hattori, T.; Murakami, Y. Solid Superacid as the Support of a Platinum Catalyst for Low-Temperature Catalytic Combustion. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **1994**, *110*, 61-66.
- (171) Yazawa, Y.; Takagi, N.; Yoshida, H.; Komai, S.; Satsuma, A.; Tanaka, T.; Yoshida, S.; Hattori, T. The Support Effect on Propane Combustion over Platinum Catalyst: Control of the Oxidation-Resistance of Platinum by the Acid Strength of Support Materials. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2002, 233, 103-112.
- (172) Ivanova, S.; Petit, C.; Pitchon, V. Application of Heterogeneous Gold Catalysis with Increased Durability: Oxidation of CO and Hydrocarbons at Low Temperature. *Gold Bull.* 2006, 39, 3-8.
- (173) Ruth, K.; Hayes, M.; Burch, R.; Tsubota, S.; Haruta, M. The Effects of SO₂ on the Oxidation of CO and Propane on Supported Pt and Au Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2000**, *24*, L133-L138.
- (174) Solsona, B.; Garcia, T.; Aylón, E.; Dejoz, A. M.; Vázquez, I.; Agouram, S.; Davies, T. E.; Taylor, S. H. Promoting the Activity and Selectivity of High Surface Area Ni-Ce-O Mixed Oxides by Gold Deposition for VOC Catalytic Combustion. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2011, 175, 271-278.
- (175) Rogers, T. H.; Piggot, C. S.; Bahlke, W. H.; Jennings, J. M. The Catalytic Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide.1 J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1921**, 43, 1973-1982.
- (176) Jones, H. A.; Taylor, H. S. The Reduction of Copper Oxide by Carbon Monoxide and the Catalytic Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide in the Presence of Copper and Copper Oxide. J. Phys. Chem. 1923, 27, 623-651.
- (177) Haruta, M. Novel Catalysis of Gold Deposited on Metal Oxides. Catal. Surv. Japan 1997, 1,

61-73.

- (178) Solsona, B.; García, T.; Taylor, S. H.; Hutchings, G. J.; Makkee, M. TAP Reactor Study of the Deep Oxidation of Propane Using Cobalt Oxide and Gold-Containing Cobalt Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2009**, *365*, 222-230.
- (179) Solsona, B.; Aylón, E.; Murillo, R.; Mastral, A. M.; Monzonís, A.; Agouram, S.; Davies, T. E.; Taylor, S. H.; Garcia, T. Deep Oxidation of Pollutants Using Gold Deposited on a High Surface Area Cobalt Oxide Prepared by a Nanocasting Route. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2011, *187*, 544-552.
- (180) Zheng, Y.; Zheng, Y.; Xiao, Y. H.; Cai, G. H.; Wei, K. M. The Effect of Nickel on Propane Oxidation and Sulfur Resistance of Pt/Ce_{0.4}Zr_{0.6}O₂ Catalyst. *Catal. Commun.* **2013**, *39*, 1-4.
- (181) Capitan, M. J.; Centeno, M. A.; Malet, P.; Carrizosa, I.; Odriozola, J. A.; Marquez, A.; Fernandez Sanz, J. Drifts, XPS, XAS, and ab Initio Study of Lanthanide Oxides Supported on Gamma-Al₂O₃. J. Phys. Chem. **1995**, 99, 4655-4660.
- (182) Chen, T. D.; Chen, H. G.; Chen, H. G.; Wang, L.; Shi, J. L. Effect of La on the Thermal Stability of Pd/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalytic Membranes. *Ceram. Int.* 2001, 27, 883-887.
- (183) Fleisch, T. H.; Hicks, R. H.; Bell, A. T. An XPS Study of Metal-Support Interactions on PdSiO₂ and PdLa₂O₃. *J. Catal.* **1984**, 87, 398-413.
- (184) Huang, F. F.; Wang, S. L.; Yi, W. Z.; Zou, S. H.; Chen, C. L.; Xiao, L. P.; Liu, X. N.; Fan, J. Mix and Print: Fast Optimization of Mesoporous CuCeZrO_w for Catalytic Oxidation of *n*-Hexane. *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51*, 8157-8160.
- (185) Araújo, V. D.; de Lima Jr., M. M.; Cantarero, A.; Bernardi, M. I. B.; Bellido, J. D. A.; Assaf, E. M.; Balzer, R.; Probst, L. F. D.; Fajardo, H. V. Catalytic Oxidation of *n*-Hexane Promoted by Ce_{1-x}Cu_xO₂ Catalysts Prepared by One-Step Polymeric Precursor Method. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* 2013, *142*, 677-681.
- (186) Łojewska, J.; Kołodziej, A.; Dynarowicz-Łątka, P.; Wesełucha-Birczyńska, A. Engineering and Chemical Aspects of the Preparation of Microstructured Cobalt Catalyst for VOC Combustion. *Catal. Today* **2005**, *101*, 81-91.
- (187) Gancheva, M.; Iordanova, R.; Dimitriev, Y.; Nihtianova, D.; Stefanov, P.; Naydenov, A. Mechanochemical Synthesis, Characterization and Catalytic Activity of Bi₂WO₆ Nanoparticles in CO, *n*-Hexane and Methane Oxidation Reactions. *J. Alloy. Compd.* 2013, 570, 34-40.
- (188) Díaz, E.; Ordóñez, S.; Vega, A.; Coca, J. Catalytic Combustion of Hexane over Transition Metal Modified Zeolites NaX and CaA. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2005**, *56*, 313-322.
- (189) Zhan, B. -Z.; Modén, B.; Dakka, J.; Santiesteban, J. G.; Iglesia, E. Catalytic Oxidation of *n*-Hexane on Mn-Exchanged Zeolites: Turnover Rates, Regioselectivity, and Spatial Constraints. J. Catal. 2007, 245, 316-325.
- (190) Novaković, T.; Radić, N.; Grbić, B.; Marinova, T.; Stefanov, P.; Stoychev, D. Oxidation of *n*-Hexane over Pt and Cu-Co Oxide Catalysts Supported on a Thin-Film Zirconia/Stainless Steel Carrier. *Catal. Commun.* **2008**, *9*, 1111-1118.
- (191) Łojewska, J.; Kołodziej, A.; Żak, J.; Stoch, J. Pd/Pt Promoted Co₃O₄ Catalysts for VOCs Combustion: Preparation of Active Catalyst on Metallic Carrier. *Catal. Today* **2005**, *105*, 655-661.
- (192) Skotak, M.; Łomot, D.; Karpiński, Z. Catalytic Conversion of C₆-Alkanes over Pd/Al₂O₃ Catalysts: The Effect of Support Acidity. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2002**, *229*, 103-115.

- (193) Cellier, C.; Lambert, S.; Gaigneaux, E. M.; Poleunis, C.; Runaux, V.; Eloy, P.; Lahousse, C.; Bertrand, P.; Pirard, J. -P.; Grange, P. Investigation of the Preparation and Activity of Gold Catalysts in the Total Oxidation of *n*-Hexane. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2007, *70*, 406-416.
- (194) Centeno, M. A.; Paulis, M.; Montes, M.; Odriozola, J. A. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds on Au/CeO₂/Al₂O₃ and Au/Al₂O₃ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2002**, *234*, 65-78.
- (195) Szabo, V.; Bassir, M.; Gallot, J. E.; Van Neste, A.; Kaliaguine, S. Perovskite-Type Oxides Synthesised by Reactive Grinding: Part III. Kinetics of *n*-Hexane Oxidation over LaCo_{1-x}Fe_xO₃ Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 2003, 42, 256-277.
- (196) Lahousse, C.; Bernier, A.; Grange, P.; Delmon, B.; Papaefthimiou, P.; Ioannides, T.; Verykios, X. Evaluation of γ-MnO₂ as a VOC Removal Catalyst: Comparison with a Noble Metal Catalyst. J. Catal. **1998**, 178, 214-225.
- (197) Sun, H.; Liu, Z.; Chen, S.; Quan, X. The Role of Lattice Oxygen on the Activity and Selectivity of the OMS-2 Catalyst for the Total Oxidation of Toluene. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2015**, 270, 58-65.
- (198) Gandhe, A. R.; Rebello, J. S.; Figueiredo, J.; Fernandes, J. Manganese Oxide OMS-2 as an Effective Catalyst for Total Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *72*, 129-135.
- (199) Kim, S. C.; Shim, W. G. Catalytic Combustion of VOCs over a Series of Manganese Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2010**, *98*, 180-185.
- (200) Castaño, M. H.; Molina, R.; Moreno, S. Cooperative Effect of the Co-Mn Mixed Oxides for the Catalytic Oxidation of VOCs: Influence of the Synthesis Method. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2015, 492, 48-59.
- (201) Tang, W.; Wu, X.; Li, S.; Li, W.; Chen, Y. Porous Mn-Co Mixed Oxide Nanorod as a Novel Catalyst with Enhanced Catalytic Activity for Removal of VOCs. *Catal. Commun.* **2014**, *56*, 134-138.
- (202) González-Velasco, J. R.; López-Fonseca, R.; Aranzabal, A.; Gutiér-rez-Ortiz, J. I.; Steltenpohl, P. Evaluation of H-Type Zeolites in the Destructive Oxidation of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2000**, *24*, 233-242.
- (203) Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; de Rivas, B.; López-Fonseca, R.; González-Velasco, J. R. Catalytic Purification of Waste Gases Containing VOC Mixtures with Ce/Zr Solid Solutions. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2006, 65, 191-200.
- (204) Cutrufello, M. G.; Ferino, I.; Monaci, R.; Rombi, E.; Solinas, V. Acid-Base Properties of Zirconium, Cerium and Lanthanum Oxides by Calorimetric and Catalytic Investigation. *Top. Catal.* **2002**, *19*, 225-240.
- (205) Brunelle, J. P.; Delmon, B.; Grange, P.; Jacobs, P.; Poncelet (Eds.), G. *Preparation of Catalysts II*, Elsevier: Amsterdam, **1999**; p 211.
- (206) Lahousse, C.; Bernier, A.; Gaigneaux, E.; Ruiz, P.; Grange, P.; Delmon, B. Activity of Manganese Dioxides towards VOC Total Oxidation in Relation with Their Crystallographic Characteristics. *Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal.* **1997**, *110*, 777-785.
- (207) Liotta, L. F.; Ousmane, M.; Di Carlo, G.; Pantaleo, G.; Deganello, G.; Boreave, A.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Catalytic Removal of Toluene over Co₃O₄-CeO₂ Mixed Oxide Catalysts: Comparison with Pt/Al₂O₃ *Catal. Lett.* **2009**, *127*, 270-276.
- (208) Gluhoi, A. C.; Bogdanchikova, N.; Nieuwenhuys, B. E. Total Oxidation of Propene and

Propane over Gold-Copper Oxide on Alumina Catalysts: Comparison with Pt/Al₂O₃ *Catal. Today* **2006**, *113*, 178-181.

- (209) Haneda, M.; Bonne, M.; Duprez, D.; Ozawa, M. Effect of Y-Stabilized ZrO₂ as Support on Catalytic Performance of Pt for *n*-Butane Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **2013**, *201*, 25-31.
- (210) Yu Stakheev, A.; Golobow, A. M.; Beck, I. E.; Bragina, G. O.; Zaikovsky, V. I.; Ayupov, A. B.; Telegina, N. S.; Bukhtiyarov, V. I. Effect of Pt Nanoparticle Size on the Specific Catalytic Activity of Pt/SiO₂ and Pt/TiO₂ in the Total Oxidation of Methane and *n*-Butane. *Russ. Chem. Bull., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *59*, 1713-1719.
- (211) Oancea, D.; Munteanu, V.; Razus, D. Isothermal Catalytic Combustion of *n*-Pentane/Air Mixtures on Platinum Wire. *J. Therm. Anal. Calorim* **2010**, *102*, 993-1000.
- (212) Chzhu, D. P.; Tsyrul'nikov, P. G.; Kudrya, E. N.; Smolikov, M. D.; Borbat, V. F.; Bubnov, A. V. Effect of Thermal Activation of Supported Catalysts Pt/MeO_x, Where MO_x = Al₂O₃, CeO₂, La₂O₃, and ZrO₂, for Complete Oxidation. *Kinet. Catal.* **2002**, *43*, 379-383.
- (213) Garetto, T. F.; Apesteguía, C. R. Oxidative Catalytic Removal of Hydrocarbons over Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **2000**, *62*, 189-199.
- (214) Kharson, M. S.; Kulesh, I. A.; Botavina, M. A.; Bondarenko, T. N.; Dergachev, A. A.; Kiperman, S. L.; Slinkin, A. A. The Nature of Active Sites in Cu/Pentasil Catalysts for Deep Oxidation of Hydrocarbons. *Kinet. Catal.* **1996**, *37*, 67-72.
- (215) Rusu, A. O.; Dumitriu, E. Destruction of Volatile Organic Compounds by Catalytic Oxidation. *Environ. Eng. Manag. J.* **2003**, *2*, 273-302.
- (216) Hettige, C.; Mahanama, K. R. R.; Dissanayake, D. P. Cyclohexane Oxidation and Carbon Deposition over Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Chemosphere* **2001**, *43*, 1079-1083.
- (217) Habibpour, V.; Yin, C. R.; Kwon, G.; Vajda, S.; Palmer, R. E. Catalytic Oxidation of Cyclohexane by Size-Selected Palladium Clusters Pinned on Graphite. J. Exp. Nanosci. 2013, 8, 993-1003.
- (218) Zabihi, M.; Khorasheh, F.; Shayegan, J. Studies on the Catalyst Preparation Methods and Kinetic Behavior of Supported Cobalt Catalysts for the Complete Oxidation of Cyclohexane. *Reac. Kinet. Mech. Cat.* 2015, 114, 611-628.
- (219) Fontane, H.; Veillerot, M.; Gallo, J. C.; Guillermo, R. *Proceedings of the* 8th *International Symposium on Transport and Air Pollution, Graz*, **1999**.
- (220) Xue, W. J.; Wang, Y. F.; Li, P.; Liu, Z. T.; Hao, Z. P.; Ma, C. Y. Morphology Effects of Co₃O₄ on the Catalytic Activity of Au/Co₃O₄ Catalysts for Complete Oxidation of Trace Ethylene. *Catal. Commun.* **2011**, *12*, 1265-1268.
- (221) Kouotou, P. M.; Pan, G. F.; Weng, J. J.; Fan, S. B.; Tian, Z. Y. Stainless Steel Grid Mesh-Supported CVD Made Co₃O₄ Thin Films for Catalytic Oxidation of VOCs of Olefins Type at Low Temperature. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* **2016**, *35*, 253-261.
- (222) Li, W. C.; Zhang, Z. X.; Wang, J. T.; Qiao, W. M.; Long, D. H.; Ling, L. C. Low Temperature Catalytic Combustion of Ethylene over Cobalt Oxide Supported Mesoporous Carbon Spheres. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *293*, 243-251.
- (223) Liotta, L. F.; Ousmane, M.; Di Carlo, G.; Pantaleo, G.; Deganello, G.; Marcì, G.; Retailleau, L.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Total Oxidation of Propene at Low Temperature over Co₃O₄-CeO₂ Mixed Oxides: Role of Surface Oxygen Vacancies and Bulk Oxygen Mobility in the Catalytic Activity. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2008, *347*, 81-88.
- (224) Dziembaj, R.; Molenda, M.; Chmielarz, L.; Zaitz, M. M.; Piwowarska, Z.;
Rafalska-Łasocha, A. Optimization of Cu Doped Ceria Nanoparticles as Catalysts for Low-Temperature Methanol and Ethylene Total Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *169*, 112-117.

- (225) Njagi, E. C.; Genuino, H. C.; King'ondu, C. K.; Dharmarathna, S.; Suib, S. L. Catalytic Oxidation of Ethylene at Low Temperatures Using Porous Copper Manganese Oxides. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2012, 421-422, 154-160.
- (226) Isaifan, R. J.; Ntais, S.; Baranova, E. A. Particle Size Effect on Catalytic Activity of Carbon-Supported Pt Nanoparticles for Complete Ethylene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2013, 464-465, 87-94.
- (227) Haneda, M.; Watanabe, T.; Kamiuchi, N.; Ozawa, M. Effect of Platinum Dispersion on the Catalytic Activity of Pt/Al₂O₃ for the Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide and Propene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 142-143, 8-14.
- (228) Wan, J.; Ran, R.; Wu, X. D.; Weng, D. Effect of Acid and Base Modification on the Catalytic Activity of Pt/Al₂O₃ for Propene Oxidation. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2014, 383-384, 194-202.
- (229) Isaifan, R. J.; Baranova, E. A. Effect of Ionically Conductive Supports on the Catalytic Activity of Platinum and Ruthenium Nanoparticles for Ethylene Complete Oxidation. *Catal. Today* 2015, 241, 107-113.
- (230) Li, J. J.; Ma, C. Y.; Xu, X. Y.; Yu, J. J.; Hao, Z. P.; Qiao, S. Z. Efficient Elimination of Trace Ethylene over Nano-Gold Catalyst under Ambient Conditions. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2008, 42, 8947-8951.
- (231) Lamallem, M.; Cousin, R.; Thomas, R.; Siffert, S.; Aïssi, F.; Aboukaïs, A. Investigation of the Effect of Support Thermal Treatment on Gold-Based Catalysts' Activity towards Propene Total Oxidation. C.R. Chim. 2009, 12, 772-778.
- (232) Lakshmanan, P.; Delannoy, L.; Richard, V.; Méthivier, C.; Potvin, C.; Louis, C. Total Oxidation of Propene over Au/xCeO₂-Al₂O₃ Catalysts: Influence of the CeO₂ Loading and the Activation Treatment. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2010**, *96*, 117-125.
- (233) Lamallem, M.; El Ayadi, H.; Gennequin, C.; Cousin, R.; Siffert, S.; Aïssi, F.; Aboukaïs, A. Effect of the Preparation Method on Au/Ce-Ti-O Catalysts Activity for VOCs Oxidation. *Catal. Today* 2008, 137, 367-372.
- (234) Gluhoi, A. C.; Bogdanchikova, N.; Nieuwenhuys, B. E. Alkali (Earth)-Doped Au/Al₂O₃ Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of Propene. *J. Catal.* **2005**, *232*, 96-101.
- (235) Gluhoi, A. C.; Bogdanchikova, N.; Nieuwenhuys, B. E. The Effect of Different Types of Additives on the Catalytic Activity of Au/Al₂O₃ in Propene Total Oxidation: Transition Metal Oxides and Ceria. J. Catal. 2005, 229, 154-162.
- (236) Xue, W. J.; Zhang, X. Y.; Li, P.; Liu, Z. T.; Hao, Z. P.; Ma, C. Y. Catalytic Activities for the Complete Oxidation of Ethylene over Au-Cu/Co₃O₄ Catalysts. *Aata Phys-Chim. Sin.* 2011, 27, 1730-1736.
- (237) Bracey, C. L.; Carley, A. F.; Edwards, J. F.; Ellis, P. R.; Hutchings, G. J. Understanding the Effect of Thermal Treatments on the Structure of CuAu/SiO₂ Catalysts and Their Performance in Propene Oxidation. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *1*, 76-85.
- (238) Sacaliuc-Parvulescu, E.; Friedrich, H.; Palkovits, R.; Weckhuysen, B. M.; Nijhuis, T. A. Understanding the Effect of Postsynthesis Ammonium Treatment on the Catalytic Activity of Au/Ti-SBA-15 Catalysts for the Oxidation of Propene. J. Catal. 2008, 259, 43-53.
- (239) Hosseini, M.; Siffert, S.; Tidahy, H. L.; Cousin, R.; Lamonier, J.-F.; Aboukais, A.;

Vantomme, A.; Roussel, M.; Su, B.-L. Promotional Effect of Gold Added to Palladium Supported on a New Mesoporous TiO₂ for Total Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Catal. Today* **2007**, *122*, 391-396.

- (240) Aguilar-Tapia, A.; Zanella, R.; Calers, C.; Louis, C.; Delannoy, L. Synergetic Effect in Bimetallic Au-Ag/TiO₂ Catalysts for CO Oxidation: New Insights from *In Situ* Characterization. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2015**, *17*, 28022-28032.
- (241) Yuan, H. Y.; Ren, J.; Ma, X. H.; Xu, L. Z. Dehydration of Ethyl Acetate Aqueous Solution by Pervaporation Using PVA/PAN Hollow Fiber Composite Membrane *Desalination* **2011**, 280, 252-280.
- (242) Chen, H.; Tong, X. L.; Li, Y. D. Mesoporous Cu-Mn Hopcalite Catalyst and Its Performance in Low Temperature Ethylene Combustion in a Carbon Dioxide Stream. *Appl.Catal. A: Gen.* 2009, 370, 59-65.
- (243) Piumetti, M.; Fino, D.; Russo, N. Mesoporous Manganese Oxides Prepared by Solution Combustion Synthesis as Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2015, *163*, 277-287.
- (244) Tseng, H. H.; Wey, M. Y.; Liang, Y. S.; Chen, K. H. Catalytic Removal of SO₂, NO and HCl from Incineration Flue Gas over Activated Carbon-Supported Metal Oxides. *Carbon* 2003, 41, 1079-1085.
- (245) Aksoylu, A. E.; Madalena, M.; Freitas, A.; Pereira, M. F. R.; Figueiredo, J. L. The Effects of Different Activated Carbon Supports and Support Modifications on the Properties of Pt/AC Catalysts. *Carbon* **2001**, *39*, 175-185.
- (246) Sue-aok, N.; Srithanratana, T.; Rangsriwatananon, K.; Hengrasmee, S. Study of Ethylene Adsorption on Zeolite NaY Modified with Group I Metal Ions. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2010, 256, 3997-4002.
- (247) Trinh, Q. H.; Lee, S. B.; Mok, Y. S. Removal of Ethylene from Air Stream by Adsorption and Plasma-Catalytic Oxidation Using Silver-Based Bimetallic Catalysts Supported on Zeolite. J. Hazard. Mater. 2015, 285, 525-534.
- (248) Keller, N.; Ducamp, M. N.; Robert, D.; Keller, V. Ethylene Removal and Fresh Product Storage: a Challenge at the Frontiers of Chemistry. Toward an Approach by Photocatalytic Oxidation. *Chem. Rev.* **2013**, *113*, 5029-5070.
- (249) Kaminski, P.; Ziolek, M. Mobility of Gold, Copper and Cerium Species in Au, Cu/Ce, Zr-Oxides and Its Impact on Total Oxidation of Methanol. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, 187, 328-341.
- (250) Wang, C. L.; Wang, H. W.; Yao, Q.; Yan, H.; Li, J. J.; Lu, J. L. Precisely Applying TiO₂ Overcoat on Supported Au Catalysts Using Atomic Layer Deposition for Understanding the Reaction Mechanism and Improved Activity in CO Oxidation. J. Phys. Chem. C 2016, 120, 478-486.
- (251) Lakshmanan, P.; Delannoy, L.; Louis, C.; Bion, N.; Tatibouet, J. M. Au/xCeO₂/Al₂O₃ Catalysts for VOC Elimination: Oxidation of 2-Propanol. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *3*, 2918-2925.
- (252) Ali, A. M.; Daous, M. A.; Arafat, A.; AlZahrani, A. A.; Alhamed, Y.; Tuerdimaimaiti, A.; Petrov, L. A. Effect of Au Precursor and Support on the Catalytic Activity of the Nano-Au-Catalysts for Propane Complete Oxidation. *J. Nanomater.* 2015, 901439.
- (253) Najafishirtari, S.; Guardia, P.; Scarpellini, A.; Prato, M.; Marras, S.; Manna, L.; Colombo,

M. The Effect of Au Domain Size on the CO Oxidation Catalytic Activity of Colloidal Au-FeO_x Dumbbell-Like Heterodimers. *J. Catal.* **2016**, *338*, 115-123.

- (254) Ma, C. Y.; Mu, Z.; Li, J. J.; Jin, Y. G.; Cheng, J.; Lu, G. Q.; Hao, Z. P.; Qiao, S. Z. Mesoporous Co₃O₄ and Au/Co₃O₄ Catalysts for Low-Temperature Oxidation of Trace Ethylene. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 2608-2613.
- (255) Jiang, C. X.; Hara, K.; Fukuoka, A. Low-Temperature Oxidation of Ethylene over Platinum Nanoparticles Supported on Mesoporous Silica. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 6265-6268.
- (256) Yang, H. L.; Ma, C. Y.; Zhang, X.; Li, Y.; Cheng, J.; Hao, Z. P. Understanding the Active Sites of Ag/Zeolites and Deactivation Mechanism of Ethylene Catalytic Oxidation at Room Temperature. ACS Catal. 2018, 8, 1248-1258.
- (257) Yang, H. L.; Ma, C. Y.; Wang, G.; Sun, Y. G.; Cheng, J.; Zhang, Z. Z.; Zhang, X.; Hao, Z. P. Fluorine-Enhanced Pt/ZSM-5 Catalysts for Low-Temperature Oxidation of Ethylene. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2018, *8*, 1988-1996.
- (258) Deganello, G.; Giannici, F.; Martorana, A.; Pantaleo, G.; Prestianni, A.; Balerna, A.; Liotta, L. F.; Longo, A. Metal-Support Interaction and Redox Behavior of Pt(1 wt %)/Ce_{0.6}Zr_{0.4}O₂. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2006, *110*, 8731-8739.
- (259) Negrier, F.; Marceau, E.; Che, M.; de Carto, D. Role of Ethylenediamine in the Preparation of Alumina-Supported Ni Catalysts from [Ni(en)₂(H₂O)₂](NO₃)₂: from Solution Properties to Nickel Particles. *C.R. Chim.* **2003**, *6*, 231-240.
- (260) Enache, D. I.; Roy-Auberger, M.; Revel, R. Differences in the Characteristics and Catalytic Properties of Cobalt-Based Fischer-Tropsch Catalysts Supported on Zirconia and Alumina. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2004**, *268*, 51-60.
- (261) Roche, V.; Mazri, L.; Boréave, A.; Ta, M. H.; Retailleau-Mevel, L.; Giroir-Fendler, A.; Vernoux, P.; Deloume, J. -P. Zirconium-Doped Lanthanum Manganites for Catalytic Deep Oxidation of Propene. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2010**, *385*, 163-169.
- (262) Tian, Z. -Y.; Bahlawane, N.; Vannier, V.; Kohse-Höinghaus, K. Structure Sensitivity of Propene Oxidation over Co-Mn Spinels. *Proc. Comb. Inst.* **2013**, *34*, 2261-2268.
- (263) Okumura, K.; Kobayashi, T.; Tanaka, H.; Niwa, M. Toluene Combustion over Palladium Supported on Various Metal Oxide Supports. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2003**, *44*, 325-331.
- (264) Simplício, L. M.; Brandao, S. T.; Doningos, D.; Bozon-Verduraz, F.; Sales, E. A. Catalytic Combustion of Methane at High Temperatures: Cerium Effect on PdO/Al₂O₃ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2009**, *360*, 2-7.
- (265) Rooke, J. C.; Barakat, T.; Siffert, S.; Su, B. L. Total Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene Using Pd Impregnated on Hierarchically Porous Nb₂O₅ and Ta₂O₅ Supports. *Catal. Today* 2012, *192*, 183-188.
- (266) Gil, S.; Garcia-Vargas, J. M.; Liotta, L. F.; Pantaleo, G.; Ousmane, M.; Retailleau, L.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Catalytic Oxidation of Propene over Pd Catalysts Supported on CeO₂, TiO₂, Al₂O₃ and M/Al₂O₃ Oxides (M = Ce, Ti, Fe, Mn). *Catalysts* **2015**, *5*, 671-689.
- (267) Aznárez, A.; Korili, S. A.; Gil, A. The Promoting Effect of Cerium on the Characteristics and Catalytic Performance of Palladium Supported on Alumina Pillared Clays for the Combustion of Propene. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2014, 474, 95-99.
- (268) Tidahy, H. L.; Siffert, S.; Wyrwalski, F.; Lamonier, J. F.; Aboukais, A. Catalytic Activity of Copper and Palladium Based Catalysts for Toluene Total Oxidation. *Catal. Today* 2007, *119*, 317-320.

- (269) Carballo, L. M.; Wolf, E. E. Crystallite Size Effects during the Catalytic Oxidation of Propylene on Pt/γ-Al₂O₃. J. Catal. 1978, 53, 366-373.
- (270) Denton, P.; Giroir-Fendler, A.; Praliaud, H.; Primet, M. Role of the Nature of the Support (Alumina or Silica), of the Support Porosity, and of the Pt Dispersion in the Selective Reduction of NO by C₃H₆ under Lean-Burn Conditions. J. Catal. 2000, 189, 410-420.
- (271) Aznárez, A.; Gil, A.; Korili, S. A. Performance of Palladium and Platinum Supported on Alumina Pillared Clays in the Catalytic Combustion of Propene. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 82296-82309.
- (272) Arnby, K.; Assiks, J.; Carlsson, P. A.; Palmqvist, A.; Skoglundh, M. The Effect of Platinum Distribution in Monolithic Catalysts on the Oxidation of CO and Hydrocarbons. *J. Catal.* 2005, 233, 176-185.
- (273) Cant, N. W.; Hall, W. K. Catalytic oxidation: II. Silica Supported Noble Metals for the Oxidation of Ethylene and Propylene. *J. Catal.* **1970**, *16*, 220-231.
- (274) Paulis, M.; Peyrard, H.; Montes, M. Influence of the Surface Adsorption-Desorption Processes on the Ignition Curves of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) Complete Oxidation over Supported Catalysts. J. Catal. 2001, 199, 30-40.
- (275) Burch, R.; Halpin, E.; Hayes, M.; Ruth, K.; Sullivan, J. A. The Nature of Activity Enhancement for Propane Oxidation over Supported Pt Catalysts Exposed to Sulphur Dioxide. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1998**, *19*, 199-207.
- (276) Skoglundh, M.; Ljungqvist, A.; Petersson, M.; Fridell, E.; Cruise, N.; Augustsson, O.; Jobson, E. SO₂ Promoted Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate, Ethanol and Propane. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2001, *30*, 315-328.
- (277) Ousmane, M.; Liotta, L. F.; Pantaleo, G.; Venezia, A. M.; Di Carlo, G.; Aouine, M.; Retailleau, L.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Supported Au Catalysts for Propene Total Oxidation: Study of Support Morphology and Gold Particle Size Effects. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *176*, 7-13.
- (278) Delannoy, L.; Fajerwerg, K.; Lakshmanan, P.; Potvin, C.; Methivier, C. Louis, C. Supported Gold Catalysts for the Decomposition of VOC: Total Oxidation of Propene in Low Concentration as Model Reaction. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2010**, *94*, 117-124.
- (279) Ousmane, M.; Liotta, L. F.; Di Carlo, G.; Pantaleo, G.; Venezia, A. M.; Deganello, G.; Retailleau, L.; Boreave, A.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Supported Au Catalysts for Low-Temperature Abatement of Propene and Toluene, as Model VOCs: Support Effect. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2011, *101*, 629-637.
- (280) Aboukaïs, A.; Skaf, M.; Hany, S.; Cousin, R.; Aouad, S.; Labaki, M.; Abi-Aad, E. A Comparative Study of Cu, Ag and Au Doped CeO₂ in the Total Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs). *Mater. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *177*, 570-576.
- (281) Przekop, R. E.; Kirszensztejn, P. Highly Dispersed Pt on B₂O₃/Al₂O₃ Support: Catalytic Properties in the Total Oxidation of 1-Butene. *Reac. Kinet. Mech. Cat.* **2016**, *118*, 325-335.
- (282) Assebban, M.; Tian, Z. -Y.; Kasmi, A. E.; Bahlawane, N.; Harti, S.; Chafik, T. Catalytic Complete Oxidation of Acetylene and Propene over Clay Versus Cordierite Honeycomb Monoliths without and with Chemical Vapor Deposited Cobalt Oxide. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2015, 262, 1252-1259.
- (283) Shahna, F. G.; Golbabaei, F.; Hamedi, J.; Mahjubm, H.; Darabi, H. R.;Shahtaheri, S. J. Treatment of Benzene, Toluene and Xylene Contaminated Air in a Bioactive Foam Emulsion Reactor. *Chin. J. Chem. Eng.* **2010**, *18*, 113-121.

- (284) Liaud, C.; Nguyen, N. T.; Nasreddine, R.; Le Calvé, S. Experimental Performances Study of a Transportable GC-PID and Two Thermo-Desorption Based Methods Coupled to FID and MS Detection to Assess BTEX Exposure at Sub-Ppb Level in Air. *Talanta* 2014, *127*, 33-42.
- (285) Liu, F. F.; Peng, C.; Ng, J. C. BTEX in Vitro Exposure Tool Using Human Lung Cells: Trips and Gains. *Chemosphere* **2015**, *128*, 321-326.
- (286) Chen, Y. W.; Li, B.; Niu, Q.; Li, L.; Kan, J. W.; Zhu, S. M.; Shen, S. B. Combined Promoting Effects of Low-Pd-Containing and Cu-Doped LaCoO₃ Perovskite Supported on Cordierite for the Catalytic Combustion of Benzene. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2016, 23, 15193-15201.
- (287) He, C.; Li, P.; Cheng, J.; Li, J. J.; Hao, Z. P. Preparation and Investigation of Pd/Ti-SBA-15 Catalysts for Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene. *Environ. Prog. Sustain. Energ.* 2010, 29, 435-442.
- (288) Zuo, S. F.; Du, Y. J.; Liu, F. J.; Han, D.; Qi, C. Z. Influence of Ceria Promoter on Shell-Powder-Supported Pd Catalyst for the Complete Oxidation of Benzene. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2013, 451, 65-70.
- (289) Li, J. J.; Xu, X. Y.; Jiang, Z.; Hao, Z. P.; Hu, C. Nanoporous Silica-Supported Nanometric Palladium: Synthesis, Characterization, and Catalytic Deep Oxidation of Benzene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2005, *39*, 1319-1323.
- (290) Li, J. J.; Jiang, Z.; Hao, Z. P.; Xu, X. Y.; Zhuang, Y. H. Pillared Laponite Clays-Supported Palladium Catalysts for the Complete Oxidation of Benzene. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2005, 225, 173-179.
- (291) Li, J. Q.; Tang, W. X.; Liu, G.; Li, W. H.; Deng, Y. Z.; Yang, J.; Chen, Y. F. Reduced Graphene Oxide Modified Platinum Catalysts for the Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Catal. Today*, **2016** 278, 203-208.
- (292) Wang, Y.; Chen, B. B.; Crocker, M.; Zhang, Y. J.; Zhu, X. B.; Shi, C. Understanding on the Origins of Hydroxyapatite Stabilized Gold Nanoparticles as High-Efficiency Catalysts for Formaldehyde and Benzene Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2015**, *59*, 195-200.
- (293) Lee, C. M.; Shul, Y. G.; Einaga, H. Silver and Manganese Oxide Catalysts Supported on Mesoporous ZrO₂ Nanofiber Mats for Catalytic Removal of Benzene and Diesel soot. *Catal. Today* 2017, 281, 460-466.
- (294) Mu, Z.; Li, J. J.; Tian, H.; Hao, Z. P.; Qiao, S. Z. Synthesis of Mesoporous Co/Ce-SBA-15 Materials and Their Catalytic Performance in the Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene. *Mater. Res. Bull.* 2008, 43, 2599-2606.
- (295) Li, J. J.; Xu, X. Y.; Hao, Z. P.; Zhao, W. Mesoporous Silica Supported Cobalt Oxide Catalysts for Catalytic Removal of Benzene. *J. Porous Mater.* **2008**, *15*, 163-169.
- (296) Zeng, J. L.; Liu, X. L.; Wang, J.; Lv, H. L.; Zhu, T. Y. Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene over MnO_x/TiO₂ Catalysts and the Mechanism Study. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2015, 408, 221-227.
- (297) Li, D. Y.; Wu, X. F.; Chen, Y. F. Synthesis of Hierarchical Hollow MnO₂ Microspheres and Potential Application in Abatement of VOCs. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2013**, *117*, 11040-11046.
- (298) Li, B.; Huang, Q.; Yan, X. K.; Xu, X. L.; Qiu, Y.; Yang, B.; Chen, Y. W.; Zhu, S. M.; Shen, S. B. Low-Temperature Catalytic Combustion of Benzene over Ni-Mn/CeO₂/Cordierite Catalysts. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* 2014, 20, 2359-2363.
- (299) Hou, J. T.; Li, Y. Z.; Liu, L. L.; Ren, L.; Zhao, X. J. Effect of Giant Oxygen Vacancy

Defects on the Catalytic Oxidation of OMS-2 Nanorods. J. Mater. Chem. A 2013, 1, 6736-6741.

- (300) Yang, J. S.; Jung, W. Y.; Lee, G. D.; Park, S. S.; Jeong, E. D.; Kim, H. G.; Hong, S.-S. Catalytic Combustion of Benzene over Metal Oxides Supported on SBA-15. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2008, 14, 779-784.
- (301) Luo, Y. J.; Wang, K. C.; Xu, Y. X.; Wang, X. Y.; Qian, Q. R.; Chen, Q. H. The Role of Cu Species in Electrospun CuO-CeO₂ Nanofibers for Total Benzene Oxidation. *New J. Chem.* 2015, 39, 1001-1005.
- (302) Xing, T.; Wan, H. Q.; Shao, Y.; Han, Y. X.; Xu, Z. Y.; Zheng, S. R. Catalytic Combustion of Benzene over γ-Alumina Supported Chromium Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2013, 468, 269-275.
- (303) Park, E. J.; Lee, J. H.; Kim, K.-D.; Jeong, D. H. Kim. M.-G.; Kim, Y. D. Toluene Oxidation Catalyzed by NiO/SiO₂ and NiO/TiO₂/SiO₂: Towards Development of Humidity-Resistant Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **2016**, *260*, 100-106.
- (304) Popova, M.; Szegedi, Á.; Németh, P.; Kostova, N.; Tsoncheva, T. Titanium Modified MCM-41 as a Catalyst for Toluene Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2008**, *10*, 304-308.
- (305) Ke, Y.; Lai, S.-Y. Comparison of the Catalytic Benzene Oxidation Activity of Mesoporous Ceria Prepared *via* Hard-Template and Soft-Template. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater*. 2014, 198, 256-262.
- (306) da Silva, A. G. M.; Fajardo, H. V.; Balzer, R.; Probst, L. F. D.; Prado, N. T.; Camargo, P. H. C.; Robles-Dutenhefner, P. A. Efficient Ceria-Silica Catalysts for BTX Oxidation: Probing the Catalytic Performance and Oxygen Storage. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 286, 369-376.
- (307) Aranda, A.; Puértolas, B.; Solsona, B.; Agouram, S.; Murillo, R.; Mastral, A. M.; Taylor, S. H.; Garcia, T. Total Oxidation of Naphthalene Using Mesoporous CeO₂ Catalysts Synthesized by Nanocasting from Two Dimensional SBA-15 and Three Dimensional KIT-6 and MCM-48 Silica Templates. *Catal. Lett.* 2010, *134*, 110-117.
- (308) Alifanti, M.; Florea, M.; Pârvulescu, V. I. Ceria-Based Oxides as Supports for LaCoO₃ Perovskite; Catalysts for Total Oxidation of VOC. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *70*, 400-405.
- (309) Andreeva, D.; Petrova, P.; Sobczak, J. W.; Ilieva, L.; Abrashev, M. Gold Supported on Ceria and Ceria-Alumina Promoted by Molybdena for Complete Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2006, 67, 237-245.
- (310) Zhao, Z. X.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Du, Y. C.; Liu, Y. X.; Zhang, L. Three-Dimensionally Ordered Macroporous La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}FeO_{3-δ}: High-Efficiency Catalysts for the Oxidative Removal of Toluene. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2012**, *163*, 131-139.
- (311) Giroir-Fendler, A.; Alves-Fortunato, M.; Richard, M.; Wang, C.; Díaz, J. A.; Gil, S.; Zhang, C. H.; Can, F.; Bion, N.; Guo, Y. L. Synthesis of Oxide Supported LaMnO₃ Perovskites to Enhance Yields in Toluene Combustion. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, *180*, 29-37.
- (312) Li, D. L.; Fan, Y. Y.; Ding, Y. Y.; Wei, X. F.; Xiao, Y. H. Preparation of Cobalt-Copper-Aluminum Spinel Mixed Oxides from Layered Double Hydroxides for Total Oxidation of Benzene. *Catal. Commun.* 2017, 88, 60-63.
- (313) Behar, S.; Gonzalez, P.; Agulhon, P.; Quignard, F.; Świerczyński, D. New Synthesis of Nanosized Cu-Mn Spinels as Efficient Oxidation Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **2012**, *189*, 35-41.
- (314) Mo, S. P.; Li, S. D.; Li, J. Q.; Peng, S. P.; Chen, J. Y.; Chen, Y. F. Promotional Effects of

Ce on the Activity of Mn-Al Oxide Catalysts Derived from Hydrotalcites for Low Temperature Benzene Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2016**, *87*, 102-105.

- (315) Gennequin, C.; Siffert, S.; Cousin, R.; Aboukaïs, A. Co-Mg-Al Hydrotalcite Precursors for Catalytic Total Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Top. Catal.* **2009**, *52*, 482-491.
- (316) Gennequin, C.; Kouassi, S.; Tidahy, L.; Cousin, R.; Lamonier, J. -F.; Garcon, G.; Shirali, P.; Cazier, F.; Aboukaïs, A.; Siffert, S. Co-Mg-Al Oxides Issued of Hydrotalcite Precursors for Total Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. Identification and Toxicological Impact of the By-Products. *C.R. Chim.* **2010**, *13*, 494-501.
- (317) Ataloglou, T.; Vakros, J.; Bourikas, K.; Fountzoula, C.; Kordulis, C.; Lycourghiotis, A. Influence of the Preparation Method on the Structure-Activity of Cobalt Oxide Catalysts Supported on Alumina for Complete Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2005, 57, 299-312.
- (318) Mo, S. P.; Li, S. D.; Li, J. Q.; Deng, Y. Z.; Peng, S. P.; Chen, J. Y.; Chen, Y. F. Rich Surface Co(iii) Ions-Enhanced Co Nanocatalyst Benzene/Toluene Oxidation Performance Derived from Co^{II}Co^{III} Layered Double Hydroxide. *Nanoscale* **2016**, *8*, 15763-15773.
- (319) Tang, C. W.; Kuo, C. C.; Kuo, M. C.; Wang, C. B.; Chien, S. H. Influence of Pretreatment Conditions on Low-Temperature Carbon Monoxide Oxidation over CeO₂/Co₃O₄ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2006**, *309*, 37-43.
- (320) Aziz, A.; Sajjad, M.; Kim, M.; Kim, K. S. An Efficient Co-ZSM-5 Catalyst for the Abatement of Volatile Organics in Air: Effect of the Synthesis Protocol. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *15*, 707-718.
- (321) Mu., Z.; Li, J. J.; Duan, M. H.; Hao, Z. P.; Qiao, S. Z. Catalytic Combustion of Benzene on Co/CeO₂/SBA-15 and Co/SBA-15 Catalysts. *Catal. Commun.* **2008**, *9*, 1874-1877.
- (322) Zuo, S. F.; Liu, F. J.; Tong , J.; Qi, C. Z. Complete Oxidation of Benzene with Cobalt Oxide and Ceria Using the Mesoporous Support SBA-16. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2013**, *467*, 1-6.
- (323) Ma, C. Y.; Mu, Z.; He, C.; Li, P.; Li, J. J.; Hao, Z. P. Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene over Nanostructured Porous Co₃O₄-CeO₂ Composite Catalysts. *J. Environ. Sci.* 2011, 23, 2078-2086.
- (324) Mo, S. P.; Li, S. D.; Li, W. H.; Li, J. Q.; Chen, J. Y.; Chen, Y. F. Excellent Low Temperature Performance for Total Benzene Oxidation over Mesoporous CoMnAl Composited Oxides from Hydrotalcites. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2016**, *4*, 8113-8122.
- (325) Ding, Y. Y.; Fan, Y. Y.; Wei, X. F.; Li, D. L.; Xiao, Y. H.; Jiang, L. L. Total Oxidation of Benzene over Cobalt-Aluminum Mixed Oxides Prepared from Layered Double Hydroxides: Influence of Preparation Methods. *Reac. Kinet. Mech. Cat.* **2016**, *118*, 593-604.
- (326) Li, D. L.; Ding, Y. Y.; Wei, X. F.; Xiao, Y. H.; Jiang, L. L. Cobalt-Aluminum Mixed Oxides Prepared from Layered Double Hydroxides for the Total Oxidation of Benzene. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2015, 507, 130-138.
- (327) Luo, Y. J.; Wang, K. C.; Chen, Q. H.; Xu, Y. X.; Xue, H.; Qian, Q. R. Preparation and Characterization of Electrospun La_{1-x}Ce_xCoO_δ: Application to Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene. J. Hazard. Mater. 2015, 296, 17-22.
- (328) Tang, W. X.; Wu, X. F.; Li, D. Y.; Wang, Z.; Liu, G.; Liu, H. D.; Chen, Y. F. Oxalate Route for Promoting Activity of Manganese Oxide Catalysts in Total VOCs' Oxidation: Effect of Calcination Temperature and Preparation Method. J. Mater. Chem. A 2014, 2, 2544-2554.

- (329) Hou, J. T.; Li, Y. Z.; Mao, M. Y.; Ren, L.; Zhao, X. J. Tremendous Effect of the Morphology of Birnessite-Type Manganese Oxide Nanostructures on Catalytic Activity. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2014, 6, 14981-14987.
- (330) Li, D. Y.; Yang, J.; Tang, W. X.; Wu, X. F.; Wei, L. Q.; Chen, Y. F. Controlled Synthesis of Hierarchical MnO₂ Microspheres with Hollow Interiors for the Removal of Benzene. *RSC*. *Adv.* 2014, *4*, 26796-26803.
- (331) Li, D. Y.; Shen, G. L.; Tang, W. X.; Liu, H. D.; Chen, Y. F. Large-Scale Synthesis of Hierarchical MnO₂ for Benzene Catalytic Oxidation. *Particuology* **2014**, *14*, 71-75.
- (332) Li, D. Y.; Li, W. H.; Deng, Y. Z.; Wu, X. F.; Han, N.; Chen, Y. F. Effective Ti Doping of δ-MnO₂ via Anion Route for Highly Active Catalytic Combustion of Benzene. J. Phys. Chem. C 2016, 120, 10275-10282.
- (333) Wang, X. Y.; Zhao, W. T.; Zhang, T. H.; Zhang, Y. F.; Jiang, L. L.; Yin, S. F. Facile Fabrication of Shape-Controlled Co_xMn_yO_β Nanocatalysts for Benzene Oxidation at Low Temperatures. *Chem. Commun.* **2018**, *54*, 2154-2157.
- (334) Tang, X. F.; Xu, Y. D.; Shen, W. J. Promoting Effect of Copper on the Catalytic Activity of MnO_x-CeO₂ Mixed Oxide for Complete Oxidation of Benzene. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2008, 144, 175-180.
- (335) Cao, H. Y.; Li, X. S.; Chen, Y. Q.; Gong, M. C.; Wang, J. L. Effect of Loading Content of Copper Oxides on Performance of Mn-Cu Mixed Oxide Catalysts for Catalytic Combustion of Benzene. J. Rare Earths 2012, 30, 871-877.
- (336) Tang, W. X.; Li, W. H.; Li, D. Y.; Liu, G.; Wu, X. F.; Chen, Y. F. Synergistic Effects in Porous Mn-Co Mixed Oxide Nanorods Enhance Catalytic Deep Oxidation of Benzene. *Catal. Lett.* 2014, 144, 1900-1910.
- (337) Tang, W. X.; Li, J. Q.; Wu, X. F.; Chen, Y. F. Limited Nanospace for Growth of Ni-Mn Composite Oxide Nanocrystals with Enhanced Catalytic Activity for Deep Oxidation of Benzene. *Catal. Today* 2015, 258, 148-155.
- (338) Deng, L.; Ding, Y.P.; Duan, B.Q.; Chen, Y.W.; Li, P. W.; Zhu, S. M.; Shen, S. B. Catalytic Deep Combustion Characteristics of Benzene over Cobalt Doped Mn-Ce Solid Solution Catalysts at Lower Temperatures. *Mol. Catal.* 2018, 446, 72-80.
- (339) Zhang, X. L.; Ye, J. H.; Yuan, J.; Cai, T.; Xiao, B.; Liu, Z.; Zhao, K. F.; Yang, L.; He, D. N. Excellent Low-Temperature Catalytic Performance of Nanosheet Co-Mn Oxides for Total Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2018, 566, 104-112.
- (340) Tang, W. X.; Yao, M. S.; Deng, Y. Z.; Li, X. F.; Han, N.; Wu, X. F.; Chen, Y. F. Decoration of One-Dimensional MnO₂ with Co₃O₄ Nanoparticles: A Heterogeneous Interface for Remarkably Promoting Catalytic Oxidation Activity. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, *306*, 709-718.
- (341) Tang, W. X.; Deng, Y. Z.; Li, W. H.; Li, J. Q.; Liu, G.; Li, S. D.; Wu, X. F.; Chen, Y. F. Importance of Porous Structure and Synergistic Effect on the Catalytic Oxidation Activities over Hierarchical Mn-Ni Composite Oxides. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *6*, 1710-1718.
- (342) Hou, J. T.; Li, Y. Z.; Mao, M. Y.; Zhao, X. J.; Yue, Y. Z. The Effect of Ce Ion Substituted OMS-2 Nanostructure in Catalytic Activity for Benzene Oxidation. *Nanoscale* 2014, 6, 15048-15058.
- (343) Luo, M.-F.; Ma, J.-M.; Lu, J.-Q.; Song, Y.-P.; Wang, Y.-J. High-Surface Area CuO-CeO₂ Catalysts Prepared by a Surfactant-Templated Method for Low-Temperature CO Oxidation. J. *Catal.* 2007, 246, 52-59.

- (344) Shan, W. J.; Feng, Z. C.; Li, Z. L.; Zhang, J.; Shen, W. J.; Li, C. Oxidative Steam Reforming of Methanol on Ce_{0.9}Cu_{0.1}O_Y Catalysts Prepared by Deposition-Precipitation, Coprecipitation, and Complexation-Combustion Methods. *J. Catal.* **2004**, 228, 206-217.
- (345) Papavasiliou, J.; Avgouropoulos, G.; Ioannides, T. *In situ* Combustion Synthesis of Structured Cu-Ce-O and Cu-Mn-O Catalysts for the Production and Purification of Hydrogen. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2006, 66, 168-174.
- (346) Martínez-Arias, A.; Gammarra, D.; Fernández-García, M.; Wang, X. Q.; Hanson, J. C.; Rodriguez, J. A. Oxidative Steam Reforming of Methanol on Ce_{0.9}Cu_{0.1}O_Y Catalysts Prepared by Deposition-Precipitation, Coprecipitation, and Complexation-Combustion Methods. *J. Catal.* **2006**, *240*, 1-7.
- (347) Zhou, G. L.; Lan, H.; Song, R. Y.; Xie, H. M.; Du, Q. X. Effects of Preparation Method on CeCu Oxide Catalyst Performance. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 50840-50850.
- (348) Li, S. D.; Wang, H. S.; Li, W. M.; Wu, X. F.; Tang, W. X.; Chen, Y. F. Effect of Cu Substitution on Promoted Benzene Oxidation over Porous CuCo-Based Catalysts Derived from Layered Double Hydroxide with Resistance of Water Vapor. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2015, 166-167, 260-269.
- (349) Hu, C. Q.; Zhu, Q. S.; Jiang, Z.; Zhang, Y. Y.; Wang, Y. Preparation and Formation Mechanism of Mesoporous CuO-CeO₂ Mixed Oxides with Excellent Catalytic Performance for Removal of VOCs. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2008**, *113*, 427-434.
- (350) Tang, W. X.; Wu, X. F.; Li, S. D.; Shan, X.; Liu, G.; Chen, Y. F. Co-Nanocasting Synthesis of Mesoporous Cu-Mn Composite Oxides and Their Promoted Catalytic Activities for Gaseous Benzene Removal. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2015**, *162*, 110-121.
- (351) Yang, Y. S.; Jung, W. Y.; Lee, G.-D.; Park, S. S.; Hong, S.-S. Effect of Pretreatment Conditions on the Catalytic Activity of Benzene Combustion Over SBA-15-Supported Copper Oxides. *Top Catal.* **2010**, *53*, 543-549.
- (352) Deng, H.; Kang, S.Y.; Wang, C.Y.; He, H.; Zhang, C.B. Palladium Supported on Low-Surface-Area Fiber-Based Materials for Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *348*, 361-369.
- (353) Zuo, S. F.; Zhou, R. X. Influence of Synthesis Condition on Pore Structure of Al Pillared Clays and Supported Pd Catalysts for Deep Oxidation of Benzene. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2008, 113, 472-480.
- (354) Zuo, S. F.; Sun, X. J.; Lv, N. N.; Qi, C. Z. Rare Earth-Modified Kaolin/NaY-Supported Pd-Pt Bimetallic Catalyst for the Catalytic Combustion of Benzene. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2014**, *6*, 11988-11996.
- (355) Ferreira, R. S. G.; de Oliveira, P. G. P.; Noronha, F. B. Characterization and Catalytic Activity of Pd/V₂O₅/Al₂O₃ Catalysts on Benzene Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2004, *50*, 243-249.
- (356) Zuo, S. F.; Qi, C. Z. Modification of Co/Al₂O₃ with Pd and Ce and Their Effects on Benzene Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2011**, *15*, 74-77.
- (357) Li, J. Q.; Li, W. H.; Liu, G.; Deng, Y. Z.; Yang, J.; Chen, Y. F. Tricobalt Tetraoxide-Supported Palladium Catalyst Derived from Metal Organic Frameworks for Complete Benzene Oxidation. *Catal. Lett.* **2016**, *146*, 1300-1308.
- (358) Mu, Z.; Li, J. J.; Hao, Z. P.; Qiao, S. Z. Direct Synthesis of Lanthanide-Containing SBA-15 under Weak Acidic Conditions and Its Catalytic Study. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater*.

2008, 113, 72-80.

- (359) Tang, W. X.; Deng, Y. Z.; Chen, Y. F. Promoting Effect of Acid Treatment on Pd-Ni/SBA-15 Catalyst for Complete Oxidation of Gaseous Benzene. *Catal. Commun.* 2017, 89, 86-90.
- (360) Zhao, W.; Li, J. J.; He, C.; Wang, L. N.; Chu, J. L.; Qu, J. K.; Qi, T.; Hao, Z. P. Synthesis of Nanosized Al-HMS and Its Application in Deep Oxidation of Benzene. *Catal. Today* 2010, 158, 427-431.
- (361) Liu, Y. X.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Tan, W.; Han, W.; Jiang, Y.; Guo, G. S. Mesoporous Co₃O₄-Supported Gold Nanocatalysts: Highly Active for the Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide, Benzene, Toluene, and *o*-Xylene. *J. Catal.* **2014**, *309*, 408-418.
- (362) Lai, S. Y.; Qiu, Y.; Wang, S. Effects of the Structure of Ceria on the Activity of Gold/Ceria Catalysts for the Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide and Benzene. *J. Catal.* **2006**, *237*, 303-313.
- (363) Wu, H. J.; Wang, L. D.; Zhang, J. Q.; Shen, Z. Y.; Zhao, J. H. Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene, Toluene and *p*-Xylene over Colloidal Gold Supported on Zinc Oxide Catalyst. *Catal. Commun.* 2011, 12, 859-865.
- (364) Andreeva, D.; Tabakova, T.; Ilieva, L.; Naydenov, A.; Mehanjiev, D.; Abrashev, M. V. Nanosize Gold Catalysts Promoted by Vanadium Oxide Supported on Titania and Zirconia for Complete Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2001**, *209*, 291-300.
- (365) Andreeva, D.; Nedyalkova, R.; Ilieva, L.; Abrashev, M. V. Nanosize Gold-Ceria Catalysts Promoted by Vanadia for Complete Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2003, 246, 29-38.
- (366) Andreeva, D.; Nedyalkova, R.; Ilieva, L.; Abrashev, M. V. Gold-Vanadia Catalysts Supported on Ceria-Alumina for Complete Benzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2004, 52, 157-165.
- (367) Idakiev, V.; Ilieva, L.; Andreeva, D.; Blin, J. L.; Gigot, L.; Su, B. L. Complete Benzene Oxidation over Gold-Vanadia Catalysts Supported on Nanostructured Mesoporous Titania and Zirconia. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2003**, *243*, 25-39.
- (368) Tabakova, T.; Ilieva, L.; Petrova, P.; Venezia, A. M.; Avdeev, G.; Zanella, R.; Karakirova, Y. Complete Benzene Oxidation over Mono and Bimetallic Au-Pd Catalysts Supported on Fe-Modified Ceria. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2015, 260, 133-141.
- (369) Garetto, T. F.; Apesteguía, C. R. Structure Sensitivity and *In situ* Activation of Benzene Combustion on Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2001, 32, 83-94.
- (370) da Silva, A. G. M.; Rodrigues, T. S.; Slater, T. J. A.; Lewis, E. A.; Alves, R. S.; Fajardo, H. V.; Balzer, R.; da Silva, A. H. M.; de Freitas, I. C.; Oliveira, D. C.; *et al.* Controlling Size, Morphology, and Surface Composition of AgAu Nanodendrites in 15s for Improved Environmental Catalysis under Low Metal Loadings. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* 2015, 7, 25624-25632.
- (371) Ye, Q.; Zhao, J. S.; Huo, F. F.; Wang, J.; Cheng, S. Y.; Kang, T. F.; Dai, H. X. Nanosized Ag/α-MnO₂ Catalysts Highly Active for the Low-Temperature Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide and Benzene. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *175*, 603-609.
- (372) Mao, M. Y.; Lv, H. Q.; Li, Y. Z.; Yang, Y.; Zeng, M.; Li, N.; Zhao, X. J. Metal Support Interaction in Pt Nanoparticles Partially Confined in the Mesopores of Microsized Mesoporous CeO₂ for Highly Efficient Purification of Volatile Organic Compounds. ACS

Catal. 2016, 6, 418-427.

- (373) Lambert, S.; Cellier, C.; Gaigneaux, E. M.; Pirard, J.-P.; Heinrichs, B. Ag/SiO₂, Cu/SiO₂ and Pd/SiO₂ Cogelled Xerogel Catalysts for Benzene Combustion: Relationships Between Operating Synthesis Variables and Catalytic Activity. *Catal. Commun.* 2007, *8*, 1244-1248.
- (374) Palacio, L. A.; Silva, J. M.; Ribeiro, F. R.; Ribeiro, M. F. Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds with a New Precursor Type Copper Vanadate. *Catal. Today* **2008**, *133-135*, 502-508.
- (375) Velu, S.; Shah, N.; Jyothi, T. M.; Sivasanker, S. Effect of Manganese Substitution on the Physicochemical Properties and Catalytic Toluene Oxidation Activities of Mg-Al Layered Double Hydroxides. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **1999**, *33*, 61-75.
- (376) Wang, L.; Zhang, C. H.; Huang, H.; Li, X. B.; Zhang, W.; Lu, M. H.; Li, M. S. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Active MnO_x Catalyst Prepared *via* an Alkali-Promoted Redox Precipitation Method. *Reac. Kinet. Mech. Cat.* **2016**, *118*, 605-619.
- (377) Liu, P.; He, H. P.; Wei, G. L.; Liu, D.; Liang, X. L.; Chen, T. H.; Zhu, J. X.; Zhu, R. L. An Efficient Catalyst of Manganese Supported on Diatomite for Toluene Oxidation: Manganese Species, Catalytic Performance, and Structure-Activity Relationship. *Micorpor. Mesopor. Mater.* 2017, 239, 101-110.
- (378) Wyrwalski, F.; Lamonier, J. -F.; Siffert, S.; Gengembre, L.; Aboukaïs, A. Modified Co₃O₄/ZrO₂ Catalysts for VOC Emissions Abatement. *Catal. Today* **2007**, *119*, 332-337.
- (379) Chuang, K. H.; Liu, Z. S.; Lu, C. Y.; Wey, M. Y. Influence of Catalysts on the Preparation of Carbon Nanotubes for Toluene Oxidation. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2009**, *48*, 4202-4209.
- (380) Ji, K. M.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Li, X. W.; Wang, Y.; Gao, B. Z.; Bai, G. M.; Au, C. T. A Comparative Study of Bulk and 3DOM-Structured Co₃O₄, Eu_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}FeO₃, and Co₃O₄/Eu_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}FeO₃: Preparation, Characterization, and Catalytic Activities for Toluene Combustion. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2012, 447-448, 41-48.
- (381) Li, G. Q.; Zhang, C. H.; Wang, Z.; Huang, H.; Peng, H.; Li, X. B. Fabrication of Mesoporous Co₃O₄ Oxides by Acid Treatment and Their Catalytic Performances for Toluene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2018, 550, 67-76.
- (382) Dou, B. J.; Li, S. M.; Liu, D. L.; Zhao, R. Z.; Liu, J. G.; Hao, Q. L.; Bing, F. Catalytic Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate and Toluene over Cu-Ce-Zr Supported ZSM-5/TiO₂ Catalysts. *RSC Adv.* **2016**, *6*, 53852-53859.
- (383) Białas, A.; Kondratowicz, T.; Drozdek, M.; Kuśtrowski, P. Catalytic Combustion of Toluene over Copper Oxide Deposited on Two Types of Yttria-Stabilized Zirconia. *Catal. Today* 2015, 257, 144-149.
- (384) Wang, C.-H. Al₂O₃-Supported Transition-Metal Oxide Catalysts for Catalytic Incineration of Toluene. *Chemosphere* **2004**, *55*, 11-17.
- (385) Sun, J. Y.; Bo, L. L.; Yang, L.; Liang, X. X.; Hu, X. J. A Carbon Nanodot Modified Cu-Mn-Ce/ZSM Catalyst for the Enhanced Microwave-Assisted Degradation of Gaseous Toluene. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 14385-14391.
- (386) Palacio, L. A.; Silva, E. R.; Catalão, R.; Silva, J. M.; Hoyos, D. A.; Ribeiro, F. R.; Ribeiro, M. F. Performance of Supported Catalysts Based on a New Copper Vanadate-Type Precursor for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2008, *153*, 628-634.
- (387) Kim, I. H.; Park, E. J.; Park, C. H.; Han, S. W.; Seo, H. O.; Kim, Y. D. Activity of Catalysts Consisting of Fe₂O₃ Nanoparticles Decorating Entire Internal Structure of Mesoporous Al₂O₃

Bead for Toluene Total Oxidation. Catal. Today 2017, 295, 56-64.

- (388) Sanchis, R.; Cecilia, J. A.; Soriano, M. D.; Vázquez, M. I.; Dejoz, A.; López Nieto, J. M.; Rodríguez-Castellón, E.; Solsona, B. Porous Clays Heterostructures as Supports of Iron Oxide for Environmental Catalysis. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *334*, 1159-1168.
- (389) Sanchis, R.; Alonso-Domínguez, D.; Dejoz, A.; Pico, M. P.; Álvarez-Serrano, I.; García T.; López, M. L.; Solsona B. Eco-Friendly Cavity-Containing Iron Oxides Prepared by Mild Routes as Very Efficient Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of VOCs. *Mater.* 2018, 11, 1387.
- (390) Jin, L. Y.; He, M.; Lu, J. Q.; Luo, M. F.; Gao, L. B.; He, J. Palladium Catalysts Supported on Novel Ce_xY_{1-x}O Washcoats for Toluene Catalytic Combustion. *J. Rare Earth* **2008**, *26*, 614-618.
- (391) Rooke, J. C.; Barakat, T.; Brunet, J.; Li, Y.; Finol, M. F.; Lamonier, J.-F.; Giraudon, J.-M.; Cousin, R.; Siffert, S.; Su, B. L. Hierarchically Nanostructured Porous Group Vb Metal Oxides from Alkoxide Precursors and Their Role in the Catalytic Remediation of VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2015**, *162*, 300-309.
- (392) Takeguchi, T.; Aoyama, S.; Ueda, J. Y.; Kikuchi, R.; Eguchi, K. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds on Supported Precious Metal Catalysts. *Top. Catal.* **2003**, *23*, 159-162.
- (393) Barresi, A. A.; Cittadini, M.; Zucca, A. Investigation of Deep Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over a Pt-Based Monolithic Catalyst by Dynamic Experiments. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2003**, *43*, 27-42.
- (394) Xia, Q.-H.; Hidajat, K.; Kawi, S. Adsorption and Catalytic Combustion of Aromatics on Platinum-Supported MCM-41 Materials. *Catal. Today* **2001**, *68*, 255-262.
- (395) Li, X. W.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Xie, S. H.; Zhao, Z. X.; Wang, Y.; Guo, G. S.; Arandiyan, H. Au/3DOM LaCoO₃: High-Performance Catalysts for the Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide and Toluene. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2013**, 228, 965-975.
- (396) Suh, M.-J.; Park, Y.-K.; Ihm, S.-K. One-Pot Synthesis of Perovskite-Type Metal Oxides *via* Confined Mesopore and Their Catalytic Activity for Toluene Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **2016**, 265, 210-217.
- (397) Meng, Q. J.; Wang, W. L.; Weng, X. L.; Liu, Y.; Wang, H. Q.; Wu, Z. B. Active Oxygen Species in La_{n+1}Ni_nO_{3n+1} Layered Perovskites for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene and Methane. J. Phys. Chem. C 2016, 120, 3259-3266.
- (398) Ji, K. M.; Dai, H. X.; Dai, J. X.; Deng, J. G.; Wang, F.; Zhang, H.; Zhang, L. PMMA-Templating Preparation and Catalytic Activities of Three-Dimensional Macroporous Strontium Ferrites with High Surface Areas for Toluene Combustion. *Catal. Today* 2013, 201, 40-48.
- (399) Chen, X.; Chen, X.; Yu, E. Q.; Cai, S. C.; Jia, H. P.; Chen, J.; Liang, P. In situ Pyrolysis of Ce-MOF to Prepare CeO₂ Catalyst with Obviously Improved Catalytic Performance for Toluene Combustion. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *344*, 469-479.
- (400) Li, J. J.; Li, L.; Cheng, W.; Wu, F.; Lu, X. F.; Li, Z. P. Controlled Synthesis of Diverse Manganese Oxide-Based Catalysts for Complete Oxidation of Toluene and Carbon Monoxide. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2014, 244, 59-67.
- (401) Salker, A. V.; Kunkalekar, R. K. Palladium Doped Manganese Dioxide Catalysts for Low Temperature Carbon Monoxide Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2009**, *10*, 1776-1780.
- (402) Li, J. J.; Li, L.; Wu, F.; Zhang, L.; Liu, X. M. Dispersion-Precipitation Synthesis of

Nanorod Mn_3O_4 with High Reducibility and the Catalytic Complete Oxidation of Air Pollutants. *Catal. Commun.* **2013**, *31*, 52-56.

- (403) Wei, C.; Yu, L. H.; Cui, C.; Lin, J. D.; Wei, C.; Mathews, N.; Huo, F. W.; Sritharan, T.; Xu, Z. C. Ultrathin MnO₂ Nanoflakes as Efficient Catalysts for Oxygen Reduction Reaction. *Chem. Commun.* 2014, *50*, 7885-7888.
- (404) Meng, Y. T.; Song, W. Q.; Huang, H.; Ren, Z.; Chen, S. -Y.; Suib, S. L. Structure-Property Relationship of Bifunctional MnO₂ Nanostructures: Highly Efficient, Ultra-Stable Electrochemical Water Oxidation and Oxygen Reduction Reaction Catalysts Identified in Alkaline Media. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 11452-11464.
- (405) Wang, F.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Bai, G. M.; Ji, K. M.; Liu, Y. X. Manganese Oxides with Rod-, Wire-, Tube-, and Flower-Like Morphologies: Highly Effective Catalysts for the Removal of Toluene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 4034-4041.
- (406) Cheng, G.; Yu, L.; Lan, B.; Sun, M.; Lin, T.; Fu, Z. W.; Su, X. H.; Qiu, M. Q.; Guo, G. H.; Xu, B. Controlled Synthesis of α-MnO₂ Nanowires and Their Catalytic Performance for Toluene Combustion. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **2016**, *75*, 17-24.
- (407) Si, W. Z.; Wang, Y.; Peng, Y.; Li, X.; Li, K. Z.; Li, J. H. A High-Efficiency γ-MnO₂-Like Catalyst in Toluene Combustion. *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51*, 14977-14980.
- (408) Chen, J.; Chen, X.; Chen, X.; Xu, W. J.; Xu, Z.; Jia, H. P.; Chen, J. Homogeneous Introduction of CeO_y into MnO_x-Based Catalyst for Oxidation of Aromatic VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2018, 224, 825-835.
- (409) Luo, Y. J.; Zheng, Y. B.; Zuo, J. C.; Feng, X. S.; Wang, X. Y.; Zhang, T. H.; Zhang, K.; Jiang, L. L. Insights into the High Performance of Mn-Co Oxides Derived from Metal-Organic Frameworks for Total Toluene Oxidation. J. Hazard. Mater. 2018, 349, 119-127.
- (410) Ye, Z.; Giraudon, J.-M.; Nuns, N.; Simon, P.; De Geyter, N.; Morent, R.; Lamonier, J.-F. Influence of the Preparation Method on the Activity of Copper-Manganese Oxides for Toluene Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2018**, *223*, 154-166.
- (411) Hu, J.; Li, W. B.; Liu, R. F. Highly Efficient Copper-Doped Manganese Oxide Nanorod Catalysts Derived from CuMnO Hierarchical Nanowire for Catalytic Combustion of VOCs. *Catal. Today* 2018, 314, 147-153.
- (412) Liao, Y. N.; Fu, M. L.; Chen, L. M.; Wu, J. L.; Huang, B. C.; Ye, D. Q. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Nanorod-Structured Mn-Ce Mixed Oxides. *Catal. Today* **2013**, *216*, 220-228.
- (413) Delimaris, D.; Loannides, T. VOC Oxidation over MnO_x-CeO₂ Catalysts Prepared by a Combustion Method. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2008**, *84*, 303-312.
- (414) Du, J. P.; Qu, Z. P.; Dong, C.; Song, L. X.; Qin, Y.; Huang, N. Low-Temperature Abatement of Toluene over Mn-Ce Oxides Catalysts Synthesized by a Modified Hydrothermal Approach. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2018**, *433*, 1025-1035.
- (415) Dula, R.; Janik, R.; Machej, T.; Stoch, J.; Grabowski, R.; Serwicka, E. M. Mn-Containing Catalytic Materials for the Total Combustion of Toluene: the Role of Mn Localisation in the Structure of LDH Precursor. *Catal. Today* 2007, *119*, 327-331.
- (416) Hou, Z. Y.; Feng, J.; Lin, T.; Zhang, H. L.; Zhou, X. Y.; Chen, Y. Q. The Performance of Manganese-Based Catalysts with Ce_{0.65}Zr_{0.35}O₂ as Support for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. Appl. Surf. Sci. 2018, 434, 82-90.
- (417) Li, W.; Chu, W.; Zhuang, M.; Hua, J. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene on Mn-Containing

Mixed Oxides Prepared in Reverse Microemulsions. Catal. Today 2004, 93, 205-209.

- (418) Li, J.; Zhao, P.; Liu, S. SnO_x-MnO_x-TiO₂ Catalysts with High Resistance to Chlorine Poisoning for Low-Temperature Chlorobenzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2014**, *482*, 363-369.
- (419) Pozan, G. S. Effect of Support on the Catalytic Activity of Manganese Oxide Catalyts for Toluene Combustion. J. Hazard. Mater. **2012**, 221-222, 124-130.
- (420) Yu, D. Q.; Liu, Y.; Wu, Z. B. Low-Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Mesoporous MnO_x-CeO₂/TiO₂ Prepared by Sol-Gel Method. *Catal. Commun.* 2010, 11, 788-791.
- (421) Si, W. Z.; Wang, Y.; Zhao, S.; Hu, F. Y.; Li, J. H. A Facile Method for *In situ* Preparation of the MnO₂/LaMnO₃ Catalyst for the Removal of Toluene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2016, *50*, 4572-4578.
- (422) Castaño, M. H.; Molina, R.; Moreno, S. Mn-Co-Al-Mg Mixed Oxides by Auto-Combustion Method and Their Use as Catalysts in the Total Oxidation of Toluene. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* 2013, 370, 167-174.
- (423) Lamonier, J. F.; Boutoundou, A. B.; Gennequin, C.; Perez-Zurita, M. J.; Siffert, S.; Aboukais, A. Catalytic Removal of Toluene in Air over Co-Mn-Al Nano-Oxides Synthesized by Hydrotalcite Route. *Catal. Lett.* **2007**, *118*, 165-172.
- (424) Bai, G. M.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Wang, F.; Zhao, Z. X.; Qiu, W. G.; Au, C. T. Porous Co₃O₄ Nanowires and Nanorods: Highly Active Catalysts for the Combustion of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2013**, 450, 42-49.
- (425) Du, Y. C.; Meng, Q.; Wang, J. S.; Yan, J.; Fan, H. G; Liu, Y. X.; Dai, H. X. Three-Dimensional Mesoporous Manganese Oxides and Cobalt Oxides: High-Efficiency Catalysts for the Removal of Toluene and Carbon Monoxide. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2012, 162, 199-206.
- (426) Deng, J. G.; Zhang, L.; Dai, H. X.; Dai, Y. S.; Xia, Y. S.; Jiang, H. Y.; Zhang, H.; He, H. Ultrasound-Assisted Nanocasting Fabrication of Ordered Mesoporous MnO₂ and Co₃O₄ with High Surface Areas and Polycrystalline Walls. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2010, *114*, 2694-2700.
- (427) Ren, Q. M.; Mo, S. P.; Peng, R. S.; Feng, Z. T.; Zhang, M. Y.; Chen, L. M.; Fu, M. L.; Wu, J. L.; Ye, D. Q. Controllable Synthesis of 3D Hierarchical Co₃O₄ Nanocatalysts with Various Morphologies for the Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *J. Mater. Chem. A* 2018, *6*, 498-509.
- (428) Rokicińska, A.; Natkański, P.; Dudek, B.; Drozdek, M.; Lityńska-Dobrzyńska, L.; Kuśtrowski, P. Co₃O₄-Pillared Montmorillonite Catalysts Synthesized by Hydrogel-Assisted Route for Total Oxidation of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *195*, 59-68.
- (429) Carabineiro, S. A. C.; Chen, X.; Konsolakis, M.; Psarras, A. C.; Tavares, P. B.; Órfão, J. J. M.; Pereira, M. F. R.; Figueiredo, J. L. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene on Ce-Co and La-Co Mixed Oxides Synthesized by Exotemplating and Evaporation Methods. *Catal. Today* 2015, 244, 161-171.
- (430) Tasis, D.; Tagmatarchis, N.; Bianco, A.; Prato, M. Chemistry of Carbon Nanotubes. *Chem. Rev.* **2006**, *106*, 1105-1136.
- (431) Song, S. Q.; Yang, H. X.; Rao, R. C.; Liu, H. D.; Zhang, A. M. Defects of Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes as Active Sites for Benzene Hydroxylation to Phenol in the Presence of H₂O₂. *Catal. Commun.* **2010**, *11*, 783-787.
- (432) Jiang, S. J.; Song, S. Q. Enhancing the Performance of Co₃O₄/CNTs for the Catalytic

Combustion of Toluene by Tuning the Surface Structures of CNTs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2013**, *140-141*, 1-8.

- (433) Chen, C.-K.; Chen, Y.-W.; Lin, C.-H.; Lin, H.-P.; Lee, C.-F. Synthesis of CuO on Mesoporous Silica and Its Applications for Coupling Reactions of Thiols with Aryl Iodides. *Chem. Commun.* 2010, 46, 282-284.
- (434) Wu, S.-H.; Mou, C.-Y.; Lin, H.-P. Synthesis of Mesoporous Silica Nanoparticles. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 3862-3875.
- (435) Lin, L.-Y.; Bai, H. Salt-Induced Formation of Hollow and Mesoporous CoO_x/SiO₂ Spheres and Their Catalytic Behavior in Toluene Oxidation. *RSC Adv.* **2016**, *6*, 24304-24313.
- (436) Li, X. W.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Zhao, Z. X.; Wang, Y.; Yang, H. G.; Au, C. T. *In situ* PMMA-Templating Preparation and Excellent Catalytic Performance of Co₃O₄/3DOM La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO₃ for Toluene Combustion. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2013**, *458*, 11-20.
- (437) Gennequin, C.; Cousin, R.; Lamonier, J. -F.; Siffert, S.; Aboukaïs, A. Toluene Total Oxidation over Co Supported Catalysts Synthesised Using "Memory Effect" of Mg-Al Hydrotalcite. *Catal. Commun.* 2008, 9, 1639-1643.
- (438) Gennequin, C.; Barakat, T.; Tidahy, H.; Cousin, R.; Lamonier, J.-F.; Aboukaïs, A.; Siffert, S. Use and Observation of the Hydrotalcite "Memory Effect" for VOC Oxidation. *Catal. Today* 2010, *157*, 191-197.
- (439) Pérez, A.; Molina, R.; Moreno, S. Enhanced VOC Oxidation over Ce/CoMgAl Mixed Oxides Using a Reconstruction Method with EDTA Precursors. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2014, 477, 109-116.
- (440) Zimowska, M.; Michalik-Zym, A.; Janik, R.; Machej, T.; Gurgul, J.; Socha, R. P.; Podobiński, J.; Serwicka, E. M. Catalytic Combustion of Toluene over Mixed Cu-Mn Oxides. *Catal. Today* 2007, 119, 321-326.
- (441) Kovanda, F.; Jirátová, K.; Rumeš, J.; Koloušek, D. Characterization of Activated Cu/Mg/Al Hydrotalcites and Their Catalytic Activity in Toluene Combustion. *Appl. Clay Sci.* **2001**, *18*, 71-80.
- (442) Carrillo, A. M.; Carriazo, J. G. Cu and Co Oxides Supported on Halloysite for the Total Oxidation of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2015**, *164*, 443-452.
- (443) Bialas, A.; Niebrzydowska, P.; Dudek, B.; Piwowarska, Z.; Chmielarz, L.; Michalik, M.; Kozak, M.; Kuśtrowski, P. Coprecipitated Co-Al and Cu-Al Oxide Catalysts for Toluene Total Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *176*, 413-416.
- (444) Aguilera, D. A.; Perez, A.; Molina, R.; Moreno, S. Cu-Mn and Co-Mn Catalysts Synthesized from Hydrotalcites and Their Use in the Oxidation of VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2011**, *104*, 144-150.
- (445) Lu, H. -F.; Zhou, Y.; Han, W. -F.; Huang, H. -F.; Chen, Y. -F. Promoting Effect of ZrO₂ Carrier on Activity and Thermal Stability of CeO₂-Based Oxides Catalysts for Toluene Combustion. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2013**, *464-465*, 101-108.
- (446) Deng, Q. -F.; Ren, T. -Z.; Agula, B.; Liu, Y. P.; Yuan, Z. -Y. Mesoporous Ce_xZr_{1-x}O₂ Solid Solutions Supported CuO Nanocatalysts for Toluene Total Oxidation. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* 2014, 20, 3303-3312.
- (447) Ribeiro, M. F.; Silva, J. M.; Brimaud, S.; Antunes, A. P.; Silva, E. R.; Fernandes, A.; Magnoux, P.; Murphy, D. M. Improvement of Toluene Catalytic Combustion by Addition of Cesium in Copper Exchanged Zeolites. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *70*, 384-392.

- (448) Li, W. B.; Zhuang, M.; Xiao, T. C.; Green, M. L. H. MCM-41 Supported Cu-Mn Catalysts for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene at Low Temperatures. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2006**, *110*, 21568-21571.
- (449) He, C.; Yu, Y. K.; Yue, L.; Qiao, N. L.; Li, J. J.; Shen, Q.; Yu, W. J.; Chen, J. S.; Hao, Z. P. Low-Temperature Removal of Toluene and Propanal over Highly Active Mesoporous CuCeO_x Catalysts Synthesized *via* a Simple Self-Precipitation Protocol. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2014, *147*, 156-166.
- (450) Kim, S. C.; Park, Y. -K.; Nah, J. W. Property of a Highly Active Bimetallic Catalyst Based on a Supported Manganese Oxide for the Complete Oxidation of Toluene. *Powder Technol.* 2014, 266, 292-298.
- (451) Li, H. F.; Lu, G. Z.; Dai, Q. G.; Wang, Y. Q.; Guo, Y.; Guo, Y. L. Efficient Low-Temperature Catalytic Combustion of Trichloroethylene over Flower-Like Mesoporous Mn-Doped CeO₂ Microspheres. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2011**, *102*, 475-483.
- (452) Lu, H. -F.; Zhou, Y.; Han, W. -F.; Huang, H. -F.; Chen, Y. -F. High Thermal Stability of Ceria-Based Mixed Oxide Catalysts Supported on ZrO₂ for Toluene Combustion. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2013, *3*, 1480-1484.
- (453) Popova, M.; Szegedi, Á.; Cherkezova-Zheleva, Z.; Dimitrova, A.; Mitov, I. Toluene Oxidation on Chromium-and Copper-Modified SiO₂ and SBA-15. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2010, 381, 26-35.
- (454) Williams, T.; Beltramini, J.; Lu, G. Q. Effect of the Preparation Technique on the Catalytic Properties of Mesoporous V-HMS for the Oxidation of Toluene. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2006, 88, 91-100.
- (455) Zhan, S. H.; Yang, Y.; Gao, X. C.; Yu, H. B.; Yang, S. S.; Zhu, D. D.; Li, Y. Rapid Degradation of Toxic Toluene Using Novel Mesoporous SiO₂ Doped TiO₂ Nanofibers. *Catal. Today* 2014, 225, 10-17.
- (456) Jeong, M. -G.; Park, E. J.; Jeong, B.; Kim, D. H.; Kim, Y. D. Toluene Combustion over NiO Nanoparticles on Mesoporous SiO₂ Prepared by Atomic Layer Deposition. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2014, 237, 62-69.
- (457) Sinha, A. K.; Suzuki, K. Novel Mesoporous Chromium Oxide for VOCs Elimination. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *70*, 417-422.
- (458) Liang, X. L.; Qi, F. H.; Liu, P.; Wei, G. L.; Su, X. L.; Ma, L. Y.; He, H. P.; Lin, X. J.; Xi, Y. F.; Zhu, J. X.; *et al.* Performance of Ti-Pillared Montmorillonite Supported Fe Catalysts for Toluene Oxidation: The Effect of Fe on Catalytic Activity. *Appl. Clay Sci.* 2016, *132-133*, 96-104.
- (459) Popova, M.; Szegedi, Á.; Cherkezova-Zheleva, Z.; Mitov, I.; Kostova, N.; Tsoncheva, T. Toluene Oxidation on Titanium-and Iron-Modified MCM-41 Materials. J. Hazard. Mater. 2009, 168, 226-232.
- (460) Bai, G. M.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Qiu, W. G.; Zhao, Z. X.; Li, X. W.; Yang, H. G. The Microemulsion Preparation and High Catalytic Performance of Mesoporous NiO Nanorods and Nanocubes for Toluene Combustion. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2013, *219*, 200-208.
- (461) Bai, G. M.; Dai, H. X.; Liu, Y. X.; Ji, K. M.; Li, X. W.; Xie, S. H. Preparation and Catalytic Performance of Cylinder-and Cake-Like Cr₂O₃ for Toluene Combustion. *Catal. Commun.* 2013, *36*, 43-47.
- (462) Jiang, S. J.; Handberg, E. S.; Liu, F.; Liao, Y. T.; Wang, H. Y.; Li, Z.; Song, S. Q. Effect of

Doping the Nitrogen into Carbon Nanotubes on the Activity of NiO Catalysts for the Oxidation Removal of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *160-161*, 716-721.

- (463) Popova, M.; Ristićm, A.; Lazar, K.; Maučec, D.; Vassileva, M.; Tušar, N. N. Iron-Functionalized Silica Nanoparticles as a Highly Efficient Adsorbent and Catalyst for Toluene Oxidation in the Gas Phase. *ChemCatChem* 2013, 5, 986-993.
- (464) Pena, M. A.; Fierro, J. L. G. Chemical Structures and Performance of Perovskite Oxides. *Chem. Rev.* **2001**, *101*, 1981-2018.
- (465) Irusta, S.; Pina, M. P.; Menéndez, M.; Santamaría, J. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds over La-Based Perovskites. *J. Catal.* **1998**, *179*, 400-412.
- (466) Blasin-Aubé, V.; Belkouch, J.; Monceaux, L. General Study of Catalytic Oxidation of Various VOCs over La_{0.8}Sr_{0.2}MnO_{3+x} Perovskite Catalyst—Influence of Mixture. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2003, *43*, 175-186.
- (467) Wang, W. L.; Meng, Q. J.; Weng, X. L.; Wu, Z. B. Rapid Syntheses of Ultrafine LaMnO₃ Nano-Crystallites with Superior Activity for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *Catal. Commun.* 2016, 84, 167-170.
- (468) Liu, Y. X.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G; Zhang, L.; Zhao, Z. X.; Li, X. W.; Wang, Y.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Guo, G. S. Controlled Generation of Uniform Spherical LaMnO₃, LaCoO₃, Mn₂O₃, and Co₃O₄ Nanoparticles and Their High Catalytic Performance for Carbon Monoxide and Toluene Oxidation. *Inorg. Chem.* **2013**, *52*, 8665-8676.
- (469) Weng, X. L.; Wang, W. L.; Meng, Q. J.; Wu Z. B. An Ultrafast Approach for the Syntheses of Defective Nanosized Lanthanide Perovskites for Catalytic Toluene Oxidation. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2018, 8, 4364-4372.
- (470) Hosseini, S. A.; Salari, D.; Niaei, A.; Oskoui, S. A. Physical-Chemical Property and Activity Evaluation of LaB_{0.5}Co_{0.5}O₃ (B= Cr, Mn, Cu) and LaMn_xCo_{1-x}O₃ (x = 0.1, 0.25, 0.5) Nano Perovskites in VOC Combustion. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* **2013**, *19*, 1903-1909.
- (471) Deng, J. G.; Zhang, L.; Dai, H. X.; He, H.; Au, C. T. Single-Crystalline La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO_{3-δ} Nanowires/Nanorods Derived Hydrothermally without the Use of a Template: Catalysts Highly Active for Toluene Complete Oxidation. *Catal. Lett.* **2008**, *123*, 294-300.
- (472) Rousseau, S.; Loridant, S.; Delichere, P.; Boreave, A.; Deloume, J. P.; Vernoux, P. La_{1-x}Sr_xCo_{1-y}Fe_yO₃ Perovskites Prepared by Sol-Gel Method: Characterization and Relationships with Catalytic Properties for Total Oxidation of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, 88, 438-447.
- (473) Zhang, C. H.; Guo, Y. L.; Guo, Y.; Lu, G. Z.; Boreave, A.; Retailleau, L.; Baylet, A.; Giroir-Fendler, A. LaMnO₃ Perovskite Oxides Prepared by Different Methods for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *148-149*, 490-498.
- (474) Alifanti, M.; Florea, M.; Filotti, G.; Kuncser, V.; Cortes-Corberan, V.; Parvulescu, V. I. In situ Structural Changes during Toluene Complete Oxidation on Supported EuCoO₃ Monitored with ¹⁵¹Eu Mössbauer Spectroscopy. Catal. Today 2006, 117, 329-336.
- (475) Ji, K. M.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Song, L. Y.; Xie, S. H.; Han, W. Glucose-Assisted Hydrothermal Preparation and Catalytic Performance of Porous LaFeO₃ for Toluene Combustion. *J. Solid State Chem.* **2013**, *199*, 164-170.
- (476) Liu, Y. X.; Dai, H. X.; Du, Y. C.; Deng, J. G.; Zhang, L.; Zhao, Z. X.; Au, C. T. Controlled Preparation and High Catalytic Performance of Three-Dimensionally Ordered Macroporous LaMnO₃ with Nanovoid Skeletons for the Combustion of Toluene. J. Catal. 2012, 287,

149-160.

- (477) Ji, K. M.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Jiang, H. Y.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, H.; Cao, Y. J. Catalytic Removal of Toluene over Three-Dimensionally Ordered Macroporous Eu_{1-x}Sr_xFeO₃. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2013**, *214*, 262-271.
- (478) Ji, K. M.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Song, L. Y.; Gao, B. Z.; Wang, Y.; Li, X. W. Three-Dimensionally Ordered Macroporous Eu_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}FeO₃ Supported Cobalt Oxides: Highly Active Nanocatalysts for the Combustion of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 129, 539-548.
- (479) Alifanti, M.; Florea, M.; Somacescu, S.; Parvulescu, V. I. Supported Perovskites for Total Oxidation of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2005**, *60*, 33-39.
- (480) Alifanti, M.; Florea, M.; Cortes-Corberan, V.; Endruschat, U.; Delmon, B.; Pârvulescu, V. I. Effect of LaCoO₃ Perovskite Deposition on Ceria-Based Supports on Total Oxidation of VOC. *Catal. Today* **2006**, *112*, 169-173.
- (481) Wang, Y. Q.; Xue, Y. F.; Zhao, C. C.; Zhao, D. F.; Liu, F.; Wang, K. K.; Dionysiou, D. D. Catalytic Combustion of Toluene with La_{0.8}Ce_{0.2}MnO₃ Supported on CeO₂ with Different Morphologies. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *300*, 300-305.
- (482) Liu, Z.-S.; Chen, J.-Y.; Peng, Y.-H. Activated Carbon Fibers Impregnated with Pd and Pt Catalysts for Toluene Removal. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2013**, 256-257, 49-55.
- (483) He, C.; Zhang, X. Y.; Gao, S. K.; Chen, J. S.; Hao, Z. P. Nanometric Pd-Confined Mesoporous Silica as High-Efficient Catalyst for Toluene Low Temperature Removal: Effects of Support Morphology and Textural Property. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2012, 18, 1598-1605.
- (484) He, C.; Li, Q.; Li, P.; Wang, Y. F.; Zhang, X. Y.; Cheng, J.; Hao, Z. P. Templated Silica with Increased Surface Area and Expanded Microporosity: Synthesis, Characterization, and Catalytic Application. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2010**, *162*, 901-909.
- (485) He, C.; Xu, L. L.; Yue, L.; Chen, Y. T.; Chen, J. S.; Hao, Z. P. Supported Nanometric Pd Hierarchical Catalysts for Efficient Toluene Removal: Catalyst Characterization and Activity Elucidation. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2012**, *51*, 7211-7222.
- (486) Qiao, N. L.; Li, Y.; Li, N.; Zhang, X.; Cheng, J.; Hao, Z. P. High Performance Pd Catalysts Supported on Bimodal Mesopore Silica for the Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *Chin. J. Catal.* 2015, *36*, 1686-1693.
- (487) Barakat, T.; Idakiev, V.; Cousin, R.; Shao, G.-S.; Yuan, Z.-Y.; Tabakova, T.; Siffert, S. Total Oxidation of Toluene over Noble Metal Based Ce, Fe and Ni Doped Titanium Oxides. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *146*, 138-146.
- (488) Zhao, S.; Li, K. Z.; Jiang, S.; Li, J. H. Pd-Co Based Spinel Oxides Derived from Pd Nanoparticles Immobilized on Layered Double Hydroxides for Toluene Combustion. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, 181, 236-248.
- (489) He, C.; Shen, Q.; Liu, M. X. Toluene Destruction over Nanometric Palladium Supported ZSM-5 Catalysts: Influences of Support Acidity and Operation Condition. J. Porous Mater. 2014, 21, 551-563.
- (490) Wang, Z. J.; Xie, Y. B.; Liu, C. J. Synthesis and Characterization of Noble Metal (Pd, Pt, Au, Ag) Nanostructured Materials Confined in the Channels of Mesoporous SBA-15. *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2008, *112*, 19818-19824.
- (491) Bendahou, K.; Cherif, L.; Siffert, S.; Tidahy, H. L.; Benaïssa, H.; Aboukaïs, A. The Effect of the Use of Lanthanum-Doped Mesoporous SBA-15 on the Performance of Pt/SBA-15 and

Pd/SBA-15 Catalysts for Total Oxidation of Toluene. Appl. Catal. A: Gen. 2008, 351, 82-87.

- (492) He, C.; Li, P.; Wang, H. L.; Cheng, J.; Zhang, X. Y.; Wang, Y. F.; Hao, Z. P. Ligand-Assisted Preparation of Highly Active and Stable Nanometric Pd Confined Catalysts for Deep Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2010**, *181*, 996-1003.
- (493) Tidahy, H. L.; Siffert, S.; Lamonier, J. -F.; Zhilinskaya, E. A.; Aboukaïs, A.; Yuan, Z.-Y.; Vantomme, A.; Su, B. -L.; Canet, X.; De Weireld, G.; *et al.* New Pd/Hierarchical Macro-Mesoporous ZrO₂, TiO₂ and ZrO₂-TiO₂ Catalysts for VOCs Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2006**, *310*, 61-69.
- (494) Li, P.; He, C.; Cheng, J.; Ma, C. Y.; Dou, B. J.; Hao, Z. P. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Pd/Co₃AlO Catalysts Derived from Hydrotalcite-Like Compounds: Effects of Preparation Methods. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2011**, *101*, 570-579.
- (495) Zhao, S.; Hu, F. Y.; Li, J. H. Hierarchical Core-Shell Al₂O₃@Pd-CoAlO Microspheres for Low-Temperature Toluene Combustion. *ACS Catal.* **2016**, *6*, 3433-3441.
- (496) Chen, C. Y.; Zhu, J.; Chen, F.; Meng, X. J.; Zheng, X. M.; Gao, X. H.; Xiao, F. -S. Enhanced Performance in Catalytic Combustion of Toluene over Mesoporous Beta Zeolite-Supported Platinum Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 140-141, 199-205.
- (497) Zhang, J. Y.; Rao, C.; Peng, H. G.; Peng, C.; Zhang, L.; Xu, X. L.; Liu, W. M.; Wang, Z.; Zhang, N.; Wang, X. Enhanced Toluene Combustion Performance over Pt Loaded Hierarchical Porous MOR Zeolite. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *334*, 10-18.
- (498) Chen, C. Y.; Wang, X.; Zhang, J.; Bian, C. Q.; Pan, S. X.; Chen, F.; Meng, X. J.; Zheng, X. M.; Gao, X. H.; Xiao, F. -S. Superior Performance in Catalytic Combustion of Toluene over Mesoporous ZSM-5 Zeolite Supported Platinum Catalyst. *Catal. Today* 2015, 258, 190-195.
- (499) Yan, F.-W.; Zhang, S.-F.; Guo, C.-Y.; Li, F.-B.; Yan, F.; Yuan, G.-Q. Total Oxidation of Toluene over Pt-MCM-41 Synthesized in a One-Step Process. *Catal. Commun.* **2009**, *10*, 1689-1692.
- (500) Peng, R. S.; Sun, X. B.; Li, S. J.; Chen, L. M.; Fu, M. L.; Wu, J. L.; Ye, D. Q. Shape Effect of Pt/CeO₂ Catalysts on the Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 306, 1234-1246.
- (501) Yang, H. G.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Xie, S. H.; Wu, Z. X.; Dai, H. X. Preparation and Catalytic Performance of Ag, Au, Pd or Pt Nanoparticles Supported on 3DOM CeO₂-Al₂O₃ for Toluene Oxidation. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2016**, *414*, 9-18.
- (502) Peng, R. S.; Li, S. J.; Sun, X. B.; Ren, Q. M.; Chen, L. M.; Fu, M. L.; Wu, J. L.; Ye, D. Q. Size Effect of Pt Nanoparticles on the Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Pt/CeO₂ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2018**, 220, 462-470.
- (503) Masui, T.; Imadzu, H.; Matsuyama, N.; Imanaka, N. Total Oxidation of Toluene on Pt/CeO₂-ZrO₂-Bi₂O₃/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalysts Prepared in the Presence of Polyvinyl Pyrrolidone. J. Hazard. Mater. 2010, 176, 1106-1109.
- (504) Chen, C. Y.; Chen, F.; Zhang, L.; Pan, S. X.; Bian, C. Q.; Zheng, X. M.; Meng, X. J.; Xiao, F.-S. Importance of Platinum Particle Size for Complete Oxidation of Toluene over Pt/ZSM-5 Catalysts. *Chem. Commun.* 2015, *51*, 5936-5938.
- (505) Sun, Y. Y.; Prins, R. Hydrodesulfurization of 4,6-Dimethyldibenzothiophene over Noble Metals Supported on Mesoporous Zeolites. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 8478-8481.
- (506) Choi, M.; Cho, H. S.; Srivastava, R.; Venkatesan, C.; Choi, D. H.; Ryoo, R. Amphiphilic Organosilane-Directed Synthesis of Crystalline Zeolite with Tunable Mesoporosity. *Nature*

Mater. 2006, 5, 718-723.

- (507) Kim, J.; Choi, M.; Ryoo, R. Effect of Mesoporosity against the Deactivation of MFI Zeolite Catalyst during the Methanol-to-Hydrocarbon Conversion Process. *J. Catal.* **2010**, *269*, 219-228.
- (508) Chen, C. Y.; Wu, Q. M.; Chen, F.; Zhang, L.; Pan, S. X.; Bian, C. Q.; Zheng, X. M.; Meng, X. J.; Xiao, F. -S. Aluminium-Rich Beta Zeolite-Supported Platinum Nanoparticles for the Low-Temperature Catalytic Removal of Toluene. *J. Mater. Chem. A* 2015, *3*, 5556-5562.
- (509) Liu, X. L.; Wang, J.; Zeng, J. L.; Wang, X.; Zhu, T. Y. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over a Porous Co₃O₄-Supported Ruthenium Catalyst. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 52066-52071.
- (510) Baek, S.; kim, J.; Ihm, S. Design of Dual Functional Adsorbent/Catalyst System for the Control of VOCs by Using Metal-Loaded Hydrophobic Y-Zeolites. *Catal. Today* 2004, 93-95, 575-581.
- (511) Li, J. M.; Qu, Z. P.; Qin, Y.; Wang, H. Effect of MnO₂ Morphology on the Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Ag/MnO₂ Catalysts. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2016**, *385*, 234-240.
- (512) Deng, J. G.; He, S. N.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Guo, G. S.; Dai, H. X. Ultralow Loading of Silver Nanoparticles on Mn₂O₃ Nanowires Derived with Molten Salts: A High-Efficiency Catalyst for the Oxidative Removal of Toluene. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2015, 49, 11089-11095.
- (513) Wu, J. C.; Chang, T. Y. VOC Deep Oxidation over Pt Catalysts Using Hydrophobic Supports. *Catal. Today* **1998**, *44*, 111-118.
- (514) Han, W.; Deng, J. G.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Dai, H. X.; Au, C. T. Gold Supported on Iron Oxide Nanodisk as Efficient Catalyst for the Removal of Toluene. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2014, 53, 3486-3494.
- (515) Albonetti, S.; Bonelli, R.; Mengou, J. E.; Femoni, C.; Tiozzo, C.; Zacchini, S.; Trifirò, F. Gold/Iron Carbonyl Clusters as Precursors for TiO₂ Supported Catalysts. *Catal. Today* 2008, 137, 483-488.
- (516) Carabineiro, S.; Chen, X.; Martynyuk, O.; Bogdanchikova, N.; Avalos-Borja, M.; Pestryakov, A.; Tavares, P.; Órfão, J.; Pereira, M.; Figueiredo, J. Gold Supported on Metal Oxides for Volatile Organic Compounds Total Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *244*, 103-114.
- (517) Liu, Y. X.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Li, X. W.; Wang, Y.; Arandiyan, H.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Guo, G. S. Au/3DOM La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}MnO₃: Highly Active Nanocatalysts for the Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide and Toluene. *J. Catal.* 2013, *305*, 146-153.
- (518) Jiang, Y.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Dai, H. X. Mn₃O₄-Au/3DOM La_{0.6}Sr_{0.4}CoO₃: High-Performance Catalysts for Toluene Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **2017**, *281*, 437-446.
- (519) Xie, S. H.; Dai, H. X.; Deng, J. G.; Yang, H. G.; Han, W.; Arandiyan, H.; Guo, G. S. Preparation and High Catalytic Performance of Au/3DOM Mn₂O₃ for the Oxidation of Carbon Monoxide and Toluene. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2014**, 279, 392-401.
- (520) Yang, H. G.; Deng, J. G.; Xie, S. H.; Jiang, Y.; Dai, H. X.; Au, C. T. Au/MnO_x/3DOM SiO₂: Highly Active Catalysts for Toluene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2015**, *507*, 139-148.
- (521) Chandler, B. D.; Schabel, A. B.; Pignolet, L. H. Preparation and Characterization of Supported Bimetallic Pt-Au and Pt-Cu Catalysts from Bimetallic Molecular Precursors. J. *Catal.* 2000, 193, 186-198.
- (522) Tan, W.; Deng, J. G.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Jiang, Y.; Guo, G. S.; Dai, H. X.

Ce_{0.6}Zr_{0.3}Y_{0.1}O₂ Nanorod Supported Gold and Palladium Alloy Nanoparticles: High-Performance Catalysts for Toluene Oxidation. *Nanoscale* **2015**, *7*, 8510-8523.

- (523) Miao, S.; Deng, Y. Au-Pt/Co₃O₄ Catalyst for Methane Combustion. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2001**, *31*, L1-L4.
- (524) Wu, Z. X.; Deng, J. G.; Xie, S. H.; Yang, H. G.; Zhao, X. T.; Zhang, K. F.; Lin, H. X.; Dai, H. X.; Guo, G. S. Mesoporous Cr₂O₃-Supported Au-Pd Nanoparticles: High-Performance Catalysts for the Oxidation of Toluene. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2016, 224, 311-322.
- (525) Hosseini, M.; Siffert, S.; Cousin, R.; Aboukaïs, A.; Hadj-Sadok, Z.; Su, B.-L. Total Oxidation of VOCs on Pd and/or Au Supported on TiO₂/ZrO₂ Followed by "Operando" DRIFT. C.R. Chim.2009, 12, 654-659.
- (526) Kim, K.; Ahn, H. Complete Oxidation of Toluene over Bimetallic Pt-Au Catalysts Supported on ZnO/Al₂O₃. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, *91*, 308-318.
- (527) Kim, K.; Boo, S.; Ahn, H. Preparation and Characterization of the Bimetallic Pt-Au/ZnO/Al₂O₃ Catalysts: Influence of Pt-Au Molar Ratio on the Catalytic Activity for Toluene Oxidation. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2009, 15, 92-97.
- (528) Xie, S. H.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, Y. X.; Zhang, Z. H.; Yang, H. G.; Jiang, Y.; Arandiyan, H.; Dai, H. X.; Au, C. T. Excellent Catalytic Performance, Thermal Stability, and Water Resistance of 3DOM Mn₂O₃-Supported Au-Pd Alloy Nanoparticles for the Complete Oxidation of Toluene. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2015, 507, 82-90.
- (529) Fu, X. R.; Liu, Y.; Yao, W. Y.; Wu, Z. B. One-Step Synthesis of Bimetallic Pt-Pd/MCM-41 Mesoporous Materials with Superior Catalytic Performance for Toluene Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* 2016, 83, 22-26.
- (530) Taylor, S. H.; Heneghan, C. S.; Hutchings, G. J.; Hudson, I. D. The Activity and Mechanism of Uranium Oxide Catalysts for the Oxidative Destruction of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Catal. Today* 2000, *59*, 249-259.
- (531) Gaur, V.; Sharma, A.; Verma, N. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene and *m*-Xylene by Activated Carbon Fiber Impregnated with Transition metals. *Carbon* **2005**, *43*, 3041-3053.
- (532) Wu, Y. S.; Zhang, Y. X.; Liu, M.; Ma, Z. C. Complete Catalytic Oxidation of *o*-Xylene over Mn-Ce Oxides Prepared Using a Redox-Precipitation Method. *Catal. Today* 2010, 153, 170-175.
- (533) Zhou, G. L.; He, X. L.; Liu, S.; Xie, H. M.; Fu, M. Phenyl VOCs Catalytic Combustion on Supported CoMn/AC Oxide Catalyst. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2015, 21, 932-941.
- (534) Wang, Y. F.; Zhang, C. B.; Yu, Y. B.; Yue, R. L.; He, H. Ordered Mesoporous and Bulk Co₃O₄ Supported Pd Catalysts for Catalytic Oxidation of *o*-xylene. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *242*, 294-299.
- (535) Wang, L. A.; Wang, Y. F.; Zhang, Y.; Yu, Y. B.; He, H.; Qin, X. B.; Wang, B. Y. Shape Dependence of Nanoceria on Complete Catalytic Oxidation of *o*-Xylene. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2016, *6*, 4840-4848.
- (536) Wu, H. J.; Wang, L. D.; Shen, Z. Y.; Zhao, J. H. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene and *p*-xylene Using Gold Supported on Co₃O₄ Catalyst Prepared by Colloidal Precipitation Method. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2011**, *351*, 188-195.
- (537) Kim, S. C.; Nahm, S. W.; Park, Y.-K. Property and Performance of Red Mud-Based Catalysts for the Complete Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds. J. Hazard. Mater. 2015, 300, 104-113.

- (538) Xie, S. H.; Liu, Y. X.; Deng, J. G.; Zhao, X. T.; Yang, J.; Zhang, K. F.; Han, Z.; Arandiyan, H.; Dai, H. X. Effect of Transition Metal Doping on the Catalytic Performance of Au-Pd/3DOM Mn₂O₃ for the Oxidation of Methane and *o*-Xylene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2017, 206, 221-232.
- (539) Wu, Y. S.; Liu, X. X.; Huang, X. Q.; Xing, S. T.; Ma, Z. C.; Feng, L. Interface Synthesis of MnO₂ Materials with Various Structures and Morphologies and Their Application in Catalytic Oxidation of *o*-xylene. *Mater. Lett.* **2015**, *139*, 157-160.
- (540) Wu, Y. S.; Lu, Y.; Song, C. J.; Ma, Z. C.; Xing, S. T.; Gao, Y. Z. A Novel Redox-Precipitation Method for the Preparation of α-MnO₂ with a High Surface Mn⁴⁺ Concentration and Its Activity toward Complete Catalytic Oxidation of *o*-Xylene. *Catal. Today* 2013, 201, 32-39.
- (541) Genuino, H. C.; Dharmarathna, S.; Njagi, E. C.; Mei, M. C.; Suib, S. L. Gas-Phase Total Oxidation of Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, and Xylenes Using Shape-Selective Manganese Oxide and Copper Manganese Oxide Catalysts. J. Phys. Chem. C 2012, 116, 12066-12078.
- (542) Wu, Y. S.; Feng, R.; Song, C. J.; Xing, S. T.; Gao, Y. Z.; Ma, Z. C. Effect of Reducing Agent on the Structure and Activity of Manganese Oxide Octahedral Molecular Sieve (OMS-2) in Catalytic Combustion of *o*-Xylene. *Catal. Today* **2017**, *281*, 500-506.
- (543) Zhou, G. L.; Lan, H.; Wang, H.; Xie, H. M.; Zhang, G. Z.; Zheng, X. X. Catalytic Combustion of PVOCs on MnO_x Catalysts. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2014**, *393*, 279-288.
- (544) Wang, Y. F.; Zhang, C. B.; He, H. Insight into the Role of Pd State on Pd-Based Catalysts in *o*-Xylene Oxidation at Low Temperature. *ChemCatChem* **2018**, *10*, 998-1004.
- (545) Huang, S. Y.; Zhang, C. B.; He, H. Complete Oxidation of *o*-Xylene over Pd/Al₂O₃ Catalyst at Low Temperature. *Catal. Today* **2008**, *139*, 15-23.
- (546) Guisnet, M.; Dégé, P.; Magnoux, P. Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds 1.
 Oxidation of Xylene over a 0.2 wt% Pd/HFAU (17) Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 1999, 20, 1-13.
- (547) Dégé, P.; Pinard, L.; Magnoux, P.; Guisnet, M. Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds: II. Influence of the Physicochemical Characteristics of Pd/HFAU Catalysts on the Oxidation of *o*-Xylene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2000**, *27*, 17-26.
- (548) Wang, Y. F.; Zhang, C. B.; Liu, F. D.; He, H. Well-Dispersed Palladium Supported on Ordered Mesoporous Co₃O₄ for Catalytic Oxidation of *o*-Xylene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 142, 72-79.
- (549) Xie, S. H.; Liu, Y. X.; Deng, J. G.; Yang, J.; Zhao, X. T.; Han, Z.; Zhang, K. F. Wang, Y.; Arandiyan, H.; Dai, H. X. Mesoporous CoO-Supported Palladium Nanocatalysts with High Performance for *o*-Xylene Combustion. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *8*, 806-816.
- (550) Ma, W. J.; Huang, Q.; XU, Y.; Chen, Y. W.; Zhu, S. M.; Shen, S. B. Catalytic Combustion of Toluene over Fe-Mn Mixed Oxides Supported on Cordierite. *Ceram. Int.* **2013**, *39*, 277-281.
- (551) Hernández-Garido, J. C.; Gaona, D.; Gómez, D. M.; Gatica, J. M.; Vidal, H.; Sanz, O.; Rebled, J. M.; Peiró, F.; Calvino, J. J. Comparative Study of the Catalytic Performance and Final Surface Structure of Co₃O₄/La-CeO₂ Washcoated Ceramic and Metallic Honeycomb Monoliths. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *253*, 190-198.
- (552) Zhang, X.; Wu, D. F. Ceramic Monolith Supported Mn-Ce-M Ternary Mixed-Oxide (M = Cu, Ni or Co) Catalyst for VOCs Catalytic Oxidation. *Ceram. Int.* **2016**, *42*, 16563-16570.

- (553) Maldonado-Hódar, F. J.; Moreno-Castilla, C.; Pérez-Cadenas, A. F. Catalytic Combustion of Toluene on Platinum-Containing Monolithic Carbon Aerogels. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2004, 54, 217-224.
- (554) Alvarez-Merino, M. A.; Ribeiro, M. F.; Silva, J. M.; Carrasco-Marin, F.; Maldonado-Hodar, F. J. Activated Carbon and Tungsten Oxide Supported on Activated Carbon Catalysts for Toluene Catalytic Combustion. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38*, 4664-4670.
- (555) Pérez-Cadenas, A. F.; Zieverink, M. M. P.; Kapteijn, F.; Moulijn, J. A. Selective Hydrogenation of Fatty Acid Methyl Esters on Palladium Catalysts Supported on Carbon-Coated Monoliths. *Carbon* **2006**, *44*, 173-176.
- (556) Garcia-Bordeje, E.; Lazaro, M. J.; Moliner, R.; Galindo, J. F.; Sotres, J.; Baro, A. M. Structure of Vanadium Oxide Supported on Mesoporous Carbon-Coated Monoliths and Relationship with Its Catalytic Performance in the SCR of NO at Low Temperatures. *J. Catal.* 2004, 223, 395-403.
- (557) Pérez-Cadenas, A. F.; Kapteijn, F.; Moulijn, J. A.; Maldonado-Hódar, F. J.; Carrasco-Marín, F.; Moreno-Castilla, C. Pd and Pt Catalysts Supported on Carbon-Coated Monoliths for Low-Temperature Combustion of Xylenes. *Carbon* 2006, 44, 2463-2468.
- (558) Siegel, W. O.; Herman, R. H.; Wenclawiak, B. W.; Luers-jongen, B. Organic Emissions Profile for a Light-Duty Diesel Vehicle. *Atmos. Environ.* **1999**, *33*, 797-805.
- (559) Li, H.; Banner, C. D.; Mason, G. G.; Westerholm, R. N.; Rafter, J. J. Determination of Polycyclic Aromatic Compounds and Dioxin Receptor Ligands Present in Diesel Exhaust Particulate Extracts. *Atmos. Environ.* **1996**, *30*, 3537-3543.
- (560) Kim, S. C.; Nahm, S. W.; Shim, W. G.; Lee, J. W.; Moon, H. Influence of Physicochemical Treatments on Spent Palladium Based Catalyst for Catalytic Oxidation of VOCs. J. Hazard. Mater. 2007, 141, 305-314.
- (561) Ndifor, E. N.; Garcia, T.; Taylor, S. H. Naphthalene Oxidation over Vanadium-Modified Pt Catalysts Supported on γ-Al₂O₃. *Catal. Lett.* **2006**, *110*, 125-128.
- (562) Vasilyeva, M. S.; Rudnev, V. S.; Wiedenmann, F.; Wybornov, S.; Yarovaya, T. P.; Jiang, X. Thermal Behavior and Catalytic Activity in Naphthalene Destruction of Ce-, Zr- and Mn-Containing Oxide Layers on Titanium. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2011, 258, 719-726.
- (563) Rönkkönen, H.; Rikkinen, E.; Linnekoski, J.; Simell, P.; Reinikainen, M.; Krause, O. Effect of Gasification Gas Components on Naphthalene Decomposition over ZrO₂. *Catal. Today* 2009, 1475, S230-S236.
- (564) Silvia, M.; Aparicio, L.; Lick, I. D. Total Oxidation of Propane and Naphthalene from Emission Sources with Supported Cobalt Catalysts. *Reac. Kinet. Mech. Cat.* 2016, *119*, 469-479.
- (565) García, T.; Solsona, B.; Taylor, S. H. Naphthalene Total Oxidation over Metal Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2006**, *66*, 92-99.
- (566) Aranda, A.; López, J. M.; Murillo, R.; Mastral, A. M.; Dejoz, A.; Vázquez, I.; Solsona, B.; Taylor, S. H.; García, T. Total Oxidation of Naphthalene with High Selectivity Using a Ceria Catalyst Prepared by a Combustion Method Employing Ethylene Glycol. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2009, *171*, 393-399.
- (567) Aranda, A.; Agouram, S.; López, J. M.; Mastral, A. M.; Sellick, D. R.; Solsona, B.; Taylor, S. H.; García, T. Oxygen Defects: the Key Parameter Controlling the Activity and Selectivity of Mesoporous Copper-Doped Ceria for the Total Oxidation of Naphthalene. *Appl. Catal. B:*

Environ. 2012, 127, 77-88.

- (568) Puertolas, B.; Solsona, B.; Agouram, S.; Murillo, R.; Mastral, A. M.; Aranda, A.; Taylor, S. H.; Garcia, T. The Catalytic Performance of Mesoporous Cerium Oxides Prepared through a Nanocasting Route for the Total Oxidation of Naphthalene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2010, *93*, 395-405.
- (569) Bampenrat, A.; Meeyoo, V.; Kitiyanan, B.; Rangsunvigit, P.; Rirksomboon, T. Catalytic Oxidation of Naphthalene over CeO₂-ZrO₂ Mixed Oxide Catalysts. *Catal. Commun.* 2008, 9, 2349-2352.
- (570) Sellick, D. R.; Aranda, A.; Garća, T.; López, J. M.; Solsona, B.; Mastral, A. M.; Morgan, D. J.; Carley, A. F.; Taylor, S. H. Influence of the Preparation Method on the Activity of Ceria Zirconia Mixed Oxides for Naphthalene Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 132-133, 98-106.
- (571) Garcia, T.; Sellick, D.; Varela, F.; Vázquez, I.; Dejoz, A.; Agouram, S.; Taylor, S. H.; Solsona, B. Total Oxidation of Naphthalene Using Bulk Manganese Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2013, 450, 169-177.
- (572) Clarke, T. J.; Kondrat, S. A.; Taylor, S. H. Total Oxidation of Naphthalene Using Copper Manganese Oxide Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *258*, 610-615.
- (573) Varele-Gandía, F. J.; Bereguer-Murcia, Á.; Lozano-Castelló, D.; Cazorla-Amorós, D.; Sellick, D. R.; Taylor, S. H. Total Oxidation of Naphthalene at Low Temperatures Using Palladium Nanoparticles Supported on Inorganic Oxide-Coated Cordierite Honeycomb Monoliths. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *3*, 2708-2716.
- (574) Zhang, X. -W.; Shen, S. -C.; Hidajat, K.; Kawi, S.; Yu, L. E.; Ng, K. Y. S. Naphthalene Oxidation over 1%Pt and 5%Co/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalysts: Reaction Intermediates and Possible Pathways. *Catal. Lett.* **2004**, *96*, 87-96.
- (575) Solsona, B.; García, T.; Murillo, R.; Mastral, A. M.; Ndifor, E. N.; Hetrick., C. E.; Amiridis, M. D.; Taylor, S. H. Ceria and Gold/Ceria Catalysts for the Abatement of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: An *In situ* DRIFTS Study. *Top Catal.* 2009, *52*, 492-500.
- (576) Garcia, T.; Solsona, B.; Cazorla-Amorós, D.; Linares-Solano, Á.; Taylor, S. H. Total Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds by Vanadium Promoted Palladium-Titania Catalysts: Comparison of Aromatic and Polyaromatic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2006, 62, 66-76.
- (577) Varela-Gandía, F. J.; Berenguer-Murcia, Á.; Lozano-Castelló, D.; Cazorla-Amorós, D.; Sellick, D. R.; Taylor, S. H. Total Oxidation of Naphthalene Using Palladium Nanoparticles Supported on BETA, ZSM-5, SAPO-5 and Alumina Powders. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, *129*, 98-105.
- (578) Park, J.; Lee, J.; Miyawaki, J.; Yoon, S.; Mochida, I. Catalytic Oxidation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) over SBA-15 Supported Metal Catalysts. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* 2011, *17*, 271-276.
- (579) Santos, V.; Pereira, M.; Órfão, J.; Figueiredo, J. Mixture Effects during the Oxidation of Toluene, Ethyl Acetate and Ethanol over a Cryptomelane Catalyst. J. Hazard. Mater. 2011, 185, 1236-1240.
- (580) Zhu, Z.; Wu, R.-J. The Degradation of Formaldehyde Using a Pt@ TiO₂ Nanoparticles in Presence of Visible Light Irradiation at Room Temperature. J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 2015, 50, 276-281.

- (581) Zhao, H.; Ge, Y.; Hao, C.; Han, X.; Fu, M.; Yu, L.; Shah, A. N. Carbonyl Compound Emissions from Passenger Cars Fueled with Methanol/Gasoline Blends. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2010, 408, 3607-3613.
- (582) Wei, Y.; Liu, S.; Li, S.; Yang, R.; Liu, J.; Wang, Y. Effects of Methanol/Gasoline Blends on a Spark Ignition Engine Performance and Emissions. *Energy Fuels* **2008**, *22*, 1254-1259.
- (583) McCabe, R. W.; Mitchell, P. J. Exhaust-Catalyst Development for Methanol-Fueled Vehicles: 1. A Comparative Study of Methanol Oxidation over Alumina-Supported Catalysts Containing Group 9, 10, and 11 Metals. *Appl. Catal.* **1986**, *27*, 83-98.
- (584) Cimino, S.; Nigro, R.; Weidmann, U.; Holzner, R. Catalytic Combustion of Methanol over La, Mn-Hexaaluminate Catalysts. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **2015**, *133*, 1-7.
- (585) Luo, Y. J.; Qian, Q. R.; Chen, Q. H. On the Promoting Effect of the Addition of Ce_xZr_{1-x}O₂ to Palladium Based Alumina Catalysts for Methanol Deep Oxidation. *Mater. Res. Bull.* 2015, 62, 65-70.
- (586) Tsoncheva, T.; Mileva, A.; Issa, G.; Dimitrov, M.; Kovacheva, D.; Henych, J.; Scotti, N.; Kormunda, M.; Atanasova, G.; Štengl, V. Template-Assisted Hydrothermally Obtained Titania-Ceria Composites and Their Application as Catalysts in Ethyl Acetate Oxidation and Methanol Decomposition with a Potential for Sustainable Environment Protection. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2017, 396, 1289-1302.
- (587) Kovanda, F.; Jirátová, K.; Ludvíková, J.; Raabová, H. Co-Mn-Al Mixed Oxides on Anodized Aluminum Supports and Their Use as Catalysts in the Total Oxidation of Ethanol. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2013**, *464-465*, 181-190.
- (588) Gu, Z.; Hohn, K. L. Catalytic Oxidation of Methanol on Nanoscale Copper Oxide and Nickel Oxide. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2004**, *43*, 30-35.
- (589) Jabłońska, M.; Chmielarz, L.; Węgrzyn, A.; Góra-Marek, K.; Piwowarska, Z.; Witkowski, S.; Bidzińska, E.; Kuśtrowski, P.; Wach, A.; Majda, D. Hydrotalcite Derived (Cu, Mn)-Mg-Al Metal Oxide Systems Doped with Palladium as Catalysts for Low-Temperature Methanol Incineration. *Appl. Clay Sci.* 2015, *114*, 273-282.
- (590) Zhao, Q. G.; Bian, Y. R.; Zhang, W. N.; Wang, X. H.; Han, S.; Zeng, Z. G. The Effect of the Presence of Ceria on the Character of TiO₂ Mesoporous Films Used as Pt Catalyst Support for Methanol Combustion at Low Temperature. *Comb. Sci. Technol.* 2016, 188, 306-314.
- (591) Scirè, S.; Minicò, S.; Crisafulli, C.; Galvagno, S. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds over Group IB Metal Catalysts on Fe₂O₃. *Catal. Commun.* **2001**, *2*, 229-232.
- (592) Zhao, H. J.; Song, J. Z.; Song, X. F.; Yan, Z.; Zeng, H. B. Ag/White Graphene Foam for Catalytic Oxidation of Methanol with High Efficiency and Stability. *J. Mater. Chem. A* 2015, *3*, 6679-6684.
- (593) Levasseur, B.; Kaliaguine, S. Effects of Iron and Cerium in La_{1-y}Ce_yCo_{1-x}Fe_xO₃ Perovskites as Catalysts for VOC Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, *88*, 305-314.
- (594) Nair, M. M.; Kleitz, F.; Kaliaguine, S. Kinetics of Methanol Oxidation over Mesoporous Perovskite Catalysts. *ChemCatChem* **2012**, *4*, 387-394.
- (595) Kustov, A. L.; Tkachenko, O. P.; Kustov, L. M.; Romanovsky, B. V. Lanthanum Cobaltite Perovskite Supported onto Mesoporous Zirconium Dioxide: Nature of Active Sites of VOC Oxidation. *Environ. Int.* 2011, *37*, 1053-1056.
- (596) Xia, Y. S.; Dai, H. X.; Jiang, H. Y.; Zhang, L. Three-Dimensional Ordered Mesoporous

Cobalt Oxides: Highly Active Catalysts for the Oxidation of Toluene and Methanol. *Catal. Commun.* **2010**, *11*, 1171-1175.

- (597) Lv, C.-Q.; Liu, C.; Wang, G.-C. A DFT Study of Methanol Oxidation on Co₃O₄. *Catal. Commun.***2014**, *45*, 83-90.
- (598) Jabłońska, M.; Król, A.; Kukulska-Zając, E.; Tarach, K.; Girman, V.; Chmielarz, L.; Góra-Marek, K. Zeolites Y Modified with Palladium as Effective Catalysts for Low-Temperature Methanol Incineration. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2015, *166-167*, 353-365.
- (599) Fornasiero, P.; Balducci, G.; Di Monte, R.; Kaspar, J.; Sergo, V.; Gubitosa, G.; Ferrero, A.; Graziani, M. Modification of the Redox Behaviour of CeO₂ Induced by Structural Doping with ZrO₂. J. Catal. **1996**, 164, 173-183.
- (600) Kapoor, M. P.; Raj, A.; Matsumura, Y. Methanol Decomposition over Palladium Supported Mesoporous CeO₂-ZrO₂ Mixed Oxides. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2001, 44-45, 565-572.
- (601) Luo, Y. J.; Xiao, Y. H.; Cai, G. H.; Zheng, Y.; Wei, K. M. A Study of Barium Doped Pd/Al₂O₃-Ce_{0.3}Zr_{0.7}O₂ Catalyst for Complete Methanol Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2012**, *27*, 134-137.
- (602) Cimino, S.; Gambirasi, A.; Lisi, L.; Mancino, G.; Musiani, M.; Vázquez-Gómez, L.; Verlato, E. Catalytic Combustion of Methanol on Pt-Fecralloy Foams Prepared by Electrodeposition. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 285, 276-285.
- (603) Haruta, M.; Ueda, A.; Tsuboda, S.; Torres Sanchez, R. M. Low-Temperature Catalytic Combustion of Methanol and Its Decomposed Derivatives over Supported Gold Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **1996**, *29*, 443-447.
- (604) Scirè, S.; Minicò, S.; Crisafulli, C.; Satriano, C.; Pistone, A. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds on Gold/Cerium Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2003**, *40*, 43-49.
- (605) Petrov, L. A. Gold Based Environmental Catalyst. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 2000, 130, 2345-2350.
- (606) Kaminski, P.; Ziolek, M. Surface and Catalytic Properties of Ce-, Zr-, Au-, Cu-Modified SBA-15. J. Catal. 2014, 312, 249-262.
- (607) Jabłońska, M.; Nocuń, M.; Bidzińska, E. Silver-Alumina Catalysts for Low-Temperature Methanol Incineration. *Catal. Lett.* **2016**, *146*, 937-944.
- (608) Clairotte, M.; Adam, T. W.; Zardini, A. A.; Manfredi, U.; Martini, G.; Krasenbrink, A.; Vicet, A.; Tournié, E.; Astorga, C. Effects of Low Temperature on the Cold Start Gaseous Emissions from Light Duty Vehicles Fuelled by Ethanol-Blended Gasoline. *Appl. Energy* 2013, *102*, 44-54.
- (609) Wang, R. H.; Li, J. H. Effects of Precursor and Sulfation on OMS-2 Catalyst for Oxidation of Ethanol and Acetaldehyde at Low Temperatures. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 4282-4287.
- (610) Bai, B. Y.; Qiao, Q.; Li, Y. P.; Peng, Y.; Li, J. H. Effect of Pore Size in Mesoporous MnO₂ Prepared by KIT-6 Aged at Different Temperatures on Ethanol Catalytic Oxidation. *Chin. J. Catal.* 2018, *39*, 630-638.
- (611) Almquist, C.; Krekeler, M.; Jiang, L. L. An Investigation on the Structure and Catalytic Activity of Cryptomelane-Type Manganese Oxide Materials Prepared by Different Synthesis Routes. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *252*, 249-262.
- (612) Aguero, F. N.; Scian, A.; Barbero, B. P.; Cadús, L. E. Influence of the Support Treatment on

the Behavior of MnO_x/Al₂O₃ Catalysts Used in VOC Combustion. *Catal. Lett.* **2009**, *128*, 268-280.

- (613) Aguero, F. N.; Barbero, B. P.; Pereira, M. F. R.; Figueiredo, J. L.; Cadús, L. E. Mixed Platinum-Manganese Oxide Catalysts for Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2009, 48, 2795-2800.
- (614) Mahmoud, H. R. Effect of Hydrothermal Treatment on Catalytic Activity of Amorphous Mesoporous Cr₂O₃-ZrO₂ Nanomaterials for Ethanol Oxidation. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* 2015, 162, 50-58.
- (615) Somekawa, S.; Watanabe, H.; Oaki, Y. Y.; Imai, H. VOC Decomposition over a Wide Range of Temperatures Using Thermally Stable Cr⁶⁺ Sites in a Porous Silica Matrix. *Catal. Commun.* 2015, 72, 161-164.
- (616) Pérez, A.; Montes, M.; Molina, R.; Moreno, S. Modified Clays as Catalysts for the Catalytic Oxidation of Ethanol. *Appl. Clay Sci.* **2014**, *95*, 18-24.
- (617) Hammiche-Bellal, Y.; Zouaoui-Mahzoul, N.; Lounas, I.; Benadda, A.; Benrabaa, R.; Auroux, A.; Meddour-Boukhobza, L.; Djadoun, A. Cobalt and Cobalt-Iron Spinel Oxides as Bulk and Silica Supported Catalysts in the Ethanol Combustion Reaction. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* 2017, 426, 97-106.
- (618) Zhou, G. L.; Gui, B. G.; Xie, H. M.; Yang, F.; Chen, Y.; Chen, S. M.; Zheng, X. X. Influence of CeO₂ Morphology on the Catalytic Oxidation of Ethanol in Air. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2014, 20, 160-165.
- (619) Bai, B. Y.; Li, J. H.; Hao, J. M. 1D-MnO₂, 2D-MnO₂ and 3D-MnO₂ for Low-Temperature Oxidation of Ethanol. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2015**, *164*, 241-250.
- (620) Morales, M. R.; Barbero, B. P.; Cadús, L. E. Evaluation and Characterization of Mn-Cu Mixed Oxide Catalysts for Ethanol Total Oxidation: Influence of Copper Content. *Fuel* **2008**, *87*, 1177-1186.
- (621) Avgourpoulos, G.; Oikonomopoulos, E.; Kanistras, D.; Ioannides, T. Complete Oxidation of Ethanol over Alkali-Promoted Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2006**, *65*, 62-69.
- (622) Li, H. J.; Qi, G. S.; Na, T.; Zhang, X. J.; Huang, X. M.; Li, W.; Shen, W. J. Low-Temperature Oxidation of Ethanol over a Mn_{0.6}Ce_{0.4}O₂ Mixed Oxide. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2011**, *103*, 54-61.
- (623) Najjar, H.; Batis, H. La-Mn Perovskite-Type Oxide Prepared by Combustion Method: Catalytic Activity in Ethanol Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2010**, *383*, 192-201.
- (624) Daza, C. E.; Moreno, S.; Molina, R. Co-Precipitated Ni-Mg-Al Catalysts Containing Ce for CO₂ Reforming of Methane. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy* **2011**, *36*, 3886-3894.
- (625) Di Cosimo, J. I.; Dıíez, V. K.; Xu, M.; Iglesia, E.; Ape ste guiá, C. R. Structure and Surface and Catalytic Properties of Mg-Al Basic Oxides. *J. Catal.* **1998**, *178*, 499-510.
- (626) Jirátová, K.; Kovanda, F.; Ludvíková, J.; Balabánová, J.; Klempa, J. Total Oxidation of Ethanol over Layered Double Hydroxide-Related Mixed Oxide Catalysts: Effect of Cation Composition. *Catal. Today* **2016**, 277, 61-67.
- (627) Kovanda, F.; Rojka, T.; Dobesova, J.; Machovic, V.; Bezdicka, P.; Obalova, L.; Jiratova, K.; Grygar, T. Mixed Oxides Obtained from Co and Mn Containing Layered Double Hydroxides: Preparation, Characterization, and Catalytic Properties. *J. Solid State Chem.* 2006, *179*, 812-823.
- (628) Jiratova, K.; Mikulova, J.; Klempa, J.; Grygar, T.; Bastl, Z.; Kovanda, F. Modification of

Co-Mn-Al Mixed Oxide with Potassium and Its Effect on Deep Oxidation of VOC. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2009**, *361*, 106-116.

- (629) Santos, V. P.; Carabineiro, S. A. C.; Tavares, P. B.; Pereira, M. F. R.; Órfão, J. J. M.; Figueiredo, J. L. Oxidation of CO, Ethanol and Toluene over TiO₂ Supported Noble Metal Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2010**, *99*, 198-205.
- (630) Gaálová, J.; Topka, P.; Kaluža, L.; Šolcová, O. Gold Versus Platinum on Ceria-Zirconia Mixed Oxides in Oxidation of Ethanol and Toluene. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *175*, 231-237.
- (631) Abdelouahab-Reddam, Z.; El Mail, R.; Coloma, F.; Sepúlveda-Escribano, A. Platinum Supported on Highly-Dispersed Ceria on Activated Carbon for the Total Oxidation of VOCs. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2015, 494, 87-94.
- (632) Abdelouahab-Reddam, Z.; El Mail, R.; Coloma, F.; Sepúlveda-Escribano, A. Effect of the Metal Precursor on the Properties of Pt/CeO₂/C Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of Ethanol. *Catal. Today* 2015, 249, 109-116.
- (633) Yan, Y.; Wang, L.; Zhang, H. P. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds over Co/ZSM-5 Coated on Stainless Steel Fibers. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *255*, 195-204.
- (634) Carriazo, J. G.; Centeno, M. A.; Odriozola, J. A.; Moreno, S.; Molina, R. Effect of Fe and Ce on Al-Pillared Bentonite and Their Performance in Catalytic Oxidation Reactions. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2007, *317*, 120-128.
- (635) Kubo, J.; Ueda, W. Catalytic Behavior of AMoO_x (A = Ba, Sr) in Oxidation of 2-Propanol. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **2009**, *44*, 906-912.
- (636) Liu, S. Y.; Yang, S. M. Complete Oxidation of 2-Propanol over Gold-Based Catalysts Supported on Metal Oxides. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2008**, *334*, 92-99.
- (637) Leclercq, J.; Giraud, F.; Bianchi, D.; Fiaty, K.; Gaillard, F. Novel Inductively-Heated Catalytic System for Fast VOCs Abatement, Application to IPA in Air. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *146*, 131-137.
- (638) Hosseini, S. A.; Niaei, A.; Salari, D.; Vieira, R. K.; Sadigov, S.; Nabavi, S. R. Optimization and Statistical Modeling of Catalytic Oxidation of 2-Propanol over CuMn_mCo_{2-m}O₄ Nano Spinels by Unreplicated Split Design Methodology. *J. Ind. Eng. Chem.* **2013**, *19*, 166-171.
- (639) Fiorenza, R.; Bellardita, M.; Palmisano, L.; Scirè, S. A Comparison between Photocatalytic and Catalytic Oxidation of 2-Propanol over Au/TiO₂-CeO₂ Catalysts. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2016, 415, 56-64.
- (640) Centeno, M. A.; Paulis, M.; Montes, M.; Odriozola, J. A. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds on Gold/Titanium Oxynitride Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2005**, *61*, 177-183.
- (641) Minicò, S.; Scirè, S.; Crisafulli, C.; Galvagno, S. Influence of Catalyst Pretreatments on Volatile Organic Compounds Oxidation over Gold/Iron Oxide. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2001, 34, 277-285.
- (642) Minicò, S.; Scirè, S.; Crisafulli, C.; Maggiore, R.; Galvagno, S. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds on Gold/Iron Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2000, 28, 245-251.
- (643) Hosseini, S. A.; Niaei, A.; Salari, D.; Alvarez-Galvan, M. C.; Fierro, J. L. G. Study of Correlation Between Activity and Structural Properties of Cu-(Cr, Mn and Co)₂ Nano Mixed Oxides in VOC Combustion. *Ceram. Int.* **2014**, *40*, 6157-6163.
- (644) Hosseini, S. A.; Niaei, A.; Salari, D.; Nabavi, S. R. Nanocrystalline AMn₂O₄ (A = Co, Ni, Cu)

Spinels for Remediation of Volatile Organic Compounds—Synthesis, Characterization and Catalytic Performance. *Ceram. Int.* **2012**, *38*, 1655-1661.

- (645) Hosseini, S. A.; Alvarez-Galvan, M. C.; Fierro, J. L. G.; Niaei, A.; Salari, D. MCr₂O₄ (M = Co, Cu, and Zn) Nanospinels for 2-Propanol Combustion: Correlation of Structural Properties with Catalytic Performance and Stability. *Ceram. Int.* **2013**, *38*, 9253-9261.
- (646) Nie, L. H.; Yu, J. G.; Jaroniec, M.; Tao, F. F. Room-Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Formaldehyde on Catalysts. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *6*, 3649-3669.
- (647) Huang, Y. C.; Li, H. B.; Balogun, M.; Yang, H.; Tong, Y. X.; Lu, X. H.; Ji, H. B. Three-Dimensional TiO₂/CeO₂ Nanowire Composite for Efficient Formaldehyde Oxidation at Low Temperature. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 7729-7733.
- (648) Qu, Z. P.; Sun, Y. H.; Chen, D.; Wang, Y. Possible Sites of Copper Located on Hydroxyapatite Structure and the Identification of Active Sites for Formaldehyde Oxidation. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2014, 393, 182-190.
- (649) Jones, A. P. Indoor Air Quality and Health. Atmos. Environ. 1999, 33, 4535-4564.
- (650) Tan, H. Y.; Wang, J.; Yu, S. Z.; Zhou, K. B. Support Morphology-Dependent Catalytic Activity of Pd/CeO₂ for Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 8675-8682.
- (651) Huang, Y. C.; Long, B.; Tang, M. N.; Rui, Z. B.; Balogun, M.; Tong, Y. X.; Ji, H. B. Bifunctional Catalytic Material: An Ultrastable and High-Performance Surface Defect CeO₂ Nanosheets for Formaldehyde Thermal Oxidation and Photocatalytic Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, 181, 779-787.
- (652) Wang, J. L.; Li, J.; Zhang, P. Y.; Zhang, G. K. Understanding the "Seesaw Effect" of Interlayered K⁺ with Different Structure in Manganese Oxides for the Enhanced Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2018**, 224, 863-870.
- (653) Tian, H.; He, J. H.; Liu, L. L.; Wang, D. H.; Hao, Z. P.; Ma, C. Y. Highly Active Manganese Oxide Catalysts for Low-Temperature Oxidation of Formaldehyde. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2012, 151, 397-402.
- (654) Wu, H. R.; Ma, S. C.; Song, W. Y.; Hensen, E. J. M. Density Functional Theory Study of the Mechanism of Formaldehyde Oxidation on Mn-Doped Ceria. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2016**, *120*, 13071-13077.
- (655) Wu, Y. X.; Ma, M.; Zhang, B.; Gao, Y. H.; Lu, W. P.; Guo, Y. C. Controlled Synthesis of Porous Co₃O₄ Nanofibers by Spiral Electrospinning and Their Application for Formaldehyde Oxidation. *RSC Adv.* **2016**, *6*, 102127-102133.
- (656) Chen, H. Y.; Rui, Z. B.; Wang, X. Y.; Ji, H. B. Multifunctional Pt/ZSM-5 Catalyst for Complete Oxidation of Gaseous Formaldehyde at Ambient Temperature. *Catal. Today* **2015**, 258, 56-63.
- (657) Chen, J.; Yan, D. X.; Xu, Z.; Chen, X.; Chen, X.; Xu, W. J.; Jia, H. P.; Chen, J. Multifunctional Pt/ZSM-5 Catalyst for Complete Oxidation of Gaseous Formaldehyde at Ambient Temperature. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2018, 52, 4728-4737.
- (658) Zhang, C. B.; He, H. A Comparative Study of TiO₂ Supported Noble Metal Catalysts for the Oxidation of Formaldehyde at Room Temperature. *Catal. Today* **2007**, *126*, 345-350.
- (659) Ma, C. Y.; Pang, G. L.; He, G. Z.; Li, Y.; He, C.; Hao, Z. P. Layered Sphere-Shaped TiO₂ Capped with Gold Nanoparticles on Structural Defects and Their Catalysis of Formaldehyde Oxidation. J. Environ. Sci. 2016, 39, 77-85.

- (660) Hu, P. P.; Amghouz, Z.; Huang, Z. W.; Xu, F.; Chen, Y. X.; Tang, X. F. Surface-Confined Atomic Silver Centers Catalyzing Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *49*, 2384-2390.
- (661) Zhang, J. H.; Li, Y. B.; Wang, L.; Zhang, C. B.; He, H. Catalytic Oxidation of Formaldehyde over Manganese Oxides with Different Crystal Structures. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *5*, 2305-2313.
- (662) Rong, S. P.; Zhang, P. Y.; Liu, F.; Yang, Y. J. Engineering Crystal Facet of α-MnO₂ Nanowire for Highly Efficient Catalytic Oxidation of Carcinogenic Airborne Formaldehyde. ACS Catal. 2018, 8, 3435-3446.
- (663) Wang, J. L.; Li, J. G.; Jiang, C. J.; Zhou, P.; Zhang, P. Y.; Yu, J. G. The Effect of Manganese Vacancy in Birnessite-Type MnO₂ on Room-Temperature Oxidation of Formaldehyde in Air. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2017**, 204, 147-155.
- (664) Bai, B. Y.; Qiao, Q.; Li, J. H.; Hao, J. M. Synthesis of Three-Dimensional Ordered Mesoporous MnO₂ and Its Catalytic Performance in Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Chin. J. Catal.* 2016, *37*, 27-31.
- (665) Jiang, X. N.; Li, X. H.; Wang, J. T.; Long, D. H.; Ling, L. C.; Qiao, W. M. Three-Dimensional Mn-Cu-Ce Ternary Mixed Oxide Networks Prepared by Polymer-Assisted Deposition for HCHO Catalytic Oxidation. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2018, *8*, 2740-2749.
- (666) Shi, C.; Wang, Y.; Zhu, A. M.; Chen, B. B.; Au, C. Mn_xCo_{3-x}O₄ Solid Solution as High-Efficient Catalysts for Low-Temperature Oxidation of Formaldehyde. *Catal. Commun.* 2012, 28, 18-22.
- (667) Wang, Y.; Zhu, A. M.; Chen, B. B.; Crocker, M.; Shi, C. Three-Dimensional Ordered Mesoporous Co-Mn Oxide: A Highly Active Catalyst for "Storage-Oxidation" Cycling for the Removal of Formaldehyde. *Catal. Commun.* **2013**, *36*, 52-57.
- (668) Tang, X. F.; Li, Y. G.; Huang, X. M.; Xu, Y. D.; Zhu, H. Q.; Wang, J. G.; Shen, W. J. MnO_x-CeO₂ Mixed Oxide Catalysts for Complete Oxidation of Formaldehyde: Effect of Preparation Method and Calcination Temperature. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2006, 62, 265-273.
- (669) Quiroz, J.; Giraudon, J. -M.; Gervasini, A.; Dujardin, C.; Lancelot, C.; Trentesaux, M.; Lamonier, J. -F. Total Oxidation of Formaldehyde over MnO_x-CeO₂ Catalysts: The Effect of Acid Treatment. ACS Catal. 2015, 5, 2260-2269.
- (670) Liu, P.; He, H. P.; Wei, G. L.; Liang, X. L.; Qi, F. H.; Tan, F. D.; Tan, W.; Zhu, J. X.; Zhu, R. L. Effect of Mn Substitution on the Promoted Formaldehyde Oxidation over Spinel Ferrite: Catalyst Characterization, Performance and Reaction Mechanism. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, *182*, 476-484.
- (671) Liang, X. L.; Liu, P.; He, H. P.; Wei, G. L.; Chen, T. H.; Tan, W.; Tan, F. D.; Zhu, J. X.; Zhu, R. L. The Variation of Cationic Microstructure in Mn-Doped Spinel Ferrite during Calcination and Its Effect on Formaldehyde Catalytic Oxidation. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2016, 306, 305-312.
- (672) Bai, B. Y.; Arandiyan, H.; Li, J. H. Comparison of the Performance for Oxidation of Formaldehyde on Nano-Co₃O₄, 2D-Co₃O₄, and 3D-Co₃O₄ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 142-143, 677-683.
- (673) Bai, L.; Wyrwalski, F.; Safariamin, M.; Bleta, R.; Lamonier, J.-F.; Przybylski, C.; Monflier,

E.; Ponchel, A. Cyclodextrin-Cobalt(II) Molecule-Ion Pairs as Precursors to Active Co_3O_4/ZrO_2 Catalysts for the Complete Oxidation of Formaldehyde: Influence of the Cobalt Source. *J. Catal.* **2016**, *341*, 191-204.

- (674) Fan, Z. Y.; Zhang, Z. X.; Fang, W. J.; Yao, X.; Zou, G. C.; Shangguan, W. F. Low-Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Formaldehyde over Co₃O₄ Catalysts Prepared Using Various Precipitants. *Chin. J. Catal.* **2016**, *37*, 947-954.
- (675) Huang, Y. C.; Fan, W. J.; Long, B.; Li, H. B.; Qiu, W. T.; Zhao, F. Y.; Tong, Y. X.; Ji, H. B. Alkali-Modified Non-Precious Metal 3D-NiCo₂O₄ Nanosheets for Efficient Formaldehyde Oxidation at Low Temperature. *J. Mater. Chem. A* **2016**, *4*, 3648-3654.
- (676) Li, Y. B.; Zhang, C. B.; He, H. Significant Enhancement in Activity of Pd/TiO₂ Catalyst for Formaldehyde Oxidation by Na Addition. *Catal. Today* **2017**, *281*, 412-417.
- (677) Chen, Y.; He, J. H.; Tian, H.; Wang, D. H.; Yang, Q. W. Enhanced Formaldehyde Oxidation on Pt/MnO₂ Catalysts Modified with Alkali Metal Salts. *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.* **2014**, *428*, 1-7.
- (678) Li, Y. B.; Zhang, C. B.; He, H.; Zhang, J. H.; Chen, M. Influence of Alkali Metals on Pd/TiO₂ Catalysts for Catalytic Oxidation of Formaldehyde at Room Temperature. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2016, *6*, 2289-2295.
- (679) Yu, L.; Peng, R. S.; Chen, L. M.; Fu, M. L.; Wu, J. L.; Ye, D. Q. Ag Supported on CeO₂ with Different Morphologies for the Catalytic Oxidation of HCHO. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *334*, 2480-2487.
- (680) Ma, L.; Seo, C. Y.; Chen, X. Y.; Li, J. H.; Schwank, J. W. Sodium-Promoted Ag/CeO₂ Nanospheres for Catalytic Oxidation of Formaldehyde. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *350*, 419-428.
- (681) Sun, X. C.; Lin, J.; Guan, H. L.; Li, L.; Sun, L.; Wang, Y. H.; Miao, S.; Su, Y.; Wang, X. D. Complete Oxidation of Formaldehyde over TiO₂ Supported Subnanometer Rh Catalyst at Ambient Temperature. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2018**, *226*, 575-584.
- (682) Zhang, C. B.; He, H.; Tanaka, K. Catalytic Performance and Mechanism of a Pt/TiO₂ Catalyst for the Oxidation of Formaldehyde at Room Temperature. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2006, 65, 37-43.
- (683) Tang, X. F.; Chen, J. L.; Huang, X. M.; Xu, Y. D.; Shen, W. J. Pt/MnO_x-CeO₂ Catalysts for the Complete Oxidation of Formaldehyde at Ambient Temperature. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2008, 81, 115-121.
- (684) Kharlamova, T.; Mamontov, G.; Salaev, M.; Zaikovskii, V.; Popova, G.; Sobolev, V.; Knuazev, A.; Vodyankina, O. Silica-Supported Silver Catalysts Modified by Cerium/Manganese Oxides for Total Oxidation of Formaldehyde. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2013, 467, 519-529.
- (685) Ma, L.; Wang, D. S.; Li, J. H.; Bai, B. Y.; Fu, L. X.; Li, Y. D. Ag/CeO₂ Nanospheres: Efficient Catalysts for Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *148-149*, 36-43.
- (686) Qu, Z. P.; Chen, D.; Sun, Y. H.; Wang, Y. High Catalytic Activity for Formaldehyde Oxidation of AgCo/APTES@ MCM-41 Prepared by Two Steps Method. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2014, 487, 100-109.
- (687) Li, D. D.; Yang, G. L.; Li, P. L.; Wang, J. L.; Zhang, P. Y. Promotion of Formaldehyde Oxidation over Ag Catalyst by Fe Doped MnO_x Support at Room Temperature. *Catal. Today* 2016, 277, 257-265.
- (688) An, N. H.; Zhang, W. L.; Yuan, X. L.; Pan, B.; Liu, G.; Jia, M. J.; Yan, W. F.; Zhang, W. X.

Catalytic Oxidation of Formaldehyde over Different Silica Supported Platinum Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2013**, *215-216*, 1-6.

- (689) Yu, X. H.; He, J. H.; Wang, D. H.; Hu, Y. C.; Tian, H.; He, Z. C. Facile Controlled Synthesis of Pt/MnO₂ Nanostructured Catalysts and Their Catalytic Performance for Oxidative Decomposition of Formaldehyde. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2012**, *116*, 851-860.
- (690) Chen, H. Y.; Tang, M. N.; Rui, Z. B.; Ji, H. B. MnO₂ Promoted TiO₂ Nanotube Array Supported Pt Catalyst for Formaldehyde Oxidation with Enhanced Efficiency. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2015**, *54*, 8900-8907.
- (691) Yang, T. F.; Huo, Y.; Liu, Y.; Rui, Z. B.; Ji, H. B. Efficient Formaldehyde Oxidation over Nickel Hydroxide Promoted Pt/γ-Al₂O₃ with a Low Pt content. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2017, 200, 543-551.
- (692) Huang, H. B.; Hu, P.; Huang, H. L.; Chen, J. D.; Ye, X. G.; Leung, D. Y. C. Highly Dispersed and Active Supported Pt Nanoparticles for Gaseous Formaldehyde Oxidation: Influence of Particle Size. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *252*, 320-326.
- (693) Tian, H.; He, J. H.; Liu, L. L.; Wang, D. H. Effects of Textural Parameters and Noble Metal Loading on the Catalytic Activity of Cryptomelane-Type Manganese Oxides for Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Ceram. Int.* **2013**, *39*, 315-321.
- (694) Cui, W. Y.; Yuan, X. L.; Wu, P.; Zhang, B.; Zhang, W. X.; Jia, M. J. Catalytic Properties of γ-Al₂O₃ Supported Pt-FeO_x Catalysts for Complete Oxidation of Formaldehyde at Ambient Temperature. *RSC. Adv.* 2015, *5*, 104330-104336.
- (695) Chen, B. B.; Zhu, X. B.; Wang, Y. D.; Yu, L. M.; Shi, C. Gold Stabilized on Various Oxide Supports Catalyzing Formaldehyde Oxidation at Room Temperature. *Chin. J. Catal.* 2016, *37*, 1729-1737.
- (696) Zhang, J.; Jin, Y.; Li, C. Y.; Shen, Y. N.; Han, L.; Hu, Z. X.; Di, X. W.; Liu, Z. L. Creation of Three-Dimensionally Ordered Macroporous Au/CeO₂ Catalysts with Controlled Pore Sizes and Their Enhanced Catalytic Performance for Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, *91*, 11-20.
- (697) Liu, B. C.; Liu, Y.; Li, C. Y.; Hu, W. T.; Jing, P.; Wang, Q.; Zhang, J. Three-Dimensionally Ordered Macroporous Au/CeO₂-Co₃O₄ Catalysts with Nanoporous Walls for Enhanced Catalytic Oxidation of Formaldehyde. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *127*, 47-58.
- (698) Ma, C. Y.; Wang, D. H.; Xue, W. J.; Dou, B. J.; Wang, H. L.; Hao, Z. P. Investigation of Formaldehyde Oxidation over Co₃O₄-CeO₂ and Au/Co₃O₄-CeO₂ Catalysts at Room Temperature: Effective Removal and Determination of Reaction Mechanism. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45, 3628-3634.
- (699) Yu, X. H.; He, J. H.; Wang, D. H.; Hu, Y. C.; Tian, H.; Dong, T. X.; He, Z. C. Au-Pt Bimetallic Nanoparticles Supported on Nest-Like MnO₂: Synthesis and Application in HCHO Decomposition. *J. Nanopart. Res.* **2012**, *14*, 1260.
- (700) Yu, X. H.; He, J. H.; Wang, D. H.; Hu, Y. C.; Tian, H.; Dong, T. X.; He, Z. C. Preparation of Au_{0.5}Pt_{0.5}/MnO₂/Cotton Catalysts for Decomposition of Formaldehyde. *J. Nanopart. Res.* 2013, *15*, 1832.
- (701) Yasuda, K.; Nobu, M.; Masui, T.; Imanaka, N. Complete Oxidation of Acetaldehyde on Pt/CeO₂-ZrO₂-Bi₂O₃ Catalysts. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **2010**, *45*, 1278-1282.
- (702) Sivaramakrishnan, R.; Michael, J. V.; Harding, L. B.; Klippenstein, S. J. Resolving Some Paradoxes in the Thermal Decomposition Mechanism of Acetaldehyde. J. Phys. Chem. A

2015, *119*, 7724-7733.

- (703) Trawczynski, J.; Bielak, B.; Mista, W. Oxidation of Ethanol over Supported Manganese Catalysts—Effect of the Carrier. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2005**, *55*, 277-285.
- (704) Luo, J.; Zhang, Q.; Huang, A.; Suib, S. L. Total Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds with Hydrophobic Cryptomelane-Type Octahedral Molecular Sieves. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2000**, *35-36*, 209-217.
- (705) Mullins, D. R.; Albrecht, P. M. Acetaldehyde Adsorption and Reaction on CeO₂ (100) Thin Films. J. Phys. Chem. C 2013, 117, 14692-14700.
- (706) Fuku, K.; Goto, M.; Sakano, T.; Kamegawa, T.; Mori, K.; Yamashita, H. Efficient Degradation of CO and Acetaldehyde Using Nano-Sized Pt Catalysts Supported on CeO₂ and CeO₂/ZSM-5 Composite. *Catal. Today* **2013**, *201*, 57-61.
- (707) Nikawa, T.; Naya, S.; Kinura, T.; Tada, H. Rapid Removal and Subsequent Low-Temperature Mineralization of Gaseous Acetaldehyde by the Dual Thermocatalysis of Gold Nanoparticle-Loaded Titanium (IV) Oxide. J. Catal. 2015, 326, 9-14.
- (708) Brayner, R.; Cunha, D. S.; Bozon-Verduraz, F. Abatement of Volatile Organic Compounds: Oxidation of Ethanal over Niobium Oxide-Supported Palladium-Based Catalysts. *Catal. Today* 2003, 78, 419-432.
- (709) Mitsui, T.; Tsutsui, K.; Matsui, T.; Kikuchi, R.; Eguchi, K. Support Effect on Complete Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds over Ru Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2008**, *81*, 56-63.
- (710) Yeh, C.; Bai, H. Catalytic Incineration of Acetone on Mesoporous Silica Supported Metal Oxides Prepared by One-Step Aerosol Method. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2011**, *50*, 3842-3848.
- (711) Rachedi, F.; Guilet, R.; Cognet, P.; Tasselli, J.; Marty, A.; Dubreuil, P. Microreactor for Acetone Deep Oxidation over Platinum. *Chem. Eng. Technol.* **2009**, *32*, 1766-1773.
- (712) Zhao, Q.; Ge, Y. L.; Fu, K. X.; Ji, N.; Song, C. F.; Liu, Q. L. Oxidation of Acetone over Co-Based Catalysts Derived from Hierarchical Layer Hydrotalcite: Influence of Co/Al Molar Ratios and Calcination Temperatures. *Chemosphere* 2018, 204, 257-266.
- (713) Rezlescu, N.; Rezlescu, E.; Popa, P. D.; Doroftei, C.; Ignat, M. Partial Substitution of Manganese with Cerium in SrMnO₃ Nano-Perovskite Catalyst. Effect of the Modification on the Catalytic Combustion of Dilute Acetone. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* **2016**, *182*, 332-337.
- (714) Hu, C. Q.; Zhu, Q. S.; Jiang, Z.; Chen, L.; Wu, R. F. Catalytic Combustion of Dilute Acetone over Cu-Doped Ceria Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2009**, *152*, 583-590.
- (715) He, C.; Liu, X. H.; Shi, J. W.; Ma, C. Y.; Pan, H.; Li, G. L. Anionic Starch-Induced Cu-Based Composite with Flake-Like Mesostructure for Gas-Phase Propanal Efficient Removal. J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 2015, 454, 216-225.
- (716) Hu, C. Q. Enhanced Catalytic Activity and Stability of Cu_{0.13}Ce_{0.87}O_y Catalyst for Acetone Combustion: Effect of Calcination Temperature. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2010**, *159*, 129-137.
- (717) Qin, R.; Chen, J. H.; Gao, X.; Zhu, X. B.; Yu, X. N.; Chen, K. F. Catalytic Oxidation of Acetone over CuCeO_x Nanofibers Prepared by an Electrospinning Method. *RSC Adv.* 2014, *4*, 43874-43881.
- (718) Chen, M.; Fan, L. P.; Qi, L. Y.; Luo, X. Y.; Zhou, R. X.; Zheng, X. M. The Catalytic Combustion of VOCs over Copper Catalysts Supported on Cerium-Modified and Zirconium-Pillared Montmorillonite. *Catal. Commun.* **2009**, *10*, 838-841.
- (719) Lin, L.-Y.; Bai, H. Promotional Effects of Manganese on the Structure and Activity of

Ce-Al-Si Based Catalysts for Low-Temperature Oxidation of Acetone. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 291, 94-105.

- (720) Samantaray, S. K.; Parida, K. Modified TiO₂-SiO₂ mixed oxides: 1. Effect of Manganese Concentration and Activation Temperature towards Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2005**, *57*, 83-91.
- (721) Gil, A.; Gandía, L. M.; Korili, S. A. Effect of the Temperature of Calcination on the Catalytic Performance of Manganese-and Samarium-Manganese-Based Oxides in the Complete Oxidation of Acetone. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2004**, *274*, 229-235.
- (722) Gandía, L. M.; Vicente, M. A.; Gil, A. Complete Oxidation of Acetone over Manganese Oxide Catalysts Supported on Alumina-and Zirconia-Pillared Clays. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2002, 38, 295-307.
- (723) Mishra, T.; Mohapatra, P.; Parida, K. M. Synthesis, Characterisation and Catalytic Evaluation of Iron-Manganese Mixed Oxide Pillared Clay for VOC Decomposition Reaction. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2008, 79, 279-285.
- (724) Spinicci, R.; Faticanti, M.; Marini, P.; De Rossi, S.; Porta, P. Catalytic Activity of LaMnO₃ and LaCoO₃ Perovskites towards VOCs Combustion. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2003**, *197*, 147-155.
- (725) Rezlescu, N.; Rezlescu, E.; Popa, P. D.; Doroftei, C.; Ignat, M. Some Nanograined Ferrites and Perovskites for Catalytic Combustion of Acetone at Low Temperature. *Ceram. Int.* **2015**, *41*, 4430-4437.
- (726) Debecker, D. P.; Bouchmella, K.; Delaigle, R.; Eloy, P.; Poleunis, C.; Betrand, P.; Gaigneaux, E. M.; Mutin, P. H. One-Step Non-Hydrolytic Sol-Gel Preparation of Efficient V₂O₅-TiO₂ Catalysts for VOC Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2010, *94*, 38-45.
- (727) Xie, L. Y.; Liu, P.; Zheng, Z. Y.; Weng, S. X.; Huang, J. H. Morphology Engineering of V₂O₅/TiO₂ Nanocomposites with Enhanced Visible Light-Driven Photofunctions for Arsenic Removal. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *184*, 347-354.
- (728) Gannoun, C.; Turki, A.; Kochkar, H.; Delaigle, R.; Eloy, P.; Ghorbel, A.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Elaboration and Characterization of Sulfated and Unsulfated V₂O₅/TiO₂ Nanotubes Catalysts for Chlorobenzene Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *147*, 58-64.
- (729) Chen, J. H.; Yu, X. N.; Zhu, X. C.; Zheng, C. H.; Gao, X.; Cen, K. F. Electrospinning Synthesis of Vanadium-TiO₂-Carbon Composite Nanofibrous Membranes as Effective Catalysts for the Complete Oxidation of Low-Concentration Acetone. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2015, 507, 99-108.
- (730) Zhu, X. C.; Chen, J. H.; Yu, X. N.; Zhu, X. B.; Gao, X.; Cen, K. F. Controllable Synthesis of Novel Hierarchical V₂O₅/TiO₂ Nanofibers with Improved Acetone Oxidation Performance. *RSC Adv.*, **2015**, *5*, 30416-30424.
- (731) Lin, L.-Y.; Wang, C.; Bai, H. A Comparative Investigation on the Low-Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Acetone over Porous Aluminosilicate-Supported Cerium Oxides. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2015**, *264*, 835-844.
- (732) Lin, L.-Y.; Bai, H. Salt-Templated Synthesis of Ce/Al Catalysts Supported on Mesoporous Silica for Acetone Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *148-149*, 366-376.
- (733) Arzamendi, G.; Ferrero, R.; Pierna, Á. R.; Candía, L. M. Kinetics of Methyl Ethyl Ketone Combustion in Air at Low Concentrations over a Commercial Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2007, 46, 9037-9044.

- (734) Choudhary, V. R.; Deshmukh, G. M.; Pataskar, S. G. Low Temperature Complete Combustion of Dilute Toluene and Methyl Ethyl Ketone over Transition Metal-Doped ZrO₂ (Cubic) Catalysts. *Catal. Commun.* 2004, *5*, 115-119.
- (735) Álvarez-Galván, M. C.; de la Peña O'Shea, V. A.; Arzamendi, G.; Pawelec, B.; Gandía, L. M.; Fierro, J. L. G. Methyl Ethyl Ketone Combustion over La-Transition Metal (Cr, Co, Ni, Mn) Perovskites. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, *92*, 445-453.
- (736) Gandía, L. M.; Korili, S. A.; Gil, A. Unsupported and Supported Manganese Oxides Used in the Catalytic Combustion of Methyl-Ethyl-Ketone. *Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal.* **2002**, *143*, 527-535.
- (737) Picasso, G.; Quintilla, A.; Pina, M. P.; Herguido, J. Total Combustion of Methyl-Ethyl Ketone over Fe₂O₃ Based Catalytic Membrane Reactors. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2003, 46, 133-143.
- (738) Pina, M. P.; Irusta, S.; Menendez, M.; Santamaria, J.; Hughes, R.; Boag, N. Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds over Platinum-Based Catalytic Membranes. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 1997, *36*, 4557-4566.
- (739) Jian, Y. F.; Ma, M. D.; Chen, C. W.; Liu, C.; Yu, Y. K.; Hao, Z. P.; He, C. Tuning the Micromorphology and Exposed Facets of MnO_x Promotes Methyl Ethyl Ketone Low-Temperature Abatement: Boosting Oxygen Activation and Electron Transmission. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2018, *8*, 3863-3875.
- (740) Jiang, Z. Y.; He, C.; Dummer, N. F.; Shi, J. W.; Tian, M. J.; Ma, C. Y.; Hao, Z. P.; Taylor, S. H.; Ma, M. D.; Shen, Z. X. Insight into the Efficient Oxidation of Methyl-Ethyl-Ketone over Hierarchically Micro-Mesostructured Pt/K-(Al)SiO₂ Nanorod Catalysts: Structure-Activity Relationships and Mechanism. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2018**, *226*, 220-233.
- (741) He, C.; Jiang, Z. Y.; Ma, M. D.; Zhang, X. D.; Douthwaite, M.; Shi, J. W.; Hao, Z. P. Understanding the Promotional Effect of Mn₂O₃ on Micro-/Mesoporous Hybrid Silica Nanocubic-Supported Pt Catalysts for the Low-Temperature Destruction of Methyl Ethyl Ketone: An Experimental and Theoretical Study. ACS Catal. 2018, 8, 4213-4229.
- (742) Deng, J. G.; Zhang, L.; Dai, H. X.; Au, C.-T. *In Situ* Hydrothermally Synthesized Mesoporous LaCoO₃/SBA-15 Catalysts: High Activity for the Complete Oxidation of Toluene and Ethyl Acetate. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2009**, *352*, 43-49.
- (743) Niu, J. R.; Deng, J. G.; Liu, W.; Zhang, L.; Wang, G. Z.; Dai, H. X.; He, H.; Zi, X. H. Nanosized Perovskite-Type Oxides La_{1-x}Sr_xMO_{3-δ} (M = Co, Mn; x = 0, 0.4) for the Catalytic Removal of Ethyl Acetate. *Catal. Today* **2007**, *126*, 420-429.
- (744) Pérez, H.; Navarro, P.; Delgado, J. J.; Montes, M. Mn-SBA-15 Catalysts Prepared by Impregnation: Influence of the Manganese Precursor. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2011**, *400*, 238-248.
- (745) Pérez, H.; Navarro, P.; Torres, G.; Sanz, O.; Montes, M. Evaluation of Manganese OMS-Like Cryptomelane Supported on SBA-15 in the Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate. *Catal. Today* **2013**, *212*, 149-156.
- (746) Chen, Y. X.; Tian, G. K.; Zhou, M. J.; Huang, Z. W.; Lu, C. X.; Hu, P. P.; Gao, J. Y.; Zhang, Z. L.; Tang, X. F. Catalytic Control of Typical Particulate Matters and Volatile Organic Compounds Emissions from Simulated Biomass Burning. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2016, *50*, 5825-5831.
- (747) Tsoncheva, T.; Issa, G.; Nieto, J. M. L.; Blasco, T.; Concepcion, P.; Dimitrov, M.; Atanasova,

G.; Kovacheva, D. Pore Topology Control of Supported on Mesoporous Silicas Copper and Cerium Oxide Catalysts for Ethyl Acetate Oxidation. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2013**, *180*, 156-161.

- (748) Pei, T. J.; Liu, L. S.; Xu, L. K.; Li, Y.; He, D. A Novel Glass Fiber Catalyst for the Catalytic Combustion of Ethyl Acetate. *Catal. Commun.* **2016**, *74*, 19-23.
- (749) Tsoncheva, T.; Issa, G.; Blasco, T.; Concepcion, P.; Dimitrov, M.; Hernández, S.; Kovacheva, D.; Atanasova, G.; Nieto, J. M. L. Silica Supported Copper and Cerium Oxide Catalysts for Ethyl Acetate Oxidation. J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 2013, 404, 155-160.
- (750) Tsoncheva, T.; Järn, M.; Paneva, D.; Dimitrov, M.; Mitov, I. Copper and Chromium Oxide Nanocomposites Supported on SBA-15 Silica as Catalysts for Ethylacetate Combustion: Effect of Mesoporous Structure and Metal Oxide Composition. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2011, 137, 56-64.
- (751) Li, S. M.; Hao, Q. L.; Zhao, R. Z.; Liu, D. L.; Duan, H. Z.; Dou, B. J. Highly Efficient Catalytic Removal of Ethyl Acetate over Ce/Zr Promoted Copper/ZSM-5 Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 285, 536-543.
- (752) Zhou, Y.; Zhang, H. P.; Yan, Y. Catalytic Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate over CuO/ZSM-5 Catalysts: Effect of Preparation Method. *J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng.* **2018**, 84, 162-172.
- (753) Liao, Y. T.; Jia, L.; Chen, R. J.; Gu, O. Y.; Sakurai, M.; Kameyama, H.; Zhou, L.; Ma, H.; Guo, Y. Charcoal-Supported Catalyst with Enhanced Thermal-Stability for the Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2016**, *522*, 32-39.
- (754) Xia, Y. S.; Dai, H. X.; Jiang, H. Y.; Deng, J. G.; He, H.; Au, C. T. Mesoporous Chromia with Ordered Three-Dimensional Structures for the Complete Oxidation of Toluene and Ethyl Acetate. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 8355-8360.
- (755) Rotter, H.; Landau, M. V.; Carrera, M.; Goldfarb, D.; Herskowitz, M. High Surface Area Chromia Aerogel Efficient Catalyst and Catalyst Support for Ethylacetate Combustion. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2004**, *47*, 111-126.
- (756) Tsoncheva, T.; Ivanova, L.; Rosenholm, J.; Linden, M. Cobalt Oxide Species Supported on SBA-15, KIT-5 and KIT-6 Mesoporous Silicas for Ethyl Acetate Total Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, 89, 365-374.
- (757) Xie, H. M.; Zhao, X. P.; Zhou, G. L.; He, X. L.; Lan, H.; Jiang, Z. X. Investigating the Performance of Co_xO_y/Activated Carbon Catalysts for Ethyl Acetate Catalytic Combustion. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2015, *326*, 119-123.
- (758) Gómez, D. M.; Gatica, J. M.; Hernández-Garrido, J. C.; Cifredo, G. A.; Montes, M.; Sanz, O.; Rebled, J. M.; Vidal, H. A Novel CoO_x/La-Modified-CeO₂ Formulation for Powdered and Washcoated onto Cordierite Honeycomb Catalysts with Application in VOCs Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2014, *144*, 425-434.
- (759) Chen, X.; Carabuneiro, S. A. C.; Bastos, S. S. T.; Tavares, P. B.; Órfão, J. J. M.; Pereira, M. F. R.; Figueiredo, J. L. Catalytic Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate on Cerium-Containing Mixed Oxides. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2014, 472, 101-112.
- (760) Akram, S.; Wang, Z.; Chen, L.; Wang, Q.; Shen, G. L.; Han, N.; Chen, Y. F.; Ge, G. L. Low-Temperature Efficient Degradation of Ethyl Acetate Catalyzed by Lattice-Doped CeO₂-CoO_x Nanocomposites. *Catal. Commun.* **2016**, *73*, 123-127.
- (761) Xia, Y. S.; Xia, L.; Liu, Y. X.; Yang, T.; Deng, J. G.; Dai, H. X. Concurrent Catalytic Removal of Typical Volatile Organic Compound Mixtures over Au-Pd/alpha-MnO2
Nanotubes. J. Environ. Sci. 2018, 64, 276-288.

- (762) Bastos, S. S. T.; Carabineiro, S. A. C.; Orfao, J. J. M.; Pereira, M. F. R.; Delgado, J. J.; Figueiredo, J. L. Total Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate, Ethanol and Toluene Catalyzed by Exotemplated Manganese and Cerium Oxides Loaded with Gold. *Catal. Today* 2012, 180, 148-154.
- (763) Larsson, A. -C.; Rahmani, M.; Arnby, K.; Sobrabi, M.; Skoglundh, M.; Cruise, N.; Sanati, M. Pilot-Scale Investigation of Pt/Alumina Catalysts Deactivation by Organosilicon in the Total Oxidation of Hydrocarbons. *Top. Catal.* **2007**, *45*, 121-124.
- (764) Mitsui, T.; Matsui, T.; Kikuchi, R.; Eguchi, K. Low-Temperature Complete Oxidation of Ethyl Acetate over CeO₂-Supported Precious Metal Catalysts. *Top. Catal.* **2009**, *52*, 464-469.
- (765) Alonso, F.; Beletskaya, I. P.; Yus, M. Metal-Mediated Reductive Hydrodehalogenation of Organic Halides. *Chem. Rev.* **2002**, *102*, 4009-4092.
- (766) Giraudon, J. -M.; Nguyen, T.; Leclercq, G.; Siffert, S.; Lamonier, J. -F.; Aboukaïs, A.; Vantomme, A.; Su, B. -L. Chlorobenzene Total Oxidation over Palladium Supported on ZrO₂, TiO₂ Nanostructured Supports. *Catal. Today* **2008**, *137*, 379-384.
- (767) Abedi, K.; Ghorbani-Shahna, F.; Jaleh, B.; Bahrami, A.; Yaramadi, R.; Haddadi, R.; Gandomi, M. Decomposition of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds (CVOCs) Using NTP Coupled with TiO₂/GAC, ZnO/GAC, and TiO₂-ZnO/GAC in a Plasma-Assisted Catalysis System. J. Electrost. 2015, 73, 80-88.
- (768) Vu, V. H.; Belkouch, J.; Ould-Dris, A.; Taouk, B. Removal of Hazardous Chlorinated VOCs over Mn-Cu Mixed Oxide Based Catalyst. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *169*, 758-765.
- (769) Gao, S.; Fei, X. Q.; Wen, Y. X.; Sun, Z. X.; Wang, H. Q.; Wu, Z. B. Bimodal Mesoporous TiO₂ Supported Pt, Pd and Ru Catalysts and Their Catalytic Performance and Deactivation Mechanism for Catalytic Combustion of Dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂). *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2018, *550*, 20-27.
- (770) Huang, H. F.; Zhang, X. X.; Jiang, X. J.; Dou, K.; Ni, Z. Y.; Lu, H. F. Hollow Anatase TiO₂ Nanoparticles with Excellent Catalytic Activity for Dichloromethane Combustion. *RSC Adv.* 2016, 6, 61610-61614.
- (771) Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; López-Fonseca, R.; Aurrekoetxea, U.; González-Velasco, J. R. Low-Temperature Deep Oxidation of Dichloromethane and Trichloroethylene by H-ZSM-5-Supported Manganese Oxide Catalysts. J. Catal. 2003, 218, 148-154.
- (772) Sinquin, G.; Petit, C.; Libs, S.; Hindermann, J. P.; Kiennemann, A. Catalytic Destruction of Chlorinated C1 Volatile Organic Compounds (CVOCs) Reactivity, Oxidation and Hydrolysis Mechanisms. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2000, 27, 105-115.
- (773) Gu, Y. L.; Yang, Y. X.; Qiu, Y. M.; Sun, K. P.; Xu, X. L. Combustion of Dichloromethane Using Copper-Manganese Oxides Supported on Zirconium Modified Titanium-Aluminum Catalysts. *Catal. Commun.* **2010**, *12*, 277-281.
- (774) Wang, L. F.; Sakurai, M.; Kameyama, H. Catalytic Oxidation of Dichloromethane and Toluene over Platinum Alumite Catalyst. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2008**, *154*, 390-395.
- (775) Ran, L.; Qin, Z.; Wang, Z. Y.; Wang, X. Y.; Dai, Q. G. Catalytic Decomposition of CH₂Cl₂ over Supported Ru Catalysts. *Catal. Commun.* **2013**, *37*, 5-8.
- (776) Michalik-Zym, A.; Dula, R.; Duraczyńska, D.; Kryściak-Czerwenka, J.; Machej, T.; Socha, R.P.; Włodarczyk, W.; Gaweł, A.; Matusik, J.; Bahranowski, K.; *et al.* Active, Selective and Robust Pd and/or Cr Catalysts Supported on Ti-, Zr-or [Ti, Zr]-Pillared Montmorillonites for

Destruction of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2015, 174-175, 293-307.

- (777) Gao, F.; Zhang, Y.; Wan, H.; Kong, Y.; Wu, X.; Dong, L.; Li, B.; Chen, Y. The States of Vanadium Species in V-SBA-15 Synthesized Under Different pH Values. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2008, 110, 508-516.
- (778) Piumetti, M.; Bonelli, B.; Armandi, M.; Gaberova, L.; Casale, S.; Massiani, P.; Garrone, E. Vanadium-Containing SBA-15 Systems Prepared by Direct Synthesis: Physico-Chemical and Catalytic Properties in the Decomposition of Dichloromethane. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2010, *133*, 36-44.
- (779) Zhang, X. H.; Pei, Z. Y.; Ning, X. J.; Lu, H. F.; Huang, H. F. Catalytic Low-Temperature Combustion of Dichloromethane over V-Ni/TiO₂ Catalyst. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 79192-79199.
- (780) Kang, M.; Lee, C. H. Methylene Chloride Oxidation on Oxidative Carbon-Supported Chromium Oxide Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2004**, *266*, 163-172.
- (781) Ma, R. H.; Hu, P. J.; Jin, L. Y.; Wang, Y. J.; Lu, J. Q.; Luo, M. F. Characterization of CrO_x/Al₂O₃ Catalysts for Dichloromethane Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *175*, 598-602.
- (782) Su, J.; Liu, Y.; Yao, W. Y.; Wu, Z. B. Catalytic Combustion of Dichloromethane over HZSM-5-Supported Typical Transition Metal (Cr, Fe, and Cu) Oxide Catalysts: A Stability Study. J. Phys. Chem. C 2016, 120, 18046-18054.
- (783) Kim, D. C.; Ihm, S. K. Application of Spinel-Type Cobalt Chromite as a Novel Catalyst for Combustion of Chlorinated Organic Pollutants. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2001**, *35*, 222-226.
- (784) Liu, J.-D.; Zhang, T.-T.; Jia, A.-P.; Luo, M.-F.; Lu, J.-Q. The Effect of Microstructural Properties of CoCr₂O₄ Spinel Oxides on Catalytic Combustion of Dichloromethane. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2016**, *369*, 58-66.
- (785) Wang, Y.; Jia, A.-P.; Luo, M.-F.; Lu, J.-Q. Highly Active Spinel Type CoCr₂O₄ Catalysts for Dichloromethane Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2015**, *165*, 477-486.
- (786) Cao, S.; Wang, H. Q.; Yu, F. X.; Shi, M. P.; Chen, S.; Weng, X. L.; Liu, Y.; Wu, Z. B. Catalyst Performance and Mechanism of Catalytic Combustion of Dichloromethane (CH₂Cl₂) over Ce Doped TiO₂. *J. Colloid Interf. Sci.* **2016**, *463*, 233-241.
- (787) Cao, S.; Wang, H. Q.; Shi, M. P.; Chen, S.; Wu, Z. B. Impacts of Structure of CeO₂/TiO₂ Mixed Oxides Catalysts on Their Performances for Catalytic Combustion of Dichloromethane. *Catal. Lett.* **2016**, *146*, 1591-1599.
- (788) Cao, S.; Shi, M. P.; Wang, H. Q.; Yu, F. X.; Weng, X. L.; Liu, Y.; Wu, Z. B. A Two-Stage Ce/TiO₂-Cu/CeO₂ Catalyst with Separated Catalytic Functions for Deep Catalytic Combustion of CH₂Cl₂. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *290*, 147-153.
- (789) Chen, Q. -Y.; Li, N.; Luo, M. -F.; Lu, J. -Q. Catalytic Oxidation of Dichloromethane over Pt/CeO₂-Al₂O₃ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *127*, 159-166.
- (790) Pitkäaho, S.; Nevanperä, T.; Matejova, L.; Ojala, S.; Keiski, R. L. Oxidation of Dichloromethane over Pt, Pd, Rh, and V₂O₅ Catalysts Supported on Al₂O₃, Al₂O₃-TiO₂ and Al₂O₃-CeO₂. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2013**, *138-139*, 33-42.
- (791) Wang, Y.; Liu, H. -H.; Wang, S. -Y.; Luo, M. -F.; Lu, J. -Q. Remarkable Enhancement of Dichloromethane Oxidation over Potassium-Promoted Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalysts. J. Catal. 2014, 311, 314-324.
- (792) Pitkäaho, S.; Ojala, S.; Maunula, T.; Savimäki, A.; Kinnunen, T.; Keiski, R. L. Oxidation of Dichloromethane and Perchloroethylene as Single Compounds and in Mixtures. *Appl. Catal.*

B: Environ. 2011, 102, 395-403.

- (793) Maupin, I.; Pinard, L.; Mijoin, J.; Magnoux, P. Oxidation of Dichloromethane and Perchloroethylene as Single Compounds and in Mixtures. *J. Catal.* **2012**, *291*, 104-109.
- (794) Pinard, L.; Mijoin, J.; Ayrault, P.; Canaff, C.; Magnoux, P. On the Mechanism of the Catalytic Destruction of Dichloromethane over Pt Zeolite Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2004, *51*, 1-8.
- (795) Ordonez, S.; Intriago, L.; Diaz, E.; Vega, A. Combustion of Trichloroethylene and Dichloromethane over Protonic Zeolites: Influence of Adsorption Properties on the Catalytic Performance. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* **2006**, *91*, 161-169.
- (796) Meyer, C. I.; Borgna, A.; Monzon, A.; Garetto, T. F. Kinetic Study of Trichloroethylene Combustion on Exchanged Zeolites Catalysts. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2011**, *190*, 903-908.
- (797) López-Fonseca, R.; de Rivas, B.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; Aranzabal, A.; González-Velasco, J.
 R. Enhanced Activity of Zeolites by Chemical Dealumination for Chlorinated VOC Abatement. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2003, *41*, 31-42.
- (798) López-Fonseca, R.; Cibrián, S.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, M. A.; González-Velasco, J. R. Oxidative Destruction of Dichloromethane over Protonic Zeolites. *AIChE J.* 2003, 49, 496-504.
- (799) Pinard, L.; Mijoin, J.; Magnoux, P.; Guisnet, M. Oxidation of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons over Pt Zeolite Catalysts 1-Mechanism of Dichloromethane Transformation over PtNaY Catalysts. *J. Catal.* 2003, 215, 234-244.
- (800) Zhang, L. L.; Liu, S. Y.; Wang, G. Y.; Zhang, J. X. Catalytic Combustion of Dichloromethane over NaFAU and HFAU Zeolites: a Combined Experimental and Theoretical Study. *Reac. Kinet. Mech. Cat.* **2014**, *112*, 249-265.
- (801) Tian, M. J.; Jian, Y. F.; He, C.; Ma, M. D.; Chen, C. W.; Liu, C.; Shi, J.-W. Rational Design of CrO_x/LaSrMnCoO₆ Composite Catalysts with Superior Chlorine Tolerance and Stability for 1,2-dichloroethane Deep Destruction, *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.*, **2019**, *570*, 62-72.
- (802) Rotter, H.; Landau, M. V.; Herskowitz, M. Combustion of Chlorinated VOC on Nanostructured Chromia Aerogel as Catalyst and Catalyst Support. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2005, 39, 6845-6850.
- (803) Tian, M. J.; Ma, M. D.; Xu, B. T.; Chen, C. W.; He, C.; Hao, Z. P.; Albilali, R. Catalytic Removal of 1,2-Dichloroethane over LaSrMnCoO₆/H-ZSM-5 Composite: Insights into Synergistic Effect and Pollutant-Destruction Mechanism. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2018, *8*, 4503-4514.
- (804) Muller, H.; Deller, B.; Despeyroux, B.; Peldszud, E.; Kammerhofer, P.; Kuhn, W.; Spielmannleitner, R.; Stoger, M. Catalytic Purification of Waste Gases Containing Chlorinated Hydrocarbons with Precious Metal Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **1993**, *17*, 383-390.
- (805) de Rivas, B.; Sampedro, C.; Ramos-Fernández, E. V.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gascon, J.; Makkee, M.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I. Influence of the Synthesis Route on the Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane over CeO₂/H-ZSM-5 Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2013, 456, 96-104.
- (806) Liotta, L. F.; Wu, H.; Pantaleo, G.; Venezia, A. M. Co₃O₄ Nanocrystals and Co₃O₄-MO_x Binary Oxides for CO, CH₄ and VOC Oxidation at Low Temperatures: a Review. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2013, *3*, 3085-3102.
- (807) Cai, T.; Huang, H.; Deng, W.; Dai, Q.; Liu, W.; Wang, X. Catalytic Combustion of

1,2-Dichlorobenzene at Low Temperature over Mn-Modified Co₃O₄ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2015**, *166-167*, 393-405.

- (808) González-Prior, J.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J.I.; de Rivas, B. Catalytic Removal of Chlorinated Compounds over Ordered Mesoporous Cobalt Oxides Synthesised by Hard-Templating. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2018**, *222*, 9-17.
- (809) González-Prior, J.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; de Rivas, B. Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane over Nanocube-Shaped Co₃O₄ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, 199, 384-393.
- (810) Tian, M. J.; He, C.; Yu, Y. K.; Pan, H.; Smith, L.; Jiang, Z. Y.; Gao, N. B.; Jian, Y. F.; Hao, Z. P.; Zhu, Q. Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane over Three-Dimensional Ordered Meso-Macroporous Co₃O₄/La_{0.7}Sr_{0.3}Fe_{0.5}Co_{0.5}O₃: Destruction Route and Mechanism. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2018, *553*, 1-14.
- (811) de Rivas, B.; López-Fonseca, R.; Jiménez-González, C.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I. Synthesis, Characterisation and Catalytic Performance of Nanocrystalline Co₃O₄ for Gas-Phase Chlorinated VOC Abatement. *J. Catal.* **2011**, *281*, 88-97.
- (812) Gonzalez-Prior, J.; Gutierrez-Ortiz, J. L.; Lopez-Fonseca, R.; Busca, G.; Finocchio, E.; de Rivas, B. Oxidation of Chlorinated Alkanes over Co₃O₄/SBA-15 Catalysts. Structural Characterization and Reaction Mechanism. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *6*, 5618-5630.
- (813) Feng, Y.; Yin, H.; Gao, D.; Wang, A.; Shen, L.; Meng, M. Selective Oxidation of 1,2-Propanediol to Lactic Acid Catalyzed by Hydroxylapatite Nanorod-Supported Au/Pd Bimetallic Nanoparticles under Atmospheric Pressure. J. Catal. 2014, 316, 67-77.
- (814) Ogo, S.; Onda, A.; Iwasa, Y.; Hara, K.; Fukuoka, A.; Yanagisawa, K. 1-Butanol Synthesis from Ethanol over Strontium Phosphate Hydroxyapatite Catalysts with Various Sr/P Ratios. *J. Catal.* **2012**, *296*, 24-30.
- (815) Elkabouss, K.; Kacimi, M.; Ziyad, M.; Ammar, S.; Bozon-Verduraz, F. Cobalt-Exchanged Hydroxyapatite Catalysts: Magnetic Studies, Spectroscopic Investigations, Performance in 2-Butanol and Ethane Oxidative Dehydrogenations. *J. Catal.* **2004**, *226*, 16-24.
- (816) Boukha, Z.; Kacimi, M.; Ziyad, M.; Ensuque, A.; Bozon-Verduraz, F. Comparative Study of Catalytic Activity of Pd Loaded Hydroxyapatite and Fluoroapatite in Butan-2-Ol Conversion and Methane Oxidation. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2007**, 270, 205-213.
- (817) Carvalho, D. C.; Pinheiro, L. G.; Campos, A.; Millet, E. R. C.; de Sousa, F. F.; Fiho, J. M.; Saraiva, G. D.; Filho, E. C. D. S.; Fonseca, M. G.; Oliveira, A. C. Characterization and Catalytic Performances of Copper and Cobalt-Exchanged Hydroxyapatite in Glycerol Conversion for 1-Hydroxyacetone Production. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2014**, *471*, 39-49.
- (818) Sudhakar, M.; Kumar, V. V.; Naresh, G.; Kantam, M. L.; Bhargava, S. K.; Venugopal, A. Vapor Phase Hydrogenation of Aqueous Levulinic Acid over Hydroxyapatite Supported Metal (M = Pd, Pt, Ru, Cu, Ni) Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, *180*, 113-120.
- (819) Boukha, Z.; González-Prior, J.; de Rivas, B.; González-Velasco, J. R.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I. Synthesis, Characterisation and Behaviour of Co/Hydroxyapatite Catalysts in the Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, 190, 125-136.
- (820) Wang, W.; Zhu, Q.; Dai, Q. G.; Wang, X. Y. Fe Doped CeO₂ Nanosheets for Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane: Effect of Preparation Method. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2017, 307, 1037-1046.

- (821) Dai, Q. G.; Huang, H.; Zhu, Y.; Deng, W.; Bai, S. X.; Wang, X. Y.; Lu, G. Z. Catalysis Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane and Ethyl Acetate over Ceria Nanocrystals with Well-Defined Crystal Planes. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *117-118*, 360-368.
- (822) de Rivas, B.; López-Fonseca, R.; Samedro, C.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I. Catalytic Behaviour of Thermally Aged Ce/Zr Mixed Oxides for the Purification of Chlorinated VOC-Containing Gas Streams. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, *90*, 545-555.
- (823) Dai, Q. G.; Bai, S. X.; Li, H.; Liu, W.; Wang, X. Y.; Lu, G. Z. Catalytic Total Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane over Highly Dispersed Vanadia Supported on CeO₂ Nanobelts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2015, 168-169, 141-155.
- (824) Dai, Q. G.; Wang, W.; Wang, X. Y.; Lu, G. Z. Sandwich-Structured CeO₂@ZSM-5 Hybrid Composites for Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane: An Integrated Solution to Coking and Chlorine Poisoning Deactivation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2017**, *203*, 31-42.
- (825) Zhou, J. M.; Zhao, L.; Huang, Q. Q.; Zhou, R. X.; Li, X. K. Catalytic Activity of Y Zeolite Supported CeO₂ Catalysts for Deep Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane (DCE). *Catal. Lett.* 2009, 127, 277-284.
- (826) Huang, Q. Q.; Xue, X. M.; Zhou, R. X. Influence of Interaction Between CeO₂ and USY on the Catalytic Performance of CeO₂-USY Catalysts for Deep Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2010**, *331*, 130-136.
- (827) Huang, Q. Q.; Xue, X. M.; Zhou, R. X. Decomposition of 1,2-Dichloroethane over CeO₂ Modified USY Zeolite Catalysts: Effect of Acidity and Redox Property on the Catalytic Behavior. J. Hazard. Mater. 2010, 183, 694-700.
- (828) de Rivas, B.; López-Fonseca, R.; González-Velasco, J. R.; Gutiérrez-Oritiz, J. I. On the Mechanism of the Catalytic Destruction of 1,2-Dichloroethane over Ce/Zr Mixed Oxide Catalysts. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2007, 278, 181-188.
- (829) Shi, Z. N.; Yang, P.; Tao, F.; Zhou, R. X. New Insight into the Structure of CeO₂-TiO₂ Mixed Oxides and Their Excellent Catalytic Performances for 1,2-Dichloroethane Oxidation. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, 295, 99-108.
- (830) Yang, P.; Zuo, S. F.; Shi, Z. N.; Tao, F.; Zhou, R. X. Elimination of 1,2-Dichloroethane over (Ce, Cr)_xO/MO_y Catalysts (M = Ti, V, Nb, Mo, W and La). *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, *191*, 53-61.
- (831) Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; de Rivas, B.; López-Fonseca, R.; González-Velasco, J. R. Combustion of Aliphatic C₂ Chlorohydrocarbons over Ceria-Zirconia Mixed Oxides Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2004, 269, 147-155.
- (832) de Rivas, B.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, M. A.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I. Impact of Induced Chlorine-Poisoning on the Catalytic Behaviour of Ce_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ and Ce_{0.15}Zr_{0.85}O₂ in the Gas-Phase Oxidation of Chlorinated VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2011, 104, 373-381.
- (833) de Rivas, B.; Sampedro, C.; García-Real, M.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. Promoted Activity of Sulphated Ce/Zr Mixed Oxides for Chlorinated VOC Oxidative Abatement. Appl. Catal. B: Environ. 2013, 129, 225-235.
- (834) Yang, P.; Shi, Z. N.; Yang, S. S.; Zhou, R. X. High Catalytic Performances of CeO₂-CrO_x Catalysts for Chlorinated VOCs Elimination. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2015**, *126*, 361-369.
- (835) Yang, P.; Yang, S. S.; Shi, Z. N.; Meng, Z. H.; Zhou, R. X. Deep Oxidation of Chlorinated VOCs over CeO₂-Based Transition Metal Mixed Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2015, *162*, 227-235.

- (836) Yang, P.; Yang, S. S.; Shi, Z. N.; Tao, F.; Guo, X. L.; Zhou, R. X. Accelerating Effect of ZrO₂ Doping on Catalytic Performance and Thermal Stability of CeO₂-CrO_x Mixed Oxide for 1, 2-Dichloroethane Elimination. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, 285, 544-553.
- (837) Yang, P.; Shi, Z. N.; Tao, F.; Yang, S. S.; Zhou, R. X. Synergistic Performance between Oxidizability and Acidity/Texture Properties for 1,2-Dichloroethane Oxidation over (Ce, Cr)_xO₂/Zeolite Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2015**, *134*, 340-347.
- (838) Vlasenko, V. M.; Chernobrivets, V. L. Catalytic Purification of Gases to Remove Vinyl Chloride. *Russ. J. Appl. Chem.* **2002**, *75*, 1262-1264.
- (839) Zhang, C. H.; Wang, C.; Hua, W. C.; Guo, Y. L.; Lu, G. Z.; Gil, S.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Relationship between Catalytic Deactivation and Physicochemical Properties of LaMnO₃ Perovskite Catalyst during Catalytic Oxidation of Vinyl Chloride. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, *186*, 173-183.
- (840) Huang, H.; Dai, Q. G.; Wang, X. Y. Morphology Effect of Ru/CeO₂ Catalysts for the Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *158-159*, 96-105.
- (841) López, N.; Gómez-Segura, J.; Marín, R. P.; Pérez-Ramírez, J. Mechanism of HCl Oxidation (Deacon Process) Over RuO₂. *J. Catal.* **2008**, *255*, 29-39.
- (842) Wang, C.; Zhang, C. H.; Hua, W. C.; Guo, Y. L.; Lu, G. Z.; Gil, S.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Low-Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Vinyl Chloride over Ru Modified Co₃O₄ Catalysts. *RSC Adv.* 2016, 6, 99577-99585.
- (843) Zhang, C. H.; Wang, C.; Zhan, W. C.; Guo, Y. L.; Guo, Y.; Lu, G. Z.; Baylet, A.; Giroir-Fendler, A. Catalytic Oxidation of Vinyl Chloride Emission over LaMnO₃ and LaB_{0.2}Mn_{0.8}O₃ (B = Co, Ni, Fe) Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2013**, *129*, 509-516.
- (844) Zhang, C. H.; Hua, W. C.; Wang, C.; Guo, Y. L.; Guo, Y.; Lu, G. Z.; Baylet, A.; Giroir-Fendler, A. The Effect of A-Site Substitution by Sr, Mg and Ce on the Catalytic Performance of LaMnO₃ Catalysts for the Oxidation of Vinyl Chloride Emission. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, *134-135*, 310-315.
- (845) Greene, H. L.; Prakash, D. S.; Athota, K. V. Combined Sorbent/Catalyst Media for Destruction of Halogenated VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1996**, *7*, 213-224.
- (846) Parent, R. A. Encyclopedia of Toxicology, in: P. Wexler (Ed.), Trichloroethylene, 2nd Edition, Elsevier Academic Press, **2005**, p 382.
- (847) Caldwell, J.; Lunn, R.; Ruder, A. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, *IARC (International Agency forResearch on Cancer)*, **1995**, *63*, 75-158.
- (848) Gonzalez-Olmos, R.; Roland, U.; Toufar, H.; Kopinke, F. D.; Georgi, A. Fe-Zeolites as Catalysts for Chemical Oxidation of MTBE in Water with H₂O₂. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, 89, 356-364.
- (849) Nackay, D.; Shiu, W. -Y.; Ma, K. -C.; Lee, S. C. Handbook of Physical-Chemical Properties and Environmental Fate for Organic Chemicals, CRC Press, 2006.
- (850) Fan, A. M. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, Springer: 1988; p 55.
- (851) Divakar, D.; Romero-Sáez, M.; Pereda-Ayo, B.; Aranzabal, A.; González-Marcos, J. A.; González-Velasco, J. R. Catalytic Oxidation of Trichloroethylene over Fe-Zeolites. *Catal. Today* 2011, 176, 357-360.
- (852) Lucio-Ortiz, C. J.; De la Rosa, J. R.; Ramirez, A. H.; De los Resyes Heredia, J. A.; del Angel, P.; Muñoz-Aguirre, S.; De León-Covián, L. M. Synthesis and Characterization of Fe Doped Mesoporous Al₂O₃ by Sol-Gel Method and Its Use in Trichloroethylene Combustion. J.

Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. 2011, 58, 374-384.

- (853) Kawi, S.; Te, M. MCM-48 Supported Chromium Catalyst for Trichloroethylene Oxidation. *Catal. Today* **1998**, *44*, 101-109.
- (854) Dai, Q. G.; Wang, X. Y.; Lu, G. Z. Low-Temperature Catalytic Combustion of Trichloroethylene over Cerium Oxide and Catalyst Deactivation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2008, 81, 192-202.
- (855) Yang, P.; Xue, X. M.; Meng, Z. H.; Zhou, R. X. Enhanced Catalytic Activity and Stability of Ce Doping on Cr Supported HZSM-5 Catalysts for Deep Oxidation of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2013, 234, 203-210.
- (856) Blanch-Rage, N.; Palomares, A. E.; Martínez-Triguero, J.; Valencia, S. Cu and Co Modified Beta Zeolite Catalysts for the Trichloroethylene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *187*, 90-97.
- (857) Maghsoodi, S.; Towfighi, J.; Khodadadi, A.; Mortazavi, Y. The Effects of Excess Manganese in Nano-Size Lanthanum Manganite Perovskite on Enhancement of Trichloroethylene Oxidation Activity. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2013, 215-216, 827-837.
- (858) He, C. B.; Pan, K. L.; Chang, M. B. Catalytic Oxidation of Trichloroethylene from Gas Streams by Perovskite-Type Catalysts. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* **2018**, *25*, 11584-11594.
- (859) Blanch-Rage, N.; Palomares, A. E.; Martínez-Triguero, J.; Puche, M.; Fetter, G.; Bosch, P. The Oxidation of Trichloroethylene over Different Mixed Oxides Derived from Hydrotalcites. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *160-161*, 129-134.
- (860) Kułażyński, M.; van Ommen, J. G.; Trawczyński, J.; Walendziewski, J. Catalytic Combustion of Trichloroethylene over TiO₂-SiO₂ Supported Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2002, *36*, 239-247.
- (861) Wang, J.; Liu, X. L.; Zeng, J. L.; Zhu, T. Y. Catalytic Oxidation of Trichloroethylene over TiO₂ Supported Ruthenium Catalysts. *Catal. Commun.* **2016**, *76*, 13-18.
- (862) Aranzabal, A.; Romero-Sáez, M.; Elizundia, U.; González-Velasco, J. R.; González-Marcos, J. A. The Effect of Deactivation of H Zeolites on Product Selectivity in the Oxidation of Chlorinated VOCs (Trichloroethylene). J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 2016, 91, 318-326.
- (863) López-Fonseca, R.; Aranzabal, A.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; Álvarez-Uriarte, J. I.; González-Velasco, J. R. Comparative Study of the Oxidative Decomposition of Trichloroethylene over H-Type Zeolites under Dry and Humid Conditions. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2001, *30*, 303-313.
- (864) Romero-Sáez, M.; Divakar, D.; Aranzabal, A.; González-Velasco, J. R.; González-Marcos, J. A. Catalytic Oxidation of Trichloroethylene over Fe-ZSM-5: Influence of the Preparation Method on the Iron Species and the Catalytic Behavior. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, *180*, 210-218.
- (865) Miranda, B.; Díaz, E.; Ordóñez, S.; Vega, A.; Díez, F. V. Oxidation of Trichloroethene over Metal Oxide Catalysts: Kinetic Studies and Correlation with Adsorption Properties. *Chemosphere* 2007, 66, 1706-1715.
- (866) Huang, Q. Q.; Meng, Z. H.; Zhou, R. X. The Effect of Synergy between Cr₂O₃-CeO₂ and USY Zeolite on the Catalytic Performance and Durability of Chromium and Cerium Modified USY Catalysts for Decomposition of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *115-116*, 179-189.
- (867) Lee, D. K.; Yoon, W. L. Ru-Promoted CrOx/Al2O3 Catalyst for the Low-Temperature

Oxidative Decomposition of Trichloroethylene in Air. Catal. Lett. 2002, 81, 247-252.

- (868) Vaccari, A. Preparation and Catalytic Properties of Cationic and Anionic Clays. *Catal. Today* **1998**, *41*, 53-71.
- (869) Blanch-Raga, N.; Palomares, A. E.; Martínez-Triguero, J.; Fetter, G.; Bosch, P. Cu Mixed Oxides Based on Hydrotalcite-Like Compounds for the Oxidation of Trichloroethylene. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2013**, *52*, 15772-15779.
- (870) Tichit, D.; Lhiuty, M. H.; Guida, A.; Chiche, B. H.; Figueras, F.; Auroux, A.; Bartalini, D.; Garrone, E. Textural Properties and Catalytic Activity of Hydrotalcites. *J. Catal.* **1995**, *151*, 50-59.
- (871) Cucciniello, R.; Proto, A.; Rossi, F.; Motta, O. Mayenite Based Supports for Atmospheric NO_x Sampling. *Atmos. Environ.* **2013**, *79*, 666-671.
- (872) Lacerda, M.; Irvine, J. T. S.; Glasser, F. P.; West, A. R. High Oxide Ion Conductivity in Ca₁₂Al₁₄O₃₃. *Nature* **1988**, *332*, 525-526.
- (873) Cucciniello, R.; Intiso, A.; Castiglione, S.; Genga, A.; Proto, A.; Rossi, F. Total Oxidation of Trichloroethylene over Mayenite (Ca₁₂Al₁₄O₃₃) Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2017, 204, 167-172.
- (874) González-Velasco, J. R.; Aranzabal, A.; López-Fonseca, R.; Ferret, R.; González-Marcos, J. A. Enhancement of the Catalytic Oxidation of Hydrogen-Lean Chlorinated VOCs in the Presence of Hydrogen-Supplying Compounds. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2000, 24, 33-43.
- (875) González-Velasco, J. R.; Aranzabal, A.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, M. A. Activity and Product Distribution of Alumina Supported Platinum and Palladium Catalysts in the Gas-Phase Oxidative Decomposition of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1998**, *19*, 189-197.
- (876) López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; González-Velasco, J. R. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons over H-BETA and PdO/H-BETA Zeolite Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2004, 271, 39-46.
- (877) Li, D.; Zheng, Y.; Wang, X. Y. Effect of Phosphoric Acid on Catalytic Combustion of Trichloroethylene over Pt/P-MCM-41. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2008**, *340*, 33-41.
- (878) Sun, P. F.; Wang, W. L.; Weng, X. L.; Dai, X. X.; Wu, Z. B. Alkali Potassium Induced HCl/CO₂ Selectivity Enhancement and Chlorination Reaction Inhibition for Catalytic Oxidation of Chloroaromatics. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *52*, 6438-6447.
- (879) Lichtenberger, J.; Amiridis, M. D. Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorinated Benzenes over V₂O₅/TiO₂ Catalysts. *J. Catal.* **2004**, *223*, 296-308.
- (880) Li, Z. M.; Guo, X. L.; Tao, F.; Zhou, R. X. New Insights into the Effect of Morphology on Catalytic Properties of MnO_x-CeO₂ Mixed Oxides for Chlorobenzene Degradation. *RSC Adv.* 2018, 8, 25283-25291.
- (881) Liu, Y.; Luo, M. F.; Wei, Z. B.; Xin, Q.; Ying, P. L.; Li, C. Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorobenzene on Supported Manganese Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2001**, *29*, 61-67.
- (882) Kan, J. W.; Deng, L.; Li, B.; Huang, Q.; Zhu, S. M.; Shen, S. B.; Chen, Y. W. Performance of Co-Doped Mn-Ce Catalysts Supported on Cordierite for Low Concentration Chlorobenzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2017**, *530*, 21-29.
- (883) Huang, H.; Gu, Y. F.; Zhao, J.; Wang, X. Y. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene over VO_x/CeO₂ Catalysts. *J. Catal.* **2015**, *326*, 54-68.

- (884) Guan, Y. J.; Li, C. Effect of CeO₂ Redox Behavior on the Catalytic Activity of a VO_x/CeO₂ Catalyst for Chlorobenzene Oxidation. *Chin. J. Catal.* **2007**, *28*, 392-394.
- (885) Scirè, S.; Minicò, S.; Crisafulli, C. Pt Catalysts Supported on H-Type Zeolites for the Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2003**, *45*, 117-125.
- (886) Giraudon, J. -M.; Elhachimi, A.; Leclercq, G. Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorobenzene over Pd/Perovskites. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2008**, *84*, 251-261.
- (887) Dai, Q. G.; Bai, S. X.; Wang, J. W.; Li, M.; Wang, X. Y.; Lu, G. Z. The Effect of TiO₂ Doping on Catalytic Performances of Ru/CeO₂ Catalysts during Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2013**, *142-143*, 222-233.
- (888) Ye, M.; Chen, L.; Liu, X. L.; Xu, W. Q.; Zhu, T. Y.; Chen, G. Y. Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorobenzene over Ruthenium-Ceria Bimetallic Catalysts. *Catal.* **2018**, *8*, 116.
- (889) Lu, Y. J.; Dai, Q. G.; Wang, X. Y. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene on Modified LaMnO₃ Catalysts. *Catal. Commun.* **2014**, *54*, 114-117.
- (890) Sinquin, G.; Hindermann, J. P.; Petit, C.; Kiennemann, A. Perovskites as Polyvalent Catalysts for Total Destruction of C₁, C₂ and Aromatic Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds. *Catal. Today* **1999**, *54*, 107-118.
- (891) He, C.; Yu, Y. K.; Shen, Q.; Chen, J. S.; Qiao, N. L. Catalytic Behavior and Synergistic Effect of Nanostructured Mesoporous CuO-MnO_x-CeO₂ Catalysts for Chlorobenzene Destruction. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2014**, *297*, 59-69.
- (892) He, C.; Yu, Y. K.; Shi, J. W.; Shen, Q.; Chen, J. S.; Liu, H. X. Mesostructured Cu-Mn-Ce-O Composites with Homogeneous Bulk Composition for Chlorobenzene Removal: Catalytic Performance and Microactivation Course. *Mater. Chem. Phys.* 2015, 157, 87-100.
- (893) Aznárez, A.; Delaigle, R.; Eloy, P.; Gaigneaux, E. M.; Korili, S. A.; Gil, A. Catalysts Based on Pillared Clays for the Oxidation of Chlorobenzene. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *246*, 15-27.
- (894) Khaleel, A.; Al-Nayli, A. Supported and Mixed Oxide Catalysts Based on Iron and Titanium for the Oxidative Decomposition of Chlorobenzene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2008**, *80*, 176-184.
- (895) Zhao, W.; Cheng, J.; Wang, L. N.; Chu, J. L.; Qu, J. K.; Liu, Y. H.; Li, S. H.; Zhang, H.; Wang, J. C.; Hao, Z. P.; Qi, T. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene on the Ln Modified Co/HMS. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *127*, 246-254.
- (896) He, C.; Men, G. S.; Yu, Y. K.; Pan, H.; Xu, B. T. Chlorobenzene Destruction over Mesostructured CuO and MnO_x Co-Modified CeO₂ Catalyst: Activity and Activation Route. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* 2015, 226, 57.
- (897) He, C.; Xu, B.-T.; Shi, J.-W.; Qiao, N.-L.; Hao, Z.-P.; Zhao, J.-L. Catalytic Destruction of Chlorobenzene over Mesoporous ACeO_x (A = Co, Cu, Fe, Mn, or Zr) Composites Prepared by Inorganic Metal Precursor Spontaneous Precipitation. *Fuel Proc. Technol.* 2015, *130*, 179-187.
- (898) He, F.; Luo, J. Q.; Liu, S. T. Novel Metal Loaded KIT-6 Catalysts and Their Applications in the Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2016**, *294*, 362-370.
- (899) Tian, W.; Fan, X. Y.; Yang, H. S.; Zhang, X. B. Preparation of MnO_x/TiO₂ Composites and Their Properties for Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorobenzene. J. Hazard. Mater. 2010, 177, 887-891.
- (900) Tian, W.; Yang, H. S.; Fan, X. Y.; Zhang, X. B. Low-Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorobenzene over MnO_x/TiO₂-CNTs Nano-Composites Prepared by Wet Synthesis

Methods. Catal. Commun. 2010, 11, 1185-1188.

- (901) Fan, X. Y.; Yang, H. S.; Tian, W.; Nie, A. M.; Hou, T. F.; Qiu, F. M.; Zhang, X. B. Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorobenzene over MnO_x/Al₂O₃-Carbon Nanotubes Composites. *Catal. Lett.* 2011, 141, 158-162.
- (902) Mao, D.; He, F.; Zhao, P.; Liu, S. T. Enhancement of Resistance to Chlorine Poisoning of Sn-Modified MnCeLa Catalysts for Chlorobenzene Oxidation at Low Temperature. *RSC Adv.* 2015, *5*, 10040-10047.
- (903) Wang, X. Y.; Kang, Q.; Li, D. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene over MnO_x-CeO₂ Mixed Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, *86*, 166-175.
- (904) Dai, Y.; Wang, X. Y.; Li, D.; Dai, Q. G. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene over Mn-Ce-La-O Mixed Oxide Catalysts. J. Hazard. Mater. 2011, 188, 132-139.
- (905) Dai, Y.; Wang, X. Y.; Dai, Q. G.; Li, D. Effect of Ce and La on the Structure and Activity of MnO_x Catalyst in Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2012, 111-112, 141-149.
- (906) Zhao, P.; Wang, C. N.; He, F.; Liu, S. T. Effect of Ceria Morphology on the Activity of MnO_x/CeO₂ Catalysts for the Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *RSC Adv.* 2014, 4, 45665-45672.
- (907) Wu, M.; Wang, X. Y.; Dai, Q. G.; Gu, Y. X.; Li, D. Low Temperature Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene over Mn-Ce-O/γ-Al₂O₃ Mixed Oxides Catalyst. *Catal. Today* **2010**, *158*, 336-342.
- (908) He, F.; Chen, Y.; Zhao, P.; Liu, S. T. Effect of Calcination Temperature on the Structure and Performance of CeO_x-MnO_x/TiO₂ Nanoparticles for the Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *J. Nanopart. Res.* **2016**, *18*, 119.
- (909) Sun, P. F.; Wang, W. L.; Dai, X. X.; Weng, X. L.; Wu, Z. B. Mechanism Study on Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorobenzene over Mn_xCe_{1-x}O₂/H-ZSM-5 Catalysts under Dry and Humid Conditions. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *198*, 389-397.
- (910) Wu, M.; Wang, X. Y.; Dai, Q. G.; Li, D. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene over Mn-Ce/Al₂O₃ Catalyst Promoted by Mg. *Catal. Commun.* **2010**, *11*, 1022-1025.
- (911) Delaigle, R.; Debecker, D. P.; Bertinchamps, F.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Revisiting the Behaviour of Vanadia-Based Catalysts in the Abatement of (Chloro)-Aromatic Pollutants: towards an Integrated Understanding. *Top. Catal.* **2009**, *52*, 501-516.
- (912) Lomnicki, S.; Lichtenberger, J.; Xu, Z.; Waters, M.; Kosman, J.; Amiridis, M. D. Catalytic Oxidation of 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol over Vanadia/Titania-Based Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2003, 46, 105-119.
- (913) Debecker, D. P.; Bertinchamps, F.; Blangenois, N.; Eloy, P.; Gaigneaux, E. M. On the Impact of the Choice of Model VOC in the Evaluation of V-Based Catalysts for the Total Oxidation of Dioxins: Furan vs. Chlorobenzene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *74*, 223-232.
- (914) Bertinchamps, F.; Gregoire, C.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Systematic Investigation of Supported Transition Metal Oxide Based Formulations for the Catalytic Oxidative Elimination of (Chloro)-Aromatics: Part II: Influence of the Nature and Addition Protocol of Secondary Phases to VO_x/TiO₂. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2006**, *66*, 1-9.
- (915) Gannoun, C.; Delaigle, R.; Debecker, D. P.; Eloy, P.; Ghorbel, A.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Effect of Support on V₂O₅ Catalytic Activity in Chlorobenzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2012, 447-448, 1-6.

- (916) Huang, X.; Peng, Y.; Liu, X.; Li, K. Z.; Deng, Y. X.; Li, J. H. The Promotional Effect of MoO₃ Doped V₂O₅/TiO₂ for Chlorobenzene Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2015**, *69*, 161-164.
- (917) Finocchio, E.; Ramis, G.; Busca, G. A Study on Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzenes. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *169*, 3-9.
- (918) Topka, P.; Delaigle, R.; Kaluža, L.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Performance of Platinum and Gold Catalysts Supported on Ceria-Zirconia Mixed Oxide in the Oxidation of Chlorobenzene. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *253*, 172-177.
- (919) Lamonier, J.-F.; Nguyen, T. B.; Franco, M.; Siffert, S.; Cousin, R.; Li, Y.; Yang, X. Y.; Su, B.-L.; Giraudon, J.-M. Influence of the Meso-Macroporous ZrO₂-TiO₂ Calcination Temperature on the Pre-Reduced Pd/ZrO₂-TiO₂ (1/1) Performances in Chlorobenzene Total Oxidation. *Catal. Today* 2011, *164*, 566-570.
- (920) Amrute, A. P.; Mondelli, C.; Hevia, M. A. G.; Pérez-Ramíre, J. Mechanism-Performance Relationships of Metal Oxides in Catalyzed HCl Oxidation. *ACS Catal.* **2011**, *1*, 583-590.
- (921) Pérez-Ramírez, J.; Mondelli, C.; Schmidt, T.; Schlüter, O. F. K.; Wolf, A.; Mleczk, L.; Dreier, T. Sustainable Chlorine Recycling *via* Catalysed HCl Oxidation: from Fundamentals to Implementation. *Energy Environ. Sci.* 2011, *4*, 4786-4799.
- (922) Dai, Q. G.; Bai, S. X.; Wang, Z. Y.; Wang, X. Y.; Lu, G. Z. Catalytic Combustion of Ehlorobenzene over Ru-Doped Ceria Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *126*, 64-75.
- (923) Dai, Q. G.; Bai, S. X.; Wang, X. Y.; Lu, G. Z. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene over Ru-Doped Ceria Catalysts: Mechanism Study. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2013**, *129*, 580-588.
- (924) Taralunga, M.; Mifoin, J.; Magnoux, P. Catalytic Destruction of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over Zeolites. *Catal. Commun.* **2006**, *7*, 115-121.
- (925) Ma, X. D.; Feng, X.; He, X.; Guo, H. W.; Lv, L.; Guo, J.; Cao, H. Q.; Zhou, T. Mesoporous CuO/CeO₂ Bimetal Oxides: One-Pot Synthesis, Characterization and Their Application in Catalytic Destruction of 1, 2-Dichlorobenzene. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2012, 158, 214-218.
- (926) Poplawski, K.; Lichtenberger, J.; Keil, F. J.; Schnitzlein, K.; Amiridis, M. D. Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over ABO₃-Type Perovskites. *Catal. Today* **2000**, *62*, 329-336.
- (927) Chin, S. M.; Jurng, J.; Lee, J. -H.; Moon, S. -J. Catalytic Conversion of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene Using V₂O₅/TiO₂ Catalysts by a Thermal Decomposition Process. *Chemosphere* 2009, 75, 1206-1209.
- (928) Wielgosiński, G.; Grochowalski, A.; Machej, T.; Pająk, T.; Ćwiąkalski, W. Catalytic Destruction of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene on V₂O₅-WO₃/Al₂O₃-TiO₂ Catalyst. *Chemosphere* 2007, 67, S150-S154.
- (929) Ma, X. D.; Feng, X.; Guo, J.; Cao, H. Q.; Suo, X. Y.; Sun, H. W.; Zheng, M. H. Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over Ca-Doped FeO_x Hollow Microspheres. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *147*, 666-676.
- (930) Deng, W.; Dai, Q. G.; Lao, Y. J.; Shi, B. B.; Wang, X. Y. Low Temperature Catalytic Combustion of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over CeO₂-TiO₂ Mixed Oxide Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2016, 181, 848-861.
- (931) Tang, A. D.; Hu, L. Q.; Yang, X. H.; Jia, Y. R.; Zhang, Y. Promoting Effect of the Addition of Ce and Fe on Manganese Oxide Catalyst for 1, 2-Dichlorobenzene Catalytic Combustion. *Catal. Commun.* 2016, 82, 41-45.

- (932) Krishnamoorthy, S.; Rivas, J. A.; Amiridis, M. D. Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over Supported Transition Metal Oxides. *J. Catal.* **2000**, *193*, 264-272.
- (933) Choi, J.; Shin, C. B.; Park, T. -J.; Suh, D. J. Characteristics of Vanadia-Titania Aerogel Catalysts for Oxidative Destruction of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2006, 311, 105-111.
- (934) Albonetti, S.; Blasioli, S.; Bonelli, R.; Mengou, J. E.; Scirè, S.; Trifirò, F. The Role of Acidity in the Decomposition of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over TiO₂-Based V₂O₅/WO₃ Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2008**, *341*, 18-25.
- (935) Ma, X. D.; Zhao, M. Y.; Pang, Q.; Zheng, M. H.; Sun, H. W.; Crittenden, J.; Zhu, Y. Y.; Chen, Y. S. Development of Novel CaCO₃/Fe₂O₃ Nanorods for Low Temperature 1,2-Dichlorobenzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2016**, *522*, 70-79.
- (936) Decker, S. P.; Klabunde, J. S.; Khaleel, A.; Klabunde, K. J. Catalyzed Destructive Adsorption of Environmental Toxins with Nanocrystalline Metal Oxides. Fluoro-, Chloro-, Bromocarbons, Sulfur, and Organophosophorus Compounds. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2002, *36*, 762-768.
- (937) Ma, X. D.; Shen, J. S.; Pu, W. Y.; Sun, H. W.; Pang, Q.; Guo, J.; Zhou, T.; Gao, H. Q. Water-Resistant Fe-Ca-O_x/TiO₂ Catalysts for Low Temperature 1,2-Dichlorobenzene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2013**, *466*, 68-76.
- (938) Ma, X. D.; Sun, Q.; Feng, X.; He, X.; Guo, J.; Sun, H. W.; Cao, H. Q. Catalytic Oxidation of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over CaCO₃/α-Fe₂O₃ Nanocomposite Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2013, 450, 143-151.
- (939) Rodrígue-González, B.; Vereda, F.; Vicente, J. D.; Hidalgo-Álvarez, R. Rough and Hollow Spherical Magnetite Microparticles: Revealing the Morphology, Internal Structure, and Growth Mechanism. *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2013**, *117*, 5397-5406.
- (940) Choi, J. S.; Youn, H. K.; Kwak, B. H.; Wang, Q.; Yang, K. S.; Chung, J. S. Preparation and Characterization of TiO₂-Masked Fe₃O₄ Nano Particles for Enhancing Catalytic Combustion of 1,2-Dichlorobenzene and Incineration of Polymer Wastes. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, *91*, 210-216.
- (941) Nanba, T.; Masukawa, S.; Ogata, A.; Uchisawa, J.; Obuchi, A. Active Sites of Cu-ZSM-5 for the Decomposition of Acrylonitrile. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2005**, *61*, 288-296.
- (942) Haber, J.; Janas, J.; Kryściak-Czerwenka, J.; Machej, T.; Sadowska, H.; Helldén, S. Total Oxidation of Nitrogen-Containing Organic Compounds to N₂, CO₂ and H₂O. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2002, 229, 23-34.
- (943) Matsuyama, T.; Tsubouchi, N.; Ohtsuka, Y. Catalytic Decomposition of Nitrogen-Containing Heterocyclic Compounds with Highly Dispersed Iron Nanoparticles on Carbons. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2012, 356, 14-19.
- (944) Ma, M. D.; Huang, H.; Chen, C. W.; Zhu, Q.; Yue, L.; Albiali, R.; He, C. Highly Active SBA-15-Confined Pd Catalyst with Short Rod-Like Micromesoporous Hybrid Nanostructure for n-Butylamine Low-Temperature Destruction. *Mol. Catal.* **2018**, *455*, 192-203.
- (945) Guerrero-Pérez, M. O.; Janas, J.; Machej, T.; Haber, J.; Lewandowska, A. E.; Fierro, J. L. G.; Bañares, M. A. Selective Destruction of Nitrogen-Containing Organic Volatile Compounds over Sb-V-O Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *71*, 85-93.
- (946) Huang, Q. Q.; Zuo, S. F.; Zhou, R. X. Catalytic Performance of Pillared Interlayered Clays (PILCs) Supported CrCe Catalysts for Deep Oxidation of Nitrogen-Containing VOCs. *Appl.*

Catal. B: Environ. 2010, 95, 327-334.

- (947) Shi, Z. N.; Huang, Q. Q.; Yang, P.; Zhou, R. X. The Catalytic Performance of Ti-PILC Supported CrO_x-CeO₂ Catalysts for *n*-Butylamine Oxidation. *J. Porous Mater.* **2015**, *22*, 739-747.
- (948) Yang, S. S.; Huang, Q. Q.; Zhou, R. X. Influence of Interactions between Chromium and Cerium on Catalytic Performances of CrO_x-CeO₂/Ti-PILC Catalysts for Deep Oxidation of *n*-Butylamine. *Chin. Sci. Bull.* **2014**, *59*, 3987-3992.
- (949) Zhang, R. D.; Shi, D. J.; Liu, N.; Gao, Y.; Chen, B. H. Mesoporous SBA-15 Promoted by 3D-Transition and Noble Metals for Catalytic Combustion of Acetonitrile. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2014, 146, 79-93.
- (950) Zhao, H.; Tonkyn, R. G.; Barlow, S. E.; Koel, B. E.; Peden, C. H. F. Catalytic Oxidation of HCN over a 0.5% Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2006**, *65*, 282-290.
- (951) Kröcher, O.; Elsener, M. Hydrolysis and Oxidation of Gaseous HCN over Heterogeneous Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, *92*, 75-89.
- (952) Liu, I. O. Y.; Cant, N. W. The Formation and Reactions of Hydrogen Cyanide under the Conditions of the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Isobutane on Cu-MFI. J. Catal. 2000, 195, 352-359.
- (953) Giménez-López, J.; Millera, A.; Bilbao, R.; Alzueta, M. U. HCN Oxidation in an O₂/CO₂ Atmosphere: An Experimental and Kinetic Modeling Study. *Combust. Flame* 2010, 157, 267-276.
- (954) Nanba, T.; Masukawa, S.; Uchisawa, J.; Obuchi, A. Mechanism of Acrylonitrile Decomposition over Cu-ZSM-5. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2007, 276, 130-136.
- (955) Nanba, T.; Masukawa, S.; Uchisawa, J.; Obuchi, A. Screening of Catalysts for Acrylonitrile Decomposition. *Catal. Lett.* **2004**, *93*, 195-201.
- (956) Nanba, T.; Masukawa, S.; Uchisawa, J.; Obuchi, A. Effect of Support Materials on Ag Catalysts Used for Acrylonitrile Decomposition. *J. Catal.* **2008**, *259*, 250-259.
- (957) Nanba, T.; Masukawa, S.; Uchisawa, J.; Obuchi, A. Influence of TiO₂ Crystal Structure on Acrylonitrile Decomposition over Ag/TiO₂. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2012**, *419-420*, 49-52.
- (958) Yi, H. H.; Li, F. R.; Tang, X. L.; Peng, J. H.; Li, Y. D.; Deng, H. Adsorption Separation of CO₂, CH₄, and N₂ on Microwave Activated Carbon. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2013**, *215-216*, 635-642.
- (959) Vega, E.; Lemus, J.; Anfruns, A.; Gonzalez-Olmos, R.; Palomar, J.; Martin, M. J. Adsorption of Volatile Sulphur Compounds onto Modified Activated Carbons: Effect of Oxygen Functional Groups. J. Hazard. Mater. 2013, 258-259, 77-83.
- (960) He, D. D.; Hao, H. S.; Chen, D. K.; Liu, J. P.; Yu, J.; Lu, J. C.; Liu, F.; He, S. F.; Li, J. Z.; Luo, Y. M. Effects of Rare-Earth (Nd, Er and Y) Doping on Catalytic Performance of HZSM-5 Zeolite Catalysts for Methyl Mercaptan (CH₃SH) Decomposition. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2017, 533, 66-74.
- (961) Bashkova, S.; Bagreev, A.; Bandosz, T. J. Adsorption of Methyl Mercaptan on Activated Carbons. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *36*, 2777-2782.
- (962) Zhao, S.; Yi, H.; Tang, X.; Gao, F.; Zhang, B.; Wang, Z.; Zuo, Y. Methyl Mercaptan Removal from Gas Streams Using Metal-Modified Activated Carbon. J. Clean. Prod. 2015, 87, 856-861.
- (963) Nevanperä, T. K.; Ojala, S.; Bion, N.; Epron, F.; Keiski, R. L. Catalytic Oxidation of Dimethyl Disulfide (CH₃SSCH₃) over Monometallic Au, Pt and Cu Catalysts Supported on

γ-Al₂O₃, CeO₂ and CeO₂-Al₂O₃. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *182*, 611-625.

- (964) Peng, S. P.; Li, W. H.; Deng, Y. Z.; Li, W. M.; Ma, X.; Chen, Y. F. Removal of Low Concentration CH₃SH with Regenerable Cu-Doped Mesoporous Silica. J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 2018, 513, 903-910.
- (965) Zhao, S. Z.; Yi, H. H.; Tang, X. L.; Kang, D. J.; Gao, F. Y.; Wang, J. G.; Huang, Y. H.; Yang, Z. Y. Removal of Volatile Odorous Organic Compounds over NiAl Mixed Oxides at Low Temperature. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2018, *344*, 797-810.
- (966) Laosiripojana, N.; Assabumrungrat, S. Conversion of Poisonous Methanethiol to Hydrogen-Rich Gas by Chemisorption/Reforming over Nano-Scale CeO₂: The Use of CeO₂ as Catalyst Coating Material. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2011**, *102*, 267-275.
- (967) He, D. D.; Hao, H. S.; Lu, D. K. J. C.; Zhong, L. P.; Chen, R.; Liu, P.; Wan, G. P.; He, S. F.; Luo, Y. M. Rapid Synthesis of Nano-Scale CeO₂ by Microwave-Assisted Sol-Gel Method and Its Application for CH₃SH Catalytic Decomposition. *J. Environ. Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *4*, 311-318.
- (968) He, D. D.; Wan, G. P.; Hao, H. S.; Chen, D. K.; Lu, J. C.; Zhang, L.; Liu, F.; Zhong, L. P.; He, S. F.; Luo, Y. M. Microwave-Assisted Rapid Synthesis of CeO₂ Nanoparticles and Its Desulfurization Processes for CH₃SH Catalytic Decomposition. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 289, 161-169.
- (969) He, D. D.; Chen, D. K.; Hao, H. S.; Yu, J.; Liu, J. P.; Lu, J. C.; Liu, F.; Wan, G. P.; He, S. F.; Luo, Y. M. Structural/Surface Characterization and Catalytic Evaluation of Rare-Earth (Y, Sm and La) Doped Ceria Composite Oxides for CH₃SH Catalytic Decomposition. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2016, *390*, 959-967.
- (970) He, D. D.; Hao, H. S.; Chen, D. K.; Liu, J. P.; Yu, J.; Lu, J. C.; Liu, F.; Wan, G. P.; He, S. F.; Luo, Y. M. Synthesis and Application of Rare-Earth Elements (Gd, Sm, and Nd) Doped Ceria-Based Solid Solutions for Methyl Mercaptan Catalytic Decomposition. *Catal. Today* 2017, 281, 559-565.
- (971) Huguet, E.; Coq, B.; Durand, R.; Leroi, C.; Cadours, R.; Hulea, V. A Highly Efficient Process for Transforming Methyl Mercaptan into Hydrocarbons and H₂S on Solid Acid Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2013**, *134-135*, 344-348.
- (972) Cammarano, C.; Huguet, E.; Cadours, R.; Leroi, C.; Coq, B.; Hulea, V. Selective Transformation of Methyl and Ethyl Mercaptans Mixture to Hydrocarbons and H₂S on Solid Acid Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2014**, *156-157*, 128-133.
- (973) Campbell, S. M.; Bibby, D. M.; Coddington, J. M.; Howe, R. F.; Meinhold, R. H. Dealumination of HZSM-5 Zeolites: I. Calcination and Hydrothermal Treatment. J. Catal. 1996, 161, 338-349.
- (974) Ryzhikov, A.; Hulea, V.; Tichit, D.; Leroi, C.; Anglerot, D.; Coq, B.; Trens, P. Methyl Mercaptan and Carbonyl Sulfide Traces Removal through Adsorption and Catalysis on Zeolites and Layered Double Hydroxides. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2011**, *397*, 218-224.
- (975) Darif, B.; Ojala, S.; Kärkkäinen, M.; Pronier, S.; Maunula, T.; Brahmi, R.; Keiski, R. Study on Sulfur Deactivation of Catalysts for DMDS Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2017**, *206*, 653-665.
- (976) Wang, C. H.; Weng, H. S. Al₂O₃-Supported Mixed-Metal Oxides for Destructive Oxidation of (CH₃)₂S₂. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **1997**, *36*, 2537-2542.
- (977) Wang, C. H.; Weng, H. S. Promoting Effect of Molybdenum on CuO/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalyst for the

Oxidative Decomposition of (CH₃) ₂S₂. Appl. Catal. A **1998**, 170, 73-80.

- (978) Wang, C. H.; Lee, C. N.; Weng, H. S. Effect of Acid Treatment on the Performance of the CuO-MoO₃/Al₂O₃ Catalyst for the Destructive Oxidation of (CH₃)₂S₂. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **1998**, *37*, 1774-1780.
- (979) Wang, C. -H.; Lin, S. -S.; Liou, S. -B.; Weng, H. -S. The Promoter Effect and a Rate Expression of the Catalytic Incineration of (CH₃)₂S₂ over an Improved CuO-MoO₃/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *Chemosphere* **2002**, *49*, 389-394.
- (980) Bond, G. C.; Thompson, D. T. Catalysis by Gold. Catal. Rev. Sci. Eng. 1999, 41, 319-388.
- (981) Kucherov, A. V.; Tkachenko, O. P.; Kirichenko, O. A.; Kapustin, G. I.; Mishin, I. V.; Klementiev, K. V.; Ojala, S.; Kustov, L. M.; Keiski, R. Nanogold-Containing Catalysts for Low-Temperature Removal of S-VOC from Air. *Top. Catal.* **2009**, *52*, 351-358.
- (982) Robinson, W. R. A. M.; van Veen, J. A. R.; de Beer, V. H. J.; van Santen, R. A. Development of Deep Hydrodesulfurization Catalysts: I. CoMo and NiMo Catalysts Tested with (Substituted) Dibenzothiophene. *Fuel Process. Technol.* **1999**, *61*, 89-101.
- (983) Leyva, C.; Mohan, S. R.; Ancheyta, J. Surface Characterization of Al₂O₃-SiO₂ Supported NiMo Catalysts: An Effect of Support Composition. *Catal. Today* **2008**, *130*, 345-353.
- (984) Darif, B.; Ojala, S.; Pirault-Roy, L.; Bensitel, M.; Brahmi, R.; Keiski, R. L. Study on the Catalytic Oxidation of DMDS over Pt-Cu Catalysts Supported on Al₂O₃, AlSi₂₀ and SiO₂. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *181*, 24-33.
- (985) Öhrman, O.; Hedlund J.; Sterte, J. Synthesis and Evaluation of ZSM-5 Films on Cordierite Monoliths. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2004**, *270*, 193-199.
- (986) Mo, S. P.; Zhang, Q.; Li, S. D.; Ren, Q. M.; Zhang, M. Y.; Xue, Y. D.; Peng, R. S.; Xiao, H. L.; Chen, Y. F.; Ye, D. Q. Integrated Cobalt Oxide Based Nanoarray Catalysts with Hierarchical Architectures: In Situ Raman Spectroscopy Investigation on the Carbon Monoxide Reaction Mechanism. *ChemCatChem* **2018**, *10*, 3012-3026.
- (987) Li, Y.; Li, Y.; Yu, Q.; Yu, L. The Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Pd-Based FeCrAl Wire Mesh Monolithic Catalysts Prepared by Electroless Plating Method. *Catal. Commun.* 2012, 29, 127-131.
- (988) Mo, S. P.; Li, S. D.; Xiao H. L.; He, H.; Xue, Y. D.; Zhang, M. Y.; Ren, Q. M.; Chen, B. X.; Chen, Y. F.; Ye, D. Q. Low-Temperature CO Oxidation over Integrated Penthorum Chinense-Like MnCo₂O₄ Arrays Anchored on Three-Dimensional Ni Foam with Enhanced Moisture Resistance. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *8*, 1663-1676.
- (989) Ribeiro, F.; Silva, J. M.; Silva, E.; Vazc, M. F.; Oliveirad F. A. C. Catalytic Combustion of Toluene on Pt Zeolite Coated Cordierite Foams. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *176*, 93-96.
- (990) Mo, S. P.; Li, S. D.; Ren, Q. M.; Zhang, M. Y.; Sun, Y. H.; Wang, B. F.; Feng, Z. T.; Zhang, Q.; Chen, Y. F.; Ye, D. Q. Vertically-Aligned Co₃O₄ Arrays on Ni Foam as Monolithic Structured Catalysts for CO Oxidation: Effects of Morphological Transformation. *Nanoscale* 2018, 10, 7746-7758.
- (991) Cuo, Z. X.; Deng, Y. Z.; Li, W. H.; Peng, S. P.; Zhao, F.; Liu, H. D.; Chen, Y. F. Monolithic Mn/Ce-Based Catalyst of Fibrous Ceramic Membrane for Complete Oxidation of Benzene. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2018, 456, 594-601.
- (992) Avila, P.; Montes, M.; Miro, E. E. Monolithic Reactors for Environmental Applications: A Review on PreparationTechnologies. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2005**, *109*, 11-36.
- (993) Luo, M. F.; He, M.; Xie, Y. L.; Fang, P.; Jin, L. Y. Toluene Oxidation on Pd Catalysts

Supported by CeO₂-Y₂O₃ Washcoated Cordierite Honeycomb. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2007**, *69*, 213-218.

- (994) Sanz, O.; Banús, E. D.; Goya, A.; Larumbe, H.; Delgado, J. J.; Monzón, A.; Montes, M. Stacked Wire Mesh Monoliths for VOCs Combustion: Effect of the Mesh-Opening in the Catalytic Performance. *Catal. Today* **2017**, 296, 76-83.
- (995) Banús, E. D.; Sanz, O.; Milt, V. G.; Miró, E. E.; Montes, M. Development of a Stacked Wire Mesh Structure for Diesel Soot Combustion. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2014**, *246*, 353-365.
- (996) Zagoruiko, A. N.; Lopatin, S. A.; Mikenin, P. E.; Pisarev, D. A.; Zazhigalov, S. V.; Baranov, D. V. Novel Structured Catalytic Systems—Cartridges on the Base of Fibrous Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif.* 2017, 122, 460-472.
- (997) Godoy, M. L.; Banús, E. D.; Sanz, O.; Montes, M.; Miró, E.; Milt, V. G. Stacked Wire Mesh Monoliths for the Simultaneous Abatement of VOCs and Diesel Soot. *Catalysts* **2018**, *8*, 16.
- (998) Kołodziej, A.; Łojewska J.; Tyczkowski, J.; Jodłowski, P.; Redzynia, W.; Iwaniszyn, M.; Zapotoczny, S.; Kuśtrowski, P. Coupled Engineering and Chemical Approach to the Design of a Catalytic Structured Reactor for Combustion of VOCs: Cobalt Oxide Catalyst on Knitted Wire Gauzes. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2012, 200-202, 329-337.
- (999) Heck, R. M.; Gulati, S.; Farrauto, R. J. The Application of Monoliths for Gas Phase Catalytic Reactions. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2001**, *82*, 149-156.
- (1000) Sanz, O.; Echave, F. J.; Sánchez, M.; Monzón, A.; Momtes, M. Aluminium Foams As Structured Supports for Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2008, 340, 125-132.
- (1001) Twigg, M. V.; Richardson, J. T. Fundamentals and Applications of Structured Ceramic Foam Catalysts. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2007**, *46*, 4166-4177.
- (1002) Silva, E. R.; Silva, J. M.; Vaz, M. F.; Oliveira, F. A. C.; Ribeiro, M. F. Cationic Polymer Surface Treatment for Zeolite Washcoating Deposited over Cordierite Foam. *Mater. Lett.* 2009, 63, 572-574.
- (1003) Zhang, Q.; Mo, S. P.; Chen, B. X.; Zhang, W. X.; Huang, C. L.; Ye, D. Q. Hierarchical Co₃O₄ Nanostructures in-Situ Grown on 3D Nickel Foam towards Toluene Oxidation. *Mol. Catal.* 2018, 454, 12-20.
- (1004) Wang, L.; Zhang, H. P.; Ya, Y.; Zhang, X. Y. Total Oxidation of Isopropanol over Manganese Oxide Modified ZSM-5 Zeolite Membrane Catalysts. *RSC Adv.* 2015, 5, 29482-29490.
- (1005) Chen, H. H.; Zhang, H. P.; Yan, Y. Fabrication of Porous Copper/Manganese Binary Oxides Modified ZSM-5 Membrane Catalyst and Potential Application in the Removal of VOCs. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2014, 254, 133-142.
- (1006) Huang, Y. C.; Ye, K. H.; Li, H. B.; Fan, W. J.; Zhao, F. Y.; Zhang, Y. M.; Ji, H. B. A Highly Durable Catalyst Based on Co_xMn_{3-x}O₄ Nanosheets for Low-Temperature Formaldehyde Oxidation. *Nano Res.* **2016**, *9*, 3881-3892.
- (1007) Durán, F. G.; Barbero, B. P.; Cadús, L. E. Catalytic Combustion of Ethyl Acetate over Manganese Oxides Deposited on Metallic Monoliths. *Chem. Eng. Technol.* 2014, 37, 310-316.
- (1008) Aguero, F. N.; Barbero, B. P.; Sanz, O.; Lozano, F. J. E.; Montes, M.; Cadús, L. E. Influence of the Support on MnO_x Metallic Monoliths for the Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2010**, *49*, 1663-1668.

- (1009) Gascon, J.; van Ommen, J. R.; Moulijn, J. A.; Kapteijn, F. Structuring Catalyst and Reactor An Inviting Avenue to Process Intensification. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *5*, 807-817.
- (1010) Zhou, Y.; Fukushima, M.; Miyazaki, H.; Yoshizawa, Y.-I.; Hirao, K.; Iwamoto, Y.; Sato, K. Preparation and Characterization of Tubular Porous Silicon Carbide Membrane Supports. J. Membr. Sci. 2011, 369, 112-118.
- (1011) Huang, Q.; Zhang, Z.-Y.; Ma, W.-J.; Chen, Y.-W.; Zhu, S.-M.; Shen, S.-B. A Novel Catalyst of Ni-Mn Complex Oxides Supported on Cordierite for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene at Low Temperature. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 2012, 18, 757-762.
- (1012) Azalim, S.; Brahmi, R.; Agunaou, M.; Beaurain, A.; Giraudon, J. M.; Lamonier, J. F. Washcoating of Cordierite Honeycomb with Ce-Zr-Mn Mixed Oxides for VOC Catalytic Oxidation. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2013, 223, 536-546.
- (1013) Morales-Torres, S.; Pérez-Cadenas, A. F.; Kapteijn, F.; Carrasco-Marín, F.; Maldonado-Hódar, F. J.; Moulijn, J. A. Palladium and Platinum Catalysts Supported on Carbon Nanofiber Coated Monoliths for Low-Temperature Combustion of BTX. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, 89, 411-419.
- (1014) Nijhuis, T. A.; Beers, A. E. W.; Vergunst, T.; Hoek, I.; Kapteijn F.; Moulijn, J. A. Preparation of monolithic catalysts. *Catal. Rev.* **2001**, *43*, 345-380.
- (1015) Crezee, E.; Barendregt, A.; Kapteijn, F.; Moulijn, J. A. Carbon Coated Monolithic Catalysts in the Selective Oxidation of Cyclohexanone. *Catal Today* **2001**, *69*, 283-290.
- (1016) Pérez-Cadenas, A. F.; Morales-Torres, S.; Kapteijn, F.; Maldonado-Hódar, F. J.; Carrasco-Marín, F.; Moreno-Castilla, C.; Moulijn, J. A. Carbon-Based Monolithic Supports for Palladium Catalysts: The Role of the Porosity in the Gas-Phase Total Combustion of *m*-Xylene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2008**, 77, 272-277.
- (1017) Topka, P.; Klementová, M. Total Oxidation of Ethanol over Au/Ce_{0.5}Zr_{0.5}O₂ Cordierite Monolithic Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2016**, *522*, 130-137.
- (1018) Chen, X.; Zhao, Z. L.; Zhou, Y.; Zhu, Q. L.; Pan, Z. Y.; Lu, H. F. A Facile Route for Spraying Preparation of Pt/TiO₂ Monolithic Catalysts toward VOCs Combustion. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2018**, *566*, 190-199.
- (1019) Kolaczkowski, S. T.; Serbetcioglu, S. Development of Combustion Catalysts for Monolith Reactors: A Consideration of Transport Limitations. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **1996**, *138*, 199-214.
- (1020) Hayes, R. E.; Liu, B.; Moxom, R.; Votsmeier, M. The Effect of Washcoat Geometry on Mass Transfer in Monolith Reactors. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2004**, *59*, 3169-3181.
- (1021) Hayes, R. E.; Kolaczkowski, S. T.; Introduction to Catalytic Combustion, First ed. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Netherlands, **1997**.
- (1022) Hayes, R. E.; Kolaczkowski, S. T.; Thomas, W. J. Finite-Element Model for a Catalytic Monolith Reactor, *Comp. Chem. Eng.* **1992**, *16*, 645-657.
- (1023) Tomašić, V.; Gomzi, Z.; Zrnčević S. Reaction and Mass Transfers in a Catalytic Monolith Reactor. *React. Kinet. Catal. Lett.* **2002**, 77, 245-253.
- (1024) Rodríguez, M. L.; Cadús, L. E. Mass Transfer Limitations in a Monolithic Reactor for the Catalytic Oxidation of Ethanol. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2006**, *143*, 305-313.
- (1025) Papadias, D.; Edsberg, L.; Björnbom, P. Simplified Method of Effectiveness Factor Calculations for Irregular Geometries of Washcoats. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2000**, *55*, 1447-1459.
- (1026) Rodríguez, M. L.; Cadús, L. E.; Borio D. O. Monolithic Reactor for VOCs Abatement: Influence of Non-Uniformity in the Coating. *J. Environ. Chem. Eng.* **2017**, *5*, 292-302.

- (1027) Klenov, O.P.; Pokrovskaya S. A.; Chumakova, N. A.; Pavlova, S. N.; Sadykov, V. A.; Noskov A. S. Effect of Mass Transfer on the Reaction Rate in a Monolithic Catalyst with Porous Walls. *Catal. Today* **2009**, *144*, 258-264.
- (1028) Papaefthimiou, P.; Ioannides, T.; Verykios, X. E. Combustion of Non-Halogenated Volatile Organic Compounds over Group VIII Metal Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 1997, 13, 175-184.
- (1029) Mrad, R.; Cousin, R.; Saliba, N. A.; Tidahy, L.; Siffert, S. Degradation of VOCs and NOx over Mg(Cu)-AlFe Mixed Oxides Derived from Hydrotalcite-Like Compounds. *C.R. Chim.*, **2015** *18*, 351-357.
- (1030) Beauchet, R.; Mijoin, J.; Batonneau-Gener, I.; Magnoux, P. Catalytic Oxidation of VOCs on NaX Zeolite: Mixture Effect with Isopropanol and *o*-xylene. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2010, 100, 91-96.
- (1031) de Rivas, B.; López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, M. A.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I. Role of Water and Other H-Rich Additives in the Catalytic Combustion of 1,2-Dichloroethane and Trichloroethylene. *Chemosphere* 2009, 75, 1356-1362.
- (1032) Marécot, P.; Fakche, A.; Kellali, B.; Mabilon, G.; Prigent, P.; Barbier, J. Propane and Propene Oxidation over Platinum and Palladium on Alumina: Effects of Chloride and Water. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1994**, *3*, 283-294.
- (1033) Papaefthimiou, P.; Ioannides, T.; Verykios, X. E. Performance of Doped Pt/TiO₂ (W⁶⁺) Catalysts for Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs). *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 1998, *15*, 75-92.
- (1034) Soares, O. S. G. P.; Órfão, J. J. M.; Figueiredo, J. L.; Pereira, M. F. R. Oxidation of Mixtures of Ethyl Acetate and Butyl Acetate over Cryptomelane and the Effect of Water Vapor. *Environ. Prog. Sustain. Energy* **2016**, *35*, 1324-1329.
- (1035) Liu, X. L.; Zeng, J. L.; Shi, W. B.; Wang, J.; Zhu, T. Y.; Chen, Y. F. Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene over Ruthenium-Cobalt Bimetallic Catalysts and Study of Its Mechanism. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* 2017, 7, 213-221.
- (1036) Pan, H. Y.; Xu, M. Y.; Li, Z.; Huang, S. S.; He, C. Catalytic Combustion of Styrene over Copper Based Catalyst: Inhibitory Effect of Water Vapor. *Chemosphere* **2009**, *76*, 721-726.
- (1037) Li, X.; Wang, L. J.; Xia, Q. B.; Liu, Z. M.; Li, Z. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Copper and Manganese Based Catalysts: Effect of Water Vapor. *Catal. Commun.* **2011**, *14*, 15-19.
- (1038) Saqer, S. M.; Kondarides, D. I.; Verykios, X. E. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over Binary Mixtures of Copper, Manganese and Cerium Oxides Supported on γ-Al₂O₃. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2011, 103, 275-286.
- (1039) Hu, F. Y.; Chen, J. J.; Peng, Y.; Song, H.; Li, K. Z., Li, J. H. Novel Nanowire Self-Assembled Hierarchical CeO₂ Microspheres for Low Temperature Toluene Catalytic Combustion. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *331*, 425-434.
- (1040) Bertinchamps, F.; Attianese, A.; Mestdagh, M. M.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Catalysts for Chlorinated VOCs Abatement: Multiple Effects of Water on the Activity of VOx Based Catalysts for the Combustion of Chlorobenzene. *Catal. Today* 2006, *112*, 165-168.
- (1041) Dai, Q. G.; Yin, L.-L.; Bai, S. X.; Wang, W.; Wang, X. Y.; Gong, X.-Q. Catalytic Total Oxidation of 1,2-Dichloroethane over VO_x/CeO₂ Catalysts: Further Insights *via* Isotopic Tracer Techniques. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *182*, 598-610.
- (1042) Kullavanijayam, E.; Trimm, D. L.; Cant, N. W. Adsocat: Adsorption/Catalytic Combustion

for VOC and Odour Control. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 2000, 130, 569-574.

- (1043) Wang, J. L.; Zhang, P. Y.; Li, J.; Jiang, C. J.; Yunus, R.; Kim, J. Room-Temperature Oxidation of Formaldehyde by Layered Manganese Oxide: Effect of Water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2015, 49, 12372-12379.
- (1044) Huang, H. B.; Ye, X. G.; Huang, H. L.; Zhang, L.; Leung, D. Y. C. Mechanistic Study on Formaldehyde Removal over Pd/TiO₂ Catalysts: Oxygen Transfer and Role of Water Vapor. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2013, 230, 73-79.
- (1045) Zhang, Q.; Luan, H. J.; Li, T.; Wu, Y. Q.; Ni, Y. H. Study on Pt-Structured Anodic Alumina Catalysts for Catalytic Combustion of Toluene: Effects of Competitive Adsorbents and Competitive Impregnation Methods. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 2016, *360*, 1066-1074.
- (1046) Aranzabal, A.; Romero-Sáez, M.; Elizundia, U.; González-Velasco, J. R.; González-Marcos, J. A. Deactivation of H-Zeolites during Catalytic Oxidation of Trichloroethylene. J. Catal. 2012, 296, 165-174.
- (1047) Abdullah, A. Z.; Abu Bakar, M. Z.; Bhatia, S. Combustion of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) Using Bimetallic Chromium-Copper Supported on Modified H-ZSM-5 Catalyst. J. Hazard. Mater. 2006, 129, 39-49.
- (1048) López-Fonseca, R.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, J. I.; Gutiérrez-Ortiz, M. A.; González-Velasco, J. R. Catalytic Oxidation of Aliphatic Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds over Pt/H-BETA Zeolite Catalyst under Dry and Humid Conditions. *Catal. Today* **2005**, *107-108*, 200-207.
- (1049) Aghbolaghy, M.; Soltan, J.; Chen, N. Low Temperature Catalytic Oxidation of Binary Mixture of Toluene and Acetone in the Presence of Ozone. *Catal. Lett.* 2018, 148, 3431-3444.
- (1050) Oyama, S. T. Chemical and Catalytic Properties of Ozone. *Catal. Rev. Sci. Eng.* 2000, 42, 279-322.
- (1051) Beltran, F. J.; Rivas, F. J.; Fernandez, L. A.; Alvarez, P. M.; Montero-de-Espinosa, R. Kinetics of Catalytic Ozonation of Oxalic Acid in Water with Activated Carbon. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2002, 41, 6510-6517.
- (1052) Sano, T.; Negishi, N.; Sakai, E.; Matsuzawa, S. Contributions of Photocatalytic/Catalytic Activities of TiO₂ and γ-Al₂O₃ in Nonthermal Plasma on Oxidation of Acetaldehyde and CO. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2006**, 245, 235-241.
- (1053) Einaga, H.; Futamura, S. Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene with Ozone over Mn Ion-Exchanged Zeolites. *Catal. Commun.* **2007**, *8*, 557-560.
- (1054) Rezaei, E.; Soltan, J. Low Temperature Oxidation of Toluene by Ozone over MnO_x/γ-alumina and MnO_x/MCM-41 Catalysts. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2012**, *198-199*, 482-490.
- (1055) Einaga, H.; Yamamoto, S.; Maeda, N.; Teraoka, Y. Structural Analysis of Manganese Oxides Supported on SiO₂ for Benzene Oxidation with Ozone. *Catal. Today* **2015**, *242*, 287-293.
- (1056) Einaga, H.; Ogata, A. Benzene Oxidation with Ozone over Supported Manganese Oxide Catalysts: Effect of Catalyst Support and Reaction Conditions. J. Hazard. Mater. 2009, 164, 1236-1241.
- (1057) Rezaei, E.; Soltan, J.; Chen, N. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene by Ozone over Alumina Supported Manganese Oxides: Effect of Catalyst Loading. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 136-137, 239-247.
- (1058) Rezaei, E.; Soltan, J.; Chen, N.; Lin, J. R. Effect of Noble Metals on Activity of MnO_x/γ-Alumina Catalyst in Catalytic Ozonation of Toluene. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2013, 214,

219-228.

- (1059) Teramoto, Y.; Kosuge, K.; Sugasawa, M.; Kim, H. -H.; Ogata, A.; Negishi, N. Zirconium/Cerium Oxide Solid Solutions with Addition of SiO₂ as Ozone-Assisted Catalysts for Toluene Oxidation. *Catal. Commun.* **2015**, *61*, 112-116.
- (1060) Wang, H. C.; Liang, H. S.; Chang, M. B. Ozone-Enhanced Catalytic Oxidation of Monochlorobenzene over Iron Oxide Catalysts. *Chemosphere* **2011**, *82*, 1090-1095.
- (1061) Jin, D. D.; Ren, Z. Y.; Ma, Z. X.; Liu, F.; Yang, H. S. Low Temperature Chlorobenzene Catalytic Oxidation over MnO_x/CNTs with the Assistance of Ozone. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 15103-15109.
- (1062) Yuan, M.-H.; Chang, C.-C.; Chang, C.-Y.; Liao, W.-C.; Tu, W.-K.; Tseng, J.-Y.; Ji, D.-R.; Shie, J.-L.; Chen, Y.-H. Ozone-Catalytic Oxidation for Gaseous 1,2-Dichloroethane in Air over Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng.* **2015**, *53*, 52-57.
- (1063) Sahle-Demessie, E.; Devulapelli, V. G. Vapor Phase Oxidation of Dimethyl Sulfide with Ozone over V₂O₅/TiO₂ Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2008**, *84*, 408-419.
- (1064) Hwang, C. -L.; Tai, N. -H. Vapor Phase Oxidation of Dimethyl Sulfide with Ozone over Ion-Exchanged Zeolites. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2011**, *393*, 251-256.
- (1065) Yuan, M.-H.; Chang, C.-Y.; Shie, J.-L.; Chang, C.-C.; Chen, J.-H.; Tsai, W.-T. Destruction of Naphthalene via Ozone-Catalytic Oxidation Process over Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. J. Hazard. Mater. 2010, 175, 809-815.
- (1066) Einaga, H.; Maeda, N.; Nagai, Y. Comparison of Catalytic Properties of Supported Metal Oxides for Benzene Oxidation Using Ozone. *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **2015**, *5*, 3147-3158.
- (1067) Huang, H. B.; Huang, W. J.; Xu, Y.; Ye, X. G.; Wu, M. Y.; Shao, Q. M.; Ou, G. C.; Peng, Z. R.; Shi, J. X.; Chen, J. D.; *et al.* Catalytic Oxidation of Gaseous Benzene with Ozone over Zeolite-Supported Metal Oxide Nanoparticles at Room Temperature. *Catal. Today* 2015, 258, 627-633.
- (1068) Huang, H. B.; Ye, X. G.; Huang, W. J.; Chen, J. D.; Xu, Y.; Wu, M. Y.; Shao, Q. M.; Peng, Z. R.; Ou, G. C.; Shi, J. X.; *et al.* Ozone-Catalytic Oxidation of Gaseous Benzene over MnO2/ZSM-5 at Ambient Temperature: Catalytic Deactivation and Its Suppression. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2015, 264, 24-31.
- (1069) Jin, M. S.; Kim, J. H.; Kim, J. M.; Jeon, J.-K.; Jurng, J.; Bae, G.-N.; Park, Y.-K. Benzene Oxidation with Ozone over MnO_x/SBA-15 Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **2013**, *204*, 108-113.
- (1070) Einaga, H.; Teraoka, Y.; Ogat, A. Benzene Oxidation with Ozone over Manganese Oxide Supported on Zeolite Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **2011**, *164*, 571-574.
- (1071) Dhandapani, B.; Oyama, S. T. Gas Phase Ozone Decomposition Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1997**, *11*, 129-166.
- (1072) Radhakrishnan, R.; Oyama, S. T.; Chen, J. G.; Asakura, K. Electron Transfer Effects in Ozone Decomposition on Supported Manganese Oxide. J. Phys. Chem. B 2001, 105, 4245-4253.
- (1073) Einaga, H.; Maeda, N.; Yamamoto, S.; Teraoka, Y. Catalytic Properties of Copper-Manganese Mixed Oxides Supported on SiO₂ for Benzene Oxidation with Ozone. *Catal. Today* 2015, 245, 22-27.
- (1074) Long, R. Q.; Yang, R. T. Carbon Nanotubes as Superior Sorbent for Dioxin Removal. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2058-2059.
- (1075) Wang, Q. L.; Huang, Q. X.; Wu, H. F.; Lu, S. Y.; Wu, H. L.; Li, X. D.; Yan, J. H. Catalytic

Decomposition of Gaseous 1,2-Dichlorobenzene over CuO_x/TiO_2 and CuO_x/TiO_2 -CNTs Catalysts: Mechanism and PCDD/Fs Formation. *Chemosphere* **2016**, *144*, 2343-2350.

- (1076) Chen, R.; Jin, D. D.; Yang, H. S.; Ma, Z. X.; Liu, F.; Zhang, X. B. Ozone Promotion of Monochlorobenzene Catalytic Oxidation Over Carbon Nanotubes-Supported Copper Oxide at High Temperature. *Catal. Lett.* **2013**, *143*, 1207-1213.
- (1077) Bertinchamps, F.; Treinen, M.; Eloy, P.; Dos Santos, A. -M.; Mestdagh, M. M.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Understanding the Activation Mechanism Induced by NO_x on the Performances of VO_x/TiO₂ Based Catalysts in the Total Oxidation of Chlorinated VOCs. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2007, *70*, 360-369.
- (1078) Bertinchamps, F.; Treinen, M.; Blangenois, N.; Mariage, E.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Positive Effect of NO_x on the Performances of VO_x/TiO₂-Based Catalysts in the Total Oxidation Abatement of Chlorobenzene. J. Catal. 2005, 230, 493-498.
- (1079) Xiao, C.-X.; Yan, N.; Zou, M.; Hou, S.-C.; Kou, Y.; Liu, W. J.; Zhang, S. W. NO₂-Catalyzed Deep Oxidation of Methanol: Experimental and Theoretical Studies. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* 2006, 252, 202-211.
- (1080) Motak, M.; Kuterasiński, Ł.; Da Costa, P.; Samojeden, B. Catalytic Activity of Layered Aluminosilicates for VOC Oxidation in the Presence of NO_x. *C.R. Chim.* **2015**, *18*, 1106-1113.
- (1081) Musialik-Piotrowska, A.; Syczewska, K. Catalytic Oxidation of Trichloroethylene in Two-Component Mixtures with Selected Volatile Organic Compounds. *Catal. Today* 2002, 73, 333-342.
- (1082) Burgos, N.; Paulis, M. A.; Antxustegi, M. M.; Montes, M. Deep Oxidation of VOC Mixtures with Platinum Supported on Al₂O₃/Al Monoliths. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2002, *38*, 251-258.
- (1083) Banu, I.; Manta, C. M.; Bercaru, G.; Bozga, G. Combustion Kinetics of Cyclooctane and Its Binary Mixture with *o*-xylene over a Pt/γ-alumina Catalyst. *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* 2015, *102*, 399-406.
- (1084) Aguero, F. N.; Barbero, B. P.; Gambaro, L.; Cadús, L. E. Catalytic Combustion of Volatile Organic Compounds in Binary Mixtures over MnO_x/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2009, *91*, 108-112.
- (1085) Dangi, S.; Abraham, M. A. Kinetics and Modeling of Mixture Effects during Complete Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene and Methyl Tert-Butyl Ether. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 1997, 36, 1979-1988.
- (1086) Ordóñez, S.; Bello, L.; Sastre, H.; Rosal, R.; Díez, F. V. Kinetics of the Deep Oxidation of Benzene, Toluene, *n*-Hexane and Their Binary Mixtures over a Platinum on γ-Alumina Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2002**, *38*, 139-149.
- (1087) He, C.; Li, P.; Cheng, J.; Hao, Z.-P.; Xu, Z.-P. A Comprehensive Study of Deep Catalytic Oxidation of Benzene, Toluene, Ethyl Acetate, and Their Mixtures over Pd/ZSM-5 Catalyst: Mutual Effects and Kinetics. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* **2010**, 209, 365-376.
- (1088) van den Brink, R. W.; Louw, R.; Mulder, P. Increased Combustion Rate of Chlorobenzene on Pt/γ-Al₂O₃ in Binary Mixtures with Hydrocarbons and with Carbon Monoxide. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2000, 25, 229-237.
- (1089) Musialik-Piotrowska, A. Destruction of Trichloroethylene (TCE) and Trichloromethane (TCM) in the Presence of Selected VOCs over Pt-Pd-Based Catalyst. *Catal. Today* **2007**, *119*,

301-304.

- (1090) Musialik-Piotrowska, A.; Mendyka, B. Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons in Two-Component Mixtures with Selected VOCs. *Catal. Today* **2004**, *90*, 139-144.
- (1091) van den Brink, R.W.; Mulder ,P.; Louw, R. Catalytic Combustion of Chlorobenzene on Pt/γ-Al₂O₃ in the Presence of Aliphatic Hydrocarbons. *Catal. Today* **1999**, *54*, 101-106.
- (1092) de Jong, V.; Cieplik, M. K.; Reints, W. A.; Fernandez-Reino, F.; Louw, R. A Mechanistic Study on the Catalytic Combustion of Benzene and Chlorobenzene. J. Catal. 2002, 211, 355-365.
- (1093) Taralunga, M.; Innocent, B.; Mijoin, J.; Magnoux, P. Catalytic Combustion of Benzofuran and of a Benzofuran/1,2-Dichlorobenzene Binary Mixture over Zeolite Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2007, 75, 139-146.
- (1094) Bartholomew, C. H. Mechanisms of Catalyst Deactivation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2001, 212, 17-60.
- (1095) Huang, W. -C.; Chu, H. Catalytic Incineration of Acrylonitrile with Platinum Supported on Al₂O₃. *J. Environ. Eng.* **2006**, *132*, 1482-1488.
- (1096) Nie, L.; Zhou, P.; Yu, J. G.; Jaroniec, M. Deactivation and Regeneration of Pt/TiO₂ Nanosheet-Type Catalysts with Exposed (001) Facets for Room Temperature Oxidation of Formaldehyde. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2014, 390, 7-13.
- (1097) Windawi, H.; Zhang, Z. C. Catalytic Destruction of Halogenated Air Toxins and the Effect of Admixture with VOCs. *Catal. Today* **1996**, *30*, 99-105.
- (1098) Tsou, J.; Pinard, L.; Magnoux, P.; Figueiredo, J. L.; Guisnet, M. Catalytic Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs): Oxidation of *o*-xylene over Pt/HBEA Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2003, 46, 371-379.
- (1099) Aranzabal, A.; González-Marcos, J. A.; Romero-Sáez, M.; González-Velasco, J. R.; Guillemot, M.; Magnoux, P. Stability of Protonic Zeolites in the Catalytic Oxidation of Chlorinated VOCs (1, 2-Dichloroethane). *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2009**, 88, 533-541.
- (1100) Ihm, S.-K.; Jun, Y.-D.; Kim, D.-C.; Jeong, K.-E. Low-Temperature Deactivation and Oxidation State of Pd/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalysts for Total Oxidation of *n*-Hexane. *Catal. Today* 2004, 93, 149-154.
- (1101) Antunes, A. P.; Ribeiro, M. F.; Silva, J. M.; Ribeiro, F. R.; Magnoux, P.; Guisnet, M. Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene over CuNaHY Zeolites: Coke Formation and Removal. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2001, *33*, 149-164.
- (1102) Caeiro, G.; Lopes, J. M.; Magnoux, P.; Ayrault, P.; Ribeiro, F. R. A FT-IR Study of Deactivation Phenomena during Methylcyclohexane Transformation on H-USY Zeolites: Nitrogen Poisoning, Coke Formation, and Acidity-Activity Correlations. J. Catal. 2007, 249, 234-243.
- (1103) Guillemot, M.; Mijoin, J.; Mignard, S.; Magnoux, P. Mode of Zeolite Catalysts Deactivation during Chlorinated VOCs Oxidation. *Appl Catal A: Gen.* **2007**, *327*, 211-217.
- (1104) Yu, T. -C.; Shaw, H. The Effect of Sulfur Poisoning on Methane Oxidation over Palladium Supported on γ-Alumina Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B* **1998**, *18*, 105-114.
- (1105) Chu, H.; Lee, W. T.; Horng, K. H.; Tseng, T. K. The Catalytic Incineration of (CH₃)₂S and Its Mixture with CH₃SH over a Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *J. Hazard. Mater. B* **2001**, *82*, 43-53.
- (1106) Chu, H.; Chiou, Y.-Y.; Horng, K.-H.; Tseng, T.-K. Catalytic Incineration of C₂H₅SH and Its Mixture with CH₃SH over a Pt/Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *J. Environ. Eng.* **2001**, *127*, 438-442.

- (1107) Ammendola, P.; Chirone, R.; Ruoppolo, G.; Russo, G. Regeneration of Spent Catalysts in Oxy-Combustion Atmosphere. *Exp. Therm. Fluid Sci.* **2010**, *34*, 262-268.
- (1108) Hutchings, G.J.; Hunter, R.; Van Rensburg, L.J. Methanol and Dimethyl Ether Conversion to Hydrocarbons Using Tungsten Trioxide/Alumina as Catalyst. A Study of Catalyst Reactivation: A Study of Catalyst Reactivation. *Appl. Catal.* **1988**, *41*, 253-259.
- (1109) Kim, S. C.; Shim, W. G. Influence of Physicochemical Treatments on Iron-Based Spent Catalyst for Catalytic Oxidation of Toluene. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2008**, *154*, 310-316.
- (1110) Han, S. W.; Jeong, M. -G.; Kim, I. H.; Seo, H. O.; Kim, Y. D. Use of NiO/SiO₂ Catalysts for Toluene Total Oxidation: Catalytic Reaction at Lower Temperatures and Repeated Regeneration. *Chin. J. Catal.* **2016**, *37*, 1931-1940.
- (1111) Keav, S.; Martin, A.; Barbier Jr, J.; Duprez, D. Deactivation and Reactivation of Noble Metal Catalysts Tested in the Catalytic Wet Air Oxidation of Phenol. *Catal. Today* 2010, 151, 143-147.
- (1112) Monneyron, P.; Mathe, S.; Manero, M. H.; Foussard, J. N. Regeneration of High Silica Zeolites via Advanced Oxidation Processes—A Preliminary Study about Adsorbent Reactivity toward Ozone. Chem. Eng. Res. Des. 2003, 81, 1193-1198.
- (1113) Copperthwaite, R. G.; Hutchings, G. J.; Johnston, P.; Orchard, S. W. Regeneration of Pentasil Zeolite Catalysts Using Ozone and Oxygen. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1986, 82, 1007-1017.
- (1114) Khangkham, S.; Julcour-Lebigue, C.; Damronglerd, S.; Ngamcharussrivichai, C.; Manero, M. -H.; Delmas, H. Regeneration of Coked Zeolite from PMMA Cracking Process by Ozonation. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2013, 140-141, 396-405.
- (1115) Du, C. C.; Lu, S. Y.; Wang, Q. L.; Buekens, A. G.; Ni, M. J.; Debecker, D. P. A Review on Catalytic Oxidation of Chloroaromatics from Flue Gas. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2018**, *334*, 519-544.
- (1116) Cabello Galisteo, F.; Mariscal, R.; López Granados, M.; Fierro, J. L. G.; Daley, R. A.; Anderson, J. A. Reactivation of Sintered Pt/Al₂O₃ Oxidation Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2005, 59, 227-233.
- (1117) Lieske, H.; Lietz, G.; Spindler, H.; Volter, J. Reactions of Platinum in Oxygen-and Hydrogen-Treated Pt/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalysts: I. Temperature-Programmed Reduction, Adsorption, and Redispersion of Platinum. J. Catal. **1983**, 81, 8-16.
- (1118) Gallastegi-Villa, M.; Aranzabal, A.; Romero-Sáez, M.; González-Marcos, J. A.; González-Velasco, J. R. Catalytic Activity of Regenerated Catalyst after the Oxidation of 1, 2-Dichloroethane and Trichloroethylene. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2014, 241, 200-206.
- (1119) Gallastegi-Villa, M.; Romero-Sáez, M.; Aranzabal, A.; González-Marcos, J. A.; González-Velasco, J. R. Strategies to Enhance the Stability of H-Bea Zeolite in the Catalytic Oxidation of Cl-VOCs: 1,2-Dichloroethane. *Catal. Today* **2013**, *213*, 192-197.
- (1120) Chen, H. H.; Yan, Y.; Shao, Y.; Zhang, H. P. Catalytic Activity and Stability of Porous Co-Cu-Mn Mixed Oxide Modified Microfibrous-Structured ZSM-5 Membrane/PSSF Catalyst for VOCs Oxidation. *RSC Adv.* 2014, *4*, 55202-55209.
- (1121) Wu, J. C. -S.; Lin, Z. -A.; Pan, J. -W.; Rei, M. -H. A Novel Boron Nitride Supported Pt Catalyst for VOC Incineration. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2001**, *219*, 117-124.
- (1122) Huang, Q. Q.; Xue, X. M.; Zhou, R. X. Catalytic Behavior and Durability of CeO2 or/and CuO Modified USY Zeolite Catalysts for Decomposition of Chlorinated Volatile Organic Compounds. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2011, 344, 74-82.

- (1123) Hosseini, M.; Barakat, T.; Cousin, R.; Aboukaïs, A.; Su, B.-L.; De Weireld, G.; Siffert, S. Catalytic Performance of Core-Shell and Alloy Pd-Au Nanoparticles for Total Oxidation of VOC: The Effect of Metal Deposition. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2012, *111-112*, 218-224.
- (1124) Tseng, T. K.; Chu, H. The Kinetics of Catalytic Incineration of Styrene over a MnO/Fe₂O₃ Catalyst. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2001**, *275*, 83-93.
- (1125) Banu, I.; Bercaru, G.; Bozga, G.; Danciu, T. D. Kinetic Study of Methyl Isobutyl Ketone Combustion over a Commercial Pt/Alumina Catalyst. *Chem. Eng. Technol.* 2016, 39, 758-766.
- (1126) Tseng, T.-K.; Chu, H.; Ko, T.-H.; Chaung, L.-K. The Kinetic of the Catalytic Decomposition of Methyl Isobutyl Ketone over a Pt/γ-Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *Chemosphere* **2005**, *61*, 469-477.
- (1127) Heynderickx, M. P.; Thybaut, J. W.; Poelman, H.; Poelman, D.; Marin, G. B. Kinetic Modeling of the Total Oxidation of Propane over CuO-CeO₂/γ-Al₂O₃. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2010, 95, 26-38.
- (1128) Kaichev, V. V.; Teschner, D.; Saraev, A. A.; Kosolobov, S. S.; Gladky, A. Yu.; Prosvirin, I. P.; Rudina, N. A.; Ayupov, A. B.; Blume, R.; Hävecker, M.; *et al.* Evolution of Self-Sustained Kinetic Oscillations in the Catalytic Oxidation of Propane over a Nickel Foil. *J. Catal.* 2016, *334*, 23-33.
- (1129) Todorova, S.; Naydenov, A.; Kolev, H.; Holgado, J. P.; Ivanov, G.; Kadinov, G.; Gaballero, A. Mechanism of Complete *nH*exane Oxidation on Silica Supported Cobalt and Manganese Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2012**, *413-414*, 43-51.
- (1130) Aranzabal, A.; Ayastuy-Arizti, J. L.; González-Marcos, J. A.; González-Velasco, J. R. Kinetics of the Catalytic Oxidation of Lean Trichloroethylene in Air over Pd/Alumina. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2003, 42, 6007-6011.
- (1131) Aranzabal, A.; Ayastuy-Arizti, J. L.; González-Marcos, J. A.; González-Velasco, J. R. The Reaction Pathway and Kinetic Mechanism of the Catalytic Oxidation of Gaseous Lean TCE on Pd/Alumina Catalysts. J. Catal. 2003, 214, 130-135.
- (1132) Kim, S. C.; Shim, W. G. Complete Oxidation of Volatile Organic Compounds over Ce/Cu/Gamma-Al₂O₃ Catalyst. *Environ. Technol.* **2017**, *29*, 535-542.
- (1133) Gómez, D. M.; Galvita, V. V.; Gatica, J. M.; Vidal, H.; Marin, G. B. TAP Study of Toluene Total Oxidation over a Co₃O₄/La-CeO₂ Catalyst with an Application as a Washcoat of Cordierite Honeycomb Monoliths. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2014**, *16*, 11447-11455.
- (1134) Behar, S.; Gómez-Mendoza, N.; Gómez-García, M.; Świerczyński, D.; Quignard, F.; Tanchoux, N. Study and Modelling of Kinetics of the Oxidation of VOC Catalyzed by Nanosized Cu-Mn Spinels Prepared *via* an Alginate Route. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2015, 504, 203-210.
- (1135) Li, B.; Chen, Y. W.; Li, L.; Kan, J. W.; He, S.; Yang, B.; Shen, S. B.; Zhu, S. M. Reaction Kinetics and Mechanism of Benzene Combustion over the NiMnO₃/CeO₂/Cordierite Catalyst. *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* **2016**, *415*, 160-167.
- (1136) Aramendi, G.; de la Peña O'Shea, V. A.; Álvarez-Galván, M. C.; Fierro, J. L. G.; Arias, P. L.; Gandía, L. M. Kinetics and Selectivity of Methyl-Ethyl-Ketone Combustion in Air over Alumina-Supported PdO_x-MnO_x Catalysts. J. Catal. 2009, 261, 50-59.
- (1137) Choudhary, V. R.; Deshmukh, G. M. Kinetics of the Complete Combustion of Dilute Propane and Methyl Ethyl Ketone over Cr-Doped ZrO₂ Catalyst. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 2005, 60, 1575-1581.

- (1138) Mata, G.; Trujillano, R.; Vicente, M. A.; Belver, C.; Fernández-García, M.; Korili, S. A.; Gil,
 A. Chromium-Saponite Clay Catalysts: Preparation, Characterization and Catalytic Performance in Propene Oxidation. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* 2007, 327, 1-12.
- (1139) Kouotou, P. M.; Tian, Z. -Y.; Vieker, H.; Beyer, A.; Gölzhäuser, A.; Kohse-Höinghaus, K. Selective Synthesis of α-Fe₂O₃ Thin Films and Effect of the Deposition Temperature and Lattice Oxygen on the Catalytic Combustion of Propene. J. Mater. Chem. A 2013, 1, 10495-10504.
- (1140) Sun, M.; Yu, L.; Ye, F.; Diao, G. Q.; Yu, Q.; Hao, Z. F.; Zheng, Y. Y.; Yuan, L. X. Transition Metal Doped Cryptomelane-Type Manganese Oxide for Low-Temperature Catalytic Combustion of Dimethyl ether. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2013**, 220, 320-327.
- (1141) Cellier, C.; Ruaux, V.; Lahousse, C.; Grange, P.; Gaigneaux, E. M. Extent of the Participation of Lattice Oxygen from γ -MnO₂ in VOCs Total Oxidation: Influence of the VOCs Nature. *Catal. Today* **2006**, *117*, 350-355.
- (1142) Pan, H.; Jian, Y. F.; Chen, C. W.; He, C.; Hao, Z. P.; Shen, Z. X.; Liu, H. X. Sphere-Shaped Mn₃O₄ Catalyst with Remarkable Low-Temperature Activity for Methyl-Ethyl-Ketone Combustion. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2017**, *51*, 6288-6297.
- (1143) Liu, B. C.; Li, C. Y.; Zhang, Y. F.; Liu, Y.; Hu, W. T.; Wang, Q.; Han, L.; Zhang, J. Investigation of Catalytic Mechanism of Formaldehyde Oxidation over Three-Dimensionally Ordered Macroporous Au/CeO₂ Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2012**, *111-112*, 467-475.
- (1144) Chintawar, P. S.; Greene, H. L. Interaction of Chlorinated Ethylenes with Chromium Exchanged Zeolite Y: An *in Situ* FT-IR Study. J. Catal. **1997**, 165, 12-21.
- (1145) Swanson, M. E.; Greene, H. L.; Qutubuddin, S. Reactive Sorption of Chlorinated VOCs on ZSM-5 Zeolites at Ambient and Elevated Temperatures. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* 2004, 52, 91-108.
- (1146) Ramachandran, B.; Greene, H. L.; Chatterjee, S. Decomposition Characteristics and Reaction Mechanisms of Methylene Chloride and Carbon Tetrachloride Using Metal-Loaded Zeolite Catalysts. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **1996**, *8*, 157-182.
- (1147) van den Brink, R. W.; Mulder, P.; Louw, R.; Sinquin, G.; Petit, C.; Hindermann, J.-P. Catalytic Oxidation of Dichloromethane on γ-Al₂O₃: A Combined Flow and Infrared Spectroscopic Study. *J. Catal.* **1998**, *180*, 153-160.
- (1148) Feijen-Jeurissen, M. M. R.; Jorna, J. J.; Nieuwenhuys, B. E.; Sinquin, G.; Petit, C.; Hindermann, J.-P. Mechanism of Catalytic Destruction of 1, 2-Dichloroethane and Trichloroethylene over γ -Al₂O₃ and γ -Al₂O₃ Supported Chromium and Palladium Catalysts. *Catal. Today* **1999**, *54*, 65-79.
- (1149) Miranda, B.; Díaz, E.; Ordóñez, S.; Díez, F. V. Catalytic Combustion of Trichloroethene over Ru/Al₂O₃: Reaction Mechanism and Kinetic Study. *Catal. Commun.* **2006**, *7*, 945-949.
- (1150) F. Poignant, J.L. Freysz, M. Daturi, J. Saussey. Mechanism of the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO in Oxygen Excess by Propane on H-Cu-ZSM-5: Formation of Isocyanide Species via Acrylonitrile Intermediate. Catal. Today 2001, 70, 197-211.
- (1151) Nigar, H.; Julián, I.; Mallada, R.; Santamaría, J. Microwave-Assisted Catalytic Combustion for the Efficient Continuous Cleaning of VOC-Containing Air Streams. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2018, 52, 5892-5901.
- (1152) Miachon, S.; Dalmon, J.-A. Catalysis in Membrane Reactors: What About the Catalyst? *Top. Catal.* **2004**, *29*, 59-65.

- (1153) Coronas, J.; Santanaría J. Catalytic Reactors Based on Porous Ceramic Membranes. *Catal. Today* 1999, 51, 377-389.
- (1154) Zhang, X. T.; Yan, Y. Catalytic Combustion of Isopropanol over Co-ZSM-5 Zeolite Membrane Catalysts in Structured Fixed-Bed Reactor. *R. Soc. Open Sci.* **2018**, *5*, 180587.
- (1155) Bénard, S.; Giroir-Fendler, A.; Vernoux, P.; Guilhaume, N.; Fiaty, K. Comparing Monolithic and Membrane Reactors in Catalytic Oxidation of Propene and Toluene in Excess of Oxygen. *Catal. Today* 2010, 156, 301-305.
- (1156) Kajama, M. N.; Shehu, H.; Okon, E.; Orakwe, I. Gobina, E. VOC Oxidation in Excess of Oxygen Using Flow-Through Catalytic Membrane Reactor. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energ.* 2016, 41, 16529-16534.
- (1157) Syed-Hassan, S. S. A.; Li, C. Z. Catalytic Oxidation of Ethane with Oxygen Using Fluidised Nanoparticle NiO Catalyst. *Appl. Catal. A: Gen.* **2011**, *405*, 166-174.
- (1158) Boreskov, G. K.; Matros, Y. S. Flow Reversal of Reaction Mixture in a Fixed Catalyst Bed A Way to Increase the Efficiency of Chemical Processes. *Appl. Catal.* **1983**, *5* 337-342.
- (1159) Chou, M. S.; Cheng, W. H.; Li, W. S. Performance Characteristics of a Regenerative Catalytic Oxidizer to Treat VOC-Contaminated Air Stream. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 2000, 50, 2112-2119.
- (1160) Strots, V. O.; Bunimovich, G. A.; Roach, C. R.; Matros, Y. S. Regenerative Catalytic Oxidizer Technology for VOC Control. *React. Eng. Pollut. Prevent.* **2000**, 113-126.
- (1161) Amelio, M.; Morrone, P. Numerical Evaluation of the Energetic Performances of Structured and Random Packed Beds in Regenerative Thermal Oxidizers. *Appl. Therm. Eng.* 2007, 27, 762-770.
- (1162) Lou, J.-C.; Huang, S.-W. Treating Isopropyl Alcohol by a Regenerative Catalytic Oxidizer. *Sep. Purif. Technol.* **2008**, *62*, 71-78.
- (1163) Frigerio, S.; Mehl, M.; Ranzi, E.; Schweiger, D.; Schedler, J. Improve Efficiency of Thermal Rgenerators and VOCs Abatement Systems: An Experimental and Modeling Study. *Exp. Therm. Fluid Sci.* 2007, *31*, 403-411.
- (1164) Matros, Y. S.; Noskov, A. S.; Chumachenko, V. A. Progress in Reverse-Process Application to Catalytic Incineration Problems. *Chem. Eng. Process.: Process Intensif.* **1993**, *32*, 89-98.
- (1165) Matros, Y. S.; Bunimovich, G. A.; Patterson, S. E.; Meyer, S. F. Is It Economically Feasible to Use Heterogeneous Catalysts for VOC Control in Regenerative Oxidizers? *Catal. Today* 1996, 27, 307-313.
- (1166) Marín, P.; Díez, F. V.; Ordóñez, S. A New Method for Controlling the Ignition State of a Regenerative Combustor Using a Heat Storage Device, *Appl. Energy* **2014**, *116*, 322-332.

Biography of authors



Dr. Chi He received his Ph.D. degree in Environmental Engineering from Research Center for Eco-Environmental Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences in 2010. Currently, he is an associate professor in School of Energy and Power Engineering, Xi'an Jiaotong University (2013) and the director of Department of Environmental Science and Engineering (2015).

From early 2018, he acts as an adjunct research professor of National Engineering Laboratory for VOCs Pollution Control Material & Technology. His research interests mainly focuses on environmental catalysis and VOC control technologies.



Dr. Zhengping Hao is the full professor of University of Chinese Academy of Sciences (2015) and the research professor of Research Center for Eco-Environmental Sciences (2001). He is the director of National Engineering Laboratory for VOCs Pollution Control Material & Technology, China (2016). He received his PhD degreein Physical Chemistry from the Lanzhou Institute of Chemical Physics, CAS in 1996. His research interests include nano

materials, control technologies for water, air and soil, green catalysis, hazardous material treatment, and environmental engineering. He has authored over 260 international journal publications and issued 40 patents for nano materials and pollution control technologies. He got the distinguished young scholar award of National Natural Science Foundation of China in 2007 and UniSA Distinguished Researcher Award of 2010. He services the industrial and scientific community, include serving as editor board of 4 academic journals (Catal. Commun, J. Hazard. Mater, J.Rare Earths, and Int. J. Chem. Eng.).



Jie Cheng received his Ph.D. degree in 2008 from Research Center for Eco-Environmental Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences (RCEES, CAS). He subsequently worked as an assistant professor and associate professor in RCEES, CAS. In 2018, he worked as an associate professor at the National Engineering Laboratory for VOCs Pollution Control Material &

Technology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences. His areas of expertise include characterization of VOCs emissions from typical industries, synthesis and structural characterizations of catalytic materials,

mechanism study on VOCs catalytic decomposition, and application of the catalytic materials to VOCs control technologies. He is currently keeping a close link to catalyst preparation and development of advanced technologies to reduce VOCs emissions from typical industries.



Xin Zhang received his Ph.D. degree in Environmental Engineering from Research Center for Eco-Environmental Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences (RCEES, CAS) in 2014. Then, he started his research work in RCEES in the same group until early 2018. Currently, he is an associate professor in National Engineering Laboratory for VOCs Pollution Control Material &

Technology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences. His research interests focus on the tailored design and synthesis of nanostructured materials, volatile organic sulfur compounds pollution (VOSCs) control and sulfur resource recovery in sulfur-containing acid gas.



Dr Mark Douthwaite is a post-doctoral research associate at the Cardiff Catalysis Institute where he also received his PhD in 2016. His fundamental academic interests are focussed towards the design, synthesis and characterization of heterogeneous catalysts for liquid and gas phase applications in green chemistry.



Dr Samuel Pattissonis a post-doctoral research associate at the Cardiff Catalysis Institute. His academic interests are centered on the design, synthesis and evaluation of novel heterogeneous catalysts for the selective and total oxidation of molecules with industrial applications.